Council
Thursday, 25 November 2021 at 1.00 pm
Meres Leisure Centre, Trent Road,
Grantham. NG31 7XQ
Members:

Councillor Breda-Rae Griffin (Chairman of the Council)

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor John Dawson
Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Philip Knowles
Councillor Annie Mason
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Sue Woolley

Councillor David Bellamy
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor Richard Cleaver
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Anna Kelly
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Hilary Westropp
Councillor Jane Wood
Councillor Linda Wootten

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Penny Robins
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Amanda Wheeler
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Ray Wootten

Agenda
For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held at 12:55pm before the
commencement of the meeting. Please be seated by 12:50pm.
1. Public Open Forum

The public open forum will commence at 1.00 p.m. and the following formal business of the
Council will commence at 1.30 p.m. or whenever the public open forum ends, if earlier.
2. Apologies for absence
3. Disclosure of Interests

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the meeting.
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 17 November 2021.
 01476 406080
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

4. Election of Vice-Chairman of the Council

To elect a Vice-Chairman of South Kesteven District Council.
5. Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)

(Page 5)

6. Minutes of the Meeting held on 15 July 2021

(Pages 7 - 16)

Following deferral of the minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2021,
Members are asked to consider a more accurate wording.
7. Minutes of the meeting held on 30 September 2021

(Pages 17 - 30)

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 30 September 2021.
8. Breach of the South Kesteven District Council Member Code of

(Pages 31 - 37)

Conduct by a District Councillor
To report to Council the outcome of an investigation by the Monitoring
Officer into an alleged breach of the South Kesteven District Council
Member Code of Conduct by Councillor Ian Stokes.
9. Membership of Committees

(Pages 39 - 44)

To note the results of two by-elections held on 28 October 2021 and
provide Political Group Leaders with an opportunity to review and
recommend changes to their respective membership of Committees. The
report also provides Council with an opportunity to establish a working
group to oversee the Community Governance Review in respect of a
Town Council for Grantham.
10. Member Code of Conduct

(Pages 45 - 65)

To consider adopting the Local Government Association Model Councillor
Code of Conduct.
11. Grantham Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document

(Pages 67 - 165)

To seek formal adoption of the Grantham Rectory Farm Supplementary
Planning Document as Council policy, to supplement policies in the South
Kesteven Local Plan.
12. Draft Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document

(Pages 167 - 332)

To adopt the Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).
13. Members' Open Questions

A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, Cabinet Members,
the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and opposition
group leaders excluding the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee,
Licensing and Alcohol, Entertainment and Late-Night Refreshment Licensing Committees
and Governance and Audit Committee.
14. Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9 of the Council's

Constitution:
a)

Councillor Ian Selby
South Kesteven District Council supports a fully functioned, 24/7 Accident and
Emergency Department for Grantham Hospital.

b)

Councillor Amanda Wheeler
Motion to make training mandatory
In view of recent inappropriate language spoken by a councillor at a public committee
meeting, South Kesteven District Council needs to ensure that all councillors are
suitably prepared for their roles as public representatives.
At present, training is only mandatory if Members sit on specific committees, such as
Licensing and Planning.
There is an extensive programme of additional training offered to councillors which,
disappointingly, often has to be cancelled due to lack of interest. However, if councillors
are to effectively serve their community, then training to support their knowledge and
understanding is essential.
As such, SKDC resolves:

c)

•

To ensure that all Councillors attend appropriate training in order for them to carry
out their role and the business of the Council effectively

•

To make training in Equality and Diversity mandatory for all councillors in order to
sit on any Committee of the council

Councillor Ashley Baxter
This Council resolves:

d)

•

to encourage organisers of public firework displays within the South Kesteven
District to publicise in advance of their events, in order to allow residents to take
precautions for their animals and vulnerable people

•

to actively promote a public awareness campaign about the impact of fireworks on
animal welfare and vulnerable people – including the precautions that can be
taken to mitigate risks

•

to write to the MPs representing the South Kesteven District, and the relevant
Minister of State, urging them to introduce legislation to limit the maximum noise
level of fireworks to 90dB for those sold to the public for private displays

•

to encourage local suppliers of fireworks to stock ‘quieter’ fireworks for public
display.

Councillor Phil Dilks
Whilst welcoming the cross-party work to date towards reducing carbon emissions as a
result of the Council’s activities, this motion seeks to confirm and strengthen Climate
Change mitigation considerations when determining major planning applications across
South Kesteven.
This Council resolves:
1.

“Climate Change” is to be considered as a material consideration in all current and
future major planning applications (i.e. applications to create ten or more
residential units and/or any development on a site of 0.5 hectares or larger).

2.

A specific “Climate Change” paragraph is included in all future reports for such
applications coming to the council’s Planning Committee for determination.

3.

Information is provided in the reports to committee detailing whether
developments are proposed to be carbon neutral or offering reductions in carbon
emissions.

e)

Councillor Sue Woolley
This Council is determined to reduce its carbon footprint at every opportunity and will
also support efforts made by others to do the same. However, the drive for renewable
energy can have unintended consequences particularly when agricultural land is taken
out of food production to site such schemes.
Any large scale application for solar must be balanced against the need to produce
more of our own food within our country and South Kesteven’s land is some of the most
fertile in the UK. There is no point importing food with the carbon footprint it creates
when we can grow it here sustainably. South Kesteven is at the heart of UK food
production and we should not throw that away lightly.
I would therefore ask this Council to agree with me that our communities need to be
made aware of all the information regarding renewable energy and any consultation
exercises should be advertised as widely as possible.
I would also ask the Council to take into account the loss of valuable food producing
land when making any decisions regarding renewable energy.

Agenda Item 5
List of Chairman’s Engagements
30 September 2021 – 22 November 2021
The following events were undertaken and
complied with the appropriate social distancing restrictions.

Date

Ref

Organisation and Event

Location

BG0056

Unveiling of the Capt Sir Tom
Moore’s bench.

St Peter’s Hill, Grantham.

BG0059

Metanoia Climate Festival.

St Wulfram’s Church, Grantham.

Sunday
10.10.21

BG0055

Rushden Mayor’s Civic Service.

St Mary’s Church, Rushden.

Friday
15.10.21

BG0061

Rutland & Stamford Mercury
Business Awards.

Greetham, Rutland.

Sunday
17.10.21

BG0057

The Grantham Lions Variety
Concert.

Priory Ruskin Academy, Grantham.

Thursday
21.10.21

BG0072

“Business in the Community” Award
Presentation.

Castlegate, Grantham.

Friday
22.10.21

BG0069

Cold Stream Guards Concert.

St Wulfram’s Church Grantham.

Sunday
31.10.21

BG0025

Chairman’s Civic Service
and Afternoon Tea

St Mary’s Church, Stamford.
Stamford Masonic Centre, Stamford.

Friday
05.11.21

BG0070

Bourne Town Council Mayor’s Civic
Dinner

Corn Exchange Hall, Bourne.

Sunday
07.11.21

BG0028

Opening of the Garden of
Remembrance and Laying of a
wreath at the Memorial on St Peter’s
Hill.

St Peter’s Hill, Grantham.

Sunday
07.11.21

BG0065

North Lincs Mayor’s Civic Service.

Methodist Church, Barrow upon
Humber.

Monday
08.11.21

BG0064

Unveiling of a new WW1 Memorial.

Wyndham Park, Grantham.

Wednesday
10.11.21

BG0028

Civilian Memorial Service – Laying of
Grantham Cemetery.
wreaths.

Thursday
11.11.21

BG0028

One Minutes’ Silence.

Friday
12.11.21

BG0068

Sunday
14.11.21

BG0028

Friday
19.11.21

BG0063

40th Anniversary Queen Elizabeth
Park – Tree Planting

Queen Elizabeth Park, Grantham.

Sunday
21.11.21

BG0071

Closing of the Garden of
Remembrance

Riverside Park, Market Deeping.

Friday
01.10.21
Friday
01.10.21

St Peter’s Hill, Grantham.

Grantham Journal Business Awards
Evening.
Remembrance Day Parade,
Remembrance Service and Closing
of the Remembrance Garden.

5

Arena UK, Allington, Grantham.
St Peter’s Hill and St Wulfram’s
Church, Grantham.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

MINUTES
Full Council
Thursday, 15 July 2021, 13:00
Meres Leisure Centre, Trent Road,
Grantham, NG31 7XQ
PRESENT
Councillor Breda-Rae Griffin (Chairman)
Councillor Ian Stokes (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor Louise Clack
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Philip Knowles
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Annie Mason
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Robert Reid

Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Penny Robins
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Hilary Westropp
Councillor Amanda Wheeler
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Jane Wood
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive)
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive)
Gary Smith (Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations)
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director for Growth and Culture)
Andrew Cotton (Director for Housing and Property)
Richard Wyles (Interim Director of Finance (s151 Officer))
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive)
Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services (Deputy Monitoring Officer))
Shelley Thirkell (Acting Principal Democratic Officer)

7

Anita Eckersley (Civic and Member Services Officer)
Sam Selby (Cabinet and Member Development Assistant)
Louise Field (Executive Assistant to the Leader of the Council)
Alice Atkins (Local Government Association Graduate Trainee)

14. Public Open Forum
No questions or statements were received.
15. Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Bellamy, George
Chivers, John Dawson, Mike Exton, Paul Fellows, Helen Goral, Gloria Johnson
Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Anna Kelly, Jane Kingman and Sue Woolley.
A member queried why the minutes of the most recent Cabinet Meeting had not been
included in the agenda. It was confirmed that this practice was not a requirement set
out within the Council’s Constitution and had therefore not been included since
December 2020. Members noted that all minutes were available to view on the
SKDC Website.
16. Disclosure of Interests
There were none.
17. Minutes of the Annual Meeting held 20 May 2021
The minutes of the meeting held 20 May 2021 were proposed, seconded and
AGREED as a correct record.
18. Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements.
The Chairman welcomed the newly appointed Director for Growth and Culture, Nicola
McCoy-Brown, and Head of Democratic Services, Graham Watts, to their first
meetings of Council.
19. Removal of allocation and use of named substitutes
Members received a report from the Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance on
the removal of the allocation and use of named substitutes to enable political groups
greater flexibility in being represented on the Council’s Committees. The
recommendations contained within the report were proposed and seconded.
The following amendment was proposed:

8

“That Council approves the proposal to allow substitutes for Committees on a crossparty basis for a trial period of 12 months. The approval of the substitution to be at
the discretion of the Group Leader or the group requiring substitution.”
The amendment was seconded and a recent example was cited of a Planning
Committee meeting where only five Members had been present. It was expressed
that the amendment would allow for greater representation and should not be a
politically charged issue.
The Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer advised that there
was no provision that could be applied legally to allow for the system of ad-hoc crossparty substitutions proposed by the amendment. He added that any decisions taken
by committees whose membership was established in such a way could be open to
legal challenge. The amendment was withdrawn.
An amendment was proposed which called for the issue of cross-party substitutions
to be referred to the Constitution Committee for further consideration. The
amendment was seconded and following a vote, the amendment was lost.
Having been proposed and seconded, the recommendation contained within the
report was voted upon.
DECISION:
That the proposal to remove the allocation and use of named substitutes for
Committees, and the rescindment of named substitutes made at the meeting of
Council on 20 May 2021, be approved.
20. Members' Open Questions
Question 1 – Councillor Charmaine Morgan to The Leader of the Council
Councillor Morgan noted the upcoming relaxation of Covid-19 restrictions on 19 July
2021, as set out by the Government and asked how Council leadership would be
protecting staff and service users following this.
The Leader of the Council advised that although some staff had returned to working
in the offices, Council guidance would remain that staff should work from home
where possible. Covid-19 safety measures, such as social distancing, mask wearing
and sanitising of surfaces, would remain in place.
The Leader confirmed that a protocol would be sent out and would also be available
online, outlining how the Council would be operating. At the present time, in the
context of rising Covid-19 cases across the Country, it was of great importance to
conduct business as safely as possible.

9

Question 2 – Councillor Ashley Baxter to The Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor Baxter noted that The Deputy Leader of the Council had recently sent a
communication to residents of The Deepings explaining that the funds and land had
been agreed for a new leisure centre. Clarification was sought regarding the
authorisation of those funds and if the use of the land had been agreed by both the
County Council and the Deepings Forum.
The Deputy Leader of the Council confirmed that discussions regarding the leisure
centre were ongoing and that there was no further information at present.
Question 3 – Councillor Phil Dilks to The Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor Dilks enquired as to when the new leisure centre in The Deepings would
be opening.
The Deputy Leader of the Council advised that work regarding the leisure centre was
ongoing and that an update would be brought to the Council later in the year.
Question 4 – Councillor Amanda Wheeler to The Cabinet Member for Planning and
Planning Policy
Councillor Wheeler asked a question about the development on Stamford quarry site.
Councillor Wheeler queried residents of Rutland would be accessing the area,
however, SKDC would not benefit from their Council Tax payments.
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy stated that he would be happy
to meet with Councillor Wheeler and discuss any concerns outside of the meeting.
Question 5 – Councillor Penny Milnes to The Leader of the Council
Councillor Milnes referred to a letter all Members had received from the Shadow
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government. A concern was raised
relating to the proposal to remove the rights of local residents to reject individual
planning applications in their area.
The Leader agreed that the proposals needed to be considered but advised that they
would ensure more engagement in local democracy, rather than less.
Question 6 – Councillor Philip Knowles to The Cabinet Member for Housing and
Property
Councillor Knowles referred to the recent meeting of the Rural and Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee which had discussed the Council’s Assisted
Garden Maintenance Scheme. Councillor Knowles enquired as to why the number of
gardens involved in the scheme had reduced by 10% per annum over the last two
years, whilst the projected costs of the scheme were planned to increase by 130%
year on year. Councillor Knowles requested details be provided relating to the

10

breakdown of the costs and asked which account Environment SK Ltd placed any
revenue received from the scheme into.
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations responded that the HRA
covered the gardens for the Council’s properties and that they had been approached
by the Council’s grounds maintenance provider to provide a quotation for the
Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme. He noted that in the past, there had existed
some cross subsidy but that the pricing had been redone, based on market rates. It
was noted that the work associated with the Scheme was labour intensive and so
costs were therefore high.
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that the details requested
would be provided to the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee
at a future meeting. He noted that there had been a change to the criteria associated
with the costs, as well as a change to the criteria associated with the number of
people who would be assisted by the scheme. A review was currently being
undertaken within housing services relating to what services would be charged for.
Question 7 – Councillor Paul Wood to The Cabinet Member for Commercial and
Operations
Councillor Wood asked if there were any plans to upgrade the Council’s street
lighting, as most of the streetlights were not LED. Councillor Wood referred to the
fact that Lincolnshire County Council had upgraded many of their streetlights and
asserted that it was essential that the Council follow suit as LED lighting provided
better value in the long term.
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations expressed his delight that a
contract had been authorised for LED streetlighting upgrades to commence across
the District. This would involve a rolling programme taking place over seven years
and would provide greater reduction in energy use. It also confirmed that the Council
would be phasing out sodium lights that were still part of existing maintenance
contracts.
Question 8 – Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing to The Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor Bisnauthsing noted that it been over two years since information had been
sent across Stamford regarding the opening of a new leisure centre. It was requested
that The Deputy Leader of the Council set out a schedule for when the new leisure
centre.
The Deputy Leader of the Council stated that due to ongoing discussions, a schedule
was not able to be provided.
Question 9 – Councillor Ian Selby to the Leader of the Council
Councillor Selby noted that the 2020 The UEFA European Championship had given
much pleasure to people living across the District. In response to this he asked

11

whether The Leader of the Council would offer his congratulations to the England
Football Team and also condemn the racist abuse which some of the Team had
experienced. It was suggested that this could be done via a letter sent to the England
Manager, Gareth Southgate.
The Leader confirmed that he would send a letter to Gareth Southgate, England
Manager, to both congratulate the England Team as well as condemn the racism
which some of the team had endured.
Question 10 – Councillor Ray Wootten to The Cabinet Member for People and Safer
Communities
Councillor Wootten requested an update be provided on the SK Community Awards.
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities noted that the SK
Community Awards had first launched on the first of June and that the closing date
was on Sunday 18 June 2021. During that time, 108 nominations had been received
from across the District. The winners were to be announced later in the year.
Question 11 – Councillor Mark Whittington to The Cabinet Member for Commercial
and Operations
Councillor Whittington enquired as to whether there would be an update on issue of
fly tipping across the District.
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations noted that fly tipping
incidences had decreased and hoped that would remain the case. The Cabinet
Member for Commercial and Operations noted that he was encouraged that this
matter had been widely discussed during Lincolnshire Waste Partnership meetings.
Question 12 – Councillor Lee Steptoe to The Cabinet Member for Housing and
Property
Councillor Steptoe thanked the recently appointed Director for Housing and Property,
stating that he had been constructive and honest about concerns around housing
issues in the Grantham Earlesfield Ward.
Councillor Steptoe raised a concern that over 1,500 people were currently on the
waiting list to be provided with a Council House. He referred to the introduction of a
Choice Based Letting Scheme, which had recently been agreed by Cabinet. It was
requested that The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property explain the concept of
the Choice Based Letting System to The Council.
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property responded by explaining the Choice
Based Lettings Scheme, stating that the purpose of introducing such a scheme was
to improve how newly available social housing properties in the District were
allocated. The Cabinet Member for Housing Property noted that a move to this

12

scheme would not alleviate housing pressures but would allow for greater choice and
better suitability for service users.
Question 13 – Councillor Helen Crawford to The Council
Councillor Crawford, with the Chairman’s permission, expressed disappointment that
only five Members of The Council out of a possible 56 had attended a recent training
session on Modern Slavery. Councillor Crawford stated that it was important that
everyone attend these training sessions, especially when on such crucial issues.
21. Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9 of the Council's Constitution:
22. Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities
It was proposed and seconded that the Council put the Mental Wellbeing of
residents, staff, and elected members at the forefront of its agenda by signing the
Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities, as set out in the Notice of Motion.
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities provided a background to
the reasons of her motion, citing poor mental health across the District and the
importance of addressing this.
Councillors who had undertaken roles within the Mental Health Working Party shared
their personal experiences of witnessing poor mental health and stressed the
importance of the work they had been involved in.
One Member wished to draw attention to the causes of poor mental wellbeing,
referring to issues such as poverty, poor housing, and lack of access to paid work.
One Member commented that mental wellbeing began with how Councillors
conducted themselves in the chamber, on social media and in meetings.
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED:
That the Council believed:
•
•

•

As a local authority, it had a crucial role to play in improving the mental
wellbeing for everyone in the community.
Mental wellbeing should be a priority across all the Authority’s areas of
responsibility, including, housing, community safety, engagement, planning and
leisure.
All elected members in the community and in casework roles, could play a
positive role in championing mental wellbeing on an individual and strategic
basis.

That the Council resolved to:
•

Sign up to the Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities.

13

•
•
•

Appoint an elected member as the Council’s ‘Mental Health Champion’.
Identify a member of staff within the Council to act as ‘Lead Officer’ for mental
health and wellbeing.
Form a working party made up of cross-party members and officers to meet
every 8 weeks, and that all members and officers, would take a lead role and
ownership of activity.

That the Council would also:
•
•
•
•
•

Support positive mental wellbeing in the community, including neighbourhoods
and workplaces.
Support positive mental wellbeing within its own workforce and elected
members.
Consider mental wellbeing in decision making and policy.
Work with local partners including Lincolnshire County Council and the
Voluntary Sector.
Engage with Lincolnshire County Council strategy and activity and the Joint
Health & Wellbeing Board for Lincolnshire.

The Council noted that:
•

•
•

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Board for Lincolnshire played an active role in
the health and wellbeing of the District and it was vital that as the Council
moved forward that any activities, projects or interventions promoted locally
were mindful of the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment and complemented the work of the Council’s
County partners.
Mental Health issues for Adults and Children are within the remit of Health
partners.
The Authority’s role within the challenge would specifically focus on mental
wellbeing and wellness.

23. Councillor Louise Clack
It was proposed and seconded that the Council resolved to ban outright the giving of
live animals as prizes, in any form, on South Kesteven District land and wrote to the
UK Government, urging an outright ban on the giving of live animals as prizes on
both public and private land, as set out in the Notice of Motion.
The proposer of the motion provided a background to the reasons for her motion,
stressing that although the Authority did not have the power to change central
legislation, it had the power to ban the practice within the District and send a
message that animal welfare was an issue of concern for South Kesteven District
Council.

14

The giving away of goldfish as prizes was debated, reference was made to the point
that goldfish were bred by specialist suppliers, under a strict code, with fines
enforced should these rules be breached. One Member argued that showmen were
honourable people and had the blessing of the RSPCA with regards to animal
welfare. Other Members argued that current legislation was outdated, and any form
of animal welfare abuse should be legislated against.
On being put to a free vote, it was AGREED:
That the Council:
•

•
•
•

Was concerned about the number of cases reported to the RSPCA each year,
regarding animals given as prizes via fairgrounds, social media and other
channels in the UK – and noted the issue predominantly concerns goldfish.
Was concerned for the welfare of those animals that are being given as prizes.
Recognised that many cases of animals being given as prizes may go
unreported each year.
Supported a move to ban the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on
South Kesteven District Council owned land.

The Council resolved to:
•
•

Ban outright the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on South Kesteven
District land.
Write to the UK Government, urging an outright ban on the giving of live animals
as prizes on both public and private land – Councillor Louise Clack to action
this.

24. Close of meeting
The Chairman closed the meeting at 15:29.

15

This page is intentionally left blank

16

Agenda Item 7

MINUTES
Full Council
Thursday, 30 September 2021, 13:00
Meres Leisure Centre, Trent Road,
Grantham. NG31 7XQ
Present
Councillor Breda-Rae Griffin (Chairman)
Councillor Ian Stokes (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor John Cottier
Councillor Helen Crawford
Councillor John Dawson
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Paul Fellows
Councillor Jan Hansen
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Anna Kelly
Councillor Philip Knowles
Councillor Annie Mason
Councillor Penny Milnes
Councillor Virginia Moran
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley

Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Penny Robins
Councillor Susan Sandall
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Lee Steptoe
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Jill Thomas
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Sarah Trotter
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Hilary Westropp
Councillor Amanda Wheeler
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Jane Wood
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Sue Woolley
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

Officers in attendance
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive)
Andrew Cotton (Director for Housing and Property)
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director for Growth and Culture)
Gary Smith (Director for Commercial and Operations)
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive)
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance (s151 Officer))
Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services (Deputy Monitoring Officer))
Shelley Thirkell (Acting Principal Democratic Services Officer)
Sam Selby (Cabinet and Member Development Officer)

17

Anita Eckersley (Civic and Member Support Officer)
Vicky Gisby (Executive Assistant to the Chief Executive)
Louise Field (Executive Assistant to the Leader of the Council)
Patrick Astill (Communications)
Alice Atkins (Local Government Association Graduate Trainee)
29. Public Open Forum
No questions or statements were received.
30. Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors David Bellamy, Louise Clack,
Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Jane Kingman, Matthew Lee and Nikki Manterfield.
31. Disclosure of Interests
Councillor Ashley Baxter noted for openness and transparency that his family were
frequent users of the Deepings Leisure Centre and his daughter was a Member of
the Deepings Swimming Club.
No other interests were disclosed.
32. Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements and were delighted that, since the
lifting of restrictions put in place due to the pandemic, she was able to attend many
more events.
The Deputy Chief Executive advised that it had recently been drawn to his attention
that notices for public meetings had not been displayed on the public notice board at
the Council Offices, as had been previous practice prior to the pandemic and periods
of lockdown. He provided Council with the assurance that sufficient notice of the
date, time and business to be transacted for the Council’s meetings held since the
commencement of the pandemic had been given, but that the good practice of
placing a hard copy of the agenda pages on the public notice board for all future
meetings would be re-instated.
It was confirmed that a notice for the current meeting and other scheduled meetings
where the agenda had been published, were currently on display on the public notice
board.
Members thanked the Deputy Chief Executive for highlighting the matter and his
reassurance that best practice would resume.

18

33. Minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2021
Members considered the minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2021 and the
following observations were made:
•

Councillor Penny Robins advised that she did not ask question 6, under minute
number 20 – Members’ Open Questions.

•

Councillor Philip Knowles advised that he did ask question 6 under minute
number 20 – Members’ Open Questions and requested that it be amended to
reflect this.

•

Councillor Philip Knowles also advised that the minute text under that item, nor
who the question was addressed to, was correct.

Full Council discussed the content of question 6, it was proposed and seconded that
approval of the minutes be deferred until the 25 November meeting of full Council, to
allow officers to provide more accurate wording.
Following a vote, it was AGREED.
DECISION:
That approval of the 15 July 2021 full Council minutes be deferred until the 25
November meeting, to allow officers to provide more accurate wording.
34. Minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 2 September 2021
Members considered the minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 2, September
2021.
Thanks were given to the officers who had provided a revised set of minutes.
The revised minutes added greater clarity to the debate, particularly in terms of the
original motion proposed, associated amendments and the substantive motion,
ensuring a more comprehensive and coherent record of the meeting.
The minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 2 September 2021 were proposed
and seconded.
Following a vote, they were AGREED as a correct record.
DECISION:
That the minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 2 September 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

19

35. Designation of Monitoring Officer
Members were presented with a report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate
Governance on the Designation of the Council’s Monitoring Officer.
It was highlighted to Members that Section 5 (1) of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 required the Council to designate an officer as the Council’s
Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer may not be the Council’s Chief Finance
(Section 151) Officer nor the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive).
The former Monitoring Officer, Assistant Director - Law and Governance, left the
Council’s employment on 31 August 2021. The duties of the Monitoring Officer, for
the interim period, had been undertaken by the Head of Democratic Services in his
capacity as Deputy Monitoring Officer.
As per the terms of reference of the Employment Committee, proposals to appoint a
new Monitoring Officer were considered at its meeting held on 22 September 2021.
The Committee recommended to full Council the appointment of Alan Robinson,
Deputy Chief Executive, to the post.
Mr Robinson had previously held the post of Monitoring Officer at West Lindsey
District Council for 8 years, bringing with him a wealth of knowledge and experience
to the role.
Members commented on notable work undertaken by the Assistant Director - Law
and Governance, whilst in post as Monitoring Officer. She had established the
Council’s partnership with Legal Services Lincolnshire, bringing a robust service to
assist with the authority’s legal requirements. A great deal of work had also been
undertaken in commencing the review of the Council’s Constitution, ensuring a clear
direction was in place. Members noted their appreciation and wished for their warm
wishes and thanks to be passed onto the outgoing Monitoring Officer.
Members considered the recommended appointment and the consensus was that
the Deputy Chief Executive would fulfil the role thoroughly. There was an
overwhelming agreement that Alan Robinson was flexible and accommodating,
conducting himself with great integrity.
The recommendation was proposed and seconded.
Following a vote, it was AGREED.
DECISION:
That Council designated Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive, as South
Kesteven District Council’s Monitoring Officer from 30 September 2021.
(The Deputy Chief Executive left the meeting at 13:21 and returned at 13:28, during
consideration of the above item).

20

36. Members' Open Questions
Question 1: Councillor Gloria Johnson to Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for
Housing and Property)
Councillor Gloria Johnson noted her shock that the Council had referred itself to the
Housing Regulator, but very much appreciated that it was the correct course of
action. She requested an update from the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property
on the progress being made, whilst working with the Regulator.
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property agreed that it was disappointing the
Council had needed to refer itself to the Regulator. It was however a positive step
that the Council had made. There had been a significant amount of activity taking
place; An improvement Plan had been embedded and was continually monitored,
regular meetings between the Regulator, the Chief Executive and the Director for
Housing and Property were taking place.
The Cabinet Member was also pleased to advise that the Fire Safety Management
Plan was now in place. Fire Risk Assessments were being completed, with 99.2%
compliance. Only a few were outstanding due to access issues for those properties,
legal proceedings were underway to ensure access could be granted.
The Housing Regulator had informed the Chief Executive that South Kesteven
District Council had made a mammoth achievement so far.
Question 2: Councillor Mark Whittington to Councillor Adam Stokes (Cabinet
Member for Finance and Resources)
Councillor Mark Whittington enquired whether it had been investigated how much the
cost of an independent inquiry into the Deepings Leisure Centre would likely be and
how any such inquiry would be funded.
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources noted that it was difficult to assess
the cost of an inquiry until the scope of such an inquiry had been agreed. He advised
that there was no allocated budget for such an inquiry, costs would have to be
sourced where there would be no adverse impact on any established budgets.
Question 3: Councillor Ray Wootten to Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the
Council
Councillor Ray Wootten asked The Leader whether he agreed with and welcomed,
the proposed change to the model Members’ Code of Conduct to include abuse on
social media.
The Leader stated that he did agree with and welcomed the proposed change to the
model Member’s Code of Conduct. The Leader expressed that by adopting the Local
Government Association’s model Code of Conduct, the Council could ensure a
robust system was in place in terms of addressing poor behaviour.

21

Question 4: Councillor Paul Wood to Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet Member
for Commercial and Operations)
Councillor Paul Wood asked the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
about an illegal dumping site at Long Bennington. He was aware that there was
currently a multi-agency approach and requested an update on what work was being
undertaken.
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations advised that the Environment
Agency was taking the lead and South Kesteven District Council were offering their
support, via the Environmental Health Team.
Question 5: Councillor Phil Dilks to Councillor Barry Dobson (The Deputy Leader of
the Council and Cabinet Member for Leisure)
Councillor Phil Dilks commented that The Deepings Leisure Centre, which had been
closed by the Council, was currently “left open to the elements” and may be
damaged further. It was requested that it be further protected.
The Cabinet Member for Leisure advised that options were currently being
considered, as part of the building survey which had been commissioned.
Question 6: Councillor Ashley Baxter to Councillor Linda Wootten (Cabinet Member
for Corporate Governance)
Councillor Ashley Baxter noted that the Scrutiny Review had taken place in July 2021
and Members had yet to receive a report on the outcomes. It was requested that the
Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance advise if she had seen the report and
when it would be shared with Members.
The Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance advised that she had not yet seen
the report. Assurances were given that it would be circulated to all Members, once
available.
Question 7: Councillor Ian Selby to Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet Member for
Commercial and Operations)
Councillor Ian Selby made a request to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and
Operations for a clean-up of the Harrowby Ward to be undertaken.
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations advised that this was the
responsibility of Lincolnshire County Council and would be happy to pass the request
on. He advised that it was important to pass on details of areas in need of
maintenance, as the Teams at Lincolnshire County Council relied on local
intelligence to know where to carry out work.

22

Question 8: Councillor Lee Steptoe to Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for
Housing and Property)
Councillor Lee Steptoe requested the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property
confirm the number of residents that were currently on the Council House waiting list
and how many new Council homes would be built during 2021/22.
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property advised that there were currently 780
applications on the waiting list for a Council property. There would be 18 new Council
homes being built during 2021/22.
Question 9: Councillor Amanda Wheeler to Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
(Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy)
Councillor Amanda Wheeler asked the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor
Economy if the staff of the Council’s cultural venues would be consulted as part of
the Arts Review that was currently taking place.
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy advised that the staff were
currently being consulted. The Director of Growth and Culture alongside Human
Resources had been leading the consultation.
Question 10: Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing to Councillor Annie Mason (Cabinet
Member for People and Safer Communities)
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing enquired with the Cabinet Member for People and
Safer Communities, if a Covid-19 booster vaccine site had been identified within the
south of the District.
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities referred to the Director for
Commercial and Operations, who advised that the NHS were responsible for leading
on vaccination sites.
The Director noted that residents could contact their local GP Surgery to ensure they
were aware where and when booster vaccines were available.
Question 11: Councillor Charmaine Morgan to Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader
of the Council)
Councillor Charmaine Morgan asked The Leader of the Council if enforcement action
was being taken on private landlords, where tenants were at risk.
The Leader of the Council advised that officers would be investigating such matters
and would do as much as possible within the Council’s powers.

23

Question 12: Councillor Virginia Moran to Councillor Barry Dobson (The Deputy
Leader of the Council)
Councillor Virginia Moran asked The Deputy Leader if there was an update on the lift
repairs at the Meres Leisure Centre. Councillor Moran noted her concern for elderly,
or less able-bodied residents having to climb the stairs to use the public viewing
gallery.
The Leader of the Council responded on behalf of The Deputy Leader. and advised
that he would certainly look into the matter and noted that nationally there was an
issue with supplies, which potentially had an impact on repair of the lift. All
Councillors would be advised of the progress of the repair.
Question 13: Councillor Judy Stevens to Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of
the Council)
Councillor Judy Stevens asked the Leader whether an update on the St Martin’s Park
Project in Stamford could be provided.
The Leader noted that an outline planning application for the St Martin’s Park Project
was due to be presented to the Planning Committee in October. The Leader noted
that the St Martin’s Park Project was a key strategic project for the Council and would
deliver affordable housing, commercial space, and retirement living. The project
would also provide Capital Receipts to the Council, which could contribute towards
the Council’s Corporate Priorities.
Question 14: Councillor Ian Stokes to Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for
Housing and Property)
Councillor Ian Stokes queried an email that had been sent to all councillors that
confirmed funds had been released for the refurbishment of the Meres Leisure
Centre lifts.
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property responded that he had not yet seen
the email in question but would comment once he had.
Question 15: Councillor Philip Knowles to Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of
the Council)
Councillor Philip Knowles enquired with the Leader of the Council when meetings of
full Council would return to the Council Chamber in South Kesteven House.
The Leader of the Council advised that the ventilation in the Council Chamber was
being investigated. As there were 56 Members of full Council, ventilation was key to
ensure a comfortable and environment for all, particularly in the context of Covid-19.
It was hoped that the next scheduled meeting on 25 November 2021 would return to
the Council Chamber once a decision had been taken. That decision would be
communicated to Members, in due course.

24

Question 16: Councillor Anna Kelly to Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Cabinet
Member for Culture and Visitor Economy)
Councillor Anna Kelly asked The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy if
there would be an SK Grant for the light show in February 2022.
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy confirmed that the Community
Grant had not been withdrawn, to the best of her knowledge.
Question 17: Councillor Kelham Cooke to Councillor Paul Wood (Leader of the
Independent Group)
The Leader of the Council asked the Leader of the Independent Group if he would
agree to condemn any poor behaviour from Members. That all officers and Members
should be treated by Members with respect.
The Leader of the Independent Group agreed with The Leader’s comments.
Question 18: Councillor Sue Woolley to Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet
Member for Commercial and Operations)
Councillor Sue Woolley asked The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations
if the recent fuel crisis within the UK was having an impact on the SKDC household
waste collection services.
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations advised that there were
currently sufficient fuel supplies to continue with the services. Officers had liaised
with suppliers to ensure that no issues would arise.
37. Membership of Committees
Following the resignation of Councillor Helen Goral and the recent passing of
Councillor Mike Exton, there was a requirement to appoint a Conservative Group
Member, to each of the following Committees:
•

Constitution Committee

•

Planning Committee

•

Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Leader of the Council made the following proposals:
•

Constitution Committee – Councillor Ray Wootten, to be appointed as Vice
Chairman

•

Planning Committee – Councillor Judy Stevens

25

•

Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Be deferred until
after the by-election, when the current vacancy would be considered further and
filled.

The proposals were seconded.
Following a vote, the proposals were AGREED:
DECISIONS:
1.

2.

That the following Committee vacancies be filled as follows:
•

Constitution Committee – Councillor Ray Wootten as Vice Chairman

•

Planning Committee – Councillor Judy Stevens

That the vacancy on the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee be left vacant until after the scheduled by-election had taken
place.

38. Review of the Council's Constitution
The Chairman of the Constitution Committee presented full Council with a report on
the review of the Council’s Constitution.
The Local Government Act 2000 placed a duty upon Local Authorities operating
Executive Arrangements to maintain a document that set out how the Council
operated, how decisions were made and rules and procedures which were followed
to ensure that these were efficient and transparent. A model Constitution was made
available for Councils to adopt and amend to reflect the individual characteristics of
their area.
The Chairman of the Constitution Committee encouraged non-committee members to
attend meetings of the Constitution Committee, as their input would be invaluable.
It was noted that the outcome of the Planning Services Review had been anticipated
to be considered by full Council in November 2021. After an informal meeting of
Planning Committee, it had been decided that further work was to be undertaken
before any recommendations were put forward for inclusion within the Council’s
Constitution. A date for a further informal meeting of the Planning Committee would
be confirmed in due course.
Members were impressed with the comprehensive report and agreed that the current
Constitution was not a “user friendly” document. The proposed new structure was
much more logical and would provide greater transparency.
It was requested that a timetable of the review and how all Members could be
involved be communicated. The Head of Democratic Services drew Members’
attention to the table at item 1.10 of the report, this advised the proposed timescale

26

for the review and opportunities in which all Members could be involved in the
process.
Members of the Constitution Committee advised that they had been provided with a
draft copy of the Constitution in its proposed new format. They agreed a great deal
of work would need to be undertaken to ensure Members were aware of what exactly
the changes were by demonstrating the proposals alongside the current document.
The recommendations of the report were proposed and seconded.
Following a vote, they were AGREED.
DECISIONS:
That Council:
1.

Approved, in principle, the revised format of the Council’s Constitution
based on seven main sections as set out in paragraph 1.4 of the report.

2.

Approved the proposed process to be followed for undertaking and
implementing a comprehensive review of the Council’s Constitution,
commencing with a review of the proposed “Responsibility for Functions”
section, to include Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure
Rules.

3.

Approved the proposed engagement with elected members and senior
officers as part of the review and respective proposed timescales as set
out in paragraph 1.10 of the report.

(14:24 The Chairman called a brief recess after consideration of the above item, the
meeting reconvened at 14:50).
39. Notices of Motion given under Article 4.9 of the Council's Constitution:
(a)

Councillor Graham Jeal
The motion, as set out in the agenda, was proposed and seconded.
Councillor Graham Jeal highlighted to Members that Grantham had ‘Charter
Trustees’ and was not a Town Council. This was a very unusual arrangement and he
felt that a Governance Review of Grantham would allow the residents of Grantham to
decide if they wished to change from Charter Trustees to a Town Council.
Members debated the proposal and the following points were made:
•

A Town Council would enable decisions about Grantham to be taken by
representatives, elected by the residents of Grantham.

•

Ensured greater and more transparent democracy.

27

•

Would bring Grantham in line with most other local Councils who followed the
Local Government Act 1972.

•

Provide a more familiar model of Governance for the residents of Grantham.

•

Allow local representatives and residents to have an input into planning
applications.

•

Clarity on the costs of a potential Town Council would need to be provided as
part of a Governance review, so that residents could make an informed
decision.

The proposer of the motion clarified that the motion was to commence a Community
Governance Review and not to establish a Grantham Town Council. The outcome of
the review would inform the Council if the residents of Grantham wished to support
the establishment of a Town Council.
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED:
Councillor Ian Selby requested that his vote FOR the proposal be recorded.
DECISION:
That the Council approves the commencement of a Community Governance
Review in relation to the establishment of a Town Council for Grantham.
(b)

Councillor Charmaine Morgan
The motion, as set out in the agenda, was proposed and seconded.
Councillor Charmaine Morgan urged Members to support her proposal as it was
important to all Members and residents to do as much as possible to maintain High
Streets.
During debate of the proposal the following points were raised:
•

South Kesteven District Council had been proactive in the regeneration of the
high street, with a successful bid for £5million from the Future High Streets
Fund.

•

Great support from InvestSK Ltd to seek further bids had been received.

•

Work was being undertaken to encourage a pedestrian area within Grantham
Town Centre.

•

The Government review of Business Rates was integral, Members felt it was
prudent to wait for the outcome, which was anticipated to be in late 2022.

•

The proposal did highlight a huge national issue with many challenges.

•

With families finding costs continually rising, the cheaper option, which was
often by making an online purchase was the more cost effective one.

28

On being put to the vote, the proposal was LOST.
(c)

Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Ashley Baxter withdrew his motion.

(d)

Councillor Phil Dilks
The motion, as set out in the agenda, was proposed and seconded.
Councillor Phil Dilks stated that the Council should learn from the Deepings Leisure
Centre currently being in an unusable condition and an independent inquiry would
achieve that.
During debate, the following points were raised:
•

Some Members felt that the current situation could have been avoided as
questions surrounding the integrity of the building had been asked over a
number of years.

•

To put in place an inquiry at the present time would not be appropriate as work
was to be undertaken to survey the building, to establish its current condition –
funds had been allocated to the survey and architects had been commissioned

•

Options were being considered to refurbish the building and officers were
working hard to look at possibilities, depending on the outcome of the survey.

•

The current leisure market was struggling and South Kesteven was fortunate
enough to have 4 leisure centres.

•

Disappointment that previous promises made for a new leisure centre in the
Deepings had not been fulfilled.

•

Queries around the allocated funds for the architect’s survey, which appeared to
be excessive.

A request was made that a recorded vote be taken on the proposal. As the request
was supported by ten or more Members of the Council, in accordance with Article
4.13.4 of the Council’s Constitution, a recorded vote was taken.
For:

Councillors Ashley Baxter, Harrish Bisnauthsing, Phil Dilks,
Paul Fellows, Jan Hansen, Anna Kelly, Philip Knowles,
Penny Milnes, Virginia Moran, Charmaine Morgan, Lee Steptoe, Amanda
Wheeler, Jane Wood and Paul Wood. (14)

Against:

Councillors Mrs Pam Bosworth, Kelham Cooke, John Cottier, Helen
Crawford, John Dawson, Barry Dobson,
Breda-Rae Griffin, Graham Jeal, Gloria Johnson, Annie Mason,
Dr Peter Moseley, Robert Reid, Nick Robins, Penny Robins,
Susan Sandall, Jacky Smith, Mrs Judy Smith, Judy Stevens,

29

Adam Stokes, Ian Stokes, Jill Thomas, Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Sarah
Trotter, Dean Ward, Hannah Westropp, Hilary Westropp, Mark
Whittington, Sue Woolley, Linda Wootten and Ray Wootten. (30)
Abstain:

Councillors Bob Broughton, Ian Selby (2)

The vote was LOST.
40.

Close of meeting

The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:17.

30

Agenda Item 8

Council
25 November 2021
Report of: Alan Robinson
Monitoring Officer

Breach of the South Kesteven District Council Member
Code of Conduct by a District Councillor
To report to Council the outcome of my investigation into an alleged breach of the South Kesteven
District Council Member Code of Conduct by Councillor Ian Stokes.
Report Author
Alan Robinson (Monitoring Officer)
07976 932420
Alan.robinson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
1.

That Council notes the content of the investigation report and supports the
following proposed sanctions:
•

That Councillor Ian Stokes makes a further public apology.

•

That Councillor Ian Stokes attends equality and diversity training.

•

That a public censure notice outlining the sanctions applied be put in place on
Councillor Ian Stokes’ website profile until the end of his current term of office.

31

1

The Background to the Report

1.1

21 complaints have been received following the use of a racist phrase at a meeting of the
Governance and Audit Committee held on 20 October 2021.

1.2

I, in my capacity as Monitoring Officer, have formally investigated this matter, taking into
account a range of evidence, including the content of the 21 complaints received.

1.3

A copy of my investigation report is attached to this report at Appendix A.

1.4

Since sharing my draft investigation report with Councillor Ian Stokes, he has resigned as
Vice-Chairman of the Council, Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee and all
other Committees where he was appointed by the Council as a member.

2

Financial Implications

2.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance
and Section 151 Officer

3

Legal and Governance Implications

3.1

Legal and governance implications are set out in the body of the investigation report, as
attached at Appendix A.
Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer

4

Appendices

4.1

Appendix A – Monitoring Officer Investigation Report.

32

APPENDIX A
South Kesteven District Council
Monitoring Officer Investigation Report into alleged breach of the Member
Code of Conduct
1.

Summary

1.1.

On 21 October 2021 an initial complaint was received by a member of the
public in response to comments made by Councillor Ian Stokes during his
chairmanship of the meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee held on
20 October 2021 in which he said the phrase “n****r in the woodpile”.

1.2.

I, as Monitoring Officer, was also present at the meeting but I was not certain
that I had heard what had been said correctly. I raised this with Councillor
Stokes at the close of the meeting.

1.3.

I subsequently reviewed the meeting on a recording of the live broadcast. The
phrase used was clearly audible through the microphone system and could be
heard on the live broadcast of the meeting and recording subsequently
uploaded onto the Council’s YouTube channel.

1.4.

On 20 October 2021 I, as Monitoring Officer, spoke to Councillor Ian Stokes
informally regarding the incident and he informed me that it was a mistake
and that he apologised unreservedly.

1.5.

On 21 October 2021 I informed the Council’s Independent Person of this
incident and reported that I would be investigating the matter.

1.6.

20 subsequent complaints were received in relation to Councillor Ian Stokes,
with 21 received in total at the time of writing this report.

2.

The relevant legislation and protocols

Localism Act 2011 (the “Act”)
2.1.

Section 27(1) of the Act provides that a “relevant authority” is placed under a
statutory duty to “promote and maintain high standards of conduct by
members and co-opted members of the authority”.

2.2.

Section 27(2) of the Act provides that a relevant authority “must in particular,
adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and coopted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity”.

2.3.

Pursuant to section 28(1) of the Act, a relevant authority must secure that a
code adopted by it is, when viewed as a whole, consistent with prescribed
principles of standards in public life – known as ‘Nolan’ principles.

2.4.

Pursuant to section 28(6) of the Act, a relevant authority must have in place
arrangements under which –

33

a)
b)

allegations can be investigated, and
decisions on allegations can be made.

2.5.

Section 28(7) of the Act provides that arrangements put in place under section
28(6)(a) must include provision for the appointment of at least one
independent person whose view may be sought, and taken into account, by
the authority before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided
to investigate.

2.6.

Pursuant to section 28(11) of the Act, if a relevant authority finds that a
member or a co-opted member of the authority has failed to comply with its
code of conduct it may have regard to the failure in deciding (a) whether to
take action in relation to that member or co-opted member, and (b) what
action to take.

South Kesteven District Council’s Code of Conduct
2.7.

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members (the “Code”).

2.8.

The Code adopted by the Council includes the following paragraphs:

Pursuant to section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, South Kesteven District Council
(the “Council”) has adopted this Code of Conduct to promote and maintain high
standards of behaviour by its members and co-opted members whenever they
conduct the business of the Council, including the business of the office to which
they were elected or appointed, or when they claim to act or give the impression of
acting as a representative of the Council.
This Code of Conduct is based on the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity,
accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership.
3.

The Investigation

3.1

I was present at the meeting but did not clearly hear the phrase said by
Councillor Ian Stokes.

3.2

In reviewing the recording of the meeting via the Council’s public YouTube
channel the phrase used by Councillor Ian Stokes was clearly audible.

3.3

21 formal complaints have been received in relation to the phrase said by
Councillor Ian Stokes from members of the public, elected members of the
Council and Officers of the Council.

3.4

I have taken into consideration the content of each of these complaints as part
of my investigation.

3.5

I spoke informally to Councillor Ian Stokes on 20 October 2021.

3.6

I provided Councillor Stokes with copies of all 21 complaints made against
him in relation to this matter.

34

3.7

I spoke to Councillor Ian Stokes as part of my formal investigation on 15
November 2021.

4.

Evidence

4.1

I was present at the meeting but did not clearly hear the phrase said by
Councillor Ian Stokes.

4.2

I listened to the recorded broadcast of the meeting on the Council’s YouTube
channel which clearly captured the phrase being said by Councillor Ian Stokes
at 27:48 mins, which has now been censored.

4.3

In speaking to Councillor Ian Stokes informally on 20 October 2021 he
confirmed that he said the phrase by mistake and unreservedly apologised.

4.4

Councillor Ian Stokes, in response to an article published online by the
Grantham Journal, made the following statement on 20 October 2021:
“I unreservedly apologise for the wording I used in today’s Governance and
Audit meeting, the phase was completely unacceptable and I withdraw this
remark. It was said accidentally and for that I am truly and deeply sorry for
any offence that I have caused to anyone.”

4.5

In meeting formally with Councillor Ian Stokes on 15 November 2021 he made
the following comments in response to the complaints submitted against him:
•
•

•

•
•

•

Councillor Ian Stokes confirmed receipt of the complaints but had not
read them as he has been unwell.
Councillor Ian Stokes was feeling unwell on the day of the meeting of the
Governance and Audit Committee, he was exhausted, had no energy
and did not have the opportunity to have lunch prior to the pre-meeting.
As a diabetic missing out on food was not ideal. His mind was not with it
following a busy day moving furniture at home and other things occurring
in his personal life that day.
The Vice-Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee had missed
the pre-meeting due to a dental appointment. Councillor Ian Stokes was
unsure whether the Vice-Chairman would be present at the Committee
meeting, otherwise he would have asked him at the pre-meeting to chair
the meeting instead of himself.
Councillor Ian Stokes felt that a mix up with the agenda papers did not
help the situation and he even considered adjourning the meeting.
Councillor Ian Stokes recognised that the comment he said was wrong
and that what he meant to say was ‘needle in a haystack’ – he issued a
public apology immediately after the meeting.
Councillor Ian Stokes does not think there is any further action he can
take on this matter as what had happened has happened.

35

4.6

The Leader of the Council and Chief Executive sent an email to all Members
of the Council and all staff to provide reassurance that the comments made by
Councillor Ian Stokes did not represent the views of the organisation and that
racism of any kind cannot be tolerated.

4.7

Councillor Ian Stokes was immediately suspended on a temporary basis by
the Conservative Group pending an investigation into this matter.

4.8

I met with a member of staff who felt personally affected by the comments
Councillor Ian Stokes had made.

5.

Findings

5.1

Based on the evidence obtained, I am satisfied that Councillor Ian Stokes was
acting in his official capacity at the meeting of the Governance and Audit
Committee held on 20 October 2021 and, therefore, his conduct falls to be
considered under the Council’s Member Code of Conduct as set out in the
Constitution.

5.2

The relevant part of the Code of Conduct is Leadership for the following
reason:
Leadership – Holders of public office should exhibit these principles (the
Nolan principles) in their own behaviour. They should actively promote and
robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge breaches of the
Code by others where seeing this occurring.

5.3

Councillor Ian Stokes, in saying the phrase and the racist connotations the
phrase represents, is a significant breach of this part of the Code in which his
behaviour falls below the standards expected of anyone working in public
office. In addition, use of such a phrase is in conflict of the Council’s Equality
and Diversity Policy and the Equality and Diversity objectives set out in the
Council’s Corporate Plan 2020-2023.

5.4

Councillor Ian Stokes was acting in his capacity as a Councillor when he said
the phrase, therefore, the Code of Conduct was engaged.

5.5

Taking into account the content of the recording of the meeting, I am of the
view that Councillor Ian Stokes did breach the Council’s Member Code of
Conduct.

5.6

In presenting my evidence to the Council’s Independent Person, he is also in
agreement that Councillor Ian Stokes’ behaviour constitutes a breach of the
Council’s Member Code of Conduct and supports the recommended
sanctions.

36

5.7

It is my view that there is sufficient evidence to make a recommendation to
Full Council without the need to establish a Review Panel. This view was
shared by the Council’s Independent Person.

5.8

The meeting of Full Council on 25 November 2021 is the first available
opportunity to submit the recommendations of my investigation to Full Council
since the incident occurred.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

Due to the nature and severity of the breach, the following sanctions are
recommended against the Councillor:
•

That Councillor Ian Stokes makes a further public apology.

•

That Councillor Ian Stokes attends equality and diversity training.

•

That the Council considers Councillor Ian Stokes’ position as ViceChairman of the Council and Chairman of the Governance and Audit
Committee.

•

That the Council considers Councillor Ian Stokes’ membership on
committees for the remainder of the municipal year.

•

That a public censure notice outlining the sanctions applied be put in
place on Councillor Ian Stokes’ website profile until the end of his current
term of office.

Alan Robinson
Monitoring Officer

37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Council
25 November 2021
Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Leader of the Council

Membership of Committees
To note the results of two by-elections held on 28 October 2021 and other changes to the
Council’s political balance and provide Political Group Leaders with an opportunity to review and
recommend changes to their respective membership of Committees.
The report also provides Council with an opportunity to establish a working group to oversee the
Community Governance Review in respect of a Town Council for Grantham.
Report Author
Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer)
(01476) 406224
Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

A High Performing Council

Administrative

All Wards

Approved by:

Karen Bradford (Chief Executive)

9 November 2021

Signed off by:

Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council)

17 November 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
Council:
1. Notes that Councillor Kathleen Rice-Oxley was elected to the Grantham Arnoldfield
Ward following a By-Election on 28 October 2021 and has given notice that she will
join the Conservative Group.
2. Notes that Councillor Richard Cleaver was elected to the Stamford All Saints Ward
following a By-Election on 28 October 2021 and has given notice that he will join
the Independent Group.
3. Notes that Councillor Ian Stokes has changed his political affiliation to
Independent (non-aligned).
4. Notes that Councillor John Cottier has changed his political affiliation to
Independent (aligned to the Conservative Group)

39

5. Notes the revised political proportionality of the Council and the allocation of seats
to political groups on the Council’s Committees.
6. Approves any changes in the membership of Committees submitted by Political
Group Leaders.
7. Approves the establishment of a working group consisting of all Grantham Charter
Trustees to lead the Community Governance Review in respect of Grantham.

40

1

The Background to the Report

1.1

By-Elections for the Grantham Arnoldfield and Stamford All Saints Ward were held on 28
October 2021 following the resignation of former Councillor Helen Goral and the death of
former Councillor Mike Exton, respectively.

1.2

Councillor Kathleen Rice-Oxley was successfully elected as the South Kesteven District
Councillor for the Arnoldfield Ward and has provided notice that she has joined the
Council’s Conservative Group.

1.3

Councillor Richard Cleaver was successfully elected as the South Kesteven District
Councillor for the Stamford All Saints Ward and has provided notice that he has joined the
Council’s Independent Group.

1.4

The necessary notice has been provided that Councillor Ian Stokes is an Independent
(non-aligned) member of the Council.

1.5

The necessary notice has been provided that Councillor John Cottier is an Independent
member of the Council, aligned to the Conservative Group.

1.6

Councillor Bob Adams of the Grantham Issac Newton Ward sadly passed away on 16
November 2021, which means that there is currently a vacancy on the District Council.

1.7

The revised political proportionality of the Council’s 56 seats, taking into account one
vacancy, is now as follows:
Political Group

Number in Group

Proportionality

Conservative

37

67%

Independent

13

24%

Labour

3

5%

Independent (non-aligned)

2

4%

1.8

Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 introduced statutory requirements
that, where a relevant authority has a membership divided into different political groups, it
must ensure that appointments reflect the political balance of the Council as a whole.

1.9

The result of the by-elections, the revised political proportionality as a result of changes in
political affiliation of two Members and a vacancy on the authority has resulted in one
change to the allocation of seats on Committees to political groups. The revised
proportionality and allocation of seats to political groups is set out in Appendix 1. The
Independent Group is now entitled to a Conservative Group seat on the Licensing
Committee, with the new allocation for the Committee’s 11 seats being split as follows:
Conservative – 7 seats
Independent – 3 seats
Labour – 1 seat

1.10

There is currently a vacancy for a member of the Conservative Group on the Rural and
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee which was deferred from the last meeting
of Council until after the results of the by-elections held on 28 October 2021.

1.11

Councillor Ian Stokes has resigned from all Committees that he sat on, which has resulted
in vacant seats for the Conservative Group on the Companies Committee, Governance

41

and Audit Committee and Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
1.12

The death of Bob Adams has left additional vacancies on the Companies Committee and
the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services for the Conservative Group.

1.13

The Conservative Group is therefore invited to:
-

Propose the removal of one Member from the Licensing Committee

-

Propose the addition of two Members onto the Finance, Economic Development and
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

-

Propose the addition of two Members onto the Companies Committee

-

Propose the addition of one Member onto the Governance and Audit Committee

-

Propose the addition of one Member onto the Rural and Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

1.14

The Independent Group is invited to propose the addition of a Member onto the Licensing
Committee.

1.15

Political Group Leaders may wish to take this opportunity to review those Members
allocated to Committees from their respective political groups. Council is reminded that
mandatory training must be undertaken before any Councillor can sit as a Member of the
Governance and Audit Committee, Licensing Committee and Planning Committee.

1.16

It was agreed at the meeting of full Council held on 30 September 2021 that a Community
Governance Review would be undertaken in relation to a Town Council for Grantham. For
Community Governance Reviews or Boundary Reviews it would be normal practice for the
Council to appoint a cross-party working group to oversee the work associated with the
review and make recommendations to Council at the relevant time. It is considered
appropriate that all Grantham Charter Trustees be invited to form this working group.

1.17

The working group’s first task will be to confirm a terms of reference for the Community
Governance Review, which would then need to be approved by Council. This formally
commences the process, meaning that the review would need to be implemented 12
months from the date of the terms of reference having been adopted.

2

Financial Implications

2.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance
and Section 151 Officer

3

Legal and Governance Implications

3.1

Appointments to the Council’s Committees must comply with the relevant legislation, as
set out in this report, and provisions within the Council’s Constitution.
Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and
Deputy Monitoring Officer

4

Appendices

4.1

Appendix 1 – Political Balance

42

Appendix 1
Political balance of the Council
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

Seats

%
37
13
3
2

67% (including 1 Independent aligned with the Conservatives)
24% (including 2 Liberal Democrats aligned with the Independent Group)
5%
4% Unaligned councillors are not entitled to a seat as the
calculation is based on political groups

Committees of the Council
Licensing Committee & Alcohol,
Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment
Licensing Committee

Planning Committee

Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

13
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
8.745454545
9
3.072727273
3
0.709090909
1
N/A
13

Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

11
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
7.4
7
2.6
3
0.6
1
N/A
11

Governance & Audit Committee

Constitution Committee

Total seats

Total seats

Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

7
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
4.709090909
5
1.654545455
2
0.381818182
0
N/A
7

Employment Committee
Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

7
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
4.709090909
5
1.654545455
2
0.381818182
0
N/A
7

Companies Committee
7

Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
4.709090909
5
1.654545455
2
0.381818182
0
N/A
7

Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

8
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
5.381818182
6
1.890909091
2
0.436363636
0
N/A
8

43

Political Balance: November 2021

Overview & Scrutiny Committees
Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

9
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
6.054545455
6
2.127272727
2
0.490909091
1
N/A
9

Culture & Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Environment Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

7
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
4.709090909
5
1.654545455
2
0.381818182
0
N/A
7

Other
Chief Executive's Appeals Panel
Total seats
Group
Conservative
Independent
Labour
Unaligned

3
Proportional Entitlement
entitlement
rounded
2.018181818
2
0.709090909
1
0.163636364
N/A
3

44

Agenda Item 10
Council
25 November 2021
Report of: Councillor Linda Wootten
Cabinet Member for Corporate
Governance and Licensing

Member Code of Conduct
To consider adopting the Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct.
Report Author
Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer)
01476 406224
Graham.watts@south.kesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

A High Performing Council

Governance

All Wards

Reviewed by:

Shelley Thirkell (Principal Democratic Services
Officer)

25 October 2021

Approved by:

Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and
Monitoring Officer)

28 October 2021

Signed off by:

Councillor Linda Wootten (Cabinet Member for
Corporate Governance and Licensing)

26 October 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
1. That Council adopt the Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of
Conduct, as appended to the report.

45

1.

The Background to the Report

1.1

The Local Government Association introduced a new model Councillor Code of Conduct
on 23 December 2020, which had been designed to protect a Councillor’s democratic role,
encourage good conduct and safeguard the public’s interest in local government.

1.2

A copy of the model Councillor Code of Conduct is attached to this report at Appendix A.

1.3

The new Code has been developed in association with key partners and extensive
consultation with the local government sector.

1.4

A number of authorities across the country have adopted the new model Code, however,
this can also be used as a template for individual Councils to adopt in whole or with local
amendments.

1.5

South Kesteven District Council’s current Code of Conduct is based on the previous model
Code.

1.6

Under the heading ‘General Conduct’, the new model Code consists of the following
elements, underpinned by the seven principles of public life, also known as the Nolan
Principles.
-

1.7

Respect
Bullying, harassment and discrimination
Impartiality of officers of the Council
Confidentiality and access to information
Disrepute
Use of position
Use of local authority resources and facilities
Complying with the Code of Conduct
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority
Gifts and hospitality

The new model Code also sets out greater transparency regarding the registration and
disclosure of interests, with a requirement to register other interests in addition to
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, which include:
-

Any unpaid directorships

-

Any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or
management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority

-

Any body
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

exercising functions of a public nature
directed to charitable purposes or
one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or
policy (including any political party or trade union)

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management

2.

Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny

2.1

Significant consultation has taken place with the Local Government Association and the
local government sector in developing the new model Councillor Code of Conduct.

2.2

The Constitution Committee considered this report at its meeting on 8 November 2021
and supported adoption of the model Councillor Code of Conduct.

46

3.

Available Options Considered

3.1

To maintain the existing South Kesteven District Council Member Code of Conduct.

3.2

To recommend adoption of the model Councillor Code of Conduct with amendments.

3.3

To recommend adoption of the model Councillor Code of Conduct as appended.

4.

Preferred Option

4.1

To recommend adoption of the model Councillor Code of Conduct

5.

Reasons for the Recommendation (s)

5.1

The new model Councillor Code of Conduct, developed by the Local Government
Association, is considered as best practice in the sector and provides much more
comprehensive assistance to Councillors in modelling the behaviour that is expected of
them as well as setting out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken
against them.

6.

Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision

6.1

Subject to Council agreeing to adopt the model Code of Conduct, training for all Members
on the different elements of the new Code will be provided.

6.2

The Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer would then work with all Parish and
Town Councils in the district to provide guidance and training on the new model Code,
recommending that they also adopt it for their respective Councils.

7.

Financial Implications

7.1

There are no financial implications as a result of this report.
Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance
and Section 151 Officer

8.

Legal and Governance Implications

8.1

South Kesteven District Council’s current Member Code of Conduct was adopted in
accordance with the Council’s obligations under Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011
and complies with the requirements under Section 28 of the Act. Any changes to the
current Code of Conduct would be subject to approval by full Council.
Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive and
Monitoring Officer

8.

Background Papers

9.1

None

9.

Appendices

10.1

Appendix 1 – Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct

10.2

Appendix 2 – South Kesteven District Council’s current Member Code of Conduct

47

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION MODEL COUNCILLOR CODE OF
CONDUCT
Purpose of the Code of Conduct
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Councillor, in modelling
the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and
to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is
also to protect you, the public, fellow Councillors, Local Authority Officers and the
reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of
all Councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The
Local Government Association encourages the use of support, training and
mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the
Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of Councillor and local
government.
General principles of councillor conduct
Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public
services, including ministers, civil servants, Councillors and local authority officers;
should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan
Principles.
Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed
specifically for the role of Councillor:
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:





I act with integrity and honesty
I act lawfully
I treat all persons fairly and with respect
I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role
of Councillor.

In undertaking my role:






I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community
I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any
person
I avoid conflicts of interest
I exercise reasonable care and diligence
I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my Local
Authority’s requirements and in the public interest

Application of the Code of Conduct
This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of
acceptance of the office of Councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Councillor.

49

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a
Councillor which may include when:



You misuse your position as a Councillor
Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public
with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Councillor

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:







At face-to-face meetings
At online or telephone meetings
In written communication
In verbal communication
In non-verbal communication
In electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and
comments

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at
all times when acting as a Councillor.
Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the
Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish
councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to
the Monitoring Officer.
Standards of councillor conduct
This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct
required of you as a Councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken.
Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they
should be followed.
General Conduct
1.

Respect

As a councillor:
1.1

I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.

1.2

I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of
partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with
respect and respect the role they play.

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written
word.

50

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a
Councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas,
opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner.
You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to
personal attack.
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude
and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in
Councillors.
In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members
of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop
any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local
authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow
councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct,
and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local
authority’s councillor officer protocol.
2.

Bullying, harassment and discrimination

As a councillor:
2.1

I do not bully any person.

2.2

I do not harass any person.

2.3

I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any
person.

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying
might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on
social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social
events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others.
The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that
causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such
conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose
unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be
expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person.
Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

51

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a
central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's
performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public
commitment to equality across public services.
3.

Impartiality of officers of the council

As a councillor:
3.1

I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of
anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a
way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to
understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the
content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them
to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so
would prejudice their professional integrity.
4.

Confidentiality and access to information

As a councillor:
4.1

I do not disclose information:
a)
b)

given to me in confidence by anyone
acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be
aware, is of a confidential nature, unless:
i.
ii.
iii.

iv.

I have received the consent of a person authorised to give
it;
I am required by law to do so;
The disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of
obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third
party agrees not to disclose the information to any other
person; or
the disclosure is:
1.
reasonable and in the public interest; and
2.
made in good faith and in compliance with the
reasonable requirements of the local authority; and
3.
I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its
release.

4.2

I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role
as a Councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family
members, my employer or my business interests.

4.3

I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to
by law.

52

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and
printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined
circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is
required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held
by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include
personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations.
5.

Disrepute

As a councillor:
5.1

I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.

As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and
your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary
members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an
adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower
the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/its
functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can
bring your local authority into disrepute.
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able
to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes
undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code
of Conduct.
6.

Use of position

As a councillor:
6.1

I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage
or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain
opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that
will impact others.
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own
or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.
7.

Use of local authority resources and facilities

As a councillor:
7.1

I do not misuse council resources.

7.2

I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising
their use by others:
a)

act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and

53

b)

ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes
unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to
facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the
local authority or of the office to which I have been elected or
appointed.

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you
in carrying out your duties as a councillor.
Examples include:
 Office support
 Stationery
 Equipment such as phones, and computers
 Transport
 Access and use of local authority buildings and rooms
These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more
effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be
used in accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the
local authority’s own policies regarding their use.
8.

Complying with the Code of Conduct

As a Councillor:
8.1

I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.

8.2

I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or
determination.

8.3

I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be
involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

8.4

I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I
have breached the Code of Conduct.

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for
you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in
the local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned
about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this
with your Monitoring Officer.
Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority
9. Interests
As a councillor:
9.1

I register and disclose my interests.

54

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority.
You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and
fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.
The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue
arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and
a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding
whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for
you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also
important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by
you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision
making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public
confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.
You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as
set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.
Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests.
If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.
10.

Gifts and hospitality

As a councillor:
10.1

I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which
could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable
suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking
to acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from
persons who may apply to the local authority for any permission,
licence or other significant advantage.

10.2

I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.

10.3

I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or
hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept.

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you
reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The
presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However,
there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in
which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However,
you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as
a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important
to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated
with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer
for guidance.

55

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life
The principles are:
Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve
any interests and relationships.
Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear
and lawful reasons for so doing.
Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.
Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

56

Appendix B – Registering interests
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office
you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as
described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations
2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests).
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1
below.
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.
1.

You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within
28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a
registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2.

A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence
or intimidation.

3.

Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer
with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring
Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
4.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you
have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.

5.

Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered
or is being considered by you as a Cabinet Member in exercise of your
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and
must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for
someone else to deal with it.

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests
6.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial
interest or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in
Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if

57

members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise
must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests
7.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate,
you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members
of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in
the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

8.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –
a)
b)
c)

Your own financial interest or well-being;
A financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or
a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other
Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2

You must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the
meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied:
9.

Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial
interest or well-being:
a)
b)

To a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority
of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;
a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe
that it would affect your view of the wider public interest

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to
speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation.
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.
10.

Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest
on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet
member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring
Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the
matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it.

58

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.
Subject

Description

Employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation

Any employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the
council) made to the councillor during
the previous 12-month period for
expenses incurred by him/her in
carrying out his/her duties as a
councillor, or towards his/her election
expenses. This includes any payment or
financial benefit from a trade union
within the meaning of the Trade Union
and Labour Relations (Consolidation)
Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract made between the
councillor or his/her spouse or civil
partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which
such person is a partner, or an
incorporated body of which such person
is a director* or a body that such person
has a beneficial
interest in the securities of*) and the
council
(a)
(b)

Land and Property

under which goods or services
are to be provided or works are
to be executed; and
which has not been fully
discharged.

Any beneficial interest in land which is
within the area of the council. ‘Land’
excludes an easement, servitude,
interest or right in or over land which
does not give the councillor or his/her
spouse or civil partner or the person
with whom the councillor is living as if
they were spouses/civil partners (alone

59

or jointly with another) a right to occupy
or to receive income.
Licenses

Any licence (alone or jointly with others)
to occupy land in the area of the council
for a month or longer

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s
knowledge):
(a)
(b)

Securities

the landlord is the council; and
the tenant is a body that the
councillor, or his/her spouse or
civil partner or the person with
whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/civil
partners is a partner of or a
director* of or has a beneficial
interest in the securities* of

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a
body where:
(a)

(b)

that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of
the council; and
either:
(i)
the total nominal value of
the securities* exceeds
£25,000 or one hundredth
of the total issued share
capital of that body; or
(ii)
if the share capital of that
body is of more than one
class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any
one class in which the
councillor, or his/ her
spouse or civil partner or
the person with whom the
councillor is living as if
they were

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society.

60

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of
a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money
deposited with a building society.
Table 2: Other Registrable Interests
You must register as an Other Registerable Interest:
a)

any unpaid directorships

b)

any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control
or management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your
authority

c)

any body:
(i)

exercising functions of a public nature

(ii)

directed to charitable purposes or

(iii)

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or
management

61

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2

Members’ Code of Conduct
(as adopted by the Members of the Council at its meeting on 12th July 2012 and 13th April 2013

Introduction
South Kesteven District Council (the Authority) has adopted this Code setting out the expected
behaviours required of its Members or co-opted Members, acknowledging that they each have a
responsibility to represent the community and work constructively with staff and partner
organisations to secure better social, economic and environmental outcomes for all.
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 (the Act), when acting in this capacity all Members must
be committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following principles to achieve best
value for our residents and maintain public confidence in this Authority.
SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
INTEGRITY: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to outside
individuals or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or material benefits for themselves, their
family, their friends or other parties. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.
OBJECTIVITY: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the
public and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
OPENNESS: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful
reasons for so doing.
HONESTY: Holders of public office should be truthful.
LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge breaches of
the Code by others where they see this occurring.04/13
The Act further provides for registration and disclosure of interests and in South Kesteven District
Council this will be done as follows:

63

Interests
1.

Registration of interests
You must, within 28 days of:(a) this Code being adopted by or applied to the Authority; and/or
(b) your election or appointment to office; and
(c) becoming aware of any new interest or change to any interest registered under
this paragraph 1
notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of your disclosable pecuniary interests which
are registerable under the Localism Act 2011 and The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest) Regulations 2012, for inclusion in the register of interests.
Any interests notified in writing to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register
of interests.
A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be published on the
Authority’s website.

2.

Disclosure of Interests
If you have an interest described in paragraph 1 above and if you are aware or ought
reasonably to be aware of the existence of an interest described at clause 2.1 below,
and you attend a meeting of your authority at which the matter in which you have an
interest is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of
that interest at the commencement of that consideration or when the interest becomes
apparent.

2.1 Any interest in any business of your authority:





where a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as
affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-being or financial
position of a relevant person to a greater extent than the majority of other
council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward,
as the case may be, affected by the decision, or
it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests you have registered as a
disclosable pecuniary interest; and
the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant
facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your
judgement of the public interest

You may not participate in any discussion of the matter or any vote taken on the matter
at the meeting.
2.2 In paragraph 2.1, a relevant person is—

Members Code of Conduct
64

a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association, their
employers or people they are in partnership with, companies of which they are directors
or in which they hold a beneficial interest in any class of securities exceeding the
nominal value of £25,000. Or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
company.
3

Sensitive interests

3.1 Where you consider that disclosure or registration of the details of an interest could, for
whatever reason, be sensitive and the Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is
entered on the register, copies of the register that are made available for inspection and
any published version of the register will exclude details of the sensitive interest, but
may state that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld.
4.

Attendance at meetings

4.1 Council Procedure Rule requires you to leave the room where the meeting is held
while any discussion or voting takes place where you have an interest described in
paragraphs 1 or 2.1 above.
4.2 Where you have an interest in any business of the Authority described in paragraph
2.1 above, you may attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making
representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business,
provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose,
whether under a statutory right or otherwise and you leave the room where the meeting
is held immediately after making representations, answering questions or giving
evidence.
4.3

Subject to you disclosing the interest at the meeting, you may attend a meeting and
vote on a matter where you have an interest that relates to the functions of the Authority
in respect of—
(i) housing, where you are a tenant of the Authority, provided that those functions
do not relate specifically to your tenancy;
(ii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and
Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of,
such pay;
(iii) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members;
(iv) any ceremonial honour given to members; and
(v) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

5.

Disclosure of Gifts and Hospitality

5.1

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing the name of any person or
organization from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value
of at least £50 which you have received in your capacity as a member of the Council.
The notification must include the date of receipt of the offer and details of whether or
not the gift was accepted.

Members Code of Conduct
65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Council
25 November 2021
Report of: Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Planning and
Planning Policy

Grantham Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning
Document
To seek formal adoption of the Grantham Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document as
Council policy, to supplement policies in the South Kesteven Local Plan.
Report Author
Phil Moore (Special Projects Manager)
01476 406461
p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth and our Economy

Non-Key

Two or more Wards

Reviewed by:

Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning)

10 November 2021

Approved by:

Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture)

10 November 2021

Signed off by:

Councillor Nick Robins (Cabinet Member for Planning
and Planning Policy)

11 November 2021

Recommendation to the decision makers
1. That full Council adopts the Grantham Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD).

67

1

The Background to the Report

1.1

The Grantham Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was put before
the Cabinet at the meeting of 9 November 2021. At that meeting Cabinet unanimously
endorsed the Rectory Farm SPD and resolved to recommend to full Council that it be
formally adopted by the Council. The report to Cabinet is included in full as Appendix 5.
The Grantham Rectory Farm SPD itself is included in full as Appendices 1 and 2.

2

Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny

2.1

Public consultation was carried out Jan – Feb 2019 as required by the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The results of the consultation and
subsequent amendments to the SPD are set out in Appendices 5 and 6.

2.2

Following the recent election of new Members, further engagement and consultation has
taken place with Members representing the town of Grantham and the local wards which
Rectory Farm sits within.

2.3

As a result of feedback received since the Cabinet meeting of 9 November, the title of the
document has been amended from “Rectory Farm Planning Brief” to “Grantham Rectory
Farm Supplementary Planning Document” and all references within the document to
“Planning Brief” have been amended to SPD. This amendment has been made to clarify
the status of the document as an adopted SPD for the avoidance of doubt.

2.4

Cabinet did not require any further amendments to the Rectory Farm SPD.

3

Available Options Considered

3.1

To adopt the Grantham Rectory Farm SPD.

3.2

To do nothing and not adopt the Grantham Rectory Farm SPD

4

Preferred Option

4.1

The preferred option is to adopt the Grantham Rectory Farm SPD. Non adoption would risk
incremental, uncoordinated development without an overall masterplan.

5

Reasons for the Recommendation

5.1

Adoption of the SPD would ensure the delivery of a high-quality sustainable development
meeting the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Plan and Local Plan. In particular this
would ensure that the Council is able to deliver high quality homes to meet the needs of
our residents whilst creating healthy and strong communities. It will assist the Council in
delivering its ambition to create a Clean and Sustainable Environment and meet Climate
Change objectives.

6

Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision

6.1

Following adoption by Full Council, the Council (in its role as Local Planning Authority) will
use the SPD as a material planning consideration in planning decisions relating to Rectory
Farm.

7

Financial Implications

7.1

The Council’s retained consultants were commissioned to draft the report in consultation
with officers and stakeholders. The total cost was £24,870 which was funded from existing
budgets. There are no further financial implications.

68

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance
and s151 Officer

8

Legal and Governance Implications

8.1

There is a requirement for public participation prior to the adoption of an SPD by a local
planning authority as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012. The consultation took place in accordance with these regulations Jan –
Feb 2019 and the summary of responses is set out in Appendix 3
Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive

9

Equality and Safeguarding Implications

9.1

The Grantham Rectory Farm SPD, read together with the South Kesteven Local Plan,
includes proposals to make places and developments more accessible and inclusive
which will have a positive impact on equality. See Appendix 4.

10

Risk and Mitigation

10.1

Should the SPD be adopted, there are no significant risks identified at this stage. The risk
of not adopting would be incremental or stalled development through potential noncooperation of landowners and the Council would have reduced ability to resist inferior
quality development.

11

Community Safety Implications

11.1

The Rectory Farm SPD, read together with the South Kesteven Local Plan, includes
proposals to address community safety within the design of new development.

12

How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

12.1

The Grantham Rectory Farm SPD, read together with the South Kesteven Local Plan,
recognises the challenges faced by the changing climate and seeks to provide guidance
on how new development can reduce its carbon footprint in terms of design, construction
and use. Adoption of the SPD will have a positive impact on Climate Change by assisting
the delivery of a sustainable development that helps the Council meet its stated aims
regarding climate change.

13

Other Implications (where significant)

13.1

None.

14

Background Papers

14.1

South Kesteven adopted Local Plan available online via:
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904

15

Appendices

15.1

Appendix 1: Grantham Rectory Farm SPD

15.2

Appendix 2: Grantham Rectory Farm Masterplans

15.3

Appendix 3: Summary of Responses to Public Consultation

15.4

Appendix 4: Equalities Impact Assessment

15.5

Appendix 5: Report to Cabinet 9 November 2021

69

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Grantham Rectory Farm
Supplementary Planning Document

South Kesteven District Council
October 2021 Final Draft

November 2017

71

South Kesteven District Council
Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document – October 2021

Prepared by

Checked by

Approved by

Jesse Honey
Associate Planner

Ben Castell
Technical Director

Ben Castell
Technical Director

2
72

South Kesteven District Council
Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document – October 2021

Prepared for:
South Kesteven District Council
Council Offices
St Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

Prepared by:
AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited
Aldgate Tower,
2 Leman Street,
London
E1 8FA
www.aecom.com
© 2019 AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited. All Rights Reserved.
This document has been prepared by AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of
our client South Kesteven District Council (the “Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy
principles, the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information
provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise
expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written
agreement of AECOM.

3
73

South Kesteven District Council
Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document – October 2021

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN FORMATTED FOR DOUBLE SIDED PRINTING

4
74

75

Table of Contents

1

2

3

4

5

Introduction ................................................................................................ 8
1.1

About this document ............................................................................. 8

1.2

Structure of document ........................................................................... 8

Objectives and process ............................................................................ 10
2.1

Objectives of Planning Brief ................................................................ 10

2.2

History of Site ...................................................................................... 11

2.3

Consultation process........................................................................... 12

Planning Policy and Obligations .............................................................. 14
3.1

Introduction ......................................................................................... 14

3.2

National planning policy ...................................................................... 14

3.3

Local planning policy ........................................................................... 14

3.4

Other planning guidance ..................................................................... 15

3.5

Planning obligations ............................................................................ 16

3.6

Future management ............................................................................ 16

Site Description ........................................................................................ 16
4.1

Introduction ......................................................................................... 16

4.2

The allocated land ............................................................................... 17

4.3

Poplar Farm (NWQ Phase 1) .............................................................. 17

4.4

Land ownership ................................................................................... 19

4.5

Baseline infrastructure provision ......................................................... 20

4.6

Site opportunities and constraints ....................................................... 21

4.7

Climate change ................................................................................... 21

4.8

Landscape ........................................................................................... 22

4.9

Nature conservation ............................................................................ 23

4.10

Archaeology and heritage ................................................................ 23

4.11

Built environment ............................................................................. 25

4.12

Geo-environmental considerations .................................................. 27

Development principles ............................................................................ 28
5.1

Key land uses ...................................................................................... 28

5.2

Housing ............................................................................................... 28

76

6

7

5.3

Supporting infrastructure ..................................................................... 29

5.4

Delivery and phasing of development ................................................. 38

Design Principles ..................................................................................... 39
6.1

Overarching design principles ............................................................. 39

6.2

Quality ................................................................................................. 39

6.3

Connectivity ......................................................................................... 39

6.4

Form, massing and layout ................................................................... 40

6.5

Character areas .................................................................................. 41

6.6

Density ................................................................................................ 45

6.7

Landscaping ........................................................................................ 45

Delivery and Implementation.................................................................... 47

Appendix 1: Relevant South Kesteven Planning Policies ............................... 48
Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted 2010) .........................
Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document (adopted 2014) ....
Submission Draft Local Plan (2017) (emerging as of this Planning Brief) ... 48
Appendix 2: Further reference documents ...................................................... 50
Appendix 3: List of Service Providers ............................................................. 51

77

1 Introduction
1.1 About this document

1.2

1.1.1

Rectory Farm is a key allocation in the South Kesteven Local Plan, forming an
urban extension to Grantham to meet South Kesteven’s housing requirements
up to 2036. It forms Phase 2 of Grantham’s North West Quadrant (NWQ)
development, the adjoining Poplar Farm site to its east forming Phase 1 of the
NWQ.

1.1.2

This Supplementary Planning Document has been prepared to add detail to
relevant policies in the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036. This
document will not only provide guidance for landowners and developers, but
also through its preparation as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
the local community and other stakeholders will have the opportunity to
influence the future development of the area. A key element of the Planning
Brief is the Masterplan Maps (Plans 1 to 12) which set out the location of the
main land uses and supporting infrastructure within and adjacent to the site.

Structure of document
1.2.1

The remainder of this document, comprising the text accompanying and to be
read in conjunction with the twelve Masterplan Maps, is structured as follows:

•

Chapter 2: Objectives and Process outlines the process leading to site
allocation, the aims of this Planning Brief and provides detail on the
associated consultation process;

•

Chapter 3: Planning Policies and Obligations sets out the key relevant local
and national planning policies and obligations relevant for the site;

•

Chapter 4: Site Description describes in detail the location and characteristics
of the site, which permits an assessment of its key constraints and
opportunities;

•

Chapter 5: Development Principles builds on the conclusions of previous
chapters to set out development principles for the site and the key land uses
envisaged;

•

Chapter 6: Design Principles sets out the detailed design considerations that
site developers should incorporate into any development plans;

•

Chapter 7: Delivery and Implementation covers how the site might be
developed, and the potential implications of different delivery, implementation
or development options; and

78

•

Appendices 1,2 and 3 set out respectively relevant South Kesteven planning
policies, further reference documents, and a list of relevant service providers.

79

2 Objectives and process
2.1 Objectives of the SPD
2.1.1

This SPD has the following objectives:

•

To amplify and add detail to the policies of the South Kesteven Local Plan1,
particularly Policy GR3-H2 (Phase 2 North West Quadrant);

•

To promote best practice in achieving sustainable development, in
accordance with local and national planning policy;

•

To identify any other planning issues not specified in the Local Plan;

•

To clarify the requirement for planning obligations; and

•

To address the implications of potential development options, having
particular regard to the site’s wider context as Phase 2 of the NWQ,
immediately adjoining Phase 1 (Poplar Farm).

2.1.2

It is recognised that, in practice, most strategic sites are developed in a
phased manner. This reflects the fact that developers are free to submit
planning applications on just part, rather than all, of the land they control.
Once submitted, the Council is required to determine all planning applications
without undue delay, to the relevant target timescales and in accordance with
national and local planning policy guidance. It is, however, required for the
various phases of development to fit together to create a coherent, connected
and well-designed whole.

2.1.3

The number of individual planning applications, the timetable for their
submission and the timetable for housing completion is determined by the site
landowners and developers and is largely outside the control of the District
Council. The land at Rectory Farm is in multiple ownerships.

2.1.4

However, through the preparation of this SPD and ongoing dialogue with
developers and landowners, the Council is taking a proactive role and
encouraging a strategic approach to the development of the site, having
particular regard to the phasing and development of the Poplar Farm site to
its immediate east, which forms Phase One of the North West Quadrant
development.

2.1.5

There are standard requirements for the submission of supporting information
for all planning applications, including the requirement for Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA) scoping, and these are set out and clarified within
this Planning Brief.

1 South

Kesteven Local Plan available at
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904

80

2.1.6

One of the key aims of this SPD is to ensure that development of a small part
of the housing allocation does not prejudice the delivery of the rest of the site.

2.1.7

To help achieve this goal, the District Council will look to work closely with all
interested parties including Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), Highways
England, Parish Councils and other relevant statutory service providers in
planning and delivering services to meet the needs of the new development.

2.1.8

The Masterplan Maps accompanying this SPD are intended to guide the
development of the Rectory Farm site by setting out the specific locations
where different types of development are expected and showing clearly the
relationship between them, the surrounding context and the supporting
infrastructure required.

2.1.9

In this way, they build on and add clarity to the more indicative mapping for
the site that appears within the Local Plan policies map. Planning applications
on all or any part of the site will be expected to accord with these Masterplan
Maps, which, together with the SPD text, form a material consideration for the
determination of planning applications on the site.

2.2 History of Site

2

2.2.1

Land north of the A52 Barrowby Road and south of the Nottingham-Grantham
railway line was first allocated for housing in the South Kesteven Local Plan
1995. The allocation was retained into the 2010 South Kesteven Core
Strategy under the name of H2A North West Quadrant.

2.2.2

Land at Rectory Farm, which lies immediately west of Core Strategy
allocation H2A, was first identified through the Grantham Capacity and Limits
to Growth Study (AECOM, 2015)2, as part of a wider area of land considered
for suitable for strategic scale housing development. The Capacity and Limits
to Growth Study stated that 81 hectares of land west of the then allocated
Poplar Farm site and east of the A1 could be appropriate as Phase 2 of the
NWQ.

2.2.3

Subsequently, the current Local Plan, adopted January 2020, replaced the
2010 Core Strategy. The current Local Plan divides this 81 hectare parcel into
two sites: GR3-H2 Rectory Farm, to the east (which is the subject of this
Planning Brief) and GR2-H3 Land Adjacent to Rectory Farm, to the west.

2.2.4

In 2017, linked planning applications for housing development were submitted
by two site landowners, Jelson Homes and Linden Homes. The boundary of
the 2017 planning applications overlaps some, but not all, of the GR3-H2
Rectory Farm allocation boundary.

2.2.5

The site, as well as the boundary of the neighbouring allocation GR3-H3, are
illustrated for clarity in Masterplan Map 1. Note in Map 1 the 5.36 hectares of
land in the north-west corner of the site that is considered by Local Plan (as

Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17031

81

informed by the Grantham Capacity and Limits to Growth Study) to be
unsuitable for built development. It may, however, be used, subject to
sensitive design, as a landscape buffer, which means it can contribute
towards the open space requirement for the built development proposed for
allocation GR3-H2.
2.2.6

The Local Plan considers that, at an indicative density of 30 dwellings per
hectare and a discount of 60% to allow for developable area, site GR3-H2 has
an indicative capacity of 1,150 dwellings and site GR3-H3 has an indicative
capacity for 404 dwellings, giving a total across both sites of 1,554 dwellings.

2.2.7

It is considered that the optimum capacity for allocation GR3-H2 is
approximately 1,035 dwellings.

2.2.8

Extensive modelling work carried out by technical specialists during
preparation of the Local Plan tested the full range of infrastructure impacts
associated with an allocation of this size. The modelling indicated that the
infrastructure impacts would be acceptable subject to the required
improvements being funded appropriately through contributions, in line with
Local Plan Policy ID1: Infrastructure for Growth.

2.3 Consultation process
2.3.1

The principle of developing the site was established through adoption of the
current Local Plan in January 2020.

2.3.2

Prior to adoption, the Local Plan went through a period of consultation
followed by the Local Plan Examination in Public.

2.3.3

This formal consultation process has regard to national legislation requiring
appropriate consultation and was carried out in accordance with the District
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

2.3.4

This SPD has also been informed by informal consultation with relevant
stakeholders within the Council and beyond, in accordance with the Council’s
Statement of Consultation. This included dialogue with Great Gonerby and
Barrowby Parish Councils, as the site lies partially within both parishes, as
illustrated in Masterplan Map 2) as well as with the site’s landowners and
developers, namely Vistry Homes (previously known as Linden Homes),
Jelson Homes and the Jenkinson family.

2.3.5

The draft SPD was also subject to public for consultation over a six-week
period in 2019. Following consideration of consultation responses, and the
adoption of the current Local Plan, the text and plans have been amended
where appropriate.

2.3.6

It was originally intended that the SPD be adopted concurrently with the Local
Plan. However, events beyond the Council’s control have led to delays for
adoption of the Planning Brief.

82

2.3.7

The formal adoption of the document as an SPD following adoption of the
current Local Plan will give it significant weight as a material planning
consideration in planning decisions relating to Rectory Farm.

2.3.8

It should be noted that in the period between the adoption of the current Local
Plan, and adoption of this SPD, the Council’s Panning Committee has
approved Vistry and Jelson’s two 2017 full planning applications at the south
end of the Rectory Farm allocation (total 448 dwellings). These applications
aligned with the principles of the draft SPD which was taken into account as
material consideration by the District Council when determining these
planning applications.

83

3 Planning Policy and Obligations
3.1 Introduction
3.1.1

As stated previously, the key planning document relevant to the development
of the Rectory Farm site is the adopted Local Plan (GR3-H2 Rectory Farm).
This chapter provides more detail on local policy and also identifies other
planning policy documents guiding development at the site alongside these
allocation policies.

3.2 National planning policy
3.2.1

National planning policy guidance is provided by the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF)3 and the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)4.
Proposals for the site will need to take account of these and other relevant
national guidance, in particular, government guidance on climate change5,
flooding6 and the achievement of zero carbon development.7

3.3 Local planning policy
Adopted Local Plan
3.3.1

South Kesteven’s Local Plan8 was adopted in January 2020 and addresses
the period to 2036. It incorporates a detailed vision and spatial objectives for
South Kesteven over this period, and this SPD has been drafted to accord
fully with that vision and spatial objectives.

3.3.2

The Local Plan is informed by the previously-mentioned Grantham Capacity
and Limits to Growth Study and includes the previously-mentioned Policies
GR3-H2 and GR3-H4 which allocate the Rectory Farm site and adjacent land
for an indicative 1,150 dwellings.

3.3.3

Among the most relevant of the other policies (in order of their appearance in
the Local Plan) are:

•

SD2: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven;

•

H1: Housing Allocations

•

H2: Affordable Housing Contributions

Available at
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/10
05759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
4 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
5 Available at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/climate-change
6 Available at https://www.gov.uk/environment/river-maintenance-flooding-coastal-erosion
7 Available at https://www.gov.uk/housing-local-and-community/energy-efficiency-in-buildings
8 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904
3

84

•

H3: Self and Custom Build Housing

•

H4: Meeting All Housing Needs

•

EN6: The Historic Environment

•

DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design

•

SB1 Sustainable Building

•

OS1 Open Space

•

GR1: Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton House and Park

•

GR2 Sustainable Transport in Grantham

•

ID1 Infrastructure for Growth

•

ID2 Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

•

ID3 Broadband and Communications Infrastructure

3.3.4

Development proposals will also need to demonstrate compliance with other
policies of the adopted Local Plan.

3.3.5

Any planning applications relating to the Rectory Farm site will be determined
against the planning policy framework in place at that time.

3.4 Other planning guidance
3.4.1

Other local and national non-statutory guidance e.g. the Belton House and
Park Setting Study (SKDC/National Trust)9, Manual for Streets 2007 (DfT)10,
Manual for Streets 2 (CIHT)11 and Lincolnshire County Council’s Highways
and Transportation Guidance Notes12, will assist developers in preparing
proposals for development.

3.4.2

Any policy documents produced by South Kesteven District Council, such as
the emerging Design Supplementary Planning Document should be taken into
account. Workshops discussing the Rectory Farm site have been undertaken
by OPUN (Architecture and Design Centre for the East Midlands) and the
reports from these reviews should also be taken into account (dated
September 2018 and 16th November 2018)13.

Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810
Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
11 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets-2
12 Available at https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/highways-planning/Guidance-for-developers
13 Available at www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=24468&p=0
www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=24467&p=0
9

10

85

3.4.3

Sustainability objectives are shared by developers and regulatory agencies at
all levels of government. All dwellings in the development will be required to
meet the requirements of national policy on energy efficient buildings.14

3.5 Planning obligations
3.5.1

Developer contributions will be sought for the provision and funding of existing
and new community infrastructure. In this context, community infrastructure
may include open space, schools, community and cultural facilities,
healthcare services, affordable housing, public transport, highways, waste
disposal, fire and rescue, and police.

3.5.2

Unless arrangements are made for the provision and maintenance of a
service privately, the new development may impact on existing community
infrastructure, and as such, adverse impacts will normally need to be offset by
Section 106 developer contributions and in accordance the South Kesteven
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which was
adopted by the Council in June 2012.15 At the time of writing, South Kesteven
has no adopted CIL charging schedule but is in the process of reviewing and
updating the Planning Obligations SPD.

3.5.3

A final assessment of a development’s impact on community infrastructure
leading to Heads of Terms for a legal agreement can only be made at
planning application stage when details of the proposed development and its
timing are known. Most of the relevant planning obligations relate exclusively
to housing development.

3.6 Future management
3.6.1

The future management of new and retained open space and other
infrastructure is important in ensuring the long-term sustainability and legacy
of the development. It is a requirement that plans are in place to the
satisfaction of those bodies charged with future management of land or
facilities. If any of the land to be managed requires work of a specialised
nature, this will be reflected in the s106 negotiations.

4 Site Description
4.1 Introduction

14
15

4.1.1

The boundaries of the site that forms the subject of this SPD are shown in
Masterplan Map 1.

4.1.2

The site consists of agricultural land subdivided by hedged field boundaries
and three clusters of farm buildings; Rectory Farm, and Boundary Farm and

Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/energy-efficiency-in-buildings
Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13870

86

Hurnsfield closer to the A52 Barrowby Road.
4.1.3

The site occupies the south and south-eastern slopes of Stubbock Hill; its
centre is a flat, raised plateau, sloping steeply down to the railway line on its
northern boundary and more gently to the east down into the Poplar Farm site
that forms Phase One of the North West Quadrant.

4.1.4

The highest point of the site is around Rectory Farm itself, at around 107
metres above sea level; the site’s lowest point is on its eastern boundary,
around 94 metres above sea level. The site is bounded to its south by the
A52, to its east by the Poplar Farm development, to its north by the
Nottingham-Grantham railway line and to its west by the embankment of the
A1 Grantham western bypass.

4.2 The allocated land
4.2.1

In the Local Plan, the land is allocated for an indicative 1,150 dwellings at a
gross density of 30 dwellings per hectare. The total area of the allocated land
is 61.59 hectares.

4.2.2

The entire site has been allocated for development in accordance with Policy
GR3: Grantham Allocations, specifically by sub-policy GR3-H2: Rectory Farm
(Phase 2 North West Quadrant).

4.2.3

An Environmental Impact Assessment may be required to accompany any
significant planning application(s).

4.3 Poplar Farm (NWQ Phase 1)

16

4.3.1

The land immediately east of the allocation, known as Poplar Farm, already
has planning permission and is being developed as Phase 1 of the North
West Quadrant. Once complete, it will provide 1,800 new homes across the
68-hectare site. Details of the development appear in the Poplar Farm Design
Code (PFDC) (FPCR, 2011).16 The site is being developed in three phases
from south to north; Phase 1 is the largest and is being developed as of 2018.
The land bordering the Rectory Farm site includes land in all three phases.

4.3.2

Figure 1 below gives an overview of existing and proposed development at
Poplar Farm at the time of writing.

http://planning.southkesteven.gov.uk/SKDC/S11-1667/1057418.pdf

87

Figure 1: Composite diagram of existing, consented and proposed development at Poplar Farm as of 2018

88
Source: Buckminster Estates and South Kesteven District Council

4.3.3

A new spine road called Pennine Way (designated in the PFDC as an Urban
Boulevard) is proposed to run north-south across the Poplar Farm
development, linking the A52 to the B1174 Gonerby Road to the north via a
new bridge across the railway.

4.3.4

In the south-west corner of the Poplar Farm site, facing the A52 and
immediately east of the Rectory Farm site, a mixed-use local centre will be
provided. This will incorporate a new primary school, a community centre,
shops, a doctor’s surgery and accommodation for elderly people. It is
proposed that the new district centre will also serve the residents of the
Rectory Farm site.

4.3.5

The primary school has capacity for 420 pupils, alongside new sports fields,
and is was opened in 2018.

4.3.6

The PFDC shows that except for the new local centre, the proposed land use
bordering the rest of the Rectory Farm site will be residential, with two major
west-east road spines traversing the boundary between the Poplar Farm and
Rectory Farm sites.

4.3.7

These spines, the northern of which is designated in the PFDC as a Main
Street and the southern as an Urban Lane (accompanied by a Greenway),
have been taken into account in the Masterplans accompanying this Planning
Brief. It is currently proposed that the residential land at the eastern edge of
Poplar Farm that borders the Rectory Farm site will be developed at a range
of lower, medium and higher densities, ranging between 15 and 55 dwellings
per hectare.

4.3.8

This SPD seeks to integrate existing, ongoing and proposed developments at
Poplar Farm to the greatest possible extent with development at the Rectory
Farm site. In this way, the North West Quadrant as a whole can form a single,
seamless new community, maximising opportunities for economic, social and
environmental sustainability. This vision is illustrated by the Masterplan Maps.

4.3.9

As such, this SPD will seek to maximise permeability and connectivity across
the shared boundary of the Rectory Farm and Poplar Farm sites.

4.4 Land ownership
4.4.1

The land comprising the allocated site is, at the time of writing, in three
separate landownerships; Vistry Homes (formerly known as Linden Homes),
Jelson Homes and the Jenkinson family. The Vistry Homes land occupies
around 11.9 hectares at the south-east corner of the site, bordering the Poplar
Farm site. The land owned by the Jenkinson family occupies the north-east
corner of the site, also bordering Poplar Farm; it is 12.7 hectares in size17.
The Jelson land is in the south-west of the site, occupying 11 hectares;

Although the total size of each landholding listed may be larger, the areas given comprise the
hectares of each landholding that overlap with the area covered by this planning brief.
17

89

4.4.2

In December 2020, the Council’s Panning Committee approved Vistry and
Jelson’s two 2017 full planning applications at the south end of the Rectory
Farm allocation (total 448 dwellings).

4.4.3

A further 20 hectares in the north-west of the site is, at the time of writing, the
subject of a joint outline planning application between Jelson Homes and
Vistry Homes.

4.5 Baseline infrastructure provision
4.5.1

As noted previously, it is intended that infrastructure to be provided on the
neighbouring Poplar Farm site will to some extent also serve the Rectory
Farm site. However, some additional infrastructure, including utility services,
new access routes, open space and drainage provision, will be needed within
the Rectory Farm site itself.

4.5.2

As the vast majority of the existing site is farmland, the level of baseline
infrastructure provision is relatively low. Further details of existing services in
the vicinity are available from the service providers (see Appendix 3). The
infrastructure provision that will be required to support future development is
set out below in Chapter 7: Development Principles.

90

4.6 Site opportunities and constraints
4.6.1

Developers will need to demonstrate that they have taken into account the
context of the site and its surroundings in any proposals for new development.
Some of the key contextual considerations, both opportunities and
constraints, that developers are expected to build into their planning
applications at the site have been illustrated on Masterplan Map 3. Further
detailed site and contextual analysis work will be required for any
development proposals.

4.7 Climate change
4.7.1

The planning system is one of the most important ways that the impact of
climate change can be reduced. The NPPF lays out the ways that planning
can help in addressing climate change. NPPF paragraph 152 sets out the key
objectives for the planning system in this regard:

4.7.2

“The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It
should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience;
encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of
existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and
associated infrastructure.”

4.7.3

One of the most visible ways that Britain has been affected by climate change
is the increased risk of flooding that new weather patterns have brought. To
address this it is a requirement that surface water run-off is assessed and
managed to ensure that development is itself safe from flooding and that
areas surrounding the site do not experience increased risk of flooding.

4.7.4

The whole of the allocation site lies within Environment Agency Flood Zone
One and as such it has been confirmed that there are no abnormal
requirements in terms of flooding or flood risk.

4.7.5

Nevertheless, development proposals will need to consider carefully the
potential impacts of surface water flooding and appropriate mitigation through
drainage.

4.7.6

In order to meet zero/low carbon standards for the site, it is possible that land
will need to be set aside to accommodate energy generation and distribution.
Solar, heat pump, wind and biomass technologies are all potentially suitable
for this site, with delivery through a decentralised system subject to further
feasibility studies.

4.7.7

The use of any emerging or innovative technologies should also be explored
when a planning application is submitted. Such provision would need to be
integrated at the outset with other utility services.

4.7.8

Developers are expected to take into account as appropriate South

91

Kesteven’s Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) (2016).18 The AQAP has been
prepared to set out the measures which will be taken to help reduce vehicle
emissions occurring as a result of development proposals. The guidance
seeks to improve air quality and avoid further areas having to be designated
as Air Quality Management Areas, as has already happened in central
Grantham. Key points from the AQAP have been incorporated into the
emerging South Kesteven Local Plan.
4.7.9

This presents an opportunity for development at Rectory Farm to encourage
walking, cycling and the use of public transport by providing direct and safe
routes that are attractive to use and close to people’s homes.

4.8 Landscape
4.8.1

The site lies within National Character Area 48 – Trent and Belvoir Vales
(Natural England, 2014)19 and the Grantham Scarps and Valleys Character
Area in the South Kesteven Landscape Character Assessment (2007).20
There are no statutory landscape designations within or in the close vicinity of
the site.

4.8.2

Defra’s Magic Map21 shows that development of the site would have no
impact on ancient woodland.

4.8.3

Due to the open nature of the topography there is potential to cause visual
impact. This would have to be evaluated in a landscape and visual impact
assessment.

4.8.4

The development proposals will need to be designed having regard to a
landscape and visual impact assessment undertaken, potentially as part of an
environmental impact assessment (EIA).

4.8.5

A landscape and biodiversity strategy will also be required including specific
proposals for the allocated land, such as planting and landscaping.
Appropriate conditions and/or a legal agreement may be used to ensure that
the recommendations of the strategy are implemented.

4.8.6

The historic landscape around the site is also important. The County Council’s
Historic Environmental Record will contain useful information on the historic
environment of the area.

Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17687&p=0
Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-forlocal-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles#ncas-in-east-midlands
20 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2117&p=0
21 Available at http://www.magic.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx
18
19

92

4.9 Nature conservation
4.9.1

In conjunction with any planning application, an ecology assessment will be
required together with proposals to protect and enhance existing ecological
resources, create new features and secure their long-term management.
Appropriate conditions and/or a legal agreement may be used to ensure that
the long-term management of ecological resources within the site are
implemented.

4.9.2

The vast majority of the site comprises intensively farmed arable land, and as
such, the fields themselves are likely to be of minimal ecological value,
although this will need to be confirmed by an appropriate level of ecological
survey and assessment.

4.9.3

However, there are a number of historic hedgerows and mature trees across
the site, which provide opportunities for protection and enhancement of green
infrastructure. These opportunities are expected to be developed as part of
detailed masterplanning, and maintenance arrangements will be agreed via
S106 agreements. Details should be discussed with Lincolnshire Wildlife
Trust22

4.9.4

Development proposals should, in line with NPPF Chapter 15 – Conserving
and Enhancing the Natural Environment, make provision for the creation of
new wildlife habitats. This will aid the wider sustainability of the site.

4.9.5

Measures to encourage biodiversity will also be expected within the new
development. These could include green and brown roofs and walls, nativespecies planting and landscaping, integrated bird/bat boxes and SUDS.

4.9.6

Most of the hedgerows within the site are considered ‘important’ (Hedgerow
Regulations 1997). Wherever possible, hedgerows and mature trees should
be preserved and enhanced as landscape and ecological features. The
retained hedgerows should form part of a Green Infrastructure network
running throughout the site.

4.9.7

Developers should make use of opportunities to use boundary treatments to
mitigate against negative landscape and visual impacts. As with all
unavoidable impacts on any landscape or ecological resource, surveys should
be undertaken to ascertain the best location for development on this criterion.

4.9.8

Development at the site must also avoid any adverse impacts on the nearest
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), comprising Allington Meadows,
around 3.7 kilometres north-west of the site.

4.10 Archaeology and heritage
4.10.1 The closest Conservation Area to the site is Great Gonerby to the north- the
22

As specified at https://www.lincstrust.org.uk/

93

shortest distance between the Conservation Area boundary and the site
boundary is around 575 metres. Barrowby Conservation Area boundary is
around 1km west of the site and Grantham Conservation Area boundary
around 1.5 km east of the site. Each of these Conservation Areas contains a
cluster of listed buildings.
4.10.2 Another important designated heritage asset in the vicinity is Belton Park,
containing Belton House, both Grade I listed (the former as a registered Park
and Garden, the latter as a listed building). There are, however, no listed
buildings in the immediate vicinity of the site; the closest listed building is the
Grade II listed Gonerby House, around 1km east of the site boundary.
4.10.3 In line with Historic England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning 3 (The
Setting of Heritage Assets)23 and NPPF Section 16 (Conserving and
Enhancing the Historic Environment), development of the allocated land
should wherever possible avoid adverse impacts on views to, from and
between the settings of listed buildings and other heritage features. A historic
landscape assessment should form part of any planning application, and
should cover in particular any impacts of development on Belton House and
Park in line with the Belton House and Park Setting Study and Policy
Development (Atkins, 2010).24
4.10.4 There are potential archaeological sites within the allocated land.
Archaeological investigation to date has included desk-based assessment,
geophysical survey and limited trial trenching. The results have been
presented in the Environmental Statement accompanying the 2017 planning
applications. The archaeological framework document, which also
accompanies the 2017 planning applications, outlines the procedure for
further trial trench evaluation of the site, consultation and mitigation (including
archiving and reporting as well as an area of preservation in situ) and the
intention to submit management proposals.
4.10.5 The results of the archaeological surveys reveal an extensive archaeological
landscape that dates from the prehistoric to the Roman period. The main
focus of settlement activity is located on the higher land towards the northwestern corner of the site. However, the southern part of the site appears to
be characterised more by land divisions rather than settlement, although
further work is required to understand the nature of the remains.
4.10.6 Further development proposals will require comprehensive archaeological
evaluation (trial trenching) to determine the extent, depth, character, date,
survival and significance of the remains across the whole application area.
The results will inform a detailed and appropriate mitigation strategy which will
need to be developed based on the results of the evaluation which addresses
the likely impacts of the proposals on the archaeological deposits, the scope
Second Edition, December 2017. Available at https://content.historicengland.org.uk/imagesbooks/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/heag180-gpa3-setting-heritage-assets.pdf/
24 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810
23

94

of further archaeological mitigation excavation, the nature of any design
mitigation (such as preservation in situ), analysis, publication and
dissemination. The mitigation framework should be maintained as a live
document to inform and address the ongoing archaeological requirement and
conserve and manage the heritage resource throughout the life of the
scheme.
4.10.7 As the scheme may be phased over a number of years it is important that
provision is made for the publication, in an appropriate format, of the results of
investigations across the site as a whole, as this is an important landscape
with opportunities to address a number of research questions. Public
engagement should also be considered as part of this strategy. There is an
opportunity to engage with local communities and schools regarding the
archaeology of the site as well as employing a range of media for public
dissemination, information and display for the site and its wider, historic
environment setting.
4.10.8 Historic England advises specifically that development of the site should seek
to positively incorporate strategic views towards heritage assets in the
surrounding area, in particular the Grade II* listed Bellmount Tower at Belton
Park, the Grade I listed St Wulfram’s Church in Grantham, and the Grade I
listed St Sebastian church at Great Gonerby. Masterplan Map 3 illustrates the
trajectories of these key views from the high ground on the site. Further
studies, as outlined above, are required to more accurately determine and
assess these viewpoints and ensure that they are kept clear.
4.10.9 In particular, the ridge line of Stubbock Hill to the immediate west of the site is
an important backdrop to and feature of the town and its surroundings, and to
this extent development should respect the topography of the site to ensure
that heritage assets and their settings are conserved or enhanced. Further
dialogue between the District Council and Historic England will take place as
proposals emerge to ensure that heritage assets, their settings and local
archaeology are not adversely impacted.

4.11 Built environment
4.11.1 The site falls within Character Area 17b (Landscape Fringes: Northwest
Quadrant (Poplar Farm, Boundary Farm and Rectory Farm) of the Grantham
Townscape Assessment (2011).25
4.11.2 The Townscape Assessment notes that there are important views in this
location north to Great Gonerby’s church spire (St Sebastian’s), and that the
land appears in views from Gonerby Hill.
4.11.3 Additionally it notes that “views from the landscape fringe are dominated
almost entirely by the spire of St Wulfram’s church in Grantham. It towers
above the relatively modest and consistently scaled town…views of great
25

Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8711

95

value and strategic importance include those to and from parts of sub-area
CA17b (Northwest Quadrant)….the spire of the Grade I listed church of St
Sebastian is of equal importance to that of St Wulfram’s and views to the
spire from the A52 are of vital importance to the identity of both [Grantham
and Great Gonerby].”
4.11.4 The Assessment goes on to note that “a significant negative quality which is
the case throughout the character area is the way in which the urban areas
border the landscape fringes. These are often abrupt and poorly considered
boundaries with very little opportunity for the landscape to permeate into the
urban structure of the town.”
4.11.5 Development at the Rectory Farm site has the potential to ameliorate this
issue and design proposals that can do so will be encouraged. Masterplan
Map 10 – Character Areas illustrates the potential for creating a soft, natural
rural edge where the landscape can be perceived as permeating the urban
structure.
4.11.6 The Townscape Assessment culminates in a number of key design principles
to be adopted by new development in Character Area 17, of which the most
relevant for the Rectory Farm site are as follows:
▪

“Protect and enhance woodlands, field boundaries, hedgerow trees and
where found watercourses;

▪

Soften harsh urban edges with new broad leafed woodland planting or use
new development, and associated structural landscape, to soften existing
harsh urban edges;

▪

Maintain a varied urban edge with fringes of the landscape setting extending
into proposed developments;

▪

Consider opportunities for enhanced access to the countryside around the
edge of town;

▪

There should be a soft edge to the outer perimeter of proposed development;

▪

Existing lanes, hedgerows and trees to be retained in all proposed
development;

▪

Encourage the use of locally distinctive materials – red brick and stone, even
as panels accompanying other materials;

▪

Promote the use of clay pantiles – for principal buildings and outbuildings;

▪

Use the colour palette recommendations to reinforce local identity and create
themes within developments;

96

▪

Promote street trees to accentuate principal routes and reinforce green
corridors to existing footpaths, lanes and roads;

▪

Reinforce key views to the town’s heritage assets; this is particularly
important for views north from the A52 towards Great Gonerby.”

4.11.7 The Townscape Assessment also states that given the topography and
prominence of proposed urban extensions, houses or flat blocks should not
exceed three storeys; for most of the character area’s allocated sites two
storey will be sufficient and should not be exceeded.
4.11.8 In text relating specifically to the Northwest Quadrant Urban Extension to
Grantham, the Townscape Assessment states that development in this
location:
“offers an opportunity to create new neighbourhood identities, belonging to
the town, but celebrating a positive new image. This should free development
from the sterile cul-de-sacs of pastiche and promote contemporary
architecture derived from a sense of place but addressing current cultural and
technological issues. Colour and materials palettes can reinforce local
identity; strong positive identity leads generally to civic pride and an engaged
community. The colours proposed for the urban extensions take the
predominant brick and pantile range with the landscape colours of the rural
edge and introduce the colour blue.
Blue pubs were the symbol of Whig support in Grantham, and the colour
endures in street names. The palette develops the blue range as a response
to the indigenous colours to create an integrated scheme, which will sit well in
the landscape and at the junction with the existing townscape. The colours
may be realised through render, preformed panels, glazed brick and glass
block, amongst others. Within each new development the modulation of
colour intensity and scale of use will add legibility and form to the
environment.”

4.12 Geo-environmental considerations
4.12.1 The Environment Agency’s map of Groundwater Source Protection Zones26
shows that there are no groundwater source protection zones within or close to
the site. Likewise, the Coal Authority’s interactive map27 shows no constraints
within or close to the site in terms of existing or former coal mining activity.

26
27

Available at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-protection-zones-spzs
Available at http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html

97

5 Development principles
5.1 Key land uses
5.1.1

Based on the South Kesteven Local Plan allocation, it is envisaged that key
land uses across the site will comprise:

•

Housing

•

Supporting infrastructure including:
- transport and access network;
- education playing fields;
- other open space;
- drainage; and
- utilities.

5.1.2

Development principles for each of the key land uses outlined above are
detailed in turn below.

5.2 Housing
5.2.1

In line with Local Plan policy H4: Meeting All Housing Needs, a mix of house
types is encouraged, ranging from single bedroom units to large family
dwellings of five bedrooms or more. The dwelling mix has the potential to
include housing suitable for older people, such as bungalows, which are
known to be in demand locally.

5.2.2

The developer will be responsible for ensuring a target of 30% of dwellings
provided are an appropriate mix of affordable dwellings in line with Policy H2:
Affordable Housing Contributions. A lower percentage will only be considered
if it can be demonstrated that the full quota would make the development
unviable. These should be distributed throughout the housing area and not
concentrated in a single location.

5.2.3

Likewise, in line with Policy H3: Self and Custom Build Housing, at least 2%
of the plots will be provided for self and custom build housing, comprising
serviced plots made available to purchase by individuals on the Self and
Custom Build register held by the District.

5.2.4

At the discretion of South Kesteven District Council, some or all of the
affordable housing requirement may be met off-site, in the form of direct
provision or via an in-lieu payment, to meet strategic needs elsewhere in the
District.

98

5.3 Supporting infrastructure
Overarching principles
5.3.1

Development of the allocated land will require developers to make appropriate
provision for supporting infrastructure in line with policy ID1: Infrastructure for
Growth, the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 201728 and South Kesteven’s
requirements as expressed through Section 106 agreements.

5.3.2

Infrastructure required to support the development should be designed in
accordance with best practice and sustainable technology. The development
of the Rectory Farm site requires that an integrated view of power generation,
energy consumption, water, waste and drainage be taken from the outset.
This infrastructure should be located and designed to minimise the risk posed
by the impact of climate change. This includes protecting infrastructure from
severe heat and storms.

5.3.3

Where the infrastructure demands of future development cannot be
reasonably foreseen, or where investment to service such development is not
viable in the current phase of development, infrastructure should be planning
and designed to be easily modified to accommodate increased capacity.

Transport and access network
General principles

28

5.3.4

The following transport criteria should be considered when developing the
Rectory Farm site:

•

access to the site by sustainable transport modes (i.e. walking, cycling, public
transport);

•

type and location of vehicular access; and

•

impact on the surrounding highway network.

5.3.5

The above would be best considered within an integrated Transport
Assessment covering the whole site across all landownerships.

5.3.6

Despite the fact that the Poplar Farm site is being developed independently
from the Rectory Farm site, it is anticipated that multiple vehicle, pedestrian
and/or cycle connections will be created across the boundary dividing the
sites.

5.3.7

Notwithstanding this, development at the Rectory Farm site should
demonstrate that it can deliver independent vehicular access, so that it is not
dependant on decisions made on the form or layout of development at Poplar
Farm.

Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21071

99

Pedestrian and cycle movements
5.3.8

Based on the Manual for Streets-recommended transport hierarchy, a
coherent network of footpaths and cycleways should be provided within the
development to accommodate pedestrian and cyclist demand. Direct
connections should also be made to existing and proposed development at
Poplar Farm, and the site should consider the potential to upgrade footways
and existing shared use footway / cycleways along the A52, given their
current limited width and the likelihood that they will need to accommodate
more pedestrians in future. Masterplan Map 11 – Key Movement Plan
illustrates some of the most obvious and direct opportunities for walking and
cycling route provision and connections with adjacent routes.

Bus access
5.3.9

In terms of public transport, a bus service is generally considered to be
accessible if it serves a stop within 400m walking distance of a potential
customer.29 The current service past the site operates every 60 minutes and
the nature of this connection should be considered in further detail to
determine if a higher frequency service could be achieved.

5.3.10 A service with a 60 minute frequency is unlikely to be attractive for new bus
users from the Rectory Farm site. It may be that the site could achieve a
better bus service in partnership with Poplar Farm; however, to be consistent
with the approach for vehicular access it should also be demonstrated that the
site could be serviced by public transport independently of Poplar Farm.
5.3.11 CIHT Guidance on buses in urban developments30 provides advice on how
infrastructure could be provided to maximise the potential of bus services.
This guidance should be considered in any application for the Rectory Farm
site. The new guidance endorses that produced by Stagecoach in 2017 - Bus
Services and new residential developments. Masterplan Map 11 illustrates
opportunities for potential bus routes within the site that offer potential for bus
stops within 400m walking distance for new residents.

Note, however, that guidance contained in the Building Research Establishment Environmental
Assessment Method (BREEAM) uses a threshold of 650m.
30
Chartered Institute of Highways and Transportation, January 2018, available at
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4459/buses_ua_tp_full_version_v5.pdf
29

100

Vehicular Access
5.3.12 It is understood that LCC has examined the feasibility of remodelling the
existing T-junction at the south-west corner of the site (A1 southbound slip
road and A52), and that there may be benefit in providing a northern spur
from this junction to serve future development north of the A52 (including, but
not limited to, the Rectory Farm site).
5.3.13 However, an important requirement for the Rectory Farm site is to
demonstrate that it can be independently accessed, so that it is not
dependent on infrastructure brought forward on third party land.
5.3.14 LCC is also constructing a new route to the south of Grantham known as the
Grantham Southern Relief Road. This should have the effect of reducing
traffic on Barrowby Road along the south of the site. However, given that the
Southern Relief Road is not expected to be fully complete until 2023, the site
masterplan should demonstrate that access points onto Barrowby Road
function appropriately irrespective of the provision of the Southern Relief
Road.
5.3.15 LCC highways design documents do not specify a limit on the number of
houses that can be served from a single point of access, and neither does the
Manual for Streets.
5.3.16 There would also be direct frontage access points from Barrowby Road for
individual properties or small groups of properties where direct access to
individual properties is problematic.
5.3.17 Across the rest of the site, in the interests of good design, the development
should include an identifiable street hierarchy for all routes.
5.3.18 The primary routes within the hierarchy comprise three north-south avenues
which extend into the site. These should be positioned as to encourage
access into the site, even those parts furthest from Barrowby Road, as
directly as possible.
5.3.19 The secondary routes comprise the east-west lateral connections that
intersect with the primary routes and give the development the basic structure
of a grid.
5.3.20 The tertiary routes in the hierarchy comprise mews streets and edge lanes.
These are local streets designed with a marked reduction in traffic speed.
Pedestrian and cycle movement will take priority.
5.3.21 A detailed description of the implications of the street hierarchy in terms of
design character appears in Chapter 6: Design Principles below.
5.3.22 The site also needs to have good connectivity to the adjacent Poplar Farm
development to the east, as well as safeguarding connectivity to the land to
the west which is the subject of the emerging local plan allocation. The

101

number and location of connections will be dependent upon layout.
5.3.23 The maximisation of additional non-vehicular access points, comprising
pedestrian and cycle paths, is also encouraged, as this would help facilitate a
comprehensive and coherent movement strategy across the Rectory Farm
site.
5.3.24 This should include upgrading of the existing Rectory Farm drive along the
western boundary of the site into a pedestrian and cycle corridor, ideally
alongside vehicular access. This will simultaneously maximise development
permeability and safeguard the existing access to Rectory Farm itself and
other existing houses along its length, all of which will be retained in any
redevelopment.
5.3.25 The same western boundary of the site should also safeguard, as illustrated
by Masterplan Map 11, at least two east-west vehicular access points to link
to future development on the remainder of allocation GR3-H2 and on
allocation GR3-H3 which, as mentioned previously, is more dependent on
forthcoming remodelling decisions relating to the A1/A52 junction.
5.3.26 Based on the transport assessment work submitted to date, it is suggested
that the overriding principle in terms of transport and access should be that
the site should be deliverable without reliance on off-site developments or the
use of off-site and/or third party land.
5.3.27 A phasing plan should therefore be submitted that identifies how the initial
parcels of land would be accessed, which would then inform the form and
timing of subsequent vehicular access points. Vehicular access junctions
should be modelled under scenarios both with and without the Grantham
Southern Relief Road.

Wider Network Assessments
5.3.28 LCC operates a tool through which the highway capacity impacts of
development can be objectively assessed. This is known as the Grantham
Transport Model. The use of this model is encouraged to test the performance
of the site access junctions (both with and without the Grantham Southern
Relief Road) and to identify the off-site highway impact of the development
(both with and without the Grantham Southern Relief Road).
5.3.29 Future forecast years will need to be agreed with both LCC and Highways
England (HE), although the latter’s requirements would be as per the
published relevant HE Circulars. The findings of this work should be reported
in a Transport Assessment.
5.3.30 LCC’s future aspiration to develop a roundabout to replace the A1
southbound off /on slip T-junction could open further land for development, for
example on Local Plan allocation GR2-H3, west of allocation GR2-H2.
5.3.31 To allow for this scenario, east-west penetration of the Rectory Farm and

102

Poplar Farm sites is required, to avoid future development at allocation H3
forming a large cul-de-sac and to help reduce additional traffic impacts on the
A52 Barrowby Road arising from full development of all allocated sites. This
requirement for a coherent east-west movement network through the site has
informed the Development Brief.

Open space and Green Infrastructure
5.3.32 The additional public open space to be provided should be in line with the
indicative site layout in Plans 4 and 6. It should include sufficient land for
recreational use, including informal play space, allotment land and children’s
play areas.
5.3.33 Multiple contextual factors suggest that, as a general principle, the north of
the site is more suited to large areas of open space than the south. These
factors include:
•

the location of the local centre on the neighbouring Poplar Farm site,
suggesting a higher density of housing on the south and south-east of the
Rectory Farm site, and a lower density, including more land for other uses, to
the north and north-west;

•

the desirability of minimising the visual impacts of development on, and any
perception of coalescence with, the village of Great Gonerby, which overlooks
the site from the north;

•

the generally higher land in the north and north-west of the site, making built
development more visually prominent and strengthening the case for it to be
provided at a lower density and/or mixed with undeveloped open land; and

•

surface water flood mapping, which suggests a greater degree of surface
water run-off on the north of the site than the south, which could be addressed
through drainage solutions making use of open spaces between built
development.

5.3.34 The design of the open spaces should take into account how they will be used
and measures taken to limit the impact on adjacent residential properties.
Noise barriers, landscape bunds and the type or location of leisure equipment
facilities that may be installed should be considered in this context.
5.3.35 A commuted sum will be negotiated with the developer for maintenance in the
event that the developer(s) seeks to transfer maintenance responsibilities for
open space either to the local Parish Council(s) (Barrowby and Great
Gonerby) or South Kesteven District Council. Guidance on capitalised
maintenance payments is provided in SKDC’s Planning Obligations SPD
(June 2012).31

31

Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13870

103

5.3.36 South Kesteven Local Plan Policy OS1: Open Space recommends 0.20
hectares of allotment space per 1,000 population. Based on the South
Kesteven average of 2.247 persons per dwelling in Census 201132, and an
average recommended plot size of 250 square metres33, this indicates that
the allocated land will have a residential population of 2,32734 and will thus
require around 4,650 square metres (i.e. 0.47 hectares) of allotment space.
5.3.37 Interventions that can help to reduce future landscaping maintenance
requirements, such as planting with low-nutrient soil, are encouraged. For
areas that may require specialised techniques, additional sums may be
negotiated.
5.3.38 The overall requirement for open space should also be in line with Policy
OS1. This is required for formal and informal play, youth facilities and formal
sports provision.
5.3.39 Based on Policy OS1 and the calculations above, it is anticipated there will be
a need for the Rectory Farm site to provide 4.65 hectares of informal/natural
green space, 2.33 hectares of outdoor sports space and 1.86 hectares of
other open space (comprising play equipped space, young persons’ space,
allotments and parks). These requirements have been reflected in the
Masterplan Maps. As noted previously, the planning applications submitted in
2017 propose development on the 5.36 hectares of land at the north-west
corner of the allocation that is not suitable for built development and hence
will be retained as open space. If suitably landscaped, and with the
appropriate access arrangements, this area would exceed the minimum
requirement for 4.65 hectares of informal/natural green space, and this has
been illustrated on the relevant Masterplan maps.
5.3.40 As stated previously, the development of the land covered by this brief should
not prejudice further development on the rest of allocation GR3-H2 or other
developments in the wider area, including allocation GR3-H3. The provision of
open space should therefore take into account the potential for future open
space provision in these locations.
5.3.41 Consideration should be given to the layout and design of play and open
spaces so as to complement the wider landscape character. Arrangements
for future funding and management should also be made.
5.3.42 The formal and informal play areas should form part of the Green
Infrastructure network that will run throughout the site and which will also
enhance the site’s biodiversity potential.

In the 2011 Census, South Kesteven had 133,788 residents and 59,530 dwellings, making 2.247
people per dwelling- source: Nomis (https://www.nomisweb.co.uk)
33 See https://www.nsalg.org.uk/allotment-info/
34 Based upon the figure of 1,035 dwellings calculated in Chapter 2 of this development brief.
32

104

5.3.43 Development must follow the guidance set out in NPPF section 15
(Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment and the government’s
25 Year Environment Plan (A Green Future).
5.3.44 All planning applications must demonstrate that a net biodiversity gain will be
achieved.

Flooding and drainage
5.3.45 In line with Local Plan policy SD2: The Principles of Sustainable Development
in South Kesteven, adequate measures should be put in place to ensure that
the development does not exacerbate the risk of flooding elsewhere. This can
be achieved through a Sustainable Drainage System or other means
appropriate to the specific development.
5.3.46 Lincolnshire County Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA),
expect any major development on the site to restrict its surface water run-off
to greenfield run-off rate and implement Sustainable Urban Drainage System
(SuDS) principles as per the NPPF. The LLFA will be consulted on all
applications relating to Rectory Farm.
5.3.47 A Flood Risk Assessment will need to be carried out for development
proposals of one or more hectares as per Footnote 50 of the NPPF in line
with advice from the Environment Agency. A Sustainable Drainage System,
which could include, depending on location, balancing ponds, and permeable
materials to roads and green roofs, should be implemented across the site
aligned with and linked to the sustainable drainage infrastructure developed
or planned for at the neighbouring Poplar Farm site.
5.3.48 The drainage proposals submitted alongside any individual application will be
assessed in terms of how they integrate holistically with the strategic
approach to drainage required across the whole site, taking into account
existing and proposed drainage interventions in other parts of the site at the
time of the application.
5.3.49 Development will not be permitted to begin until the planning authority has
approved submitted drainage/surface water run off management plans with
input from Anglian Water, the Environment Agency and Lincolnshire County
Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. A condition to this effect will be
attached to any future planning permission.
5.3.50 Developers should note that open space used for flood attenuation and/or
drainage has the potential to be multi-functional, offering also opportunities for
promoting nature conservation, recreation and as structural amenity space.
However, there are some locations within the site where large-scale SUDS
infrastructure will be neither necessary nor viable, and instead smaller
interventions such as filter strips, swales and/or small-scale storage could be
more appropriate, as long as it can be demonstrated that they contribute

105

appropriately to the overall drainage strategy across the site.

106

Utilities and services
Electricity
5.3.51 Western Power advises that any development at the Rectory Farm site (and,
at the time of writing, further development at Poplar Farm beyond what is
already consented) would require two new 11 kilovolt (Kv) circuits fed from
Grantham North Primary sub-station. These new circuits would also require
an extension to the building at Grantham North containing the existing 11Kv
circuit breakers.
5.3.52 Dialogue between Western Power and the District Council suggests that the
most cost-effective way for these new circuits to serve the site would be for
them to cross the Grantham-Nottingham railway line via the land over the
railway tunnel north of Rectory Farm itself. Contributions for this new
infrastructure will be sought on a proportional basis from the developers of
Poplar Farm as well as the developers of the Rectory Farm site.
5.3.53 Western Power further advise that, although this advice is correct at the time
of writing, power network requirements are dynamic and therefore this
situation may differ in future; as such, the applicant is advised to engage with
Western Power at the time of any application.

Gas
5.3.54 As indicated in the South Kesteven Infrastructure Delivery Plan, National Grid
has indicated that no major constraints to future development in terms of gas
networks and supply have been identified, but that it is expected that new
connections will be developer-funded.

Water and sewerage
5.3.55 Anglian Water state in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan that in terms of water
supply and waste water treatment, no major development constraints have
been identified in the short term; however, there will be a need for new
provision later in the Local Plan period. As such, developers are expected to
liaise with Anglian water at the time of any application; it is expected that new
connections will be developer-funded.

Communications
5.3.56 Through the Infrastructure Development Plan, BT Openreach and other
providers, including Virgin Media, have not indicated that the development of
the site would give rise to any abnormal requirements in terms of IT or
telephone networks.

Emergency services

107

5.3.57 The police, ambulance and fire and rescue services have confirmed through
the Infrastructure Development Plan that in most cases the layout of a new
scheme can make appropriate provision for access to police, ambulance and
fire services. As detailed proposals emerge, there will be further dialogue
between the District Council and the emergency services in terms of local
facilities for neighbourhood policing, fire and ambulance access, and layout
and mix of units.

5.4 Delivery and phasing of development
5.4.1

The District Council recognises that the development timeframe for this site is
reasonably long, potentially taking ten or more years to be developed in its
entirety. Its preferred approach to development phasing over this period is to
develop the site from south to north, as this will help developers avoid
excessive early infrastructure costs.

5.4.2

Developers are encouraged to enter into early and ongoing dialogue with the
District Council, which will provide clarity and certainty on the specific
infrastructure requirements and triggers pertaining at the time of individual
development applications.

5.4.3

The infrastructure requirements and triggers will depend to a significant extent
on how much and what type of infrastructure has already been consented
and/or delivered by that stage, both in the vicinity of the site and elsewhere
across Grantham and the District.

5.4.4

In development phasing, consideration should be given to opportunities for
delivering supporting infrastructure for housing across the site in the right
places and at the right times, seeking to maximise their ability to deliver wider
benefits and encouraging economies of scale in service delivery.

108

6 Design Principles
6.1 Overarching design principles
6.1.1

In any major development project, there will be key conflicting objectives, for
example between the need to protect the environment (Local Plan Strategic
Objectives 12 -15) and the need to enhance the prosperity of the district, in
part through new housing and other development (Strategic Objectives 1-11).
At the Rectory Farm site, the design principles in this chapter will be used as
a guide against which development proposals will be assessed.

6.1.2

The development and design principles for the site articulated through this
SPD take full account of the Local Plan aspirations for the allocation. This
helps ensure that an appropriate balance is achieved between the
development being sustainable and self-contained but also integrating well
with and being fully accessible to and from its surroundings, including Poplar
Farm and the rest of Grantham.

6.1.3

Development proposals for all or part of the site should take full account of the
Masterplan Maps accompanying this text, including Masterplan Map 4, which
sets out a complete concept layout plan for the site.

6.1.4

Development should be designed on the basis of the key site constraints and
opportunities identified in this document, including appropriate responses to
the site’s surrounding context, access points, and local views.

6.1.5

Although these considerations should apply to the development of the entire
site, they are particularly relevant to the highest land within it, at the site’s
north-west corner, as this will of course be relatively more prominent in views.
As such, the visual impact of development should be carefully considered
and, where necessary, mitigated through appropriate design.

6.1.6

Low carbon / zero carbon development which makes use of emerging science
and technology will be supported. Clear, innovative and reliable management
mechanisms should be put in place to ensure enduring sustainability.

6.2 Quality
6.2.1

The design and construction of the built environment should be of the highest
quality when judged against Policy DE1 of the Local Plan. The District Council
will examine any proposals critically to ensure that high quality design is
achieved through the development of the site, including compliance with
Building for a Healthy Life criteria.

6.3 Connectivity

109

6.3.1

The design of development at the Rectory Farm site should avoid
peripherality by ensuring sustainable connections to its surroundings. The aim
is for a development that is a fully integrated component of the developing
North-West Quadrant, itself designed as a fully integrated new part of
Grantham, with clear, strong connections to the town centre.

6.3.2

In design terms, this indicates solutions including frontages to Barrowby Road
and improving pedestrian and cycle links between the site and the town
centre, as well as to community facilities at nearby Poplar Farm, as stated in
the text on transport above. Masterplan Map 5 indicates key frontages and
landmarks to take into account when designing the site. Masterplan Map 11
illustrates the key walking and cycle connections.

6.3.3

Designing a logical road hierarchy will help to define and structure the site’s
character areas. The site’s indicative movement and access layout is
illustrated in Masterplan Map 11.

6.4 Form, massing and layout

35

6.4.1

Development, particularly along the outer edges of the allocation, should be
designed to reflect and respond to its edge-of-town context as an important
and attractive gateway to Grantham from the A1 to the west, as per
Masterplan Map 5.

6.4.2

Adopting the principles of continuity, enclosure and overlooking should create
successful and well-defined public places. Spaces and streets should be
defined and enclosed by buildings. The building line will combine with
boundary features to create a sense of enclosure for the street.

6.4.3

The design and layout of the scheme should take the opportunity to reduce
the opportunities for crime. All streets and public spaces should be
overlooked, with front facing development providing an active frontage and
natural surveillance, including of the proposed green corridors. Alleyways and
rear parking courtyards should be minimised.

6.4.4

Proposals for development should perform positively when assessed against
Building for a Healthy Life and will need to follow guidance in the NPPF and
any design guidance produced by South Kesteven District Council.

6.4.5

There is scope for the layout of development to maximise the potential offered
by photovoltaic (PV) panels for solar energy development. PV panels achieve
maximum efficiency on south-facing roofs.

6.4.6

For further guidance on expectations of streetscape design across the
development, refer to Lincolnshire County Council’s Streetscape Design
Manual (2016)35, Manual for Streets (2007)11 and Manual for Streets 212
(2012). Masterplan Map 5 illustrates key frontages and landmarks. These
features, alongside strong front boundary treatments and street trees, will

Available at https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1950/streetscape-design-manual-pdfa

110

form key elements of the site’s streetscape design. The indicative overall
layout of development across the site (i.e. the development ‘footprint’) is
illustrated in Masterplan Map 9.

6.5 Character areas
6.5.1

It is required that the site generally, and the housing element in particular,
should be developed on the basis of individual ‘character areas’. Each
character area’s form, massing and layout should be designed to be visually
and functionally distinct from those of its neighbours. A character area
approach will simultaneously help to:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

build a sense of place;
increase development legibility;
improve townscape through varying building scale, height and type;
ensure that streets are well-defined, with a strong character to aid legibility;
soften the landscape and visual impact of development;
promote integration with surrounding areas; and
counteract the perception of monolithic or unbroken development.

6.5.2

As such, the site has been divided into four key residential and streetscape
character areas, namely Southern, Western, Eastern and Northern (illustrated
on Masterplan Map 10)

6.5.3

The relevant sensitivities of each of the four areas have been highlighted,
including edge treatments, street character, views, density and building
heights. Key aspects of streetscape character are covered under the relevant
character area to which they relate; particularly important in this regard are
the Barrowby Road frontage, three central avenues running through the site,
the character of mews streets and edge lanes and the north-south central
green corridor.

Sitewide approach to streetscape character
6.5.4

For all character areas, developers should take an approach based firmly on
the character of streets - grouping house types, materials and front boundary
treatments along them to create a characterful, attractive and coherent place.

6.5.5

All character areas should be based on a logical, legible streetscape
hierarchy. The three avenues running through the site are the primary streets
in the hierarchy, followed by secondary streets (running east-west) then, at a
tertiary level, mews streets and edge lanes.

6.5.6

The three main north-south avenues will form strong features within the site,
aiding legibility and defining character areas. They will be attractive avenues
and their character defined by street trees adjacent to the carriageway, strong
front boundary treatments and consistent building lines. Buildings will be set
forward on plots, offering attractive frontages to the street and helping to
enclose it to help create a sense of place and set the avenues apart from

111

other streets within the development.
6.5.7

A degree of consistency will be expected in house type character along the
avenues, including, for example, architectural style, detailing and materials, in
order to achieve continuity and coherence. Each of the three avenues could
take on a character of their own, whilst retaining key elements such as street
trees and strong building lines, frontages and boundary treatments mentioned
above.

6.5.8

Secondary streets will predominantly provide east-west connections between
the north-south avenues. These streets will be of an intermediate scale
between the avenues and the mews streets, having their own character with
strong built frontages and front boundary treatments and street trees where
appropriate.

6.5.9

Mews streets should provide continuous connections through development
blocks, aiding permeability and legibility. They should be distinctly different to
the three avenues and secondary streets, having a more intimate feel. This
will be achieved through narrower street widths, properties set forward on
plots and a more informal, traffic calmed and less engineered street surface
design.

6.5.1

Edge lanes, front open spaces, green corridors and rural edges should be
designed to be Manual for Streets compliant and provide continuous
connectivity along the edges of the development. The design of these streets
should allow for them to integrate naturally with adjacent landscape features.

6.5.2

Properties fronting open spaces within the site (largely on edge lanes) should
have strong frontages with elements of height (such as large gables and 2.5
storey properties) to help enclose the open spaces in front of them.
Repetition of frontages is also important to allow them to appear as a group,
further strengthening their impact and presence. Properties set forward on
plots with parking at the side will also have more of an impact on and a closer
relationship with the open space.

6.5.3

Another key visual element of the site is its frontage onto Barrowby Road.
This frontage will mark the entry not only to the rest of the site but to the town
of Grantham itself, and this will be marked along the road itself at this point by
appropriate welcome signage secured through planning condition..

6.5.4

To respect this requirement, houses should face the road and not turn their
back to it. Equally, despite it being close to the Poplar Farm local centre,
which would otherwise be a reason for higher-density development,
development lining Barrowby Road should be lower density so as to provide
an appropriate gateway to the town and to relate well to the density of existing
development on the south side of the road. For this reason, dwelling heights
should not exceed two stories.

6.5.5

The south side of Barrowby Road also has street trees and the northern side
should mirror these trees, thus completing the other half of the avenue and

112

creating an attractive gateway to Grantham. Barrowby Road frontages should
be high quality and attractive, offering strong elevations to the street. The
rhythm and repetition of frontages needs to be considered to ensure that this
character area has some coherence and that its status is appropriate.
6.5.6

Alongside the principles of streetscape outlined above, development within
each character area is expected to have regard to the following general
principles:

Western Area and Rectory Farm
6.5.7

The Western Character Area is unusual in that it will form the urban edge of
Grantham, but only for a temporary period before Local Plan Allocation H3 is
developed later in the Plan period.

6.5.8

As such, its density should be higher than would be the case if it were a
permanent urban edge; if it is developed at too low a density this would have
negative implications for the density of the land still to be developed to its
west. Dwelling heights should generally not exceed two storeys, though there
may be potential for three-story development in the south-east of the
character area.

6.5.9

At the same time, density should be relatively lower than in the Eastern
Character Area which is within closer walking distance to a range of services
and facilities. Design and layout of individual houses should be carefully
considered so that connections to the west will not be compromised when the
time comes to develop there; for example, long, unbroken lines of housing
along the western boundary of the site should be avoided.

6.5.10 The northern edge of this character area fronts Rectory Farm and care should
be taken to respond to this property and the woodland that surrounds it. For
this reason, a softer, greener, urban edge should be created. The high ground
on this part of the site also needs to be acknowledged and responded to in
design terms.
6.5.11 The western edge of this character area fronts the driveway to Rectory Farm.
Although Local Plan Allocation GR3-H3 will eventually provide east-west links
across it, the original driveway to the farm will still be retained. This built edge
could be softened with boundary hedgerows and tree planting.

Eastern Area
6.5.12 The Eastern Character Area is the closest to services and facilities at the
Poplar Farm Local Centre, and as such should also form the highest-density
development, Additionally, as it occupies some of the lowest land on the
Rectory Farm site, there is widespread potential for three storey building
heights, although both dwelling heights and densities could drop to the northwest of the character area.

113

6.5.13 Care should be taken to ensure that building heights and locations do not
restrict views towards St Wulfram’s Church – as illustrated on Masterplan
Map 3. Streets in the north west of this character area should be designed
where possible to align with views of the church as they slope down
eastwards towards the Poplar Farm site.
6.5.14 Key frontages onto open space and a coherent, legible network of pedestrian
and cycle routes will also both be important design elements of this character
area, as illustrated in Masterplan Maps 5 and 11 respectively. Pedestrian and
cycle routes should connect as directly as possible to the Poplar Farm site.
The layout on the eastern edge of this character area should respond to the
layout of the Poplar Farm site, making connections where possible.
6.5.15 The existing north-south hedgerow through the site will be retained as a key
landscape feature of the Eastern Character area. It will form the key feature of
a central green corridor providing an important green spine through the area,
serving as an attractive leisure route and an aid to legibility. The character of
this corridor should have a strong landscape focus, aligned with the
hedgerow, which will be enhanced where necessary. Tree planting and soft
boundary treatments should further enhance the green character of this area.
6.5.16 A continuous, direct, safe and segregated route should be provided along the
green corridor for both pedestrians and cyclists. Where this route crosses
other streets, crossing points should be announced with amendments to the
highway design – this will make the green corridor safer to use, more
attractive and more legible.

Northern Area – rural edge
6.5.17 The Northern Character Area should have a lower density than other parts of
the site due to its distance form services and with its visual sensitivity
regarding landscape and visual impact. Development on the highest parts of
the site or that is too close to Rectory Farm itself should be avoided. Single
storey dwellings may be less suitable on the more remote higher parts of the
site due to the likelihood that their occupants may benefit from living in close
proximity to services and facilities.
6.5.18 However, the roofscape within this area will be particularly visible and thought
should be given as to how this can be broken up and softened with material
choices and roof alignments.
6.5.19 This character area could have a more rural character and employ
appropriate landscape and materials in this regard. The edges of the
character area should avoid hard, formal built edges, with buildings instead
oriented to break up the built form, potentially utilising landscape features to
do so.
6.5.20 Views to Great Gonerby Church should be maximised and kept clear where
possible, for example through the alignment of streets. Streets could be

114

aligned in order to keep these views open where possible.

6.6 Density
6.6.1

Residential densities should be in line with Local Plan policy DE1: Promoting
Good Quality Design. In line with Policy GR3-H2, the site-wide average net
density has been assessed as 30 dwellings per hectare, but this should vary
across the site depending on context.

6.6.2

For example, densities should be higher than 30 dph at the south-eastern part
of the site, closest to the school and the local centre being developed at
Poplar Farm, and should also be higher along main transportation routes. The
more outlying parts of the site, to the west and north, will be better suited to
lower density development, with appropriate regard to the indicative gross site
density and the efficient use of land. Indicative densities across the site are
illustrated in Masterplan Map 8.

6.7 Landscaping
6.7.1

For the most appropriate style and composition of landscape layout
developers should use the South Kesteven Landscape Character
Assessment (Grantham Scarps and Valleys Character Area chapter) and the
Grantham Townscape Assessment (Character Area 17b, as set out in section
3.17 above) as guidance to ensure landscaping responsive to and appropriate
within the local area.

6.7.2

Play areas, open spaces, and hedgerows should be linked with green
corridors to create a green infrastructure network across the site. Tree and
shrub planting in appropriate locations across the site could also have an
important role to play in mitigating and minimising the landscape and visual
impact of the new development from key viewpoints.

6.7.3

Masterplan Map 6 sets out the indicative green infrastructure network across
the site. Two corridors of multi-purpose open space, used both for flood
mitigation and for recreation, run generally west-east across the site, having
regard to the existing and emerging SuDS network at the neighbouring
Rectory Farm development.

6.7.4

A third open space corridor runs parallel to the railway along the northern
edge of the site, with potential for nature conservation and softening the
transition from urban to rural land and helping maintain separation, and the
perception of separation between Grantham and Great Gonerby.

6.7.5

Another landscape green corridor runs south to north across the southern part
of the site, retaining existing hedgerows (see character areas above for more
details).

6.7.6

The character areas described above include further details on landscaping,
such as, for example, street trees on the main avenues.

115

116

7 Delivery and Implementation
7.1.1

This SPD has been drafted to provide firm direction to individual site
developers and landowners no matter how the site is brought forward or
developed - in partnership or individually, together or phased over time.

7.1.2

The Masterplan Maps reflect the preferred spatial interpretation of the text,
but are designed to be flexibly applied. They should be considered as a
guideline to follow, having regard to specific circumstances or material
considerations pertaining at the time of any application. They do not preclude
the preparation of one or more future masterplan(s) on the part of
landowners/developers, but any such developer-prepared masterplan will be
considered by the Council in terms of how it performs against the
development principles set out in this SPD.

7.1.3

In other words, any planning proposals, even if differing spatially from the
Masterplan Maps, must conform to the requirements of this SPD, which have
been carefully worded to enable them to be sufficiently prescriptive, but at the
same time flexible enough to accommodate the priorities of developers and
local stakeholders.

7.1.4

Furthermore, given the fact that this SPD was drafted on the basis of robust
evidence, including formal and informal consultation, developers are expected
to consult on and justify any significant differences proposed from the
indicative Masterplan Maps.

7.1.5

Like all sites allocated through the planning process, the Council can exercise
a degree of control over phasing and process through the power to approve
phasing plans and conditions., In so doing, a phased development will be
encouraged from the Barrowby Road frontage on the southern edge of the
site northwards. This indicative phasing process, which has regard to the
phasing of neighbouring Poplar Farm, is illustrated in Masterplan Map 12.

7.1.6

As noted in section 5.4 above, relevant infrastructure will need to be provided
alongside the new dwellings for each of the development phases consented
in accordance with the outline phasing strategy.

117

Appendix 1: Relevant South Kesteven
Planning Policies
Alongside the requirements of this SPD, site developers will need to ensure development
proposals align with the policies in the South Kesteven Local Plan:
South Kesteven Local Plan (2020)
SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
SD2: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven
SP1: Spatial Strategy
SP2: Settlement Hierarchy
SP4: Development on the Edge of Settlements
H1: Housing Allocations
H2: Affordable Housing Contributions
H3: Self and Custom Build Housing
H4: Meeting All Housing Needs
EN1: Landscape Character
EN2: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity
EN3: Green Infrastructure
EN4: Pollution Control
EN5: Reducing the Risk of Flooding
EN6: The Historic Environment
DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design
SB1: Sustainable Building
OS1: Open Space
GR1: Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton House and Park
GR2: Sustainable Transport in Grantham
GR3: Grantham Residential Allocations (both GR3-H2 and GR3-H3)
ID1: Infrastructure for Growth
ID2: Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

118

ID3: Broadband and Communications Infrastructure

119

Appendix 2: Further reference documents
Relevant national policy and evidence documents are referenced in footnotes throughout the
text of this SPD. The following further documents are also relevant in the development of the
Rectory Farm site.
4th Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan 2013/14-2022/23
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1924/local-transport-plan-2013-14-2022-23
Active Design, Sport England (2015)
https://www.sportengland.org/med
high-quality-for-web-2.pdf

ia/3964/spe003-active-design-published-october-2015-

Belton House and Park Setting Study, SKDC/National Trust (2010)
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810
Building for a Healthy Life - Design for Homes (January 2015)
https://www.designforhomes.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/BFL-2020-Brochure.pdf
Lincolnshire CC Travel Plan Guidance (2019)
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1946/travel-plan-guidance-pdfa
South Kesteven Draft Statement of Community Involvement (2021)
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27166&p=0
Peterborough Housing Market Area and Boston Borough Council Strategic Housing
Market Assessment Update (March 2017)
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=20273
Planning Practice Guidance on Renewable and Low Carbon Energy, DCLG
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy
South Kesteven Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities Report (2017)
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21278
South Kesteven Air Quality Action Plan (2016)
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17687

120

Appendix 3: List of Service Providers
Barrowby Parish Council
The Coach House
509 Newark Road
Lincoln
Lincolnshire
LN6 8RT
Phone 07710 087124
Great Gonerby Parish Council
46 Cliffe Road
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 8HS
Phone 01476 568761
Email greatgonerbypc@gmail.com
Heritage Lincolnshire
The Old School
Cameron Street
Heckington
Lincolnshire
NG34 9RW
Phone 01529 461499
Email htladmin@heritagelincolnshire.org
Lincolnshire County Council
Community and living, Highways maintenance, Parking, Public transport, Traffic management
County Offices
Newland

121

Lincoln
LN1 1YL
Phone 01522 552222
Email customer_services@lincolnshire.gov.uk
South Kesteven District Council
Air quality, Allotments, Housing, Leisure centres and sport activities, Parking, transport and
roads, Waste management
Council Offices
St Peters Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ
Phone 01476 406080
Email frontdesk@southkesteven.gov.uk
South West Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group
District Council Offices
St Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ
Phone 01476 406578
Email office@southwestlincolnshireccg.nhs.uk

122

123

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary
Local Plan Allocation GR3-H2
Local Plan Allocation GR3-H3
Boundary of three 2017 planning applications

RECTORY FARM

Site area [ha]
61.59 ha - Local Plan Allocation GR3-H2
22.45 ha - Local Plan Allocation GR3-H3
48.95 ha - Boundary of three 2017 planning applications
5.36 ha - Area within boundary of Allocation GR3-H2
suitable for open space but not built development

Drawing Title

Boundaries
Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

60473674

Area within boundary of Allocation GR3-H2
suitable for open space but not built
development

125

1:5000@A3

01

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

Great Gonerby CP

Barrowby CP

Non-Civil parish

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary
Parish boundary

RECTORY FARM

Parish area [ha]
33.14 ha - Barrowby CP
11.86 ha - Great Gonerby CP
16.58 ha - Unparished land

Drawing Title

Parish Boundaries
Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

60473674

126

1:5000@A3

02

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

m /

800

2

3

alk

sw

ute

in
10 m

4
5

5
5
m /

lk
400m / 5 minutes wa

lk
800m / 10 minutes wa

400

1

6

KEY
Land covered by SPD

A1

Woodland / Mature trees

Existing buildings

Railway line

Hedgerows - intact

1

Rectory Farm

Primary road

Hedgerows - defunct

2

Local centre

Secondary road

Existing pond

3

School

Access point

Existing ditch

4

Cycle route

Public rights of way

5

View to St Wulfram’s Church spire

Bus stop

Ridge line of Stubbock Hill

6

View to St Wulfram’s Church spire

Proposed Poplar Farm
development

alk

es w

ut
min

Long distance view

FLOOD RISK
FROM SURFACE WATER
High

View to Barrowby Church spire
(All Saints Church)
View to Vale of Belvoir

Medium

View to Great Gonerby Church spire
(St Sebastian’s)

SUDs

View to Bellmount Tower

Low
Proposed area for multifunctional
open space and SUDs

Drawing Title

CONSTRAINS
Constraints and
MAP
opportunities map
Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

03-06-2018
22-01-2019

60473674

1:5000@A3

05
03

Powerline

127

N

Project

RECTORY FARM

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.00
R.04

OS-NGS_03
5.95

OS-NGS_01
1.84 ha
OS-NGS_02
1.46
R_A.02
1.55 ha

R_A.03
2.56 ha

OS-Allotments_01
0.33

R_A.05
1.75 ha

R_A.06
1.93 ha

R_A.04
1.35 ha

R_A.07
1.51 ha

OS-OSS_01
1.85 ha

OS-OSS_02
1.73

R_B.01
1.95

OS-OOS_01
1.79

R_C.01
1.69

R_C.02
1.99

OS-OOS_02
0.35
R_B.02
0.70

R_C.03
2.26

R_C.04
1.86

R_B.03
1.37

R_B.05
1.38

R_B.04
0.95

R_B.06
1.30

R_B.07
2.62

OS-OOS_03
0.96

OS-Allotments_02
0.25
R_C.05
0.62

R_C.06
1.46

R_B.08
0.73

R_B.09
0.82

OS-OSS_03
1.87

OS-NGS_04
0.33
OS-NGS_05
0.49

OS-NGS_06
0.19

R_D.01
1.25

OS-NGS_07
0.36

OS-NGS_08
0.57

R_D.02
1.53
R_D.03
0.84

R_D.04
1.06

R_D.05
1.40

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

Residential

Drawing Title

Multi-Functional open space

Concept Layout Plan

Primary routes

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

Existing buildings (to be retained)

60473674

128

1:5000@A3

04

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

Landmarks

Drawing Title

Key frontages

Key Frontages and Landmarks Plan

Primary routes

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

Development land

60473674

129

1:5000@A3

05

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

Natural green space

Drawing Title

Outdoor sport space

Green Infrastructure Plan

Other open space:
Play equipped space
Young persons space
Parks

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

60473674

Other open space:
Allotment

1:5000@A3

06

Potential wildlife corridor

Potential drainage corridor

130

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

Area particularly suitable for 1 storey

Drawing Title

2 storeys maximum

Building Heights Plan

Landmarks building (up to 2.5 storey)

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

60473674

131

1:5000@A3

07

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

20 dph

Drawing Title

25 dph

Density Plan

30 dph

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

35 dph

60473674

132

1:5000@A3

08

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

Development land

Drawing Title

Development Land Plan
Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

60473674

133

1:5000@A3

09

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

Northern character area

RECTORY FARM

Primary routes

Drawing Title

Western character area

Character Areas Plan

Eastern character area

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

North/South green corridor

22-01-2019

Barrowby Road frontage

60473674

1:5000@A3

10

Rural edge

134

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

Primary routes

Development land

Main pedestrian route

Proposed Poplar Farm
development

RECTORY FARM
Drawing Title

Key Movement Plan

Segregated cycle route

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

Bus route

60473674

135

1:5000@A3

11

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

KEY

N

Project

Site boundary

RECTORY FARM

Phase 1

Drawing Title

Phase 2

Phasing plan

Phase 3

Date

Scale

Project No

Drawing No

22-01-2019

60473674

136

1:5000@A3

12

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1 8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

Drawn by

GDG

Check by

JH

Revision

R.04

Appendix 3
Consultation Summary and Key Changes
1.1

Key Issues Raised

1.1.1

Representations from 18 x members of the public and 3 x consultees were
received as a result of the public consultation held Jan – Feb 2019.

1.1.2

The majority of representations from members of the public expressed
concerns about the general principle of development, lack of infrastructure,
amount of traffic generated and highway safety issues. It should be noted
that the principle and quantum of development has already been established
through allocation of the site in the Local Plan.

1.1.3

A number of specific issues including pollution control, renewable energy
and retention of trees were also raised which are already covered in the SPD
or policies of the South Kesteven Local Plan and will be further scrutinised at
the planning application stage.

1.1.4

Natural England raised concerns that Green Infrastructure and biodiversity
net gain should be given more prominence in the document.

1.2

Key Changes

1.2.1

The consultation did not raise any major issue and has not resulted in the
need to make significant changes. However a number of very minor changes
have been made as a result of the Public Consultation including further
paragraphs relating to green infrastructure and biodiversity net gain.

1.2.2

Furthermore, references to policies have been updated to reflect the new
Local Plan and updated NPPF

1.3

Summary of consultation Responses

1.3.1

Comments received (grouped by theme) and officer comments thereon are
summarised below:

Climate Change:
Representation ID:
Name: 4Sight Design
RF001
Summary: The additional pollution which will be created by the extra traffic should
be taken into consideration and measures put in place to ensure the development
does not further impact air quality.
Officer Comments:
The quantum of development is set out in the allocation policy. Minimisation and
mitigation of pollution is covered in Local Plan policies DE1, SP1 and EN4
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven
RF016
Summary: Energy production may well be routine on all south facing surfaces and
be distributed locally. Good insulation and energy saving measures must be
encouraged to facilitate efficient use of energy.
Officer Comments:
Covered under Local Plan policies DE1 and SB1

137

Form, Massing and Layout:
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven - Resident
RF003
Summary: The map states that it shows areas suitable for single storey dwellings,
however no such areas are shown on the map. Single storey dwellings should be
in the areas to the West on the rectory farm site, to reduce an adverse impact on
views from the Vale of Belvoir. Ideally no houses should be built near these trees
and the ridge line viewed from Barrowby, the A52 road, and from the land in the
vale of Belvoir to the west, so that the trees continue to stand out and retain the
image of a green area to be seen from far away. Any houses close to these Scots
pines and the higher land should be single storey.
Officer Comments:
The plans show area to the NW of the site to be particularly suitable for single
storey dwellings. A large area to the east of the Scots pines (which are on the
highest part of the site) will remain open allowing them to remain prominent in the
landscape.
Representation ID:
Name: Mrs Laura Wright
RF023
Summary: We live to the eastern side of the proposed development. Newark
View directly borders the land and our house has views straight across towards
Rectory Farm, which already stands considerably higher. New dwellings built on
the higher ground would significantly impact views from our property and the
amount of daylight reaching our property.
We require additional information including height of houses, how many stories,
siting, layout, and access.
Officer Comments:
Private views from a property are not a material consideration. The site is
sufficiently large to accommodate dwellings without impacting on the occupiers of
neighbouring properties’ daylight. The exact details of dwellings will be assessed
and determined under any planning application relating to that part of the site.
Representation ID:
Name: Ian and Gretl Giles
RF013
Summary: Objects to additional traffic entering and leaving Barrowby Road, as
more houses are built. Queries in relation to my property, Boundary Farmhouse,
which borders the proposed development. Two houses shown to be built adjacent
my boundary, appear very close. Query access to boundary hedges, requests
clarification of siting and seeks changes to layout and design so development does
not to have an adverse impact on sunlight to my garden. We have a private
access road, what mitigation will there be to protect this.
Officer Comments:
Dwellings adjacent to Boundary farm already approved under S16/2819. All issues
mentioned above taken into account. The quantum of development is set out in
the allocation policy and therefore the amount of traffic which will enter/leave
Barrowby Road. Through traffic on Barrowby Rd will significantly fall following
completion of the GSRR in 2023. LCC Highways do not object on traffic capacity
and highway safety grounds.

138

Landscape/Streetscape Character:
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven - Resident
RF003
Summary: The Scots pines at Rectory Farm are a prominent landmark from the
east. The Scots pines indicated a place for shelter for drovers in the past. The
Scots pines should be retained for their historic significance and to maintain this
distinctive landmark.
Officer Comments:
The Brief does not propose removal of any of these trees which may have the
potential to be TPOed.
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven
RF020
Summary: Sections 6.5.5 / 6.5.6 / 6.5.8. Suggest that three primary routes should
run in a north/ south direction through the development with secondary roads
running east west. This is
unreasonable because:The alignment of these north/south roads does not comply with the
recommendation in 6.5.20 that they should be aligned towards Great Gonerby
church spire, a local landmark. A chance to give residents a sense of identity with
the local landmarks would be lost.
Necessary Changes:
North/south roads should be realigned with Great Gonerby church spire.
Officer Comments:
It would be unreasonable and impracticable for all N/S roads to align with Gt
Gonerby church spire in their entirety due to the topography. However the brief
recognises the potential for some roads, or sections of roads to align (including the
main spine roads) to incorporate view corridors. The exact alignment would be
determined at the planning application stage
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven
RF017
Summary: On the south side of the A52 the houses are moderately spaced apart
behind grassed areas and trees, with driveways opening directly onto the road. I
support the intention of 6.5.5 to reflect this pleasant arrangement for the north side
of the road.
Necessary Changes: The houses next to the A52 (on the north side) should be
set back behind grassed areas and trees,and be moderately spaced apart by
driveways opening directly onto the A52. This layout should reflect and enhance
the setting of the houses opposite on the south side of the A52 to produce a
pleasant environment and introduction to Grantham.6
Officer Comments:
This feature has been incorporated into the layout of planning applications
S16/2816 and S16/2819 which have been approved

139

Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven
RF018
Summary: From Barrowby conservation area and the approach from the east
towards Grantham the western edge of the development along the road from the
A52 to Rectory Farm is visible on the skyline. This part needs to be less dense
and green, as outlined in 6.5.7 to 6.5.11. I support this. Map 7 marks a point close
to Rectory Farm, so on the skyline, as a site for a “landmark building”. The
subscript explains that this could be 2.5 storeys in height. I object to this because it
runs directly counter to the section 6.5.7 to 6.5.11. This building would be on the
skyline and ruin any attempts to make the western edge greener and softer.
Necessary Changes: Remove the landmark building site close to Rectory Farm
(on the western edge) in map 7.5.
Officer Comments:
The landmark building referred to is the existing Rectory farm itself which would be
retained.
Flooding and Drainage
Representation ID:
Name: Guy Hird, Upper Witham Internal Drainage
RF004
Board
Summary: Development should be determined, in consultation with the Lead
Local Flood Authority to agree implementation and future maintenance of the
attenuated surface water drainage system. Discharge rates and locations have
already been established as part of the Drainage Strategy for the adjacent Popular
Farm site. Provisions should be made to ensure that upstream and downstream
riparian owners and those areas that are presently served by any drainage routes
passing through or adjacent to the Site are not adversely affected by the
development.
Drainage routes shall include all methods by which water may be transferred
through the Site and shall include such systems as “ridge and furrow” and
“overland flows”. The effect of raising Site levels on adjacent property must be
carefully considered and measures taken to negate influences must be approved
by the Local Planning Authority.
Officer Comments:
Strategic drainage corridors are identified in the brief. Detailed drainage issues will
be dealt with at the planning application stage and the LLFA consulted.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Duncan Brown
RF012
Summary: Where is the water for this development going to come from, and how
is the waste going to be dealt with?
Officer Comments:
The site is allocated for development in the Local Plan. The site would have been
assessed at the plan making stage as capable of being adequately served with
water provision and sewage disposal. The issue is also covered in para 5.3.52.
The issue will be dealt with in more detail at the planning application stage.

140

Archaeology and Heritage
Representation ID:
Name: Dale Dishon, Historic England
RF005
Summary: Historic England suggests that the views of SKDC’s specialist
conservation and archaeological advisers are sought as relevant.
Officer Comments
No objection has been raised by the Council’s Conservation Team
Open Space
Representation ID:
Name: Mrs Hazel Ryan, Resident
RF010
Summary: The plans for the Sport and Changing facilities on the playing fields,
appear to be directly opposite the property we are purchasing, 99 Balmoral Drive.
It is considered that the open space is positive feature, however, have concerns
regarding the location of the sports facility and changing rooms. Concerns
regarding, noise, flood lighting, boundary treatment (screening), parking, crime,
and security. What mitigation would be put in place to prevent neighbour amenity
issues.
Officer Comments:
The address mentioned, as well as the sports facilities, is not within or directly
adjacent to Rectory Farm.
Nature Conservation
Representation ID:
Name: Mrs Roslyn Deeming, Natural England
RF011
Summary: Whilst Natural England generally welcomes the Nature Conservation
section, we consider that it could be strengthened in terms of its guidance on
green infrastructure (GI) provision and the requirement for biodiversity net gain.
Natural England would like to see a specific section on GI which sets out a
cohesive approach for the proposal. This section should bring all the various
elements which are discussed in different sections together to provide an
integrated GI approach which aims to provide real benefits for people and wildlife.
Biodiversity net gain should be considered within the Brief to follow the guidance
set out in the revised NPPF and the government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (A
Green Future).
The Brief should include consideration of the Best & Most Versatile land that is
present within the proposed site.
Officer Comments:
The site is allocated for development in the Local Plan so the issue of the best and
most versatile land will have already been considered at the plan making stage.
Whilst a high level GI plan is provided, a GI section will be incorporated as per
NE’s advice

141

Overarching design principles
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven
RF019
Summary: Support design principles for housing as in section 6. As in the brief,
housing should use organisation and grouping of buildings to create character and
beauty.
Object to 3 north south primary routes, as previously submitted.
Risk of accidents from 3 primary routes when one will be enough. Access to all
other parts should be via roads that are safer for residents. The design of the road
network should increase the safety of residents by using traffic calming measures.
Examples are multi-use areas where drivers proceed cautiously because they
realise that the space is shared, and uneven/ cobbled surfaces to slow cars.
Parked cars are unsightly. Pedestrians and cyclists must have extra access points
and through routes. Reduced use of the car means that storage space for cars can
be reduced, leading to creation of more communal space. The loss of fertile green
fields to development is to be regretted. This must be compensated by the creation
of beautiful living spaces of which people can feel proud.
Officer Comments:
Detailed issues of design/layout will be addressed at the planning application
stage. LCC Highways support the 3 primary NS routes from a traffic capacity and
highway safety perspective.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Mark Emmett x traffic
RF021
Summary: Objects to changes in the road layout that would be detrimental to
highway safety.
Officer Comments:
LCC Highways raise no objection to the layout from a traffic capacity and highway
safety perspective.
Delivery and Implementation
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Stephen Short, Escritt Barrell Golding on
RF030
behalf of Jenkinson Family Trust
Summary: Whilst referring to Poplar Farm the proposed south to north
progression of development appears very simplistic and does not adequately
reflect integration of the two sites. The Poplar Farm Primary School is now open.
The School and adjoining land allocated for a local service centre is on the west
side of the Poplar Farm site and these facilities will also serve the adjacent
Rectory Farm land. It would therefore be logical for development to radiate and
progress from the School/service centre as well as from the Barrowby Road
frontage. Our clients’ land is in the north‐east quadrant of the Rectory Farm site
and adjoins the current Barratt/David Wilson development at Poplar Farm where
the estate road abuts the boundary. The land would accordingly be a natural
progression of the existing development. There is advanced agreement between
Barratt/David Wilson and the Jenkinson Family Trust and accordingly, the
opportunity exists to deliver much needed new housing at an early date.
In view of the above we request further consideration to be given to the proposed
phasing and suggest that the second sentence of paragraph 7.1.5 should be
amended to read : In doing so, a phased development will be encouraged from the

142

Barrowby Road frontage on the southern edge of the site northwards and also
from the adjoining Poplar Farm development to the east”
Officer Comments:
Phase 1 as shown on the plans already has planning permission for much of its
extent. It should also be noted that there is sufficient flexibility in the masterplan to
allow the other eastern areas bordering Poplar Farm to come forward prior to the
land to the north west of the site, if this can be justified by the developer.
Vehicular Access
Representation ID:
Name: Patricia Scriven
RF020
Summary: Sections 5.3.17 / 5.3.18 Suggest that three primary routes should run
in a north/ south direction through the development with secondary roads running
east west. This is considered unreasonable because:The north/south routes as on maps 4, 5, 9 are likely to encourage speeding due to
their length
and relatively straight alignment. This is unsafe. Satnavs may encourage big
vehicles and more cars to use these major north/south roads as “rat runs” during
rush hour/ traffic jams. There is no advantage in having three primary routes when
one would be sufficient.
Necessary Changes:
1)There should be one primary road, initially north/south then turning towards the
east, through the rectory farm site as drawn in map 5.
2) The road servicing the south-westernmost section, south of the green corridor,
needs to be downgraded to a minor route, with natural obstructions /narrower
areas slowing traffic speeds, and terminating in a pedestrian/cyclist route to cross
the green corridor.
3) There should be one road junction onto the A52 because three primary road
exits would cause significant disruption to traffic along the A52.
4) Three primary roads exiting onto the A52 have the potential to become traffic rat
runs. This is unacceptable.
Officer Comments:
LCC Highways support the 3 primary NS routes from a traffic capacity and
highway safety perspective.
Pedestrian and Cycle Movements
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven
RF020
Summary: The present footpath/cycleway along the north side of the A52 would
become more dangerous if three major primary routes have exits directly onto the
A52. It would be much safer for vulnerable pedestrians (and cyclists) to cross just
one exit, as originally proposed in the first draft plan.
The wildlife corridors (Map 4) and the leisure route (map 6) both run east/west. It is
unsafe for people (and animals) following this pleasant route to cross three
north/south primary routes.
Master plan 3 shows the distances to be walked to reach the nearest bus stops.
There is a need for good routes east/west to allow these distances to be shortened
to encourage the use of public transport.

143

Opposes the support of environmentally friendly pedestrian/cycling policies (as in
sections 4.7.8 /5.3.8 /5.3.22). These policies encourage people to make shorter
journeys on foot or by bike to the school and the local services. For most people
these journeys will be in an east west direction. Crossing three main north/south
roads is an unsafe design.
Necessary Changes:
1)Three primary routes exiting onto the A52 would be a major hazard to the
pedestrians and cyclists using the existing mixed use pathway on the northern side
of the A52. A single exit, as in the previous plan via a roundabout would be safer.
2) Several access points for pedestrians and cyclists to the A52 would allow
shorter routes to bus stops etc and give them an advantage compared to
motorists.
Officer Comments:
LCC Highways support the 3 primary NS routes from a traffic capacity and
highway safety perspective.
Transport and Access Network:
Representation ID:
Name: 4Sight Design
RF001
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: The company comments that the town is already failing regularly to
provide satisfactory traffic flow and parking. Queried what changes are planned to
avoid the inevitable issues that the additional traffic associated with this
development will undoubtedly cause, from the new residents and additional
journeys by couriers and other delivery providers. New development will add to
regular congestion issues, especially when the A1 has an issue. Existing parking is
expensive and inadequate.
Additional educational and medical provision would be required for a further 2000
residents.
Officer Comments:
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways or
Highways England object.
Representation ID:
Name: Dr Patricia Scriven, Local Resident
RF002
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Stated that the proposed roundabout would take all of the
developments traffic and both current, southern part, applications should be
developed at the same time to remove the need for an independent western
access.
Safety impacts to pedestrians and cyclists, due to its proximity to the A52, and
additional hazards and risks of accidents near the A1 junction.
The widening of the road to make a ghost island access would cause additional
risk of accident due to heavy traffic close to the cycle and pedestrian pathway

144

Officer Comments:
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Keith Blake, Local Resident
RF006
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Raises concerns regarding the increased challenges residents would
face in accessing the A52 from existing properties, especially due to the proposed
roundabout. Comments were also raised, with regard to the specific times and
dates of the relief road.
Comments also outlined pollution from traffic, noise pollution and the rise in subroad vibration to existing properties.
Officer Comments:
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189. The principle
of development has already been established through the allocation in the local
plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole has already
been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways or Highways
England object. Noise and pollution will be addressed under LP policies SB1, DE1
and EN4.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Peter Hubbard, Resident
RF007
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Concerned about the use of Gloucester Road and its increased use as
a ‘rat run’, due to the main site entrance being opposite Gloucester Road.
Concerns also raised regarding the safety of the area and increased difficulty in
exiting adjoining Closes due to the increased volume of traffic and obscure bends.
Outlines necessary changes to the proposal, including: the use of the existing
A52/Barrowby Gate access, exit the site to a new roundabout in a location closer
to the A1 and the need for extensive traffic calming measures on Gloucester Road
to ensure safety.
Officer Comments:
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189. The principle
of development has already been established through the allocation in the local
plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole has already
been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor Highways
England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly reduced
following the completion of the GSRR in 2023.

145

Representation ID:
Name: Mr MarK Emmett, Resident ]]
RF008
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Queries are raised regarding what evidence there is that there will be
commercially sustainable demand and evidence of demand for large development
in Grantham?
Outlines that Grantham does not have the necessary infrastructure or support
services to cope with current demand, never mind additional dwellings.
Inadequate recreational facilities on the western side of the town.
Raises Traffic concerns, due to congestion.
Lack of National Health dentists and NHS services such as doctors, maternity unit
and A&E.
Insufficient educational facilities, with schools already having significant numbers
of students.
Impact on Quality of life.
Officer Comments:
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor
Highways England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly
reduced following the completion of the GSRR in 2023. Recreational facilities will
be developed within both Rectory farm and the adjacent Poplar Farm. Upgrades to
health and educational infrastructure will be provided under section 106
agreements at the planning application stage.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Paul Martin, Resident
RF009
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Objections are raised due to traffic concerns within this area of
Grantham during weekdays and weekends, with the A1 also causing increased
traffic concerns. Outlines traffic projections from Gonerby and Gonerby Hill Foot
(village faces the possibility of 100% road occupancy at peak times) placing
pressure on Gonerby/Belton Lane junction and the narrow road towards
Manthorpe will be unsustainable.
The design does not consider future requirements for traveling into the Town
Centre and alternatives to driving.
States that it is vital the plan allows for the linking up of a road to the North of
Grantham and that a Northern bypass should be developed, specifically stretching
Alma Park-Manthorpe-Gonerby Hill Foot- Barrowby Gate. This bypass should then
be built as part of the new developments to reduce costs.
Officer Comments:
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor
Highways England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly
reduced following the completion of the GSRR in 2023. A Grantham northern
bypass is not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

146

Representation ID:
Name: Mr Roger Graves
RF015
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Objections are raised due to the existing levels of traffic on Barrowby
Road and resultant levels of traffic in the area following the new developments.
This would be regardless of whether the southern by-pass is completed. Increased
likelihood of accidents due to new junction at Gloucester Road, with increase and
difficulty in traffic exiting Winchester Road and Gloucester Road.
Raised queries about why the link road from the development to Great Gonerby
has not yet been developed, stating that this would alleviate traffic.
Officer Comments:
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways or
Highways England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly
reduced following the completion of the GSRR in 2023. The Pennine Way link road
is not part of the Rectory farm development
Representation ID:
Name: Patricia Scriven
RF016
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Careful design is required to ensure road surfaces, lack of pavements
and natural obstacles slow down traffic on secondary roads, with safe crossing
points required for main roads.
Officer Comments:
Detailed highway and layout issues will be addressed at the planning application
stage.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Alastair Hawken
RF022
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Oppose on safety grounds, expressing difficulty in entering and exiting
property onto the A52, due to volumes and speeds of traffic, resulting in safety
issues. No objections to the initial plans and principle of development on the site,
especially when proposing a roundabout positioned at Gloucester Road junction.
However, if this is allowed, it will present increased safety concerns and traffic.
Officer Comments:
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189. The principle
of development has already been established through the allocation in the local
plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole has already
been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor Highways
England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly reduced
following the completion of the GSRR in 2023.

147

Representation ID:
Name: Mr Keith Blake
RF024
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: It is considered inconceivable that there is planning going forward for
2000+ homes. Outlines that access and exit from driveways of existing houses is
difficult and raises concerns with regard to a roundabout and lack of link road.
Pollution, noise, crime, and loss of value are amongst reasons for the objections.
State that a link road, with the A52 moved in location from the Barrowby Road
properties should be sought.
Officer Comments:
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor
Highways England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly
reduced following the completion of the GSRR in 2023. Detailed issues of
pollution, noise, crime will all be assessed at the panning application stage. Loss
of property value is not a material planning consideration.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Anthony Fletcher
RF025
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Expressed safety concerns, with difficulty and excessive time taken to
exit onto the main road, with the proposal resulting in increased safety issues.
States discontent with proposed replacement with 3x tee junctions. Resident also
outlines parking has resulted in less visibility, with vehicle speed also raising
concerns.
Officer Comments:
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways or
Highways England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly
reduced following the completion of the GSRR in 2023.
Representation ID:
Name: Andrew Hayton
RF026
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Objecting to the updated plan as it is contrary to South Kesteven Core
Strategy Policy EN1 and NPPF Sections 4 and 7 and the Lincolnshire Transport
Plan.
States that the three T-junctions would cause danger and likely to cause
accidents. Also outlining the refusal of 199 dwellings (S15/0911) which cited “it is
cosndiered the type and position of the access directly opposite the access to a
consented scheme for 300 dwellings would lead to an unacceptable adverse
impact on highway safety”. The principle of this remains.
Dwellings should not have direct frontage access onto Barrowby Road.
No provision for an equipped play area, with no playground within close proximity.

148

The originally proposed roundabout should be reinstated, citing LCC highways
design documents and Manual for Streets.
Officer Comments:
The Core Strategy has been superseded by the South Kesteven Local Plan.
The principle of development has already been established through the allocation
in the local plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole
has already been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor
Highways England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly
reduced following the completion of the GSRR in 2023. The refused scheme
referred to was materially different to the recently approved S16/2816 and
S16/2819
Representation ID:
Name: Barbara Johnson
RF027
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Provided a number of rhetorical questions, whilst expressing
congestion concerns due to the development and highway safety due to the three
access roads.
Stated no disagreement with the development in itself, although reemphasised
highway safety and proposed access as being paramount, citing vehicle speeds
and the previously proposed roundabout as reasons for concern.
Officer Comments
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189. The principle
of development has already been established through the allocation in the local
plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole has already
been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor Highways
England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly reduced
following the completion of the GSRR in 2023.
Representation ID:
RF028
Xxxxxx

Name: Mr Keith Hargraves
Legally
Compliant:

Sound:

Complies with Duty to
Cooperate:

Comment ID
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Objections raised, as access to Barrowby Road will be less easily
achieved from the development due to the loss of the roundabout, with less easing
on traffic flow and additionally hazardous.
Raises concerns with the use by lorries and speed of vehicles along Barrowby
Road. The objection states that a roundabout would make access easier and safer
for residents, vehicle users and bus routes.
Highway Safety concerns.
Object to the development as a whole but would require the implementation of a
reduction in traffic speeds to 30Mph, resurfacing of Barrowby Road to low noise
tarmac, construction of Barrowby Gate to Gonerby road to reduce traffic and
redevelopment of the A1 junction with a roundabout.

149

Officer Comments:
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189. The principle
of development has already been established through the allocation in the local
plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole has already
been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor Highways
England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly reduced
following the completion of the GSRR in 2023. The A1/A52 junction will be
upgraded with traffic signals to mitigate increased traffic.
Representation ID:
Name: Mr Mark Emmett
RF029
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Outlined queries in relation to the amended plans, relating to the
removal of the Gloucester Road junction roundabout and the loss of cul-de-sac
arrangement between existing house, the A52 and the development.
The resident expressed vehicle speed as a reason for concern and the impact the
roundabout amendment would cause; querying future speed restrictions, formal
speed cameras and reduction warnings.
Officer Comments
The replacement of the roundabout with ghost island junctions has already been
established under full planning permissions S16/2186 and S16/2189. The principle
of development has already been established through the allocation in the local
plan. General impact of the additional traffic on Grantham as a whole has already
been assessed at the plan making stage. Neither LCC Highways nor Highways
England object. Through traffic along Barrowby Road will be significantly reduced
following the completion of the GSRR in 2023.
Pedestrian and cycle movements
Representation ID:
Name: Mr David Berry, Resident
RF014
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: It is expressed that revised plans are required, as the ‘Key Movement
Plan’ indicates a main pedestrian route and cycle route over a farm track that has
an existing 99 year lease. The resident states that this is not a public right of way.
Officer Comments:
It is correct that the track is not a PROW. However a large section will become part
of phase 3 of Rectory farm which is not covered by the brief.
Representation ID:
Name: Patricia Scriven
RF016
Unsound on the grounds
of:
Summary: Concerns raised regarding speeding vehicles and the danger/safety
issues. Outline that design can reduce the issues, by limiting speed and the
number of car journeys.
Expresses the need for more direct and faster pedestrians and cycling routes to
schools and local services.

150

Officer Comments:
The masterplan provides for east west direct access to Poplar Farm school and
neighbourhood centre. Detailed safety/design issues will be addressed at planning
application stage

151

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)
Rectory Farm Planning Brief SPD

Service Area:
Planning - Development
Management

Lead officer:
Phil Moore
Assessors:
Emma Whittaker
Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

153

Date of Meeting
18/10/21

1.

Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy
Rectory Farm Planning Brief Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The SPD
includes masterplans and development principles which will guide development

of future phases of the Rectory Farm site which is allocated in the
Council’s Local Plan
Is this a new or existing policy?
2.

Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Age

New

Does this
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or
negative impact on any of
the equality groups?
Please state which for each
group
Positive (ensuring homes for
all age groups and layout,
community facilities accessible
to all age groups)
Negative (topography)

Please describe why the
impact is positive or
negative.
If you consider this policy
etc is not relevant to a
specific characteristic
please explain why
The document, read together
with the South Kesteven Local
Plan 2020 (SKLP) contains
policies and plans to ensure
that the Rectory Farm
development is sustainable
and provides a mixture of
housing for all age groups
including SKLP policies H4
and DE1 below
“New housing proposals shall
also:
a. Enable older people and the
most vulnerable to promote,
secure and sustain their
independence in a home
appropriate to their
circumstances, including
through the provision of
specialist housing (as defined
in the Glossary) across all
tenures in sustainable
locations. New
housing proposals shall take
account of the desirability of
providing retirement

154

accommodation, extra care
and residential care housing
and other forms of supported
housing;
“Planning permission for new
residential development above
a threshold of 10 or more
dwellings will be granted
subject to a target of at least
10% of new dwellings being
developed as ‘Accessible and
Adaptable’ in line with the
optional standards set out in
Part M4(2) of the Building
Regulations.”
The masterplan also ensures
that appropriate children’s and
young peoples’ play facilities
are provided, as well as easy
access to a doctor’s surgery
and other community facilities.

Disability

Positive (ensuring accessible
homes and layout, community
facilities accessible to disabled
people)
Negative (topography and
deliverability constraints)

However any development
policy is constrained to that
which is practicable. Issues
such as topography mean that
certain parts of the open space
may not be fully accessible to
all including the elderly.
The document, read together
with the South Kesteven Local
Plan 2020 (SKLP) contains
policies and plans to ensure
that the Rectory Farm
development is sustainable
and provides a mixture of
housing including those with
disabilities SKLP policies H4
and DE1 below
“New housing proposals shall
also:
a. Enable older people and the
most vulnerable to promote,
secure and sustain their
independence in a home
appropriate to their
circumstances, including
through the provision of

155

specialist housing (as defined
in the Glossary) across all
tenures in sustainable
locations.
“Planning permission for new
residential development above
a threshold of 10 or more
dwellings will be granted
subject to a target of at least
10% of new dwellings being
developed as ‘Accessible and
Adaptable’ in line with the
optional standards set out in
Part M4(2) of the Building
Regulations.”
The masterplan layout also
allows for easy access to
community facilities.

Race

Neutral

Gender
Reassignment

Neutral

Religion or
Belief

Positive (Easy access to
community facilities)

156

However any development
policy must ensure delivery (in
the context of the land and
housing market) which means
the extent to which all
elements can be totally
accessible to people with
disabilities is constrained to
that which is practicable. Other
issues such as topography
mean that certain parts of the
open space may not be fully
accessible to all.
The SPD will have a positive
impact on all potential
residents regardless of race or
ethnicity.
The SPD will have a positive
impact on all potential
residents regardless of gender
reassignment.
It is acknowledged that some
faith groups may not have
established places of worship
in the vicinity. However the
masterplan will ensure that
community facilities, including
a community centre are easily
accessible for such a use to

Sex

Positive (access to school and
community facilities)

Sexual
Orientation

Neutral

Pregnancy and
Maternity

Positive

Marriage and
Civil
Partnership

Neutral

Carers

Positive

Other Groups
(e.g. those from
deprived (IMD*)
communities;
those from rural
communities,
those with an
offending past)

Positive (Affordable housing
Public transport
Community facilities)

*(IMD = Indices
of multiple
deprivation)

residents of the whole
development.
Those who are involved in
childcare are more likely to be
women. The masterplan will
ensure that community
facilities, including a
community centre, doctors’
surgery, children’s play areas
shops and school are easily
accessible to residents of the
whole development.
The SPD will have a positive
impact on all potential
residents regardless of sexual
orientation.
The masterplan will ensure
that a doctor’s surgery will be
easily accessible to residents
of the whole development who
have pregnancy and maternity
needs.
The SPD will have a positive
impact on all potential
residents regardless of
marriage or civil partnership
issues
The masterplan will ensure
that community facilities,
including a community centre,
doctors’ surgery, and shops
are easily accessible to
residents of the whole
development including carers
and those they are looking
after.
The document, read together
with the South Kesteven Local
Plan 2020 (SKLP) contains
policies and plans to ensure
that the Rectory Farm
development is sustainable
and provides affordable
housing to meet the needs of
those who cannot afford open
market housing including
SKLP policy H2.
The masterplan layout also
allows for easy access to

157

General
comments

community facilities through
walking, cycling and public
transport for those who are
unable to use private cars.
The Rectory Farm Planning Brief SPD read together with the
South Kesteven Local Plan 2020 sets out the principles of
development for this part of Grantham. It will ensure that
development is sustainably located and well designed with easy
access to local and town centre amenities, public transport etc
in order that all people including those in the protected groups
have an equal opportunity to live in and participate in the new
community. It will also ensure an appropriate and inclusive mix
of housing.
Furthermore, the SPD has been through a public consultation
process to ensure that the public and all relevant stakeholders
can have an input into the final draft. The consultation has been
carried out in accordance with the Council’s Statement of
Community Involvement which itself seeks to ensure that
protected groups have an equal opportunity to participate.

3.

What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant
consultation who took part and key findings)
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) under paragraph 16 states
that - Plans should:
“ Plans should:
a) be prepared with the objective of contributing to the achievement of
sustainable development;
b) be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable;
c) be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between
plan-makers and communities, local organisations, businesses,
infrastructure providers and operators and statutory consultees;
d) contain policies that are clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident
how a decision maker should react to development proposals;
e) be accessible through the use of digital tools to assist public
involvement and policy presentation; and
f) serve a clear purpose, avoiding unnecessary duplication of policies that
apply to a particular area (including policies in this Framework, where
relevant). “
The objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable
development is a legal requirement of local planning authorities exercising
their plan-making functions (section 39(2) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004).

158

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
2012 sets out the requirements for producing a supplementary planning
document. It proscribes the requirements for public consultation and
adoption. These include the requirement to publish a statement of
consultation setting out the responses to consultation and how they have
been addressed.
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this
be addressed?
Following adoption of the SPD, planning applications will be required to be
submitted and approved prior to commencement of any development in
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 190 (As Amended).
The Council, in accordance with the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 (As Amended), and
the adopted Statement of Community Involvement will be required to
publicise any such applications and take into consideration any
representations that raise material planning considerations.
If at any point in the future, it becomes clear that the evidence base on
which the SPD was based has become out of date, due weight can be
given to any material planning considerations raised as a result of publicity,
that may outweigh any out of date policy within the SPD.
In this scenario, the Council would also have the opportunity to draft and
adopt (following public consultation) a revised SPD based on more up to
date evidence.
4.

Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made):
Please check one of the options.
a)

No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off
b)

Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality
analysis or to better promote equality.

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1
and b.2
c)

Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1
d

Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

159

b.1

In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative
equality impacts?

b.2

Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale
behind that decision.

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality
analysis
c.1

Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to
reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):
(Name and title)
Date completed:
Signed (Neutral Assessor):
(Name and title)
Date signed off:

Phil Moore
Planning Policy Officer
18/10/21
Carol Drury
Senior Community Development Officer
18/10/21

160

Appendix 5

Cabinet
9 November 2021
Report of: Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Planning and
Planning Policy

Rectory Farm Development Brief
To consider the Rectory Farm Development Brief and make recommendations to full Council.
Report Author
Phil Moore (Special Projects Manager)
01476 406461
p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth and our Economy

Non-Key

Two or more Wards

Reviewed by:

Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning)

18 October 2021

Approved by:

Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture)

18 October 2021

Signed off by:

Cllr Nick Robins (Cabinet Member for Planning and
Planning Policy)

22 October 2021

Recommendation to the decision makers
1. That the Cabinet endorses the Rectory Farm Development Brief and recommends
its adoption by full Council.

161

1

The Background to the Report

1.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan is the overarching strategy that underpins the direction of
South Kesteven District Council for 2020 to 2023. The Corporate Plan aims to ensure the
delivery of high-quality housing that meets the needs of all residents, creating healthy and
strong communities, a clean and sustainable environment and achieving economic
growth.

1.2

Aligned with the strategic needs and priorities of the wider local area, the South Kesteven
Local Plan adopted in January 2020, commits to the preparation of the Rectory Farm,
Grantham masterplan. This will make sure that high-quality proposals are brought forward,
provides guidance to assist applicants and decision makers, and aims to ensure the
development of the North West Quadrant Phase 2 is planned in a comprehensive manner.
The masterplan will supplement the Local Plan Policies GR3 – H2 and GR3 – H3.

1.3

The Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) set out in Appendices 1
and 2 sets out the Council’s expectations for a high quality, inclusive and sustainable
place which reflects and responds to local character, alongside the design process to
achieve these.

1.4

The North West Quadrant (of which Rectory Farm forms the western half) was allocated
for a sustainable urban extension in the (now superseded) 2010 Core Strategy. It was
originally intended that the Core Strategy would be accompanied by a ‘Grantham Area
Action Plan’ which would include detailed development principles and masterplans for all
allocated sites in Grantham, including Rectory Farm. The Grantham Area Action Plan was
subsequently prepared, consulted on, and submitted for examination. However, a
decision was taken to discontinue work following significant issues raised by the
Examining Inspector.

1.5

In the absence of the Grantham Area Action Plan, several planning applications by
different developers were received which were substandard and without a comprehensive
masterplan fit for purpose.

1.6

It was considered that due to the fragmented landownership at Rectory Farm, it was
unlikely that properly masterplanned development, led by developers, would come forward
on its own. It was decided that the best solution for delivery of a suitably coordinated and
masterplanned development was for the Council to take the impetus and commission a
masterplan to be adopted as an SPD.

1.7

The Rectory Farm SPD was commissioned by the Council and prepared by infrastructure
consulting firm AECOM in 2018, following an independent design support review by
OPUN (now Design:Midlands) and stakeholder workshops.

1.8

The Rectory Farm SPD has been through public consultation dated January to February
2019. A summary of responses in provided in Appendix 3, together with a schedule of
proposed changes to the final document.

1.9

Once adopted, the Rectory Farm SPD will be a material consideration in determining
planning applications.

1.10

The guidance should be used by applicants, designers and officers working in
collaboration. The Rectory Farm SPD is intended to be used by:
•

Applicants and their design teams preparing development proposals;

162

•

Planning officers, to negotiate with applicants and agents as proposals are
developed through pre-application discussions at both outline and reserved matters
stage, and to assess the quality of development proposals when determining
planning applications;

•

Councillors when assessing development proposals both in advance of, and at
Planning Committee;

•

Statutory and other consultees providing commentary on applications; and

•

Local communities as they are consulted on applications.

2

Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny

2.1

A review was carried out by the Design Midlands (now OPUN) Design Review Panel.
Several workshops were held with landowners, developers and stakeholders during 20172018. The recommendations of the Design Review Panel and stakeholder workshops
were followed through in the preparation of the draft Rectory Farm SPD.

2.2

A public consultation on the draft Rectory Farm SPD was carried out January to February
2019. The Rectory Farm SPD has been amended to reflect feedback from the public
consultation along with changes in national and local planning policy.

2.3

The four main issues raised in the public consultation concerned:
•

The general principle of development;

•

Perceived lack of infrastructure;

•

Amount of traffic generated and highway safety issues;

•

Concerns raised by Natural England that Green Infrastructure and biodiversity net
gain should be given more prominence in the document.

2.4

A few specific issues including pollution control, renewable energy and retention of trees
were raised which are already covered in the SPD or policies of the South Kesteven Local
Plan. These issues will be further considered at the detailed planning application stage in
which the public will have further opportunity to make representations.

2.5

Detailed comments on issues raised during the consultation are set out in Appendix 3.

3

Available Options Considered

3.1

To adopt the Rectory Farm Development Brief as an SPD.

3.2

To adopt the Rectory Farm Development Brief as a guidance note rather than an SPD.

3.3

To do nothing and not adopt the Rectory Farm Development Brief either as an SPD or as
a guidance note.

4

Preferred Option

4.1

The preferred option is to adopt as an SPD as this would have significantly more weight in
planning decisions than a guidance note. Non adoption would risk incremental,
uncoordinated development without an overall masterplan.

5

Reasons for the Recommendation

5.1

It is important to seek to achieve the Council’s ambitions for improving the quality of largescale strategic developments. These ambitions are set out in both the Council’s Corporate
Plan and the South Kesteven Local Plan.

163

5.2

Given the scale of future growth at Rectory Farm, it is important that the Council has a
robust set of guidelines to guide the sustainable and coordinated development of Rectory
Farm and the wider NW Quadrant and to avoid incremental and uncoordinated
development with no overall masterplan.

5.3

The land is in multiple ownership and individual parcels are likely to come forward at
different rates. In the circumstances, it is considered that the most effective tool to guide
development in a coordinated and masterplanned way is via this planning brief. As an
SPD this would have significant weight in planning decisions.

5.4

Adoption of the SPD would ensure the delivery of a high-quality sustainable development
meeting the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Plan and Local Plan.

6

Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision

6.1

Following adoption by Full Council, the Council (in its role as Local Planning Authority) will
use the SPD as a material planning consideration in planning decisions relating to Rectory
Farm.

7

Financial Implications

7.1

The Council’s retained consultants were commissioned to draft the report in consultation
with officers and stakeholders. The total cost was £24,870 which was funded from existing
budgets. There are no further financial implications.
Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance
and s151 Officer

8

Legal and Governance Implications

8.1

There is a requirement for public participation prior to the adoption of an SPD by a local
planning authority as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012.
Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive

9

Equality and Safeguarding Implications

9.1

The Rectory Farm SPD, read together with the South Kesteven Local Plan, includes
proposals to make places and developments more accessible and inclusive which will
have a positive impact on equality. See Appendix 4.

10

Risk and Mitigation

10.1

Should the SPD be adopted, there are no significant risks identified at this stage. The risk
of not adopting would be incremental or stalled development through potential noncooperation of landowners and the Council would have reduced ability to resist inferior
quality development.

11

Community Safety Implications

11.1

The Rectory Farm SPD, read together with the South Kesteven Local Plan, includes
proposals to address community safety within the design of new development.

164

12

How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

12.1

The Rectory Farm SPD, read together with the South Kesteven Local Plan, recognises the
challenges faced by the changing climate and seeks to provide guidance on how new
development can reduce its carbon footprint in terms of design, construction and use.
Adoption of the SPD will have a positive impact on Climate Change by assisting the
delivery of a sustainable development that helps the Council meet its stated aims
regarding climate change.

13

Other Implications (where significant)

13.1

None.

14

Background Papers

14.1

South Kesteven adopted Local Plan available online via:
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904

15

Appendices

15.1

Appendix 1: Rectory Farm Planning Brief

15.2

Appendix 2: Rectory Farm Planning Brief Masterplans

15.3

Appendix 3: Summary of Responses to Public Consultation

15.4

Appendix 4: Equalities Impact Assessment

165

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Council
25 November 2021
Report of: Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Planning and
Planning Policy

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
To adopt the Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD).
Report Author
Richard Shaw (Principal Design Officer)
01476 406470
r.shaw@southkesteven.gov.uk
Corporate Priority:

Decision type:

Wards:

Growth

Non-Key

All Wards

Reviewed by:

Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning)

11 November 2021

Approved by:

Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture)

12 November 2021

Signed off by:

Councillor Nick Robins (Cabinet Member for Planning
and Planning Policy)

15 November 2021

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
1. That Council adopt the Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven
Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix 1).

167

1

The Background to the Report

1.1

Creating well designed developments aligns with the Council’s Corporate Plan (20202023), including the aim to create housing that meets the needs of all residents, healthy
and strong communities and a clean and sustainable environment.

1.2

The South Kesteven Local Plan, adopted in January 2020, commits to the preparation of a
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to improve design quality in
development proposals, provide guidance to assist applicants and decision makers, and
additional guidance to supplement the Local Plan Policy DE1.

1.3

The Design Guide at Appendix 1 sets out the Council’s design expectations for high
quality, inclusive and sustainable places which reflect and respond to local character,
alongside the design process to achieve these. This includes the provision of detailed
guidance for the design of commercial areas to meet best practice.

1.4

The Design Guide was commissioned jointly by South Kesteven District Council (SKDC)
and Rutland County Council (RCC) and was fully funded by a planning delivery grant
awarded by the Government on a competitive bidding basis. Being a joint bid by both
authorities means the Design Guide is a joint document. However, each authority has
been responsible for undertaking their own public consultation and adopting the
document.

1.5

Once adopted the SPD Design Guide will be a material consideration in determining
planning applications.

1.6

The adopted Local Plan proposes significant growth in South Kesteven, with development
needed to deliver new homes as well as strong, prosperous communities that foster
economic growth. This context merits the creation of special places and the highest levels
of design quality; an important factor for community perception of new growth.

1.7

The Design Guide outlines for developers, applicants and Council Officer’s the design
process and principles which will be encouraged across sites of all scales, and which
should underpin design at all stages, from site-wide masterplanning to the design of
blocks, buildings and streets.

1.8

The Design Guide requires new proposals submitted for planning permission to
demonstrate how they have both respond to nationally recognised best practice in design
and to the characteristics and features unique and distinctive to the area.

1.9

Nationally, greater emphasis has been placed on achieving well-designed places. The
revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which sets out government’s
planning policies for England, states that poorly designed development should be
“…refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government
guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary
planning documents”. The NPPF encourages the adoption of Design Guide SPDs to
assist in this process.

1.10

Good design matters as it frames the places in which we live, work, socialise and do
business. From the orientation of a rear garden to the amount of sunlight reaching a public
square to how welcoming streets are to pedestrians, research has consistently
demonstrated the link between design and people’s physical and mental wellbeing.

1.11

Places that are designed well, function well and meet the needs of a wide range of uses
and activities and can last for generations. In recognition of the challenges faced by our

168

changing climate, the Design Guide will be essential to ensure that new development
seeks to reduce its carbon footprint, in terms of design, construction and use.
1.12

Design Guide is intended to be used by:
-

applicants and their design teams preparing development proposals.

-

planning officers, to negotiate with applicants/agents as proposals are developed, to
offer pre-application advice at the outline and reserved matters stage, and to assess
the quality of development proposals when determining planning applications.

-

elected Councillors when assessing development proposals advance of and at
committee.

-

statutory consultees providing commentary on applications.

-

the South Kesteven Design PAD (the Council’s unique pre-application service for
major proposals) when reviewing development proposals at pre-application and
application stage; and

-

local communities as they are consulted on applications.

2

Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny

2.1

Prior to the consultation period, a stakeholder workshop took place in January 2019, an
officer workshop in June 2019. and SKDC and RCC Member workshops in September
2019.

2.2

This preliminary consultation work, led to the production of a draft which was approved at
Cabinet in November 2020 for wider consultation.

2.3

This wider consultation was undertaken between 29 January to 12 March 2021 in line with
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2018) and the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

2.4

A detailed Consultation Statement can be found within Appendix 2 of this report. This
summarises the responses to this consultation and how they have been considered in redrafting the Design Guide. The Consultation Statement includes a log of all the
amendments made to the Design Guide.

2.5

RCC withdrew their forthcoming Local Plan in September 2021, which had a small impact
on the Design Guide. Consequently, following advice given to RCC by Counsel, the
appropriate amendments have been made to the document to revise all references to
RCC’s planning policies, changing references to the forthcoming (withdrawn) Local Plan to
the Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD) and Site Allocations and Policies
DPD.

2.6

The Design Guide document was endorsed at Cabinet on 9 November 2021. Since then,
a more up to date and revised version of the Design Guide has been produced. These
amendments are detailed in Appendix 3 along with a commentary about the implications
of these changes. It was concluded that these changes do not impact upon the meaning
or interpretation of the Design Guide. The amendments include, for example: correction of
typing errors; the addition of logos; an enhanced contents page; improving diagrams and
adding more and replacing photographs; providing a more generic example of a vision;
providing more examples of illustrating the broad structure of a layout; updating text and
some diagrams to be more aligned to recent National Guidance; adding emphasis and
clarity to text; updating all references to the withdrawn Rutland Local Plan.

169

3

Available Options Considered

3.1

The preferred option is that Council adopts the Design Guide which takes account of
responses made through the public consultation on the draft guide. This is complementary
to national guidance on design.

3.2

The Government’s White Paper on reform to the planning system in England proposes
further changes to improve the quality of design. These are currently the subject of
consultation and will require primary and secondary legislation. Therefore, it is considered
that the White Paper should not be regarded as an impediment to the Council taking
forward its Design Guide and the option of withdrawing the Design Guide has been
rejected.

3.3

In terms of changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the release of
the National Model Design Code in July 2021, the preparation of this guide pre-dates
these changes, particularly in relation to the consultation period and process. The NPPF
references both design guides and codes (The Design Guide is the former) and therefore
it is in line with these policy changes and still relevant. The option of withdrawing the
Design Guide in favour of the production of a design code or series of codes has been
rejected. Such design codes can be produced to complement and sit alongside the Design
Guide where required in the future.

3.4

If the Design Guide is not adopted, the Council will continue with current guidance which
does not take account of the Council’s ambitions for improving the quality of design in new
development as set out in the Local Plan. The National Design Guide and National Model
Design Code would instead be used, but these would not be as focused on local design
issues and character. The Design Guide as set out in Appendix 1 will assist South
Kesteven District Council in setting the foundations to support a move towards a design
led planning system.

4

Preferred Option

4.1

That Council adopt the Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary
Planning Document.

4.2

Given the nature of future growth likely to come forward within the District as proposed in
the Local Plan, it is important that the Council has up to date and robust design policies
that reflect national best practice and planning policy. The Design Guide provides a locallevel framework whilst reflecting the latest national-level design guidance.

5

Reasons for the Recommendation (s)

5.1

It is important to seek to achieve the Council’s ambitions for improving the quality of
design for the reasons set out above.

6

Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision

6.1

The Design Guide would be placed on both the SKDC and RCC websites, along with the
Consultation Statement and Adoption Statement, and an interactive PDF version.

7

Financial Implications

7.1

The total cost of the Design Guide has been fully funded out of a £185,000 Government
planning delivery grant awarded for this specific purpose jointly in 2018 to SKDC and
Rutland County Council. SKDC has acted as the accountable body for the management
and administration of this grant.

170

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance
and s151 Officer

8

Legal and Governance Implications

8.1

There is a requirement for public participation prior to the adoption of a SPD by a local
planning authority as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012
Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and
Deputy Monitoring Officer

9

Equality and Safeguarding Implications

9.1

The Design Guide includes proposals to make places and developments more accessible
and inclusive and so will have a positive impact on equality. An Equalities Impact
Assessment is included within Appendix 4.

10

Risk and Mitigation

10.1

There are no significant risks identified at this stage.

11

Community Safety Implications

11.1

The Design Guide recognises the challenges faced by our changing climate and seeks to
provide guidance as to how new development can achieve a reduced carbon footprint in
terms of design, layout, construction and use. There is a specific chapter on the Climate
Emergency (5B) and is a cross-cutting theme throughout the document.

12

How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District
Council’s declaration of a climate emergency?

12.1

The Design Guide recognises the challenges faced by our changing climate and seeks to
provide guidance as to how new development can achieve a reduced carbon footprint in
terms of design, layout, construction and use. There is a specific chapter on the Climate
Emergency (5B) and is a cross-cutting theme throughout the document.

13

Other Implications (where significant)

13.1

None.

14

Background Papers

14.1

South Kesteven adopted Local Plan
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=14904

14.2

Planning White Paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future

14.3

National Model Design Code
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code

14.4

National Planning Policy Framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

171

15

Appendices

15.1

Appendix 1: Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning
Document

15.2

Appendix 2: Consultation Statement

15.3

Appendix 3: Amendments and updates made to Design Guide SPD since the version
seen at 9 November 2021 Cabinet and the version proposed to be presented
to 25 November 2021 full Council.

15.4

Appendix 4: Equalities Impact Assessment.

172

Design Guidelines for

Appendix 1

Rutland & South Kesteven

173
Rutland County Council

DRAFT FINAL: NOVEMBER 2021

telephone: 01572 722 577

Catmose

fax: 01572 758 307

Oakham

email: enquiries@rutland.gov.uk

Rutland

web: www.rutland.gov.uk

LE15 6HP

Design Guidelines for Rutland & South Kesteven

174
AECOM

Design Guidelines for Rutland & South Kesteven

Contents
Part 1: Understanding and
responding to context

Part 2: Design

1. Introduction, understanding context and the design
process 7

4. National guidance that must be followed 28

1.1 Overview 7

1.2 Aims of the SPD 7

1.3 How to use this guide 7

1.4 Relationship with the National Design Guide and other key
reference documents 8

175

1.5 The design process 9
1.6 Engagement 11

2. Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character 13
2.1 A special place 13

2.2 Describing landscape and heritage character 13
2.3 Character areas 13

3. Understanding and responding to the context 20
3.1 Starting with site analysis 17
3.2 Responding to context 19

3.3 Establishing a vision and principles 20

4.1 National Design Guide 28

4.2 National Model Design Code 28
4.3 Manual for Streets 28

4.4 Building for a Healthy Life 28
5. Strategic design 31

5A: Follow the process 31

5B: Responding to the climate emergency 31
5C: Encouraging healthy lifestyles 33
5D: A strong landscape structure 34

5E: Continuous green corridors and circuits 35
5F: Tress in the public realm 36

5G: Sustainable drainage systems 37
5H: Street hierarchy 38

5I: Connected layouts 39

5J: Addressing the street (perimeter blocks) 40
5K: Strong front boundary treatments 41

5L: Special places-breaks/interruptions/events 42
3

AECOM

Design Guidelines for Rutland & South Kesteven

Contents
Part 2: Design
5M: Street character 43

7. Design for large scale employment and commercial 60

5O: Local centre/community facilities 45

7B: Responding to the climate energy 60

5N: Local rural village and town urban form and street character 44
5P: Cycle infrastructure 46
5Q: Car parking 47

5R: Affordable housing 49

176

6. Detailed design 51
6A: Build quality 51

6B: Architecture 52
6C: Materials 53
6D: Roofs 54

7A: Follow the process 60
7C: Frontages 61

7D: Landscape screening 62
7E: Parking and servicing 63
7F: Architecture 64

Annex: Policy and guidance documents that
back up the chapters

6E: Residential amenity 55

6F: Refuse management 56
6G: Extensions 57

6H: Scaling and massing of infill development 58

4

AECOM

177

Understanding and
responding to context

Part 1

Introduction,
understanding context
and the design process
178

01

CHAPTERDocument
1 Introduction,
Title
understanding context and the design process

Client Name

1. Introduction, understanding context and the design process
1.1. Overview

This guide has been produced to improve the quality
of new development being built in Rutland and South
Kesteven.
Both local authorities are committed to ensuring that
development - which we define as any new construction
that requires planning permission - responds positively to
the special natural and built qualities of our area, setting
them up to stand the test of time as great places to live
and enjoy in the same way our existing places have.

179

Rutland County Council and South Kesteven District
Council have jointly produced this Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) to assist and inform anyone with
an interest in the design and development process in the
area, with a particular focus on ensuring that applicants
for planning permission have applied the necessary
consideration to their proposals.
The guide outlines the Councils’ high design
expectations and the steps to be undertaken in
the design and planning process. As an SPD, these
guidelines will be a material consideration when
determining planning applications.
This document should be read in conjunction with a
range of national and local planning policy and design
documents, listed in Section 1.3. As an SPD, this
document is not intended to replicate guidance set out
in those documents; it is to build upon and provide more
detailed guidance about policies in the Local Plans.
Checklists and key questions boxes have been provided
as a way to highlight, list and summarise key information
7

7

in a more useable and concise format. They are not
intended to be policies or requirements.
The SPD has been prepared in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2021,
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012 and the Councils’ Statements of
Community Involvement. Stakeholder and Councillor
workshops informed its drafting and changes have been
made following the extensive feedback received as part of
a public consultation exercise.
Note that some development does not require planning
permission. This is called ‘permitted development’. As
what constitutes permitted development is subject to
change by Government, applicants are advised to check
with the Council’s planning department.

1.2. Aims of this SPD

The key aims of this Design SPD are to:
•

Establish the expectations for a high level of design
and build quality in all development proposals in
Rutland and South Kesteven;

•

Set out the design steps and considerations that
planning applicants are expected to undertake; and

•

Provide applicants with a clear understanding of good
quality design at any scale or type of development,
from a new community to an individual home
extension.

Good design matters as it frames the places in which
we live, work, socialise and do business. From the
orientation of a rear garden to the amount of sunlight

reaching a public square to how welcoming streets are
to pedestrians, research has consistently demonstrated
the link between design and people’s physical and
mental wellbeing.
Places that are designed well also function well and
meet the needs of a wide range of uses and activities
and can last for generations. In recognition of the
challenges we are facing by our changing climate, it will
also be essential to ensure that new development seeks
to reduce its carbon footprint, in terms of its design,
construction and use.

1.3. How to use this guide

This document has two main parts. Part 1 is about
the design process and stresses the importance of
responding to context. Part 2 has a focus on design
outcomes.
All types of development are expected to follow Part
1 and, as appropriate, chapter 4 in Part 2. Beyond
these, particular parts of the guidance will be relevant
for different scales and types of development. More
specifically:
Extensions
•

Chapter 6 – Detailed Design with particular focus on
6G Extensions

Single Dwellings
•

Chapter 5 – Relevant sections include: 5B Climate
emergency, 5G Sustainable drainage systems, 5K
Strong front boundary treatments.

•

Chapter 6 – Detailed Design
AECOM AECOM

CHAPTERDocument
1 Introduction,
Title
understanding context and the design process

Smaller developments (approximately 2 to 10
dwellings)
•

Chapter 5 – most sections as relevant

•

Chapter 6 – Detailed Design

Larger developments (approximately 10 or more
dwellings)
•

Chapter 5 – most sections as relevant

•

Chapter 6 – Detailed Design

180

Commercial Development
•

Chapter 7 - Design for Large Scale Employment and
Commercial

1.4. Relationship with the National
Design Guide and other key
reference documents
National Design Guide

The National Design Guide (Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government,
2019) illustrates how well-designed places that
are beautiful, enduring and successful can be
achieved in practice. It is introduced in Chapter 4
below, alongside three other key national guides:
the National Model Design Code, Manual for
Streets and Building for a Healthy Life.

8

8

Client Name

National and local planning policy

Development needs to consider national and
local level planning policy guidance as set out in
the following documents:

•

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF,
2021);

•

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG);

•

Rutland County Council Local Plan - Core
Strategy DPD (2011);

•

Rutland County Council Local Plan - Site
Allocations and Policies DPD (2014);

•

South Kesteven District Council Local Plan
(2020);

•

Neighbourhood Plans;

•

and subsequent planning and environmental
legislation and guidance as it becomes
available.

In particular, Chapter 12 (‘Achieving well-designed
places’) of the NPPF places an emphasis on creating
high quality buildings and places as being fundamental
to what the planning and development process should
achieve. It sets out a number of principles that planning
policies and decisions should consider to ensure that new
developments are well-designed and focus on quality.

Local conservation area appraisals

Rutland has 34 conservation areas and South Kesteven has
47. A number of these have Conservation Area Appraisals
which set out the special character of these areas based
on the quality of their building, historic layout of roads
and spaces, and particular materials and elements which
contribute to its appearance. New development in any of
these areas should refer to the relevant area appraisals.
The area appraisals can be found here for
Rutland and here for South Kesteven) and
the relevant Local Plan policies.
The Belton House and Park Setting Study
and the Grantham Townscape Character
Assessment are other important documents
to review when considering development in
that area.

Neighbourhood plans

A number of neighbourhood plans have been, or are being,
prepared in Rutland and South Kesteven. New development
in those areas should be determined in accordance with
the planning policies set out in those neighbourhood
plans which are ‘made’ (i.e. adopted), unless material
considerations indicate otherwise, as they are also used
by the local planning authorities to determine planning
applications. Neighbourhood plans often contain character
assessments that describe what makes area distinct.
The ‘made’ Rutland neighbourhood plans can be
found here; the South Kesteven ones here.

AECOM AECOM

CHAPTERDocument
1 Introduction,
Title
understanding context and the design process

Client Name

1.5. The design process

Figure 1 provides an overview of the steps that planning
applicants are expected to undertake in the design of
their development, and how this fits in with the planning
application process. It is not always a linear process; there
should be continuous reviews and modifications along the
way. However, the direction of travel is always the same,
starting from an understanding of the site in its broader
context, towards a more detailed proposal.

181

Whilst the activities outlined are focussed on medium to
larger applications, the process is similar for most scales
of development. Part 1 of this Guide sets out how the
Councils expect planning applicants to analyse, interpret
and respond to their site’s context, beginning with a
planning policy review, site visit and analysis of the site
and its surrounding area. Designers are then expected to
identify the site’s key constraints and opportunities and
in response to its context, establish a design concept,
principles and explore options for the site. Following this,
applicants would be expected to develop a broad layout
structure for the site, including key features, routes, open
spaces, land uses and landscape elements.
Part 2 of the Guide summarises the national design
guidance that all applicants will be expected to follow, and
then covers common detailed design issues specific to
Rutland and South Kesteven for major schemes (greater
than 10 dwellings), before covering small and householder
applications, and finally, non-residential schemes.
In order to ensure that design quality and the contents of
this guide are consistently applied to proposals for new
development, the local authorities will use this guide to
assess the design quality of new development.
9

9

Figure 1: Design process overview.

For residential developments of 10 or more dwellings,
Building for a Healthy Life will also be used as a tool for
discussions, assessment and monitoring of design quality.

National advice on what should be submitted as
part of a planning application, and what type of
application you should apply for, is set out on the
Planning Portal website.
AECOM AECOM

CHAPTERDocument
1 Introduction,
Title
understanding context and the design process

Design, Planning and Drainage (Design PAD) and Design Review at
South Kesteven District Council

Design PAD is a monthly review of planning proposals that aims to improve the design quality of new
development and provide a more streamlined planning service by facilitating multidisciplinary discussions and
feedback on development proposals.
The Design PAD sessions are chaired and minuted and the most appropriate team of professionals is selected
for each proposed development scheme. The sessions commonly include the planning officer, design officer,
landscape consultant, highways and lead local flood authority, Internal Drainage Board, Anglian Water, with
other disciplines such as heritage, affordable housing and environmental health attending as required.

182

Developers and their team of professionals are invited to attend when appropriate and this is a very effective
and efficient way for multidisciplinary discussions and feedback on proposed developments to take place, with
developers coming away with more certainty and having progressed or resolved the more complex issues.
The Design PAD service would form part of this process. Development schemes can appear at Design PAD
multiple times as they are refined and improved. Both Outline, Full and Reserved Matters planning applications
can also be assessed at Design PAD.
It is crucial that applicants demonstrate how they have followed the three steps in the box on the right in order.
This will avoid wasted time and effort, and secure a better outcome for all parties.
In addition to internal arrangements such as Design PAD at South Kesteven, significant developments (defined
by the Council) will undergo an independent Design Review, ideally as early as possible in the design process,
when it is felt that such a review is required.
The Council and the Applicant will be equally involved in the selection of a review panel. The cost associated
with the Design Review will be covered, in full, by the Applicant.

Client Name

Checklist: What we expect to see in
planning applications:
1. Understanding the context - Site and contextual
analysis plans and descriptions;
2. Response to context - constraints and
opportunities plans, vision and principles, design
concept plan/s; and
3. Broad structure of layout – slightly more detailed,
showing key elements of the skeleton of the layout
from which to hang the detail, including, amongst
other things:
- Retained and new landscape;
National advice on what should be submitted
- SuDS areas integrated ;
as part of a planning application, and what type
- Green spaces interlinked with green and blue
of application you should apply for, is set out on
corridors;
the Planning Portal website.
- Key movement routes for pedestrians and
cyclists;
- Connections;
- Feature areas/spaces;
- Main routes through the site; and
- Notable frontages.
These are also expected in pre-application
submissions.

Significant developments will be determined on a case by case basis, depending on the context of each
individual site.
SKDC encourage all developers to use the formal pre-application advice service, following
the procedures set out online here.
10

10

AECOM AECOM

CHAPTERDocument
1 Introduction,
Title
understanding context and the design process

1.6. Engagement

The NPPF and National Model Design Code encourage
much more extensive public engagement and
involvement of neighbourhood plan groups and Town
and Parish councils in design. Planning applications
should demonstrate how the proposed design has been
influenced by them.
The first reference point should be the Neighbourhood
Plan, where one exists. Many of these contain policies
on design and some include a design guide or code. The
policies in a Neighbourhood Plan have the same weight as
those in the Local Plan.

183

Depending on the scale of the proposed development and
the sensitivity of the context, applicants may be expected
to undertake bespoke community and stakeholder
engagement. This will certainly be required for major
applications. The Councils’ respective Statements of
Community Involvement should be followed as they set
out how the community, businesses and others with an
interest in development can engage with the planning
system.
This SPD does not stipulate how engagement takes place
as it should be tailored to fit the situation. Approaches
could include:
•

•

11

Design charettes and co-design workshops: handson, interactive sessions led by skilled facilitators and
designers, they are great for understanding context
and generating design options;
Exhibitions and public meetings: good for presenting
ideas and collecting feedback;
11

Client Name

•

Online: good for reaching those who may not come to an
event, but people need to be aware that the exercise is
taking place, and can be supplemented by a dedicated
website providing information on the proposal; and

•

One to one meetings: these can be appropriate for
householder and small infill applications to discuss
proposals with neighbours before the application is
submitted.

For large applications or sites with complex issues, like
drainage or heritage, pre-application discussions with
statutory consultees or other agencies such as the Lead
Local Flood Authority, Environment Agency, Greater
Lincolnshire Nature Partnership, Anglian Water or Historic
England should be undertaken so that they have the
opportunity to shape proposals rather than just react to a
submitted proposal. See details on Design PAD in section
1.5 above. Planning Performance Agreements might also be
used.

The Government’s advice on effective
community engagement on design stresses
that “local planning authorities and applicants are
encouraged to proactively engage an inclusive,
diverse and representative sample of the
community, so that their views can be taken into
account in relation to design”.
Refer to the Statements of Community
Involvement for Rutland and South Kesteven for
expectations on engagement.

Pre-application discussions should take place before
an outline planning application is submitted. The local
authorities will not advise on and negotiate significant
amendments to poor quality applications where no
pre-application discussions were held.
Whichever approach is followed, the planning application
should be clear on:
•

Who has been engaged;

•

How they have been engaged;

•

What they said; and

•

How the design has been influenced by the engagement.
AECOM AECOM

Rutland and South
Kesteven’s Special
Character
184

02

CHAPTER 2 Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character

2. Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character
2.1. A special place

Rutland and South Kesteven are two historic and picturesque
areas of the East Midlands.
South Kesteven has a number of historic market towns:
Grantham, the largest, Stamford, known for its warm limestone
building materials and Bourne, with its grand civic buildings.
The Deepings are a unique urban form of a town and adjoining
villages. A further 100 villages and hamlets lie across the
expansive rural farmlands of the district.

185

Rutland is the smallest county in England and in line with its
motto multum in parvo, much in a small place, it has a wealth of
heritage in its towns and settlements situated around Rutland
Water. There are two market towns, Oakham and Uppingham,
which are rich in architectural tradition, alongside 52 villages
and hamlets.
One of the main objectives of this design guide is to encourage
new development which responds to the setting and unique
character of an area. Designs should take inspiration from local
vernacular architecture, integrate into existing settlements and
contribute to a sense of place.

13

2.2. Describing landscape and heritage
character
Rutland and South Kesteven have a diverse and complex
geography. Whilst every settlement has its own qualities, there
are observable patterns in the geology, landforms, landscapes
and built forms that make up broad character areas. These
characteristics are to be considered when developing design
proposals.

Whilst there are some local differences, particularly in the
flatter Fenland and Trent & Belvoir Vale landscapes to the east
and north-west respectively, the key characteristics of the area
which are of particular relevance to this guide are:
•

Predominantly rural with a gently rolling, mixed farming
landscape;

•

Distinctive settlements such as Stamford, Oakham and
Uppingham and numerous characterful villages;

•

Geologically varied with a wide range of soil types, from
limestone through to heavy clays, and these form the basis
of the materials found in buildings;

•

Wildflower-rich limestone grassland, and limestone becks
and larger watercourses;

•

Hedgerows and hedgerow trees providing important
habitats and character;

•

Scattered woodland with some important semi-natural and
ancient woodlands;

•

Rutland Water;

•

A range of natural environments and wildlife habitats,
which can be identified for a location by undertaking a
thorough site and contextual analysis.

2.3. Character areas

Rutland Landscape Character Assessment
was produced in 2003 and South Kesteven
Landscape Character Assessment was
published in 2007. Between them, they identify
twelve distinct character areas. These are shown
in Figure 2.

The Landscape Character Assessments, together with the
relevant Conservation Area Appraisals and Neighbourhood
Plans, provide a wealth of information on much of the
two districts, providing detail on the characteristics of
the landscape and built heritage features in most of the
settlements. Designers are not expected to simply replicate
these features, but they do need to be aware of and respond
to the context that the features provide, and demonstrate
in planning applications how they have done so. In this way,
the SPD fulfils the National Design Guide recommendation
of local guidance setting out a baseline analysis of local
character and identity.
The photographs below figure 2 provide snapshots of the
built and natural condition of each area. These are just to
provide a flavour of local character and are not necessarily
fully representative.

Designers need to be aware of and respond to the
context of their site, and demonstrate in planning
applications how they have done so.

AECOM

s been prepared for the use of AECOM's client. It may not be used, modified, reproduced or relied upon by third parties, except as agreed by AECOM or as required by law. AECOM accepts no responsibility, and denies any liability whatsoever, to any party that uses or relies on this drawing without AECOM's express written consent. Do not scale this d

Client:

SOUTH KESTEVEN

±

LEGEND

South Kesteven Existing
Landscape Character
Fen Margin
Grantham Scarps and Valleys
Harlaxton Denton Bowl
Kesteven Uplands
Southern Lincolnshire Edge
The Fens
Trent and Belvoir Vale

Rutland Existing Landscape
Character
High Rutland
Rutland Plateau
Rutland Water basin
Vale of Catmose
Welland Valley

Notes:

AECOM Internal Project No:
60473674
Drawing Title:

SOUTH KESTEVEN
AND RUTLAND
CHARACTER
AREAS
Scale at A3: 1:250,000
Drawing No:

Filename: X:\GIS\South Kesteven & Rutland Design Guide\07_Working\20190104_Fig1_Landscape_Character.v5.mxd

186
14

RUTLAND COUNTY
COUNCIL

N

5

Figure 2: Landscape Character Areas (Rutland Landscape Character Assessment (2003),
South
Kesteven
Sources: Esri,
HERE,
Garmin, USGS, Intermap, INCREMENT P, NRCan, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), Esri Korea, Esri
0
5
10 km
(Thailand), NGCC, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community
Landscape
Character
Assessment
(2007)).

This drawing has been prepared for the use of AECOM's client. It may not be used, modified, reproduced or relied upon by third parties, except as agreed by AECOM or as required by law. AECOM accepts no responsibility, and denies any liability whatsoever, to any party that uses or relies on this drawing without AECOM's express written consent. Do not scale this document. All measurements must be obtained from the stated dimensions.

CHAPTER
2 Rutland and
South Kesteven’s special character
DISTRICT
COUNCIL

Adelphi Plaza
George's Street Upper
Tel
Dun Laoghaire
Fax
Co. Dublin
A96 T927

Project Title:

SOUTH KESTE
RUTLAND DES
GUIDE
Client:

SOUTH KESTE
DISTRICT COU
RUTLAND COU
COUNCIL
LEGEND

South Kesteven Ex
Landscape Charact
Fen Margin

Grantham Scarps an

Harlaxton Denton Bo
Kesteven Uplands

Southern Lincolnshir
The Fens

Trent and Belvoir Va

Rutland Existing La
Character
High Rutland
Rutland Plateau

Rutland Water basin
Vale of Catmose
Welland Valley

Notes:

AECOM Internal Proj
60473674
Drawing Title:

SOUTH KESTE
AND RUTLAND
CHARACTER
AREAS

Scale at A3: 1:250,00
Drawing No:

FIG_1_LANDSCAPE_
Drawn: Chk'd:

App

SW

XX

XX

AECOM

CHAPTER 2 Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character

Fen Margin

187
15

Grantham Scarps and Valleys

Harlaxton Denton Bowl

AECOM

CHAPTER 2 Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character

Kesteven Uplands

188
16

Southern Lincolnshire Edge

The Fens

AECOM

CHAPTER 2 Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character

Trent and Belvoir Vale

189
17

High Rutland

Rutland Plateau

AECOM

CHAPTER 2 Rutland and South Kesteven’s special character

Rutland Water Basin

190
18

Vale of Catmose

Welland Valley

AECOM

Understanding and
responding to the context
191

03

CHAPTER 3 Understanding and responding to the context

3. Understanding and responding to the context
A key message from this document is that the Councils
will expect to see how the design of proposals in planning
applications have been crafted in response to their context.
This chapter sets out the Councils’ expectations for site
analysis for planning applications of new development.
This chapter then sets out how we expect applicants to
approach their design response to context, and in the
case of major residential development (i.e. more than 10
dwellings), how to define a design vision and principles as a
high level, strategic response to the site, before zooming in
on the details of the design in Part 2 of this Guide.

assess trees and hedgerows, key views from within
the site, ground conditions, wet areas, ditches, wildlife
activity and boundaries, including rear garden fences of
adjacent properties;
•

•

192

3.1. Starting with site analysis

Development does not happen in isolation. It has to respond
to its surroundings in a variety of ways so one of the first
things to consider before designing a development is to look
beyond the red line of the application site (as well as within it).
This is the site context.
A contextual analysis should be undertaken to identify and
understand the wider context and site features and how
these will contribute or influence the design proposals.
Basic approach to doing a site and contextual analysis
•

•
20

1) Start with desk based studies – this helps plan and
inform the site visit. For example: public footpaths and
potential connections, topography, surrounding land
uses and landscape features, official designations, local
and national policies, history and historic maps.
2) Visit site - study and explore the site itself, gaining
access permission where required. For example:

Checklist for a site and
contextual analysis

3) Explore around the site - views and approaches
towards the site. For example, how will the site be
experienced as you approach it, local character,
street character, movement - best walking routes to
schools, shops etc., existing bus services and stops,
cycle routes, footpaths, consider existing and future
residents – how might people use these areas?

Landscape

4) Document everything – mark the site and contextual
analysis on a plan and take photographs to record
everything.

•

•

5) Use a checklist for consistency (see checklist below).

•

6) Meet on site – this can be very effective way of
discussing and resolving site issues in situ.

•

Landscape character, setting and history;

•

Views into and out of site and visual impact;

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Topography;

Urban – rural interface;
Geology;

Ecology and biodiversity, including
biodiversity opportunity mapping;

Green space, trees, hedgerows (green
infrastructure);

Hydrology and drainage (SuDS, existing flow
paths, watercourses - blue infrastructure);
Environmental risks, such as flooding and
noise, air and water quality;

Microclimate - Light, shade, sunshine and
shadows; and colours, textures, shapes
and patterns.

Townscape
•

Views, vistas and landmarks;

•

Land uses and mix of uses around the site;

•
•
•

Edges, nodes of activity, gateways, eyesores;
Local character (positive examples nearby
if nothing adjacent to site);
History and heritage assets, such as listed
buildings and conservation areas, and
their settings;

AECOM

CHAPTER 3 Understanding and responding to the context

193
21

•

Built form, layout, urban grain, density the scale and proportions of streets and
spaces;

•

Street character - boundary treatments,
building lines and the composition of
street scenes, individual buildings and
their elements;

People – human behaviour and function
of places
•

Desire lines (pedestrian and cycle);

•

Building heights, massing and proportions
of buildings;

•

Gathering places and activity centres;

•

Relationships between buildings;

•

•

Materials;

The pattern of uses and activities,
including community facilities and local
services;

•

Architectural features;

•

General atmosphere;

•

Roofscapes;

•

Social characteristics, including
demographics;

•

Façade design, such as the degree
of symmetry, variety, the pattern and
proportions of windows and doors, and
their details.

•

Aspirations, concerns and perceptions
of local communities;

•

Economic factors.

•

Approaches to the site – how do views of
the site unfold as you approach?

Movement

Statutory and legal constraints

•

Access;

•

Ownerships;

•

Footpaths (particularly Public Rights of Way);

•

Rights of way;

•

Existing and proposed cycle paths;

•

Planning status;

•

Links to and from the site, including public
transport and proximity of local services;

•

Planning conditions;

•

Covenants;

•

Statutory undertaker’s services;

•

Existing underground and aboveground
utilities and infrastructure, including
easements.

Checklist: has your site analysis...
•

Taken account of what is around the site, not
just on it?

•

Distilled what it is that defines the special
character of the locality in question,
including the landscape, the buildings and
how the buildings are arranged?

•

Included non-physical features of the site
and the wider area?

•

Reviewed the Neighbourhood Plan, historic
mapping , environmental/biological records
and other existing documents?

•

Been based on a thorough understanding of
community and stakeholder aspirations and
insights?

AECOM

CHAPTER 3 Understanding and responding to the context

Key
Key
Application site
boundary

Application site
boundary

Higher building heights
proposed responding
to the topography

Water bodies

3.2. Responding to context

Settlement
Railway
Vista

Proposals should consider how to respond to the
comprehensive site and contextual analysis work outlined
above. This page shows examples of how development
could respond to its context at the strategic level, in the early
stages of design.

Green corridor
Sun path
Topography

The examples here show how new development:
•

will be shaped by an understanding of its physical
context; and

•

will be connected to its surrounding area

194

Figure 4 shows how a site massing strategy is influenced by
the topography and vistas illustrated in Figure 3.
Figure 6 illustrates how new development connects to the
existing network of footpaths, cycle routes and roads, and
existing settlements, based on existing connections as
shown in Figure 5.

Figure 3: Topography and key vistas.

N

Figure 4: Responding to the topography of the site by locating higher
density and taller built form in the lower lying part of this site, and lower
density development on the edges overlooking open countryside.
Key

Key

Application site
boundary

Application site
boundary

Main roads

Woodland

Secondary/
tertiary roads

Motorway

Pedestrian
routes/Cycle
paths

Main routes
(A-roads)
Secondary routes
Tertiary routes
Public right of
way (PRoW)
Railway
Bus route 20
Cycle Route 224
Water bodies

Figure 5: Existing movement networks of the site.
22

Figure 6: Responding to the existing movement networks.
AECOM

CHAPTER 3 Understanding and responding to the context

3.3. Establishing a vision and
principles

There a number of ways to help demonstrate how your
scheme intends to respond to its context, which include
(but are not limited to):
•

Writing a vision statement;

•

Establishing a set of clear development principles; and

•

Including a concept plan or diagram to illustrate those
principles.

195

A clear and logical account of the design process should be
set out and evidenced in the applicant’s Design and Access
Statement to accompany the planning application, where
one is required.

Design vision

DESIGN VISION
The site will house a compact neighbourhood in a parkland setting. The neighbourhood will expand holistically from
the existing service housing with redevelopment focussing on the brownfield land. This will increase permeability to
the parkland to the north. Some interventions will be made to upgrade the site frontage and create an outward-facing
development with well-defined public spaces and private plots.
Community facilities and services that were previously on site will be retained in some form and disused buildings could
be re-purposed to house these in amongst a high-quality housing offer.
The architecture will be clearly of its time and yet distinctively local by making the best of the latest building
technology to minimise resource use and making a positive addition to local character. The area will have a very legible
plan with direct, convenient walking routes to the local centre which will be formed around an attractive public realm,
together acting as a focus for the identity of this neighbourhood which forms a part of the wider former village suburb.
The site will be integrated closely with the wider area by walking routes, across the common (which itself will be retained
as a landscape corridor for wildlife) and via the canal tow-path to the north. A new railway halt will be provided
alongside an electric bus service that will link residents with the schools and centres of the surrounding towns.

Depending on the size of the scheme, it may be appropriate
- and helpful - to write a vision statement which sets out
what the scheme will comprise in terms of proposed uses,
and what it will be like as a place so that people can imagine
what it will be like to live, work or play in. This description
should be succinct and specific to its location, referencing
any relevant landmarks or assets; it should set out a broad
picture without too much detail.
An example vision is set out here:

23

AECOM

CHAPTER 3 Understanding and responding to the context

Design development
This page highlights four key steps of design
development in response to the site analysis and vision.

Provide a pedestrian
and cycle crossing

To support the vision, it is useful to establish a set of
clear, site-specific development principles, and to
set the design intent of the scheme. These can be
expressed according to different themes, such as green
infrastructure (as shown), movement and resilience, and
for different parts of the site as well as the whole.

Create a continuous
building line and active
frontages
Create active
frontages along the
main green link
Provide vehicular
access

196

A simple concept plan can also be helpful to illustrate
vision and design intent. Depending on the size of the
site and the scheme’s complexity, it can be useful in
demonstrating how you intend to address the site’s
strategic issues, such as the topography, green
infrastructure, key views, connections and desire lines,
as well as showing key features of your scheme such as
the main spaces and focal areas.

Create a group of
landmark buildings to
reinforce the gateway

Once the vision, principles and concept are
established, the framework can be fleshed out with
a broad structure of layout that considers in more
detail the disposition of land uses, blue and green
infrastructure and the movement network, and the
relationship between each of these components
and the surrounding area. This framework should
consider a finer level of detail than the concept plan
and to think about the relationship between structural
elements. It could also include a series of simple themed
strategies, such as a biodiversity strategy, landscape
and SuDS strategy, tree strategy, movement strategy,
key spaces strategy, play strategy – focussing in on
these important elements individually ensures that
they are comprehensively addressed and considered
strategically in order to guide the detailed design work.
24

Development principles e.g. connect existing and new green space

Development principles for part of site

Broad structure of layout

Concept plan

Figure 7: Steps in design development on large site

AECOM

CHAPTER 3 Understanding and responding to the context

Checklist for major developments:
Has your design...

197
25

•

Directly responded to the site analysis,
including its surroundings, topography,
geology, biodiversity, watercourses and
relationship to open spaces, nearby
settlements, and routes?

•

Protected and enhanced existing views into,
through and out of the site?

•

Connected into and enhanced existing local
networks – transport, social, environmental?

•

Established a vision and set of principles that
are unique to your site and couldn’t apply to
anywhere else?

•

Created a community that uses natural
landscape assets and allows residents to
benefit from them?

Checklist for smaller and household
developments: Has your design...
•

Considered nearby buildings in terms of
their height, position, massing, materials and
architectural style?

•

Protected and enhanced existing views into,
through and out of the site?

•

Provided adequate access to/from the site for
users and servicing?

AECOM

198

Design

Part 2

National guidance that
must be followed
199

04

CHAPTER 4 National guidance that must be followed

4. National guidance that must be followed
Part 2 of this document introduces the design solutions
that should be implemented in Rutland and South
Kesteven. This chapter introduces a small number of key
national guides that all applications must be compliant
with, whilst the remaining chapters focus on design
approaches that experience shows need particular
attention in our area.

Development should demonstrate compliance
with Manual for Streets, perform positively
against Building for a Healthy Life and the
National Design Guide:

200

•

National Design Guide;

•

National Model Design Code;

•

Manual for Streets; and

•

Building for a Healthy Life.

4.1. National Design Guide

The National Design Guide illustrates how well-designed
places that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be
achieved in practice. It introduces ten characteristics and
29 related principles that are common to well-designed
places. These are presented in the table on the next page,
alongside brief consideration of how they may be applied in
Rutland and South Kesteven.

4.2. National Model Design Code

More detail on good design practice under the National Design
Guide’s characteristics is provided in the National Model
Design Code. Part 2: Guidance Notes is the most useful
place to understand the Government’s detailed expectations
on design outcomes.

4.3. Manual for Streets

Manual for Streets: Key principles
Schemes of at least ten homes should demonstrate
compliance with Manual for Streets. Whilst the MfS
has influenced this document, we do not repeat its
contents. Key relevant principles for Rutland and
South Kesteven include:

The South Kesteven Local Plan stipulates that major
development must demonstrate compliance with Manual
for Streets, the Government’s guidance on how to design,
construct, adopt and maintain new and existing residential
streets. It promotes streets and wider development that
avoid car dominated layouts but that do place the needs of
pedestrians and cyclists first.

•

Walkable neighbourhoods, not car-dominated
layouts;

•

Designing for pedestrians and cyclists first;

•

Designing streets as places, not just movement
corridors;

4.4. Building for a Healthy Life

•

No standardised highway designs; and

•

Design residential streets for speeds of 20mph
and below.

The BHL toolkit, which is relevant to developments of 10
dwellings or more, sets out 12 questions to help guide
discussions on planning applications and to help local
planning authorities to assess the quality of proposed (and
completed) developments, but can also provide useful
prompts and questions for planning applicants to consider
during the different stages of the design process.

Garden villages

Building for a Healthy Life (BHL) is the new (2020) name for
Building for Life, the government-endorsed industry standard
for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods. The new
name reflects the crucial role that the built environment has in
promoting wellbeing.

Schemes in the Local Plans referred to
as Garden Villages or to be developed
in accordance with Garden Village
principles should follow guidance set out
by the TCPA and Homes England.

Both Rutland and South Kesteven Local Plans expect new
residential development to perform positively against the BHL
criteria and performance is monitored.
28

AECOM

Most relevant section
in this document

201

Implications for Rutland and South Kesteven

Principles

Characteristics

CHAPTER 4 National guidance that must be followed

CONTEXT

Enhances the
surroundings

Understand and
relate well to the site,
its local and wider
context.
Value heritage, local
history and culture.

Work best with, and
enhance where
possible, local
landscape character,
existing natural
features and wildlife
habitats.
Integrate positively
with existing patterns
of built form and
existing buildings.
Incorporate elements
of local architecture,
culture and history
through the use of
appropriate materials
and details.

IDENTITY

Attractive and
distinctive
Respond to existing
local character and
identity.
Well-designed, high
quality and attractive,
Create character and
identity.

Complement and
enhance how existing
buildings relate
to each other and
existing routes and
spaces.
Provide, protect or
enhance existing
views and vistas of
the landscape and
landmarks.
Reflect and improve
upon any distinctive
architectural
elements of local
buildings which could
be used to create a
sense of local identity.

BUILT FORM

Coherent pattern of
development

Compact form of
development.
Appropriate building
types and forms
Destinations.

3.1.
3.2.

2.1.
2.2.
5J
5L

MOVEMENT

Enhanced and
optimised

NATURE

PUBLIC SPACES

An integrated network
of routes for all modes
of transport.

Provide high quality,
green spaces with a
variety of landscapes
and activities.

Create well-located
high quality and
attractive public
spaces.

A clear structure
and hierarchy of
connected streets.
Well-considered
parking, servicing and
utilities.

Use land in the
most efficient way
possible, combining
development with
open space to
optimise density,
within context.

Create a welldesigned and
connected network
of routes to allow
people to choose
how to travel to, from
and within a site,
with priority given
to pedestrians and
cyclists.

Ensure buildings
relate positively to
the street with active
frontages and an
appropriate scale and
proportion.

Develop a street
network which
enables people to
easily find their way
around the site and
to the wider area.

Create destinations to
allow people to gather
and socialise.

Accommodate the
different parking,
servicing and utilities
requirements of all
users.

Clearly define public
and private spaces
through layout design
and use of materials.

3.3.
2.3.

Accessible, easy
to move around

5I
5J
5K
6G

Incorporate green
infrastructure
and high-quality
landscaping within
the street network.

3.3.
5C
5H
5P
5Q

Improve and enhance
water management.
Support rich and varied
biodiversity.

Safe, social and
inclusive

Provide well-designed
spaces that are safe.
Make sure public
spaces support social
interaction.

Provide high quality,
well located,and
multifunctional
green open space
- including play space.
Use trees and
landscaping to
enhance public realm,
in private gardens
and to act as buffers
where required.

Create the right
types of public
spaces in the right
type of places to
meet different users’
needs.

Improve water
management through
incorporating
SuDS with green
infrastructure and
movement routes.

Design public spaces
in which users feel
safe and included by
providing a number
of opportunities for
natural surveillance.

Promote green
networks such as
direct green links
between open spaces
or key destinations.

5B
5C
5D
5E

5C
5D
5F
5L
5M

USES

Mixed and
integrated

A mix of uses.
A mix of home tenures,
types and sizes.
Socially inclusive.

Provide the right mix
of local services and
facilities in the right
locations, taking into
account existing
provision.
Provide a mix of
homes tenures,
types and sizes to
encourage a mix of
people to live in the
area.
Create a balanced
community which
welcomes people
from all sectors of
the community and
provides accessible
spaces and facilities.

3.3.
5D
5L
7

HOMES &
BUILDINGS

Functional, healthy and
sustainable
Healthy, comfortable
and safe internal and
external environment.
Well-related to external
amenity and public
spaces.
Attention to detail:
storage, waste,
servicing and utilities.

Ensure buildings are
fit for purpose for its
occupants, users
or visitors, for their
current and potential
future requirements.
Design buildings
to be efficient and
cost effective to
run by maximising
natural daylight and
ventilation.
Incorporate welldesigned storage,
waste, servicing and
utilities solutions
which consider ease
of use/servicing and
do not dominate the
street scene.

RESOURCES

LIFESPAN

Efficient and resilient

Made to last

Follow the energy
hierarchy.

Well-managed and
maintained.

Selection of materials
and construction
techniques.

Adaptable to changing
needs and evolving
technologies.

Maximise resilience.

A sense of ownership.

Make walking and
cycling the obvious
choice for local
journeys through
layout design.
Design places and
buildings to - in this
order: i. Reduce the
need for energy; ii. Be
energy efficient; iii.
Maximise potential for
clean energy supply;
and iv. Efficiently use
fossil fuels from clean
technologies.
Choose materials that
offer high thermal
performance, can
be recycled, or area
naturally produced.

Design and plan
in long-term
stewardship from the
outset.
Future-proof
development so
that it can adapt
to changing life
circumstances and
working patterns.

Design in resilience
for a changing world for example forecast
increases in extreme
weather events.

5B

6D

5B

5R

6E

5G

6A

6F

5O

6B

6F

6C

7

5B
5G
6A
6F
7

Figure 8: National Design Guide characteristics, principles and possible applications in Rutland and South Kesteven, including reference points in this document.
29

AECOM

Strategic design
202

05

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5. Strategic design
In addition to following the guidance in the national
documents above, there are specific areas where we want to
see improvements in the quality of development in Rutland
and South Kesteven. This chapter concentrates on the
strategic scale - things beyond the design or alteration of a
single building although being particularly relevant to major
schemes of 10 homes or more. These are the issues that
applicants frequently fail on, leading to delays and increasing
the risk of poor development.

5A: Follow the process

203

The design process outlined in Part 1 of this document
must be followed on all major applications. Local Plan
policies require development to demonstrate how carbon
dioxide emissions have been minimised. This must be
evidenced as part of planning applications.

5B: Responding to the climate emergency
The UK’s legally-binding climate change targets will not be
met without the near-complete elimination of greenhouse
gas emissions from UK buildings. The Future Homes
Standard means that, from 2025, new build homes will no
longer be permitted to have fossil fuelled space heating
and hot water generation. South Kesteven District Council
has declared a ‘climate emergency’ and has an ambition
to reduce its carbon footprint between now and 2030 and
become net zero carbon by 2050. Rutland County Council
also has the aim of making sure its activities achieve a net
zero carbon footprint before 2050. All new development
can be net zero carbon.
Site location
Given the significant contribution that transport emissions
make to the climate emergency, and the problem of car31

dominated neighbourhoods, one of the best things that can
be done is to locate development in places that will enable
residents to access local services, including education and
employment, by foot, cycle and public transport.

by renewable sources. In well insulated and air-tight
buildings, the energy consumption of all houses can be
met with roof mounted PV panels and/or ground or air
source heat pumps.

Layout

Factors to consider when planning for net zero
carbon include:

Following much of the guidance in this document, and the
national guides introduced in Chapter 4, will help to ensure
that development is sustainable and also mitigate against
the impacts of climate change. In particular:
•

Providing connectivity and a walkable neighbourhood
with good facilities;

•

Building orientation;

•

Efficiency of the building shape;

•

Amount of glazing;

•

Systems deployed, such as on-site generation, heat
pumps, mechanical ventilation, water management
and district heat networks; and
Using modern methods of construction.

•

Designing for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport
users ahead of cars;

•

Encouraging healthy, active lifestyles;

•

•

Orienting buildings to maximise beneficial solar gain,
with, for example, one of the main glazed elevations
within 30° due south, whilst avoiding overheating;

•

Promoting biodiversity and green infrastructure
through a landscape-first and nature-based approach;

Embodied carbon – the emissions associated with
building construction – also needs to be considered.
This means that the materials in a building can be re-used
if it is demolished or disassembled, and that it re-uses
materials in its construction.

•

Enabling local food production;

•

Using natural or recycled and local materials;and

•

Providing electric car charging points in new
development, in line with the Local Plan policies.
These steps will also help improve air quality and
health. See here for further local guidance.

Buildings
There is also much that can be done at the individual
building level. Super insulate first. Be 100% powered

See the LETI Climate Emergency Design
Guide for more advice on the design of new
housing.
Materials with good environmental performance can
sit comfortably with traditional materials and built
forms. Even in Conservation Areas, old buildings can be
retrofitted to improve their energy performance with little
or no negative visual impact.
At wider scale, the promotion of walkable
neighbourhoods that minimise the need to travel is vital
in the response to the climate emergency, as well as
improving air quality.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

KEY: EXISTING HOMES

1
2

3

4
5

204

6

7

8

32

Insulation
in lofts and walls (cavity
and solid)
Double or triple glazing
with shading (e.g. tinted
window film, blinds,
curtains and trees outside)

A
B

Low- carbon heating
with heat pumps or
connections to district
heat network

C

Draught proofing of
floors, windows and doors

D

Highly energy- efficient
appliances (e.g. A++ and
A+++ rating)
Highly waste- efficient
devices with low-flow
showers and taps,
insulated tanks and hot
water thermostats
Green space (e.g.
gardens and trees) to
help reduce the risks
and impacts of flooding
and overheating
Flood resilience and
resistance with removable
air back covers, relocated
appliances (e.g. installing
washing machines upstairs),
treated wooden floors

E

F

H

I
J

KEY: NEW BUILD HOMES

Water efficiency

High levels of
airtightness

Water efficiency, including the re-use and responsible use of
water, also needs to be promoted. This also reduces impact
on the sewerage systems, resulting in further energy savings
through reduced treatment of water at the start and treatment
of sewerage end.

More fresh air
with the mechanical
ventilation and heat recovery,
and passive cooling

E
I

Triple glazed windows
and external shading
especially on south and
west faces

6

4

C

2

D 3
F

J

7

Solar panel

Electric vehicle charging
point

•

Is your development net zero carbon?
If not, why not?

•

How will people be able to choose practical
non-car alternatives for travel?

•

Has the site masterplan considered all options
to reduce carbon?

•

Does the masterplan mitigate against the
impacts of climate change?

•

Will the buildings themselves be net
zero carbon over their operational lifespan?
How will this be achieved?

•

How does the design of low-carbon housing
relate to local character?

5

8

Flood resilience and
resistance e.g. raised
electrical, concrete floors
and greening your garden
Construction and site
planning timber frames,
sustainable transport
options (such as cycling)

The Natural England and RSPB Climate Change
Adaptation Manual sets out a spatial approach to
assessing habitat vulnerability to climate change.

H
B

A

Low-carbon heating and
no new homes on the gas
grid by 2025 at the latest
Water management
and cooling more
ambitious water efficiency
standards, green roofs
and reflective walls

1

Figure 9: Diagram showing the low-carbon measures for both existing and new
build homes - measures in each column may be used in both types (based on
work by the Committee on Climate Change).

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5C: Encouraging healthy lifestyles

•

All of the guidance in this chapter is aimed at promoting
healthy, active lifestyles. The way that new development is
designed has a major opportunity to influence behaviour,
social circumstances and environmental factors such as air
quality.
The Council will expect development proposals to protect,
promote, support and enhance physical and mental health and
wellbeing.
Key issues are:
•

205

Contact with nature including street trees, green
nature corridors, SuDS design for biodiversity (including
permanently wet areas), green spaces designed for
biodiversity, boundary hedges (instead of knee-rails),
well landscaped front gardens, rear gardens with trees
provided, integral bat/bird/swift boxes/tiles/fascias/
boxes, bee bricks, and native (and wildlife friendly)
species as a general rule for landscaping schemes;

•

Positive social contact including meeting places,
community facilities, open spaces designed for all ages,
on-street parking, wider pavements, larger front gardens,
community activities and initiatives, community gardens
(such as kitchen gardens), community stewardship
models, allotments, homezones, traffic calmed streets,
and shared surfaces;

•

Healthy food including community kitchen gardens
and orchards designed into open spaces, allotments,
community composting;

•

•

Physical exercise including active travel, walkable
20 minute neighbourhoods, circuits of routes, quality
cycle infrastructure, easy to navigate, safe and
attractive streets, walking and cycling routes, good
public transport services, and well designed, high
quality and accessible play areas within walkable
distance of people’s homes;
Supporting flexible working practices, particularly
homeworking, through provision of fast fibre
broadband, shared workspaces and easy access to
community amenities; and
Designing places for all, including older people
and the mobility impaired and building Lifetime
Homes that are adaptable and accessible over
time, in accordance with Local Plan policies that set
minimum levels.

See Sport England’s Active Design Guide and
the NHS Healthy New Towns guidance for more
advice on encouraging physical exercise and
healthy lifestyles, as well as Building for a Healthy
Life.
See Policy OS1 in the South Kesteven Local Plan
and Policy CS23 in Rutland Local Plan - Core
Strategy DPD and Policy SP22 in Rutland Local
Plan - Site Allocations and Policies DPD
Swift Conservation and the Bat Conservation
Trust offer advice on providing swift and bat boxes.
See the Elsea Park Community Trust for an example
of community stewardship of the maintenance and
management of green infrastructure.
See TCPA guidance on 20 minute neighbourhoods.

Sport England’s Ten Principles of
Active Design
1. Activity for all

2. Walkable communities
3. Connected walking & cycling routes.
4. Co-location of community facilities
5. Network of multifunctional open space
6. High quality streets & spaces
7. Appropriate infrastructure
8. Active buildings

•

33

What have you done to promote healthy
lifestyle choices?

9. Management, maintenance, monitoring &
evaluation
10. Activity promotion & local champions

Figure 10: New residential scheme in Derbyshire providing a pleasant,
well equipped and accessible play area and open space.
AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5D: A strong landscape structure

There are multiple benefits to incorporating landscape features
into proposals, and as such, landscape design should be
considered at the very start of the design process. This ensures
that sufficient space is given to landscape and drainage within
a layout - before streets and buildings get added - and that
parks, ecological corridors and other ‘green infrastructure’ are
positioned in the optimum locations within the site, rather than
areas left over. In addition, the impact of lighting on landscape
and biodiversity should be carefully considered in any scheme.

206

Strong landscape structures in optimum locations create
important movement corridors for people and wildlife and also
make sites easier to navigate around. Designing for wildlife is of
great importance and existing meadows, wetlands, hedgerows,
trees and woods should be retained and joined up with wildliferich gardens, verges, amenity green space, cycle paths and
walkways, resulting in a network of natural green and blue
corridors weaving through a development and beyond, into the
surrounding urban and rural landscape, contributing to the wider
ecological network.
Development sites should achieve a biodiversity net gain in
accordance with environmental law and be fully measurable an
evidenced.
•
•

Figure 11: Landscape
structure at the heart of a
design.

Has the design been structured around the landscape
strategy, not vice versa?
Has the site been designed around a suitable
drainage scheme using the natural fall of the land?

We encourage developers to achieve Building with
Nature standards. The Wildlife Trusts’ Homes for
People and Wildlife is another useful resource.
See the Biodiversity Net Gain good practice
principles for development , the Environment Bill
and Defra’s biodiversity metric 3.0 calculation tool.
Refer to guidance in the South Kesteven Local Plan,
Rutland Local Plan and by Natural England.
34

Figure 12: The Croft, Bourne. A contemplative space at the crossroads of
routes within the scheme.

Figure 13: Wyndham Park in Grantham. Green Flag winner, with properties
overlooking and enclosing this open space.
AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

KEY

5E: Continuous green corridors and circuits

Site boundary

A development with a strong and attractive landscape and
movement structure that interconnects key destinations,
spaces and places has many benefits. For example, helping
to make a layout easier to find your way around, making
walking and cycling more attractive options and creating
a much more characterful development. Protecting and
extending Public Rights of Way and statutory bridleways
should also be given consideration at the design stage of any
new development.

207

A green corridor running through the entirety of a site is
a fantastic navigational aid and provides a pleasant and
practical experience for pedestrians and cyclists. Corridors
that stop in the middle of a site or don’t lead anywhere useful
should be avoided.
Green circuits should also be considered. A circuit avoids
having to walk along a linear route, turn around and walk back
along the same route, encouraging healthy circular walks,
runs and cycles. Circuits can be signposted, for example at
1km intervals.

35

•

Do green corridors connect with spaces and
places where people and wildlife will want to go?

•

Have you exploited any opportunities to create
green circuits?

Figure 14: Continuous green corridor linking a development site to the existing village and the countryside.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5F: Trees in the public realm

Street trees have many benefits: they improve air quality,
provide shade, support nature and biodiversity net gain, cool
the air, slow surface water run-off rates, provide character,
reduce traffic speeds and define street hierarchy.

Planters along street

Large tree with room to grow

Rear parking courtyard

Verge

Existing mature trees can be preserved and/or new large
species planted and given sufficient space to flourish and
become key features.
It is essential that street trees are planted within appropriate
tree pits that will allow them to flourish and become healthy
tree specimens.

208

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF says that “planning policies and
decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined”
and encourages applicants and local planning authorities to
“work with highways officers and tree officers to ensure that
the right trees are planted in the right places, and solutions
are found that are compatible with highways standards and
the needs of different users.”
SKDC has signed up to the Charter for Trees,
Woods and People, which promotes greener
local landscapes.

•

36

Have you included street trees, and others in
the wider public realm, wherever possible?

•

How have you selected the species that are
best for the site?

•

Are measures in place to make sure that trees
will grow and thrive?

Green open space

On pavement in appropriate
tree pits

Sustainable drainage
system e.g. by swales, in rain
gardens

In carriageway to calm
traffic

Figure 15: Different types of tree in the public realm.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5G: Sustainable drainage systems

Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) cover a range of
approaches to managing surface water to reduce flood risk
whilst improving water quality, amenity and biodiversity.
They reduce the amount of surface water that reaches the
sewer system (as outfall) and the rate at which it reaches a
watercourse. Common features of SuDS include soakaways,
filter strips and swales, permeable surfaces and ponds.

209

The best approach is to collect and re-use water but, if this is
not possible for all water, infiltration and attenuation/controlled
release should be used as well unless it can be proved that it
will not work for locally-specific reasons. In general, the aim
should be to infiltrate water into the ground, thus mimicking
what nature does. So, priority should be given to: infiltration into
the ground first; then to a surface water body; then to a surface
water sewer, highway drain or another drainage system; or
finally, to a combined sewer.
SuDS do not have to be complicated; the best solutions are
often the simplest. It should be integrated with green and blue
infrastructure and planned in from the earliest stage to make
sure that enough space is made available in the right places.
Sustainable drainage should be fully integrated into the
design. Sometimes these will include multi-use open spaces
that also have a drainage and flood storage function. This is
part of the landscape-led approach to major development that
is required.
The best approach for any site will be locally specific,
influenced by the different soil and landscape types. It will be
designed with management in mind, understanding that it will
change over time and need managing flexibly.
Multi-functional SuDs design incorporating locally occurring
and regionally sourced native marginal and aquatic planting is a
space-efficient way to deliver biodiversity net gain, if managed
appropriately.

37

•

Has the scheme design been structured
around an integrated sustainable drainage and
green infrastructure strategy?

•

Is drainage based on the specifics of the site,
taking account of soil types and topography?

Refer to Lincolnshire Development Roads
and Sustainable Drainage Approach for more
details. This advice is also relevant for use in
Rutland.
See Design and Construction Guidance for
foul and surface water sewers produced by
Water UK.

Figure 16: Example of SuDS
designed as a public amenity in
Stamford (left) and permeable
paving (above)

Figure 17: Shallow car park swale with very high infiltration in
Bushloe High School in Wigston, Leicestershire (Image credit: DSA
Environment + Design)

Figure 18: Award-winning roadside swale in Lincoln

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5H: Street hierarchy

A development where all streets look the same lacks character,
is difficult to navigate and can confuse users, including drivers,
as to how they should behave. A clear street hierarchy is
needed, with a main street that is distinctly different to the
others and more minor streets such as mews and lanes. The
Main Street serves as a navigational point within the site and
also a characterful feature.
Key elements of a Main Street/Avenue could include:
•

Street trees;

•

Carriageway with segregated cycle lanes;

•

Wider pavements including roadside swales;

•

Strong front boundary treatments such as railings and
walls supplemented by hedges;
Strong building lines;

210

•
•

Absence of frontage parking;

•

Strong built frontages that positively address and enclose
the street;

•

1.
2.

3.
4.

5

Private front
garden

3

Footway

2.00m

2

1

Tree verge with
parking bay

Carriageway with segregated
cycle lanes

4.00m

2

Tree verge with
parking bay

9.50m

4.00m

3

5

Footway

Private front
garden

2.00m

19.50m

Figure 19: Section showing indicative dimensions for Main Streets and primary roads. In some places trees may be
omitted from one or both sides although they help with placemaking, contribute to local biodiversity, and create a
positive micro-climate

Rhythm and continuity of facades; and

•

1.

Well-proportioned in terms of height to width ratios.

Edge Lanes can be effective in enhancing connectivity within
development sites, making it easier to travel around and move
through sites and reducing the number of private drives and
cul-de-sacs. This can substantially reduce walking distances
for pedestrians and also create less need for vehicles (such as
refuse collection) to turn in the street.

2.

4

3

2

1

5

3.
4.
5.

Private front
garden

38

•

Is there a clear street hierarchy that lets people
know how they should use each street?

•

How are the street types differ from one another?

Carriageway (area-wide
traffic) with segregated cycle
lanes.
Green verge with tall trees.
Parking bays to be inset into
the verges to avoid impeding
moving traffic or pedestrians.
Footway.
Residential frontage with
boundary hedges and front
gardens.

Footway

2.00m

Parking/Tree
verge/swales

2.00m

Lane

Green space and potential for implementing swales
into the landscaping

3.50-6.50m

7.50-10.50m

Shared lane (local access) width to vary.
Green verge with trees.
Parking bays may be
interspersed with trees to
soften the impact of parked
cars. Roadside swales are also
recommended.
Footway.
Residential frontage with
boundary hedges and front
gardens.
Green space, with trees
or hedges to manage the
transition to the countryside.
Potential for implementing
swales into the landscape.

Figure 20: Section showing indicative dimensions for Edge Lanes. The lane width may vary to discourage speeding or
provide space for parking. Roadside swales are recommended.
AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5I: Connected layouts

Generally, layouts should be permeable, with the number
of dead ends being minimised and with good connections
into the wider street and path network. Driveways and minor
access roads should be dispersed frequently throughout the
site and have direct access off existing and new streets in
order to create active frontage and reduce speeds.

Figure 21: A connected layout, with some cul-desacs, balances sustainability and security aims in
a walkable neighbourhood. This layout encourages
lower vehicular speeds as there are more access
points on to the main roads around the edge of the
site.

Connected layouts encourage walking and cycling and the
use of public transport. Layouts with poor connections
encourage people to use their car for even short journeys,
adding to local air pollution and congestion.

211

Home Zones (or play streets) can be successfully designed
in to the quieter streets within connected layouts and are
encouraged. These are designed primarily to meet the needs
of pedestrians, cyclists, children and residents.
Some cul-de-sacs and mews streets may be appropriate
in a wider connected layout. Cross-roads are acceptable
in appropriate locations (as shown in Figure 21); however
turning heads (as shown in Figure 22) take up space and
make routes for refuse vehicles more difficult. Connected
streets make more efficient use of space and reduce
reversing of refuse vehicles, and are easier for delivery
services and bus routes to access.
Developments should knit in to the wider neighbourhood
and single access points to large sites should be avoided.
Walking routes into village and town centres should be
provided / promoted where possible to discourage car use.

•

39

Figure 22: A layout dominated by cul-de-sacs
encourages reliance on the car for even local
journeys. This layout generates higher vehicular
speeds because there are fewer access points
leading to the main roads around the edge of the
site.

Are most streets connected to others at
both ends?

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5J: Addressing the street (perimeter
blocks)

In line with national guidance, buildings should have public
fronts and private backs. By positioning public fronts on to
streets and public spaces - in terms of the main entrances
and main windows - this provides opportunities for natural
surveillance and to design out crime from these spaces.
Back gardens should face other back gardens, bringing
community safety and privacy benefits.

212

This also applies around the edges of sites, where sensitive
rural interfaces often exist. Buildings should look outwards,
not turn their back on their surrounds. Hedgerows or other
planting in front of homes can soften open rural interfaces
and existing hedgerows have more protection if within the
public realm rather than rear gardens where they are more
under threat.

Figure 23: Windows on facades enhance natural surveillance over
open spaces and the streets creating a sense of safety to the people.

Properties on all corners should have active facades on
both sides, not blank gable ends, and front doors and house
numbers on all properties should be clearly visible from the
street.
•

Are all streets fronted by buildings?

•

Where you have followed existing patterns and
buildings in the village are orientated at right
angles to the street, have you still included
windows on the street-facing façade?

•

Do back gardens back on to other back gardens?
Secured by Design is an initiative that offers
advice on designing out crime.

40

Figure 24: Characterful overlooked space, Market Deeping.

Housing
Block

Private back
gardens

Housing
Road
Housing
Block

Private back
gardens

Housing
Figure 25: Outward facing blocks with private backs and public fronts.

Figure 26: New residential scheme, north west Oakham. The house has
been designed so all the active facades have windows overlooking the
streets as well as a high quality boundary treatment.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5K: Strong front boundary treatments

Strong front boundary treatments are an essential ingredient
of the streetscape and are very effective in enhancing the
character of a street, creating a clear demarcation between
public and private spaces.
Strong front boundary treatments can include railings and
low walls, supplemented by low hedges behind. Hedge front
boundary treatments can work well, but the species selected
should be robust and planted well so that they can grow and
survive in what can be quite a harsh environment of a front
garden.
Different boundary treatments can be used on different
streets to create a range of street characters.

213

Front boundary treatments should reference the local
character of the area and the positive and/or predominant
front boundary treatments.

•

41

Figure 27: Hedges presenting an attractive buffer between the public and
private.

Are boundary treatments in keeping with the
area’s prevailing character?

Figure 28: The mixture of low walls, supplemented by low hedges behind add
interest to street character.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5L: Special places - breaks/interruptions/
events

Residential layouts can often be very highways-dominated
and also include long stretches of uninterrupted highway
lacking in character. Special places / events should be
created along longer streets in order to prioritise the safety
and needs of pedestrians and cycles, calm traffic and reduce
speeds, add character to the street, serve as navigational
points and also respond to surrounding features.
Street design should respond to the surroundings, such
as an adjacent park, a footpath route crossing the street,
a school or local centre, a landmark building, a group of
buildings, a junction.

214

In order to address these issues special places should be
created within the street network and could include for
example:
•

Village greens and other open spaces;

•

Urban squares;

•

Change in surface material and street design to respond
to surroundings and calm traffic;

•

Wider pavement with trees; or

•

Trees in the highway.

Key
Park
Change in
surface material
Landmark
buildings
Footpath route

42

•

Are some streets enlivened by special ‘events’?

•

Do strong/landmark buildings front these special
spaces to help enclose them and enhance their
character?

Figure 29: The indicative diagram showing special places in order to add character to the place.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5M: Street character

Emphasis should be given to defining street character – with
street design, front boundary treatments, building lines,
front garden depths, parking arrangements, landscaping,
house types and materials all working together to create
streets that have strong characters of their own. Careful
consideration should be given to the design of pavements,
avoiding the provision of unsightly and impractical
maintenance strips of paving.

•

What are the specific features of the streets that
elevate them above the norm?

215

Figure 30: New street at Cecil Square, Stamford, uses traditional
building forms, a limited palette of materials, interesting boundary
treatments and a paved road surface to produce a distinctive street
character.

Figure 31: New street in Trumpington Meadows, Cambridge, combines
many elements that define a strong street character, including nonstandard highway treatments, quality contemporary materials, street
trees, integrated sustainable drainage and windows on all building
facades. The curve of the street leads the eye around the corner,
creating further interest.

Buildings enclose street
Street trees

Strong building line
Strong front boundary treatment
Pavement surface change
Figure 32: Typical residential street.
43

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5N: Local rural village and town urban form
and street character

1:2

Streets and layouts should relate to the character of their
location – in the rural villages and towns, streets and
layouts should aim to replicate the urban form, density and
character of streets found in the area and/or best practice in
streetscape design.

216

In many towns and villages in Rutland and South Kesteven,
streets are curved with properties following these curves
and leading the eye around the corner. Visual stops that
terminate views along the street are also a characteristic
and help to break up long stretches of street. Long straight
streets are generally not a characteristic of the area and are
commonly only found within the larger settlements.
The height to width ratio of streets is also a key
characteristic, helping to provide a sense of continuity and
enclosure along the street. Streets that are too wide and
buildings that don’t sufficiently enclose the space in front of
them generally lead to less attractive streetscapes.

1:4

1:6
Figure 33: Hambleton, example of properties at the edge of the village
having a larger setback at the front and a less formal arrangement.
Figure 35: ‘Enclosure’ is the relationship between the height of the
buildings and the distance across the street or space between facing
ones. A ratio of 1:2 (top) or 1:4 is generally appropriate for residential
streets, with 1:6 (bottom) a general maximum for squares and very
wide streets. Enclosure can be defined by trees instead of buildings
(centre).

Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density,
massing and height, taking into account the local character
and context.
Different character areas can be designed into larger
developments to add variety instead of monotony.

•

44

How does the scheme layout relate to the wider
settlement’s built form?

Figure 34: Greetham, example showing a stronger alignment in the
central areas.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5O: Local centre/community facilities

A sense of community is an essential element of any new
settlement. The design of local centres and community
facilities should:
Encourage social interaction;

•

Not be car-orientated with parking areas dominating;

•

Be vibrant places;

•

Be exemplary in terms of design with high quality public
realm and landscaping;

•

Include a mix of uses – to include elements such as
residential uses and cafés that encourage people to
stay, for socialising and for natural surveillance;

217

•

•

Cater for growth in the share economy - such as car
share schemes; tool and garden equipment swaps; work
hubs for hot desking; and remote working facilities which require high speed internet;

•

Be located to be walkable for as many people as
possible; and

•

Be co-located with other facilities such as schools,
recreational areas.

•

Are local centres designed to be attractive and
safe for users and businesses?

•

Will most people choose to travel there by foot
or cycle?
Figure 36: The brand new local centre at Eddington, Cambridge, presents a very attractive car-free environment that will encourage social interaction.

45

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5P: Cycle infrastructure

Facilities for cyclists need to be comprehensively thought
out and continuous, both within the site and in connecting on
to key destinations elsewhere.
The Cycling and Walking Plan for England
sets the framework for radically increasing
levels of cycling and Local Transport Note 1/20
provides updated guidance on the design of cycle
infrastructure.
Key factors to plan for include:
Continuity of routes;

•

Segregate on the busiest roads;

•

Avoid conflict with side streets and driveways;

•

Think of different types of cyclists – commuters (exiting
the neighbourhood on a longer journey), leisure cyclists
(road bikes, families on wider cycle trip), practical trips
(to the shop, school, train station, town centre), children
(cycling around the neighbourhood or to school or park);

•

Easy to use – avoid 90 degree bends, missing sections,
demarcate crossings over other streets, potential on
street parking conflicts;

•

Design to be attractive to use and encourage all types
of people to cycle - ‘would this cycle route design
encourage me to cycle?’; and

•

Convenient cycle storage in homes or within their
curtilages.

218

•

•

46

How have you catered for the needs of cyclists,
and those who might be persuaded to cycle?

Figure 37: Convenient cycle storage in an apartment.

Figure 38: Raised cycle and pedestrian paths at entrance to new development making it clear who has priority.
AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5Q: Car parking

Parking requirements should be considered at the outset
of the design. Insufficient and poorly designed parking
can have negative impacts on how streets function, can
create cluttered and chaotic environments and can create
unnecessary neighbour and community conflicts and
divisions.
For South Kesteven, refer to County Council
Guidance for advice on the amount of parking that
should be provided. For Rutland, see the adopted
Site Allocations & Policies Development Plan
Document (page 70).

•

•

219

These spaces should ideally be in addition to any garage
provision (as garages are rarely used for parking as
highlighted in Manual for Streets (2007) paragraph 8.3.39),
although garages with space for general storage (and
bicycles if no other cycle storage) and doors wide enough to
accommodate a modern car could be considered as parking
provision.

•

There are a number of ways to provide parking, depending on
variety of factors such as the size of plot, the type of street
the site is located on and neighbouring buildings.

•

47

Parking spaces should be provided on-plot and ideally
located behind the building line, between dwellings and/
or on drive through units/car ports. This is to enhance
street character and maintain strong building lines
and front boundary treatment lines, and avoid parked
cars dominating the street (as highlighted in Manual for
Streets, paragraph 8.3.33);

Cars parked on plot should be softened with landscape,
planting and materials as well as a clear property
boundary. Parking spaces should be as well as, not
instead of, a front garden;
Where possible an integral garage could be combined
with a room above as part of the main building.
Detached garages – if provided - should complement
the main building in terms of proportion, roof and
materials. However it should be noted that Building for
a Healthy Life (2020) advises against ‘over reliance on
integral garages with frontage driveways’;

•

Paving materials could be permeable and
complementary to the building design;

•

Parking spaces should be wide enough to allow the
doors on both sides of the car to be opened sufficiently,
in order to provide comfort of use for all users. This
includes, for example, the mobility impaired, older
people, people with young children and people
unloading luggage and bulky items; all of whom require
the door to be opened wide in order to get in and out of
the car;

On plot
Parking on plot is usually the most appropriate type of
provision in villages and suburban settings. Principles to
consider include:

Where it is necessary to site parking spaces in front of
the building line, they should be limited in number and
located sensitively within a development. This parking
should be located away from main streets or streets
where it does not fit with the desired character;

•

Triple double bays should be avoided as they have
been known to cause neighbour disputes and lack the
required space;

•

Spaces between rear gardens should ideally be avoided
as they have a negative impact on street character and
design quality and can easily be designed out by, for
example, placing detached dwellings on corner plots.

Off plot
Off-plot frontage parking for linked units/terraces should be
softened and broken up with street trees. Adequate space
should be provided to ensure that trees do not block paths or
hinder movement around spaces. A consistent building line
should be maintained.
On street parking
Car parking on public, although not necessarily adopted,
streets is usually the most space efficient form of parking.
Guidelines for this type of parking include:
•

On-street parking should be designed from the outset;

•

Make parking spaces clear and unambiguous by
delineating them with materials or marking;

•

Consider what is the best parking alternative according
to function, location and place-making aims. Typical
arrangements include: parallel, perpendicular and
right-angled layouts. The right solution will emerge from
analysis of the site and expected amount of traffic;

•

Aim to get the space as close as possible to the
entrance of the dwelling;

•

Add planting to soften the presence of the car such as
verges, hedges and trees on street;

•

If possible, group cars together and incorporate a break
consisting of planting such as trees or hedges, usually
groupings between three and six work best; and

•

Position visitor parking in visible areas and on the front
of properties to encourage active places.

AECOM

It is recommended that the guidance below is followed:
•

220

Rear parking courtyards will be discouraged. Occasional
parking courtyards will be permitted, if justified and if they
are designed to a high standard and treated as part of the
public realm, as set out below;

•

They should be kept small (ideally maximum of 5 properties);

•

There should be properties located at the entrance and
also within the courtyard itself, ideally with habitable
rooms at ground floor overlooking the access and parking
areas. Mews streets containing dwellings and rear parking
interlinked with the street network can be very effective,
creating overlooked streets and ‘places’ rather than simply
just parking areas;

•

The distance from the parking space to the front door of
the associated house should be short and direct. Access
should not be provided to the rear of properties.

Parking space dimensions
A large or family car is approximately 1.9 metres wide and 2.1
metres wide with wing mirrors.
If a driveway is to be fit for purpose and serve a dwelling and its
wide range of residents and their needs over time, residents
should be able to get out of the car comfortably on both sides
and open the doors. It should also be possible to get a wheelie
bin of 0.6 metres past a parked car.
Garage dimensions
In line with Lincolnshire County Council guidance, garages
should only be considered as parking provision when they
are of a size that will accommodate general storage (such
as lawn mowers, hedge trimmers, ladders, bicycles etc) and
have garage doors that are wide enough to accommodate the
modern car. Building for a Healthy Life advises against ‘Relying
on garages being used for everyday car parking’.

•

Block paving should ideally be used to delineate bays and
modest markings should be used to label them;

With regards to garage dimensions, the advice within Manual
for Streets paragraph 8.3.41 should be taken into account and
this is also repeated in the guidance by Rutland County Council
(paragraph 1.5 – see link on previous page).

•

Boundary walls, not fences, should be used and set back
from areas where vehicles and pedestrians will move, so
to offer the opportunity for landscaping and relief from an
otherwise enclosed environment;

Garages should be well positioned to ensure that they do not
dominate the street scene in a negative way. Integral garages
need to be sensitively designed and located so as not to
dominate street character.

•

They should be well-lit and include some element of low
level lighting, such as bollard lighting;

48

6.40m

Poorly designed parking courtyards are often not used by
residents and lead to surrounding streets and pavements
becoming cluttered with cars. Where provided, parking
courtyards and car parks for flats should be safe and attractive
to use.

Parking areas should include robust and suitable
landscaping in order to soften the space;

See guidance set out by Lincolnshire County
Council on development roads, Manual for
Streets and Building for a Healthy Life.

3.30m

Rear parking courts should be a last resort, only used once
other options have been exhausted or if there are clear
placemaking benefits like creating strong frontages to overlook
a key space.

•

0.6m

Rear parking courtyards and car parks for flats

2.70m

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

Figure 39: Advisory
widths of frontage
parking, double and
single driveway and
spaces.

AECOM

CHAPTER 5 Strategic design

5R: Affordable housing

Affordable housing is an important component of all major
schemes and needs to be designed with care.
In market housing-led schemes, dwellings should be well
integrated around the neighbourhood. Affordable dwellings
should be sensitively located with the aim of achieving
sustainable communities that are intermixed, with affordable
units being spread out and not being easily identifiable by
means of design quality (including materials) style (including
house types and architectural details) or location in terms of
not placing affordable units in blatantly inferior locations.
The content of this design guide is also relevant to affordable
housing only schemes (as well as units within market schemes)
and should be taken into account.

221

Where one bedroom dwellings are provided as affordable
housing within the development, there is a preference for these
to be provided as terraced or semi-detached units which are
well integrated with market housing in terms of layout, siting,
design and style and also provide for private amenity space.
If one bedroom units are provided as flats and quarter houses,
it is important that these are well designed and every effort is
made to integrate these well with open market housing.
Specialist housing should be located appropriately to ensure
easy access to community and social facilities, health care
facilities and public transport.
Self and custom build units should be provided in accordance
with local plan policies and should fit in to the site masterplan
and its design aspirations.

•

49

Figure 40: Affordable housing ‘pepper-potted’ around a development, but still clustered to aid management (marked in red).

Is affordable housing distributed around the area
and indistinguishable from all other housing?
AECOM

Detailed design
222

06

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6. Detailed design
This chapter shifts attention to the individual building
and considerations of architecture and detail. We are not
advocating a specific architectural style but do require that
design is influenced by context.
The correct design response is influenced by a number
of factors including the relationship between the site or
extension and other buildings, routes and spaces, views
and vistas, facilities, architectural details and landscape.
Whether it is a town centre, market town, village or rural
area, you should study the appearance and architectural
language of surrounding buildings to draw upon and
influence your design.

6A: Build quality

It is important that build quality, materials and architectural
detailing make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character.

•

What have you done to ensure that the
materials will last and that build quality will
be high?

There are certain low quality materials and architectural
details of new residential developments that have an adverse
impact on the street scene or character . The list below makes
recommendations for higher quality solutions that are more in
line with the aspirations of the Local Plan policies.

223

•

Stub sills on windows, to ensure that they don’t project
over stone or chamfered brick sill features and look
unsightly;

•

Window frames set back in the window opening/reveal,
which fits with traditional window design in most cases;

•

Wet verges (dry verges with cloaking tiles have a low
quality appearance and do not fit into the
local character);

•

Brick or other traditional detailing to eaves and verges;

•

Porches, door canopies or surrounds made from timber
and tiles (rather than glass-reinforced plastic porches,
door canopies or surrounds, which are not acceptable).

Where contemporary architectural solutions are proposed
(see Section 6B also), high standards of design and
build quality will also be expected. Quality materials and
architectural detailing are expected. A good build quality
helps developments to make a positive contribution to
local distinctiveness, character and the street scene and
townscape character in accordance with Local Plan policy.
51

For sites of 400 dwellings or more, exemplary design and
construction should be delivered in accordance with Local
Plan policies.

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6B: Architecture

There is much traditional architecture within Rutland and
South Kesteven, as evidenced by the fact that there are
so many conservation areas in both districts. However,
it is important that both contemporary and traditional
approaches are considered when responding to the strong
local vernacular – with the focus being on quality and local
character whichever approach is taken. Contemporary
interpretations of local building forms, styles and details
can creatively use locally distinctive and sustainable
materials.

224

With such a variety of historic detail in the built form, new
development is expected to add to this existing richness
with high quality detailing, colour, use of materials and
sustainable building design.
The Councils do not promote a specific architectural
style but do expect new development to be attractive
and recognise that visually attractive buildings, streets
and spaces often share similar qualities. Defined in the
publication Quality Reviewer (Urban Design Skills, 2010),
there are characteristics of architecture and townscape
that are not subjective:

52

Detail - this can be fundamental to quality and can help
a development to feel human and friendly. Consideration
should be given to how materials will last over time together
with their maintenance, environmental performance and
their general quality of appearance. Quality detailing applies
to both traditional and contemporary architecture.
Proportion – architectural quality can, in part, be down
to the sizes and shapes of walls and the positioning of
features such as doors and windows. Proportions between
solid (walls) and void (windows, doors) can be key factors.
Traditional architecture, in general terms, works well with a
vertical emphasis, including alignment of windows. Other
key factors include the depth of a building, roof pitches,
eaves, gables etc.

Order – Order can be a key element of good design.
Balance, repetition and symmetry create order and
can also be found in both classical and contemporary
architecture. Balance creates a sense that the
relationship is right between the parts and the whole.
Repetition can be used as a tool, sometimes unifying a
building, street or space and creating drama. Symmetry
can be an effective way of creating order and visually
pleasing solutions (repetition and symmetry are not
always essential). For instance, the positioning of doors
can provide some relief from repetition, whilst the
horizontally and vertically aligned or symmetrical window
arrangement gives an aesthetically pleasing visual result.

•

Is design well considered and appropriate to
use and context?

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6C: Materials

Carefully consider the use of materials for roofs, walls,
windows and boundaries and ensure they are appropriate
for the site’s context. Different combinations of materials
create a certain character and identity for buildings, and
which help ground a place in its locality – for example,
there is an emphasis on the use of limestone in parts of
both Rutland and South Kesteven. The character areas
introduced in section 2.3 each have their own traditional
building materials.

225

Authentic materials should be used so for example, new
porches should not use plastic moulded porch canopies
or tiles as this would not be considered authentic or
appropriate. They should be constructed of timber and tile
only with slim profile roof tiles and avoid large format tiles.
Use a simple and focussed palette of materials, avoiding
a scatter approach of house types and materials, which in
turn should define and respond to streets and spaces.
The choice of materials for both traditional and
contemporary architectural approaches is expected to
reinforce local identity and make a positive contribution
to local distinctiveness, vernacular and character.
Nearby examples of low quality design and materials that
do not fit with the positive and predominant examples
of local character that typify the area should not be
replicated or used as an excuse for more low quality
design and materials.
Traditional materials can be used very effectively in
contemporary architecture. Innovative and new materials
with good environmental performance are supported,
although such materials should still be high quality and
enhance local character.

Materials that are traditionally used in Rutland and South
Kesteven include, amongst others:
•

Ashlar stone;

•

Brown, red and yellow brick;

•

Clay pantiles (red, orange, blue/black);

•

Clipsham stone

•

Ironstone;

•

Ketton stone;

•

Limestone, including Ancaster limestone and
Upper Lincolnshire limestone;

•

Render

•

Slate, including Collyweston slate;

•

Terracotta;

•

Thatch;

•

Timber;

•

Uppingham stone; and

•

Welsh blue slate.
Refer to the stone atlases that exist for both
Rutland and Lincolnshire when choosing
materials.
•

Lincolnshire limestone

Ashlar stone, shed dormers Ketton stone with the quoin at
the corner of the building
and use of slate on the roof

Uppingham Stone

Ironstone

Ironstone with dressing

Mudstone

Red brick

Collyweston Slate

Clipsham stone

Limestone with quoin
dressing

Painted limestone

Why have you selected the chosen materials?
Are they commonly used in the area?

Figure 41: Samples of local materials.
53

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6D: Roofs

The form, pitch and appearance of roofs are an important
determinant of character. Take the lead from the
predominant form and materials locally. In our area, these
tend to be mainly pitched, some with dormer windows
in the towns, but other roof types can be found with,
for example, gambrel roofs in some parts. Whilst some
variety can add character, generally roofscapes should be
kept simple.
Clay pantiles or slate tiles are common, with slim profile
tiles preferred on both roofs and porches. Collyweston
stone slates are a very important roofing material in both
Stamford and its environs and in Rutland.

226

Roofs typical of the local vernacular generally have a pitch
of at least 40 degrees and new development is expected
to do so too in order to reinforce local identity and make
a positive contribution to local distinctiveness and
character.

Figure 42: Designing in context over time: gambrel roofs from different
eras, Folkingham.

Figure 43: Varied roofscape in Uppingham.

Chimneys on both traditional and contemporary schemes
can help to create locally recognisable and/or inspiring
roofscapes. Traditionally-inspired developments should
include chimneys that are authentic in their position on
the roof, their scale, construction and detail.

•

54

How has the roof been designed in response to
the context?

Figure 44: Cecil Square, Stamford. Variations on a pitched roof theme offering variety and unity at the same time.

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6E: Residential amenity

Residential amenity is determined by factors such as space,
privacy, outlook, outdoor space and natural light. New
development should promote amenity by following these
principles.

450

Where practical, windows should not look onto private
areas of other homes, including habitable rooms (living
rooms, dining rooms, bedrooms), kitchens and patio areas
in gardens immediately adjoining the building.

227

The ’45 degree rule’ states that there is normally the
potential to achieve adequate levels of daylight and outlook
when no part of a building cuts through a line radiating at 45
degrees from the centre of a window that lights a habitable
room. Application will generally apply to front and rear
single storey extensions which project 4m or more in depth
and to two storey extensions which project 3m or more in
depth.
The ’25 degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential
to achieve adequate levels of daylight and outlook when no
facing building breaks a 25 degree angle from the horizontal
from a point 2 metres above the floor level. This rule takes
account of changes in level between buildings.

Centre of lowest window at
ground floor level
Existing building

ne
nt li
sme
s
e
Ass
250
Reference line

Proposed new building

Figure 46: 25 degree thumb rule. Section in plane perpendicular
to the main face of the building.

450
Rear elevation

ent

m
ess
Ass
250

New build

Figure 45: The 45% rule ensures that adequate
levels of daylight can be maintained.

Two- storey buildings, back to back
distances: 21 m window to window

2m

yl
r da

fo
line

n

atio

lcul

ca
ight

Reference line

Existing building

Figure 47: 25 degree thumb rule. On sloping sites over shading
is more of a problem and greater spacing is required.

Where habitable rooms face the rear of a home, the back to
back privacy distances shown here should normally apply.
The ‘rules’ here are rules of thumb, likely to apply in many
places, depending on site context. Separation distances
may be lower where an element of public realm or highways
separates the buildings.
•

55

Three- storey buildings, back to back distances: 28 m window to window

From a habitable room/ principal
window to a blank two-storey elevation,
back to back distances: 14 m

Have the rules to ensure satisfactory levels
of privacy and natural light, and good outlook,
been applied?
Figure 48: Back to back privacy distances.

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6F: Refuse management

Green roof

Bin storage design, minimising the visual
impact of bins and recycling containers

With modern requirements for waste separation and
recycling, the number of household bins that need to
be stored has increased. It is important that these are
accommodated in ways that allow convenient access,
and without increasing clutter or harming the appearance
of buildings - bins, crates and caddies should be stored
out of site.
Homes should be designed with consideration for how bins
are taken out. Long bin drags from the rear of terraced
properties should be avoided and there should be space to
carry bins past parked cars,

228

In new terraced housing, opportunities for discrete storage
are limited. Consider providing integral storage, such as
within a recessed porch or in secure alleys between houses.

Figure 49: Wheelie bin storage solutions.

Underground bin storage may be possible in higher density
schemes. Be aware that the requirements for bin storage
may change. Flexibility should be designed in.

•

56

Is bin storage adequate,
convenient and unobtrusive?

Figure 50: Integrated bin
storage built into the front
porch of new homes. This is
an optimal solution.

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6G: Extensions

This section applies to those situations where planning
permission is required. Outside certain areas, such as
Conservation Areas, household extensions up to a defined
set of dimensions are Permitted Development, meaning
planning permission is not required, but design is still a
consideration. In some areas, further restrictions to what
changes can be made are set out in Article 4 Directions.
See here for details on what is covered by
Permitted Development Rights.

229

This section briefly summarises the Rutland
County Council Extensions to Dwellings
Supplementary Planning Document, the
content of which is also relevant for South
Kesteven.

Appearance of extensions – As with all development, the
extension will be expected to respect its wider surroundings
in terms of its scale, position, design and building materials.
Innovative solutions are possible but must still complement
the original dwelling and be of high quality.
Scale/size - The extension is expected to respect the
scale and character of the existing dwelling. It should also
mitigate any potentially detrimental effects on neighbouring
properties. In relation to guidance on page 5 of the Rutland
Extensions SPD, in some circumstances it may be possible
to have an extension that respects the integrity and
character of the original dwelling, but is not subordinate –
such as by being equal to the original in some respects like
height and building line.

57

Detail issues to address - Architectural features are
expected to mirror the character of the existing building
to help create a unified overall appearance:
•

Extensions need to respond to the climate
emergency (see section 5B above);

•

Details such as lintels, corbels, eaves and sills are
expected to reflect the method of construction and
where possible match the original house;

Existing condition of a property
with no extension

Good example of side extension

•

Chimneys are expected to be retained, where
possible, because they often contribute to an
interesting and traditional roof form;

•

New windows and doors are expected to match the
style, size and proportions of those on the original
building;

•

External materials are expected to reinforce local
distinctiveness in terms of type, colour and method
of construction whilst matching or complementing
the existing dwelling;

•

Where brick or stone is used, they should match
existing sizes, coursing, finish and method of
pointing;

Good example of front extension

•

Pitched roofs are expected to be of materials to
match the existing roof;

Figure 51: Good examples of approaches to existing building scale,
massing and building line.

•

Dormers are expected to be of modest size and
to match or complement the existing building their suitability will be assessed in relation to site
context; and

•

Window materials are ideally expected to be
consistent with the original house.

Good example of rear extension

•

How has the extension been designed in
response to the surrounding context, including
the dwelling that is being extended?

•

Will the impact on neighbouring properties
be acceptable?

•

Why have the architectural features and details
been selected?

AECOM

CHAPTER 6

Detailed design

6H: Scaling and massing of infill
development

Infill development should complement the street scene
into which it will be inserted and will become a part of for
generations to come. It does not need to mimic existing
styles but it’s scale, massing and layout should be in
keeping. These also should be considered in relation to
topography, views, vistas and landmarks.
The character of new streets, even if only serving a small
number of dwellings, is particularly important. New streets
and driveways should be in keeping with the positive
elements of the existing settlement’s character. For
example, standard highways solutions used in a rural village
may create a suburban character that is out of keeping with
local street character.

230

The design of parking will need careful consideration,
following the guidance in 5Q, whilst also ensuring that the
development can accommodate the parking needs of
residents and their visitors and not overflow on to existing
surrounding streets. Similarly, bin collection arrangements
and locations will need careful thought and be sensitive to
the existing settlement.
Development in rear gardens should not impact negatively
on the amenity of adjacent properties and should be
in keeping with the character of the area, including not
eroding the character of surrounding streets, landscape
features like existing trees and hedges or the urban form of
the settlement.

village, or in a smaller settlement in the rural area. The
optimum density will respond to surrounding densities
whilst making efficient use of land, meaning that new
development will usually be more likely to be higher
than neighbouring areas.
Scale, massing and layout also need to be considered
in relation to topography, views, vistas, landmarks
and should be sensitive to the setting of adjacent
properties. Building lines, landscape character (for
example trees and hedges) and boundary treatments
are also important components of local character that
infill development needs to be sensitive to.

58

How has the development been influenced the
surrounding context?

•

Is infill development of a scale that works with
existing buildings?

A potential site for infill.

The design of infill development needs particular
care and attention due to the often sensitive and
characterful nature of the locations within which
it is set. Infill development has the potential to
impact heavily on existing settlements and their
residents. Part 1 of this guide becomes important to
follow thoroughly, studying the local character and
context comprehensively, responding sensitively
to it and knitting new development into this context
convincingly.
Infill development should be within the main built up
part of the settlement and not extend the pattern of
development beyond the existing built form.
With regards to amenity and impact on neighbours,
section 6E can be used as a guide.

New building lines should be reasonably consistent along
a street with existing buildings. Some places in Rutland
and South Kesteven have linear or regular meandering
arrangements of buildings whist others have random and
irregular patterns.
The density of a scheme should reflect its context in
terms of whether it is at the centre or edge of a town or

•

New building lines should be
consistent with existing properties.
The infill should reflect the
surrounding context in terms of form,
materials and height/massing.
Figure 52: Context-driven contemporary design (Architect and image
credit: FCD Architecture)

Figure 53: Indicative diagrams highlighting a site before and after infill.
AECOM

231

Design for large scale
employment and
commercial

07

CHAPTER 7 Design for commercial development

7. Design for large scale employment and commercial
For large-scale, non-residential development such
as offices, industrial, retail, cinema multiplexes or
warehouses, understanding the context of the site and
attention to detail and build quality are just as important
as with residential applications, particularly because
they tend to be large structures or ‘big boxes’ and often
on greenfield sites. These developments, as opposed to
town centre commercial development, are the focus of
this chapter.

7A: Follow the process

As always, the Rutland and South Kesteven process
needs to demonstrate how design has evolved and how
it has been informed by the site’s context.

232

Context, including topography and visual impact,
will influence the siting, massing, form and height of
commercial development. Particularly for ‘big box’ uses,
the potential impact of the proposed buildings on the
landscape and townscape should be illustrated using scale
models or axonometric sketches.
The appearance of ‘big box’ buildings from various
viewpoints must be considered and should not be located
in visually prominent or intrusive positions such as high
points or within sensitive view corridors.

60

7B: Responding to the climate emergency

The South Kesteven Local Plan stipulates that commercial
development should achieve BREEAM ‘good’ standard as a
minimum. New development should incorporate sustainable
building design through measures to minimise the need for
energy and water consumption, encourage recycling, minimise
waste, and use sustainable construction methods.
As well as considering energy efficiency and building fabric
from the outset, new buildings offer the potential to include
solar panels as sources of renewable energy for heating and
electricity, and green roofs offer multiple benefits such as
absorption of rainwater, insulation, wildlife habitat, mitigating
the heat island effect and providing an aesthetically pleasing
landscape. Sustainable drainage systems should be
incorporated (see 5G above).
New industrial or commercial development should also
encourage travel by sustainable modes of transport – on foot,
by bike or by public transport. Whilst industrial sites have not
traditionally been very accessible by these modes, new sites
will need to respond to the climate emergency. A reduction in
car use can be achieved by:
•

Providing convenient, short, direct routes to the main
entrances;

•

Ensuring the development is directly served by adequate
public transport services;

•

Providing secure covered cycle stores near entrances
and adjacent to overlooking windows;

•

Providing changing and showering facilities for cyclists;

•

Providing on- and off-site cycleways to enable connection
to the area’s wider cycle network;

•

Providing green infrastructure – in particular the use of

appropriate tree species to improve local air quality;
•

Improving customer care in terms of delivery of goods
and services to assist non-car users;

•

Using commuter planning measures to reward car
sharing, car pools for employees, cycling, walking and
the use of public transport;

•

Providing electric vehicle recharging infrastructure
within car parks and for commercial vehicles (where
appropriate); and

•

Preparing staff travel plans.

•

Have all practical opportunities for responding
to the climate emergency been taken? How?

•

Is your development net zero carbon? If not,
why not?

•

How will people be able to choose practical
non-car alternatives for travel?

AECOM

CHAPTER 7 Design for commercial development

7C: Frontages

The siting and design of new buildings should maximise
surveillance along streets, car parks and pedestrian routes.
Buildings should be sited to allow windows and entrances
to overlook streets and other pedestrian routes within or
adjacent to the site. New industrial and commercial plots will
be expected to front buildings onto the public realm and to
enclose ‘private’ external spaces such as yards and car parks,
behind them.

•

Do the ‘active’ elements of the building or
development face out onto the public realm?

•

How have blank frontages been ‘activated’?

233

Particular care should be taken with ‘big box’ structures which
typically have limited active frontages. The use of windows,
materials (such as green walls) and architectural detailing can
be used to add interest to what might otherwise be large, blank
façades, and locate entrances, glass façades, cafeterias,
offices or signage along the street frontage. Any windows
should face the street and public areas.

Figure 54: Frontages - even ‘big boxes’ should have a public face to
present.

61

AECOM

CHAPTER 7 Design for commercial development

7D: Landscape screening

Landscaping can be a key element in the design of a scheme
and should go beyond simply being used for screening.
Landscape elements should be integrated from the outset,
particularly SuDS features.
Landscape setting

234

Good opportunities exist for creating commercial
developments with landscaping schemes that knit a
development into its particular landscape setting. Existing tree
belts and hedgerows can be important features around which
to structure the layout of new development. Their retention
can be essential in locations where industrial development
can be seen from distant public viewpoints and the existing
landscape setting needs to be protected or enhanced.
Retained features should be suitably protected during the
construction period.
Landscape screening and amenity
Planting can be used to help improve the relationship of the
building with the street, to soften the visual impact of the
building and also the parking and servicing areas which can
often be large areas of hard landscaping. Smaller buildings
can also be wrapped around larger buildings to help soften
their visual impact. Alternatively, buildings can be designed to
celebrate or sit comfortably in their setting.
Landscaped areas should also provide places for workers to
sit and enjoy, where possible, and to provide shade.
Trees and new woodland should be incorporated into
development early in the design process in larger sites,
ensuring adequate space around them can be achieved.

62

These include:
•

Street trees – avenues, single trees in build-outs and
trees within car parks;

•

Woodland belts – pockets of wooded green space; and

•

Feature trees (either new or existing) with large spaces
given space to mature (e.g. oak, chestnut, lime).

Wildlife value
The wildlife value of the site as developed should be
maximised by:
•

Achieving biodiversity net gain;

•

Preserving and enhancing existing wildlife habitats,
and providing new ones;

•

Including and protecting wildlife habitats which may
exist along the margins of the proposed development
site;

•

Assessing existing buildings for signs of wildlife
habitation;

•

Designing buildings with integral nesting or roost
sites;

•

Protecting root and water systems of retained
trees, hedges, shrubs and important grassland
from compaction and the impact of temporary or
permanent construction works;

•

Protecting existing wildlife networks including green
corridors;

•

Careful management of undeveloped land to avoid
damage during development; and

•

Planting native species in newly landscaped areas.

Figure 55: R+D facility (top right of image) is not screened but designed to
sit in the Wiltshire countryside.

•

How does the landscape strategy, and the
development as a whole, enhance setting,
mitigate visual impact and preserve and
enhance habitats?

AECOM

CHAPTER 7 Design for commercial development

7E: Parking and servicing

Locate landscaped parking and servicing areas to the rear
or side where possible to avoid these areas dominating the
street scene and/or the plot. Trees should be incorporated into
parking areas.
Within employment and commercial areas, areas of communal
parking are encouraged to meet the demand from users of
a number of buildings. Car parks should be designed with
pedestrians and cyclists in mind, with clear, direct and safe
routes separating them from vehicles and external lighting.
Charging points for electric cars should be provided.

235

Trees in parking areas will need high quality underground
provision for roots to grow in order for them to survive and
flourish.

•

Are parking and servicing located to be
unobtrusive?

Figure 56: Parking screened to the side, servicing to the rear.

63

AECOM

CHAPTER 7 Design for commercial development

7F: Architecture

New buildings should be of high quality, contemporary
design, appropriate for the use and context. The design of
any building, even the simplest industrial shed, should always
make some positive visual contribution to its environment.
Local materials can be used on larger or non-domestic
buildings – such as red non-domestic development brick,
render, timber or clay tiles.

Is design well considered and appropriate to
use and context?

•

Will the scheme be a good neighbour?

236

Contemporary and innovative architecture that subtly
references local character is encouraged. The visual impact of
colours and finishes of wall and roof cladding materials should
be considered in relation to the background and context of
the building. Their impact on the townscape or landscape
should also be assessed in long views and views from higher
ground. Generally, more subdued and non-reflective finishes
will reduce the overall impact of a building. Colour contrast
and highly reflective materials may be used to highlight key
features such as entrances, windows and structure. However,
where a landmark building is considered appropriate, the use
of contrasting materials and colours may be justified.
The impact of new buildings on neighbouring properties in
terms of their effect on sunlight and on daylight should be
minimised. The use of out-of-hours night time lighting should
be minimised, which also benefits wildlife such as bats. Where
lighting is required for security and/or community safety,
downward directed, vandal resistant, energy efficient light
units should be installed. Increased light pollution from car
park and security lighting may cause disturbance to the local
community. Lighting should not be placed next to wildlife
habitats or where the light columns would appear above a
prominent topographical ridge line.

64

•

Figure 57: The headquarters of furniture manufacturer Vitra, in Germany, demonstrate that striking architecture and strong landscape can sit
proudly in a sensitive environment. The building shown is a showroom.

AECOM

237

Annex: Policy and guidance documents
that back up the chapters

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 1: Broad locations for Development
Strategic Objective 11: Natural and cultural
environment

Strategic Objective 12: Built environment and local
townscape

2 Rutland’s and South
Kesteven’s special
character

To protect and enhance the built environment and open
spaces, historic heritage and local townscape associated
with the historic core of the market towns, listed buildings
and conservation areas.
Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and local
distinctiveness

238

One of the main
objectives of this design
guide is to encourage
new development which
responds to the setting
and unique character of
an area.

To ensure that design of new development is of the highest
quality to provide attractive and safe places to live, work
and visit and reflects the local character, identity and
distinctiveness of the towns and villages.

Designs should take
inspiration from local
vernacular architecture,
integrate into existing
settlements and
contribute to a sense of
place.

All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place, being
appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms of
scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials, and its
relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape features,
and shall not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual
intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise, light pollution or
other adverse impact on local character and amenities.

Designers are not
expected to simply
replicate these features,
but they do need to be
aware of and respond
to the context that the
features provide, and
demonstrate in planning
applications how they
have done so.
In this way, the SPD fulfils
the National Design Guide
recommendation of local
guidance setting out a
baseline analysis of local
character and identity.

Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that:

a)are sympathetic and make a positive contribution towards
the unique character of Rutland’s towns, villages and
countryside;
Policy CS21 - The natural environment

Policy CS22 - The historic and cultural environment
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP5 - Built development in the towns and villages
Policy SP6 - Housing in the countryside

The development itself, or cumulatively with other
development, should not adversely affect any nature
conservation sites, or the character and landscape of the
area, or cultural heritage.
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
Policy SP16 – Advertisements

a)Listed buildings and conservation areas - Display of
advertisements on listed buildings and in conservation
areas, whether illuminated or not, will not be acceptable
where they would detract from the appearance or character
of the building and/or street scene and/or would prejudice
public safety.
Policy SP20 - The historic environment

Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages

Policy SP23 - Landscape character in the countryside

66

Strategic objectives
Environmental Protection and Enhancement of
Environment
Objective 12

To protect and promote the enhancement, sensitive
use and management of the District’s natural, historic,
cultural assets, green infrastructure (including trees
and woodland) and the built environment through good
design and improved networks that respect important
local characteristics, ensuring new development is well
designed, promotes local distinctiveness, integrates
effectively with its setting and secures community safety.
EN1: Landscape Character

Development must be appropriate to the character and
significant natural, historic and cultural attributes and
features of the landscape within which it is situated,
and contribute to its conservation, enhancement or
restoration.

In assessing the impact of proposed development on the
Landscape, relevant Landscape Character Appraisals
should be considered, including those produced to inform
the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plans. Consideration
should also be given to the Capacity and Limits to Growth
Studies produced for Grantham and Stamford and the
Points of the Compass Assessments prepared for the
Larger Villages.
EN6: The Historic Environment

Development that is likely to cause harm to the
significance of a heritage asset or its setting will only
be granted permission where the public benefits of the
proposal outweigh the potential harm. Proposals which
would conserve or enhance the significance of the asset
shall be considered favourably. Substantial harm or total
loss will be resisted.

Proposals will be expected to take Conservation Area
Appraisals into account, where these have been adopted
by the Council.

C1
C2

124d;

I1

130c;

I2

130d

I3

A Memorable
Character

Making the Most of
What’s There

Chapter 2 – Streets in
context

Chapter 3 – the design
process

11.2.2
B3

Where development affecting archaeological sites is
acceptable in principle, the Council will seek to ensure
mitigation of impact through preservation of the remains
in situ as a preferred solution. When in situ preservation
is not practical, the developer will be required to make
adequate provision for excavation and recording before or
during development.
DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design

To ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the
District, all development proposals will be expected to:

a. Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should
reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact
on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape /
townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals
should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height
and material, given the context of the area.
SP4 – Development on the edge of settlements

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Making the Most of
What’s There

Chapter 3 – the design
process

Core Strategy DPD:

Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy

The spatial strategy is to provide for sustainable
development to help create safe and healthy communities
and meet the needs of the local economy through:

5A: Follow the process
We must be able to see
how a thorough site and
contextual analysis has
informed the proposed
design, leading to a
scheme that is more
characterful.

b) new development being of an appropriate scale and
design that reflects local character and is consistent
with maintaining and enhancing the environment and
contributes to local distinctiveness;

m) promoting high quality design that respects resource
efficiency, local distinctiveness and safeguards the special
historic and landscape character, cultural heritage and
environment of the towns and villages and rural areas;
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

C1

Policy CS21 - The natural environment

Policy CS22 - The historic and cultural environment

124d;

All developments, projects and activities will be expected
to protect and where possible enhance historic assets
and their settings, maintain local distinctiveness and the
character of identified features.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP5 - Built development in the towns and
villages

239

Sustainable development within the Planned Limits of
Development of Oakham, Uppingham and the villages will
be supported provided that:

a) it is appropriate in scale and design to its location and to
the size and character of the settlement;
b) it would not adversely affect the environment or local
amenity;
c) it would not individually or cumulatively with other
proposals, have a detrimental impact upon the form,
character, appearance and setting of the settlement or
neighbourhood and its surroundings;

C2

126;
Strategic objectives – 12
EN1

DE1

130c;

I1

130d;
132, 133,
157b;

B2

189
R3

d) it would not be detrimental to features and spaces which
contribute to the important character of the settlement
and the locality.
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
Policy SP20 - The historic environment
Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages
Policy SP23 - Landscape character in the countryside

67

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

2036 vision

Ch 2 Achieving
sustainable
development

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 1: Broad locations for Development
To identify broad locations for sustainable development
that will give access for all to services and facilities,
minimise the impact on climate change and need to travel
and promote the efficient use of land while protecting the
natural environment, landscape, the unique character and
identity of the towns, villages and countryside.
Strategic Objective 9: Sustainable transport

To develop integrated and sustainable forms of transport
including better public transport, walking and cycling
facilities.
Strategic Objective 14: Resources, waste and climate
change

To reduce the impact of people and development on the
environment by sustainable design and construction,
reducing pollution, encouraging the prudent uses of
resources, including minerals, waste management and
recycling, increased use of renewable energy and provision
of green infrastructure and addressing the implications of
flood risk and climate change.
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles
New development in Rutland will be expected to:

a)minimise the impact on climate change and include
measures to take account of future changes in the climate;
(see Policy CS19 and 20)

240

Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy

5B: Responding to the
climate emergency

Policy CS4 - The location of development

Policy CS18– Sustainable transport and accessibility

b)supporting development proposals that include a range of
appropriate mitigating transport measures aimed improved
transport choice and encourage travel to work and school
safely by public transport, cycling and walking, including
travel plans;
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

Policy CS20 - Energy efficiency and low carbon energy
generation

Strategic objectives – 8, 14, 15
SD1
EN3
EN4

EN5
DE1
SB1

OS1

SD1: The Principles of Sustainable Development in
South Kesteven

Development proposals in South Kesteven will be expected
to minimise the impact on climate change and contribute
towards creating a strong, stable and more diverse
economy.
Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively minimise:

a. the effects of climate change and include measures to
take account of future changes in the climate;

Renewable, low carbon and de-centralised energy will be
encouraged in all development. The design, layout, and
orientation of buildings should aim to minimise energy
consumption and promote energy efficiency and use of
alternative energy sources.

b. the need to travel, and wherever possible be located
where services and facilities can be accessed more easily
through walking, cycling or public transport;

Policy CS23- Green infrastructure, open space, sport
and recreation

d. the production of waste both during construction and
occupation.

Policy CS21 - The natural environment

a)the continued development of a network of green spaces,
paths and cycleways in and around the towns and villages;

Natural Connections

EN2

c. the use of resources, and meet high environmental
standards in terms of design and construction with
particular regard to energy and water efficiency; and

Walking, Cycling and
Public Transport

Ch 8 Promoting healthy
and safe communities

Facilities and Services
Making the Most of
What’s There

Ch 9 Promoting
sustainable transport
98
130a; 130f;
135;

152; 154; 156; 157; 158;
159; 169

186

Para 35. Cross-cutting
theme covering all of
the 10 characteristics

Easy to Find Your Way
Around
Healthy Streets
Cycle and Car Parking
Green and Blue
Infrastructure
Back of Pavement,
Front of Home

Most of document
encourages walking,
cycling and public
transport
2.3.6
4.4
5.7.2
5.8.1

Ch 6 – street users
needs
8.3.5
11.3
11.4.8
11.4.11

Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable
development

When considering development proposals the Council will
take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in
favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF.
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

Policy SP18 - Wind turbines and low carbon energy
developments
Policy SP19 – Biodiversity and geodiversity
conservation

Policy SP23 - Landscape character in the countryside

68

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

241
69

5C: Encouraging healthy
lifestyles

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)
Core Strategy DPD:
Strategic Objective 1: Broad locations for
Development
Strategic Objective 6: A stronger and safer community
To develop a stronger and safer community by designing
out opportunities for crime and implementing measures
to improve road safety to ensure that people can live, work
and relax where they feel safe and enjoy a better quality
of life.
Strategic Objective 9: Sustainable transport
To develop integrated and sustainable forms of transport
including better public transport, walking and cycling
facilities.
Strategic Objective 10: Transport and infrastructure
Strategic Objective 11: Natural and cultural
environment
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles
New development in Rutland will be expected to:
b)be located where it minimises the need to travel and
wherever possible where services and facilities can be
accessed safely on foot, by bicycle or public transport;
Policy CS2 – The Spatial Strategy
Sustaining Our Environment
l) protecting and enhancing open space, recreation, sport
and green infrastructure networks in order to promote
healthy communities and enhance the rural setting of the
towns and villages;
Policy CS7 – Delivering socially inclusive communities
Policy CS18– Sustainable transport and accessibility
The Council will work with partners to improve
accessibility and develop the transport network within and
beyond Rutland and accommodate the impacts of new
development by focusing on: b) supporting development
proposals that include a range of appropriate mitigating
transport measures aimed improved transport choice
and encourage travel to work and school safely by public
transport, cycling and walking, including travel plans;
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
Policy CS21 - The natural environment
Policy CS22 - The historic and cultural environment
Policy CS23- Green infrastructure, open space, sport
and recreation
The existing green infrastructure network will be
safeguarded, improved and enhanced by further provision
to ensure accessible multi-functional green spaces by
linking existing areas of open space. This will be achieved
by:
a) the continued development of a network of green
spaces, paths and cycleways in and around the towns and
villages;
b) requiring new development to make provision for high
quality and multifunctional open spaces of an appropriate
size and will also provide links to the existing green
infrastructure network; c) resisting development resulting
in the loss of green infrastructure or harm to its use or
enjoyment by the public. Proposals involving the loss of
green infrastructure will not be supported unless there
is no longer a need for the existing infrastructure or an
alternative is provided to meet the local needs that is both
accessible and of equal or greater quality and benefit to
the community;
d) resisting the loss of sport and recreation facilities
where they are deficient and supporting the provision of
additional new facilities in an equally accessible location
as part of the development, particularly where this will
provide a range of facilities of equal or better quality on
a single site or provide facilities that may be used for a
variety of purposes.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable
development
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
Policy SP19 – Biodiversity and geodiversity
conservation
Policy SP22 - Provision of new open space

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

8
2036 vision

Strategic objectives 5,8,11,12,13,15

SD1 - EN2 - EN3 - EN4 - DE1 - SB1 - OS1
Strategic objectives

Social Housing, Health, Social and Community Needs
Objective 11

To support new and existing community infrastructure. To
ensure that relevant community and other infrastructure
needs such as facilities for leisure, new or enhanced open
space provision, green infrastructure, health, education,
affordable housing, transport, water infrastructure and the
arts as arising from new development is delivered through
on and off site contributions. To contribute to improving
the health and well-being of residents.
Economic - Enhancing Prosperity
Objective 8

To retain and improve accessibility for all to employment,
services, community, leisure and cultural activities
through:
Integrating development and transport provision,
ensuring new development is located where it is most
accessible by a range of modes of transport;

Ensuring choice and encouraging the use of public
transport, walking and cycling, for as many journeys as
possible.
SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively minimise:

b. the need to travel, and wherever possible be located
where services and facilities can be accessed more easily
through walking, cycling or public transport;
Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively encourage, as appropriate:

i. strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing a
supply of housing which meets the needs of present and
future generations.
DE1

Residential development on sites of 400 or more
dwellings must contribute towards innovative design,
to encourage sustainable living and working across the
District. This should be delivered through exemplary
design, construction and community facilities within all
strategic developments.

20
92
92b
93
98
99
100
104c and e;
105
106
110
112
113
119
124

130
131
174
179
180

Most of document
encourages walking,
cycling and public
transport

Context

Built Form

1.6
2.2.5

Movement

2.3.6

Nature

Public Spaces

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Resources

Lifespan

4.2
All sections of this
guidance are relevant.

4.4

5.7

5.12
6.1-6.5
Ch 7
8.2
8.3.42 – 47
11.4.11

181
182
185
186

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Site
Allocations and Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 1: Broad locations for Development

Strategic Objective 11: Natural and cultural environment. To safeguard and
enhance the natural resources, landscape and countryside, cultural heritage and the
diversity of wildlife and habitats, including green infrastructure and special protection
for Rutland Water to improve our quality of life and make a full contribution to global
sustainability.
Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and local distinctiveness
Strategic Objective 14: Resources, waste and climate change
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design. All new development will be expected to
contribute positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place, being appropriate
and sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, height, density, layout, appearance,
materials, and its relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape features, and shall
not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shading,
noise, light pollution or other adverse impact on local character and amenities.

Policy CS21 - The natural environment. All developments, projects and activities
will be expected to: a) Provide an appropriate level of protection to legally protected
sites and species; b) Maintain and where appropriate enhance conditions for
priority habitats and species identified in the Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland
Biodiversity Action Plan; c) Maintain and where appropriate enhance recognised
geodiversity assets; d) Maintain and where appropriate enhance other sites, features,
species or networks of ecological interest and provide for appropriate management
of these; e) Maximise opportunities for the restoration, enhancement and connection
of ecological or geological assets, particularly in line with the Leicestershire,
Leicester and Rutland Biodiversity Action Plan; f) Mitigate against any necessary
impacts through appropriate habitat creation, restoration or enhancement on
site or elsewhere; g) Respect and where appropriate enhance the character of the
landscape identified in the Rutland Landscape Character assessment; h) Maintain
and where appropriate enhance green infrastructure.
Policy CS22 - The historic and cultural environment. Development should respect
the historic landscape character and contribute to its conservation, enhancement or
restoration, or the creation of appropriate new features.

242

Policy CS23- Green infrastructure, open space, sport and recreation. The
existing green infrastructure network will be safeguarded, improved and enhanced
by further provision to ensure accessible multi-functional green spaces by linking
existing areas of open space.

5D: A strong landscape
structure

Policy CS24 - Rutland Water. Development in the defined Rutland Water Area will
be carefully designed and located to ensure that it respects the nature conservation
features of this internationally important site and does not have an adverse impact
on the landscape and wildlife interests and the general tranquil and undisturbed
environment of Rutland Water.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP6 - Housing in the countryside. The development itself, or cumulatively
with other development, should not adversely affect any nature conservation sites, or
the character and landscape of the area, or cultural heritage.
Policy SP13 - Agricultural, horticultural, equestrian and forestry development
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

Policy SP18 - Wind turbines and low carbon energy developments

Policy SP19 – Biodiversity and geodiversity conservation. Development
proposals will normally be acceptable where the primary objective is to conserve
or enhance biodiversity or geodiversity. Development that would result in the loss
of trees and hedgerows of biodiversity importance will not be acceptable unless
the trees or hedgerows are dead, dying, diseased or dangerous or in exceptional
circumstances due to the practicalities of development - see also Policy SP15
(Design and amenity).
Policy SP20 - The historic environment

Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages. Development will only be
acceptable where it does not have an adverse impact on an Important Open Space
and/or Important Frontage as shown on the Policies Map having regards to:

a) its intrinsic environmental value by virtue of its landform, vegetation or tree cover,
or the presence of any special features such as streams, ponds, important wildlife
habitats or walls;

2036 vision

Strategic objectives 11, 12, 13, 15
SD1
DE1

Development proposals should seek to:

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site
features, such as trees and hedgerows and
incorporate, where possible, nature conservation
and biodiversity enhancement into the
development;
e. Provide well designed hard and soft
landscaping; and

f. Effectively incorporate on-site infrastructure,
such as flood mitigation systems or green
infrastructure, as appropriate.
EN3: Green Infrastructure

The Council will maintain and improve the
green infrastructure network in the District
by enhancing, creating and managing green
space within and around settlements that are
well connected to each other and the wider
countryside.

Development proposals should ensure that
existing and new green infrastructure is
considered and integrated into the scheme
design, taking opportunities to enrich biodiversity
habitats, enable greater connectivity and provide
sustainable access for all.
OS1 Open Space

New open space provision should form an integral
part of the development layout. It should be easily
accessible by means of pedestrian connections
through the development and should be designed
to ensure that it is clearly visible to the public.

92c
98
100

C1

104 c e

I1

106 d
110
112

M1

120 a

M2

130
131

N1

174

N2

175

N3

Natural Connections

Making the Most of
What’s There

Easy to Find Your Way
Around

Green and Blue
Infrastructure

5.3

3.6

4.2

Healthy Streets

179
180

b) its contribution to enhancing the attractiveness of the town or village setting when
viewed from surrounding land, particularly the approaches to the built up area;
c) the views and/or vistas out of and within the town or village that contribute to the
character and attractiveness of the settlement;

d) its peripheral or transitional open character in contributing to preserving the form
and character of the settlement;
e) its contribution, possibly in conjunction with other areas, to creating the overall
character and attractiveness of the settlement;
f) its contribution to the form and character of the settlement in terms of the
relationship of buildings and structures one to another, to other open spaces or
natural features;
g) its contribution to the setting of a building or group of buildings or important
natural features.
Policy SP23 - Landscape character in the countryside
Policy SP26 - Rutland Water Recreation Areas

70

Policy SP27 - Eyebrook Reservoir Area

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 11: Natural and cultural
environment
Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

Policy CS21 - The natural environment

All developments, projects and activities will be expected
to: a) Provide an appropriate level of protection to legally
protected sites and species; b) Maintain and where
appropriate enhance conditions for priority habitats
and species identified in the Leicestershire, Leicester
and Rutland Biodiversity Action Plan; c) Maintain and
where appropriate enhance recognised geodiversity
assets; d) Maintain and where appropriate enhance
other sites, features, species or networks of ecological
interest and provide for appropriate management of
these; e) Maximise opportunities for the restoration,
enhancement and connection of ecological or geological
assets, particularly in line with the Leicestershire,
Leicester and Rutland Biodiversity Action Plan; f) Mitigate
against any necessary impacts through appropriate
habitat creation, restoration or enhancement on site or
elsewhere; g) Respect and where appropriate enhance
the character of the landscape identified in the Rutland
Landscape Character assessment; h) Maintain and where
appropriate enhance green infrastructure.
Policy CS23- Green infrastructure, open space, sport
and recreation

243

5E: Continuous green
corridors and circuits

Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

Policy SP19 – Biodiversity and geodiversity
conservation

Development that would result in the loss of trees
and hedgerows of biodiversity importance will not
be acceptable unless the trees or hedgerows are
dead, dying, diseased or dangerous or in exceptional
circumstances due to the practicalities of development
Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages

Development will only be acceptable where it does
not have an adverse impact having regards to: a) its
intrinsic environmental value by virtue of its landform,
vegetation or tree cover, or the presence of any special
features such as streams, ponds, important wildlife
habitats or walls; b) its contribution to enhancing the
attractiveness of the town or village setting when viewed
from surrounding land, particularly the approaches
to the built up area; c) the views and/or vistas out of
and within the town or village that contribute to the
character and attractiveness of the settlement; d) its
peripheral or transitional open character in contributing
to preserving the form and character of the settlement; e)
its contribution, possibly in conjunction with other areas,
to creating the overall character and attractiveness of the
settlement; f) its contribution to the form and character
of the settlement in terms of the relationship of buildings
and structures one to another, to other open spaces
or natural features; g) its contribution to the setting of
a building or group of buildings or important natural
features.

92c
98
2036 vision

100

C1

104 c e

I1

SD1

106 d

Strategic objectives 11, 12, 13, 15

EN3: Green Infrastructure

Development proposals should ensure that existing and new
green infrastructure is considered and integrated into the
scheme design, taking opportunities to enrich biodiversity
habitats, enable greater connectivity and provide
sustainable access for all.

110
112

M1

120 a

M2

130
131

N1

174

N2

175

N3

Natural Connections

Making the Most of
What’s There

Easy to Find Your Way
Around

Green and Blue
Infrastructure

3.6

4.2

6.2
6.3.1

Healthy Streets

179
180

Policy SP23 - Landscape character in the countryside

71

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

I1

Natural Connections

5.4.3 and .4

I2

Making the Most of
What’s There

5.12

Strategic Objectives
Objective 13

Core Strategy DPD:

Objective 15

Strategic Objective 11: Natural and cultural
environment

To minimise pollution which affects health and wellbeing.

Policy CS21 - The natural environment

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively enhance the District’s:

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

All developments, projects and activities will be
expected to:

c)Maintain and where appropriate enhance conditions
for priority habitats and species identified in the
Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Biodiversity Action
Plan;
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
i) Landscaping

244

5F: Trees in the public
realm

To plan for and reduce the impacts of climate change
by ensuring… that opportunities to incorporate green
infrastructure (including trees and woodland) and
adaptation for wildlife as a response to increases in flood
risk are properly investigated.

The development will only be acceptable if it provides
for adequate landscaping, which preserves visual
amenity and is designed as an integral part of the layout.
Landscaping will be expected to make use of native
and local species of plants which are resilient to climate
change. The use of invasive and non-native plants will
be discouraged. For major development an acceptable
integrated structural landscaping scheme will need to
be submitted.
j) Trees and hedgerows

Development that would result in the loss of trees and
hedgerows will only be acceptable where it would not
detract from visual amenity in the area.
Policy SP19 – Biodiversity and geodiversity
conservation

Development that would result in the loss of trees
and hedgerows of biodiversity importance will not
be acceptable unless the trees or hedgerows are
dead, dying, diseased or dangerous or in exceptional
circumstances due to the practicalities of development

SD1

j. character;

k. natural environment.

SP4: Development on the Edge of Settlements

Proposals for development on the edge of a settlement,
as defined in Policy SP2, which are in accordance all other
relevant Local Plan policies, will be supported provided that
the essential criteria a – f below are met. The proposal must:

b. be well designed and appropriate in size / scale, layout and
character to the setting and area;
d. not extend obtrusively into the open countryside and be
appropriate to the landscape, environmental and heritage
characteristics of the area.
DE1

Development proposals should seek to:

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site features, such
as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, where possible,
nature conservation and biodiversity enhancement into the
development;
EN1

EN2

EN3: Green Infrastructure

The Council will maintain and improve the green
infrastructure network in the District by enhancing, creating
and managing green space within and around settlements
that are well connected to each other and the wider
countryside.

C1
92c

130

I3

131
152

M2

150

N1
N3

174
180

P1

186

H1
R3

3.6.21

A Memorable
Character
Well Defined Streets
and Spaces
Easy to Find your Way
Around
Healthy Streets
Green and Blue
Infrastructure

7.2.2
7.8.6
8.3.47
10.3.19
11.3
11.5.4
11.8.6 adopt street
trees
Figures 5.9, 5.12, 7.15,
11.3, 11.4,

Development proposals should ensure that existing and
new green infrastructure is considered and integrated
into the scheme design, taking opportunities to enrich
biodiversity habitats, enable greater connectivity and
provide sustainable access for all. Proposals which may
result in recreational and visitor pressure on designated
biodiversity sites will be particularly expected to provide
such green infrastructure.
EN4

OS1

72

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

2036 vision

Strategic Objectives
Objective 13

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 14: Resources, waste and
climate change

To reduce the impact of people and development on the
environment by sustainable design and construction,
reducing pollution, encouraging the prudent uses of
resources, including minerals, waste management
and recycling, increased use of renewable energy and
provision of green infrastructure and addressing the
implications of flood risk and climate change.
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles

g) avoid development of land at risk of flooding or where
it would exacerbate the risk of flooding elsewhere

245

5G: Sustainable
drainage systems

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that:

d)minimise water use and the risk of flooding to and from
the development including the use of Sustainable Urban
Drainage Systems wherever possible;
Policy CS21 - The natural environment
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
Minerals Core Strategy DPD:

MDC Policy 7 – Water Resources

Minerals developments will only be permitted if they
are unlikely to have an unacceptable impact on surface
or ground waters. Where appropriate, development
proposals will also be required to include provisions for
the efficient use of water resources on site and the use
of Sustainable Drainage Systems, particularly within the
eastern part of Rutland.

To plan for and reduce the impacts of climate change
by ensuring that new development is not exposed
unnecessarily to the risk of flooding nor increases the
risk of flooding elsewhere and that opportunities to
incorporate green infrastructure (including trees and
woodland) and adaptation for wildlife as a response to
increases in flood risk are properly investigated.
Objective 15

C1

SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively avoid:

e. developing land at risk of flooding or where development
would exacerbate the risk of flooding elsewhere;
f. the pollution of air, land, water, noise and light.

EN2: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity
EN3: Green Infrastructure
EN4: Pollution Control

Development that would lead to deterioration or may
compromise the ability of a water body or underlying
groundwater to meet good status standards in the Anglian
River Basin Management Plan (required by the Water
Framework Directive) will not be permitted.
EN5: Water Environment and Flood Risk Management

Surface water should be managed effectively on-site
through the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs)
unless it is demonstrated to be technically unfeasible.
All planning applications should be accompanied by a
statement of how surface water is to be managed and
in particular where it is to be discharged. Surface water
connections to the public sewage network should
only be made in exceptional circumstances. On-site
attenuation and infiltration will be required as part of any
new development wherever possible. Opportunities
must be sought to achieve multiple benefits, for example
through green infrastructure provision and biodiversity
enhancements in addition to their drainage function. The
long-term maintenance of structures such as swales
and balancing ponds must be agreed in principle prior to
permission being granted.

I1
131
153
154

167 c

169

I2
I3

2.3.10
Making the Most of
What’s There

11.4.11 - 14

N1
N2
N3

Green and Blue
Infrastructure

Figure: 2.4, 11.5

P1
P2
P3

R3

Development proposals should seek to:

f. Effectively incorporate on-site infrastructure, such
as flood mitigation systems or green infrastructure, as
appropriate.

73

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 6: A stronger and safer community
To develop a stronger and safer community by designing
out opportunities for crime and implementing measures
to improve road safety to ensure that people can live, work
and relax where they feel safe and enjoy a better quality
of life.

Strategic objectives

New development in Rutland will be expected to:

To facilitate and sustain a network of sustainable
communities which offer a sense of place.

Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles

f)be located where it minimises the need to travel and
wherever possible where services and facilities can be
accessed safely on foot, by bicycle or public transport;
Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy

Policy CS18– Sustainable transport and accessibility
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

Policy CS21 - The natural environment
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

5H: Street hierarchy

246

With particular reference
to street trees

Policy SP5 - Built development in the towns and
villages. Sustainable development within the Planned
Limits of Development of Oakham, Uppingham and the
villages will be supported provided that: a) it is appropriate
in scale and design to its location and to the size and
character of the settlement; b) it would not adversely
affect the environment or local amenity; c) it would not
individually or cumulatively with other proposals, have a
detrimental impact upon the form, character, appearance
and setting of the settlement or neighbourhood and its
surroundings; d) it would not be detrimental to features and
spaces which contribute to the important character of the
settlement and the locality
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity. b)The development
must complement the character of the local area and
reinforce the distinctiveness of the wider setting. In
particular, development should respond to surrounding
buildings and the distinctive features or qualities that
contribute to the landscape and streetscape quality of
the local area. Design should also promote permeability
and accessibility by making places connect with each
other and ensure ease of movement between homes,
jobs and services; c) The development should protect
the amenity of the wider environment, neighbouring uses
and occupiers of the proposed development in terms
of overlooking, loss of privacy, loss of light, pollution
(including contaminated land, light pollution or emissions),
odour, noise and other forms of disturbance; d)The
density, scale, form, massing and height of a development
must be appropriate to the local context of the site and to
the surrounding landscape and/or streetscape character.

74

Objective 5

Objective 13
SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively enhance the District’s:

C1

j. character.

C2

DE1

a. Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should
reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact
on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape /
townscape character of the surrounding area.

I1
I2

Development proposals should seek to:

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site features, such
as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, where possible,
nature conservation and biodiversity enhancement into the
development;
e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping; and

f. Effectively incorporate on-site infrastructure, such as flood
mitigation systems or green infrastructure, as appropriate.
All major development (as defined in the Glossary) must
demonstrate compliance with:

h. Manual for Streets guidance and relevant Lincolnshire
County Council guidance;

130
131

I3

B1
B2

Well Defined Streets
and Spaces

Easy to Find your Way
Around

Healthy Streets

Green and Blue
Infrastructure

3.6.20 - 23

4.7

7.2.4 and.5

7.2.8 - .22

M2

j. For new residential proposals, development should perform
positively against Building for Life 12.
EN2: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity
EN3: Green Infrastructure

Development proposals should ensure that existing and new
green infrastructure is considered and integrated into the
scheme design, taking opportunities to enrich biodiversity
habitats, enable greater connectivity and provide
sustainable access for all.
EN4 Pollution control

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Natural Connections

2.2.5

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 1: Broad locations for
Development

Strategic Objective 5: Healthy and socially inclusive
communities

Strategic Objective 9: Sustainable transport
To develop integrated and sustainable forms of transport
including better public transport, walking and cycling
facilities.
Strategic Objective 10: Transport and infrastructure
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles
b)be located where it minimises the need to travel and
wherever possible where services and facilities can be
accessed safely on foot, by bicycle or public transport;
Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy
Policy CS4 - The location of development

Policy CS7 – Delivering socially inclusive
communities
Policy CS18– Sustainable transport and accessibility

247
5I: Connected layouts

The Council will work with partners to improve
accessibility and develop the transport network within
and beyond Rutland and accommodate the impacts of
new development by focusing on: a) supporting new
development in the towns and local service centres
which are accessible by range of sustainable forms of
transport and minimise the distance people need to
travel to shops, services and employment opportunities;
b) supporting development proposals that include a
range of appropriate mitigating transport measures
aimed improved transport choice and encourage travel
to work and school safely by public transport, cycling and
walking, including travel plans;
c) providing safe and well-designed transport
infrastructure;
d) improving bus routes, services and passenger
facilities around the key transport hubs of Oakham
and Uppingham and linkages to the larger service
villages and nearby cities and towns, such as Leicester,
Peterborough, Corby and Stamford;
e) improving passenger rail services and facilities
to Oakham and other parts of the region and bus,
pedestrian and cycle links to the rail station;
f) supporting opportunities for sustainable freight
movement by rail where possible;
g) Integration between the different modes particularly
bus and rail services through provision of a sustainable
transport interchange in Oakham;

1.1.5

Strategic Objectives
Objective 8

To retain and improve accessibility for all to employment,
services, community, leisure and cultural activities through:

• Integrating development and transport provision, ensuring
new development is located where it is most accessible by a
range of modes of transport;
• Ensuring choice and encouraging the use of public
transport, walking and cycling, for as many journeys as
possible
Objective 15

To minimise pollution which affects health and wellbeing.
SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively minimise:

a. the effects of climate change and include measures to
take account of future changes in the climate;

b. the need to travel, and wherever possible be located
where services and facilities can be accessed more easily
through walking, cycling or public transport;

3.6.27
92

B3

100

M1

104

M2

106

N1

130

R3

Facilities and Services

Walking, Cycling and
Public Transport

Easy to Find your Way
Around

4.2
4.5.5
4.5.7
5.8
6.3.7
6.5.5
6.8.2
7.10.1
11.5.8 and .9

h) providing adequate levels of car parking in line with
Council’s published car parking standards;
i) co-ordination and joint working between the education,
public, business, voluntary and community sectors to
achieve affordable and sustainable transport, wherever
possible; and
j) the delivery of highways and transport improvements
as guided by the Local Transport Plan through joint
working with neighbouring authorities and transport
providers, where necessary.
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

b) Relationship to surroundings and to other development
The development must complement the character
of the local area and reinforce the distinctiveness of
the wider setting. In particular, development should
respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive
features or qualities that contribute to the landscape and
streetscape quality of the local area. Design should also
promote permeability and accessibility by making places
connect with each other and ensure ease of movement
between homes, jobs and services.

75

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

5J: Addressing the
street (perimeter
blocks)

248
5K: Strong front
boundary treatments

76

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)
Core Strategy DPD:
Strategic Objective 6: A stronger and safer community
To develop a stronger and safer community by designing
out opportunities for crime and implementing measures
to improve road safety to ensure that people can live, work
and relax where they feel safe and enjoy a better quality
of life.
5.2 Larger housing developments will be assessed against
“Building for Life” criteria which is a national standard for
well designed homes and neighbourhoods in terms the
environment and community, character, streets, parking
and pedestrianisation and design and construction.
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms
of scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials,
and its relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape
features, and shall not cause unacceptable effects by
reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise, light
pollution or other adverse impact on local character and
amenities.
All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that: a) are sympathetic and make
a positive contribution towards the unique character of
Rutland’s towns, villages and countryside; b) reduce the
opportunity for crime and the fear of crime and support
inclusive communities, particularly in terms of access and
functionality;
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
Proposals will be assessed to ensure they effectively
address the following matters:
g)Crime prevention. The design and layout of development
should be safe and secure, with natural surveillance.
Measures to reduce the risk of crime and anti-social
behaviour must however not be at the expense of overall
design quality
Core Strategy DPD:
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms
of scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials,
and its relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape
features, and shall not cause unacceptable effects by
reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise,
light pollution or other adverse impact on local character
and amenities.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
b) Relationship to surroundings and to other
development. The development must complement
the character of the local area and reinforce the
distinctiveness of the wider setting. In particular,
development should respond to surrounding buildings
and the distinctive features or qualities that contribute
to the landscape and streetscape quality of the local
area. Design should also promote permeability and
accessibility by making places connect with each
other and ensure ease of movement between homes,
jobs and services; d) Density, scale, form and massing.
The density, scale, form, massing and height of a
development must be appropriate to the local context
of the site and to the surrounding landscape and/or
streetscape character; i) Landscaping
The development will only be acceptable if it provides for
adequate landscaping, which preserves visual amenity
and is designed as an integral part of the layout. Where
development would abut or be within open countryside
and be exposed to view, landscaping will be required to
help integrate it into the surroundings. Landscaping will
be expected to make use of native and local species of
plants which are resilient to climate change. The use of
invasive and non-native plants will be discouraged. For
major development an acceptable integrated structural
landscaping scheme will need to be submitted.
Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

4.5

2036 vision

…The District will be a safe place to live with strong
communities.

Well Defined Streets
and Spaces

This will be achieved by:

• Ensuring that development is sustainable in terms of
location, use and form;

4.6

B2
92

Strategic objectives 5 and 8.
DE1

Manual for Streets
(2007)

130

P1
P2
H2

Easy to Find your Way
Around

Healthy Streets

To ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the
District, all development proposals will be expected to:

5.5.1

5.6

Fig 4.10, 5.7

b. …have regard to features that minimise crime and the
fear of crime;

Strategic objectives
Objective 5

To facilitate and sustain a network of sustainable
communities which offer a sense of place.
SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively enhance the District’s:

C1

j. character.

C2

DE1

a. Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should
reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact
on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape /
townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals
should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height
and material, given the context of the area;
Development proposals should seek to:

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site features, such
as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, where possible,
nature conservation and biodiversity enhancement into the
development;
e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping; and

f. Effectively incorporate on-site infrastructure, such as flood
mitigation systems or green infrastructure, as appropriate.
EN2: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity

A Memorable
Character

I1
I2
130

I3

M3
H3

5.9
Well Defined Streets
and Spaces

Fig 3.12, 5.8

Back of Pavement,
Front of Home

L3

EN3: Green Infrastructure

Development proposals should ensure that existing and new
green infrastructure is considered and integrated into the
scheme design, taking opportunities to enrich biodiversity
habitats, enable greater connectivity and provide
sustainable access for all.
EN4 Pollution control

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

5L: Special places breaks/interruptions/
events

249
5M: Street character

77

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)
Core Strategy DPD:
Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and
local distinctiveness
To ensure that design of new development is of the
highest quality to provide attractive and safe places
to live, work and visit and reflects the local character,
identity and distinctiveness of the towns and villages.
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in
terms of scale, height, density, layout, appearance,
materials, and its relationship to adjoining buildings
and landscape features, and shall not cause
unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion,
overlooking, shading, noise, light pollution or other
adverse impact on local character and amenities.
All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that:
a) are sympathetic and make a positive contribution
towards the unique character of Rutland’s towns,
villages and countryside;
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
b) Relationship to surroundings and to other
development
The development must complement the character
of the local area and reinforce the distinctiveness of
the wider setting. In particular, development should
respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive
features or qualities that contribute to the landscape
and streetscape quality of the local area. Design
should also promote permeability and accessibility
by making places connect with each other and ensure
ease of movement between homes, jobs and services.
i) Landscaping. The development will only be
acceptable if it provides for adequate landscaping,
which preserves visual amenity and is designed as an
integral part of the layout. Where development would
abut or be within open countryside and be exposed to
view, landscaping will be required to help integrate it
into the surroundings.

Core Strategy DPD:
Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and local
distinctiveness
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms
of scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials,
and its relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape
features, and shall not cause unacceptable effects by
reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise,
light pollution or other adverse impact on local character
and amenities.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
Proposals will be assessed to ensure they effectively
address the following matters:
a) Siting and layout The siting and layout must reflect
the characteristics of the site in terms of its appearance
and function. b) Relationship to surroundings and to
other development The development must complement
the character of the local area and reinforce the
distinctiveness of the wider setting. In particular,
development should respond to surrounding buildings
and the distinctive features or qualities that contribute
to the landscape and streetscape quality of the local
area. Design should also promote permeability and
accessibility by making places connect with each other
and ensure ease of movement between homes, jobs and
services. d) Density, scale, form and massing The density,
scale, form, massing and height of a development must
be appropriate to the local context of the site and to the
surrounding landscape and/or streetscape character.
Policy SP20 - The historic environment
Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

Strategic objectives

C1

Objective 5

C2

To facilitate and sustain a network of sustainable
communities which offer a sense of place.

j. character.
DE1

a. Make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area.

92
93
130
112

Development proposals should seek to:

92

104

112

DE1

124

e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping; and
f. Effectively incorporate on-site infrastructure, such
as flood mitigation systems or green infrastructure, as
appropriate.

A Memorable
Character

5.7
7.2
7.3
7.4

Well Defined Streets
and Spaces

P1
Easy to Find your Way
Around

7.5
7.6
7.7
7.8
Fig 7.4, 7.6, 7.9

Healthy Streets

C2
I1
I2
I3
B2

Walking, Cycling and
Public Transport

N1
N2

130

P1

131

P2

2.3.6
3.6 generally

Making the Most of
What’s There

M2

N3

Development proposals should seek to:

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site features,
such as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, where
possible, nature conservation and biodiversity
enhancement into the development;

Walking, Cycling and
Public Transport

Manual for Streets
(2007)

C1

Objective 5

a. Make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area.

B3

L3

Strategic objectives

j. character;

B2

U3

f. Effectively incorporate on-site infrastructure, such
as flood mitigation systems or green infrastructure,
as appropriate.

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively enhance the District’s:

I3

P3

e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping;
and

SD1

I2

P2

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site features,
such as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, where
possible, nature conservation and biodiversity
enhancement into the development;

To facilitate and sustain a network of sustainable
communities which offer a sense of place.

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

I1

SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively enhance the District’s:

National Design
Guide (2019)

A Memorable
Character

3.6.20 – 3.6.23
4.7
5.9.3
6.3
Ch 7 generally

Well Defined Streets
and Spaces

7.2.4
11.2

P3

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and local
distinctiveness
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles

Environmental Protection and Enhancement of
Environment

All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms
of scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials,
and its relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape
features, and shall not cause unacceptable effects by
reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise,
light pollution or other adverse impact on local character
and amenities.

To protect and promote the enhancement, sensitive
use and management of the District’s natural, historic,
cultural assets, green infrastructure (including
trees and woodland) and the built environment
through good design and improved networks that
respect important local characteristics, ensuring
new development is well designed, promotes local
distinctiveness, integrates effectively with its setting
and secures community safety.

Policy SP5 - Built development in the towns and
villages

EN6: The Historic Environment

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

250

5N: Local rural village
and town urban form and
street character

Strategic objectives

respect and wherever possible enhance the character of
the towns, villages and landscape;

Sustainable development within the Planned Limits of
Development of Oakham, Uppingham and the villages will
be supported provided that:
a) it is appropriate in scale and design to its location and
to the size and character of the settlement;
b) it would not adversely affect the environment or local
amenity;
c) it would not individually or cumulatively with other
proposals, have a detrimental impact upon the form,
character, appearance and setting of the settlement or
neighbourhood and its surroundings;
d) it would not be detrimental to features and spaces
which contribute to the important character of the
settlement and the locality
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

Proposals will be assessed to ensure they effectively
address the following matters:

Objective 12

Proposals will be expected to take Conservation
Area Appraisals into account, where these have been
adopted by the Council.
DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design

To ensure high quality design is achieved throughout
the District, all development proposals will be
expected to:

2.3.4
C1
124

130

C2
I1
I2
I3
B1
B2

Making the most of
what’s there

A memorable
character

Well defined streets
and spaces

Chapter 3

4.5.5

4.5.6

5.11

a. Make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area.
Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have
an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement
pattern or the landscape / townscape character
of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of
an appropriate scale, density, massing, height and
material, given the context of the area.

a) Siting and layout

b) Relationship to surroundings and to other development
d) Density, scale, form and massing

Policy SP20 - The historic environment

Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages

78

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

2036 vision

It will be an area of sustainable, high quality growth and
a popular place to work, live, visit and invest in. South
Kesteven will provide a high quality of life, consisting of
sustainable urban and rural communities where people
want to live and work and are able to do so in quality and
enhanced environments. The District will be a safe place
to live with strong communities.
This will be achieved by:

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 2: Vibrant and prosperous market
towns
Strategic Objective 3: Diverse and thriving villages

Strategic objectives

Economic - Enhancing Prosperity
Objective 5

Strategic Objective 5: Healthy and socially inclusive
communities

To facilitate and sustain a network of sustainable
communities which offer a sense of place, that are safe,
inclusive and can respond to the needs of local people.

Policy CS2 - The spatial strategy

To retain and improve accessibility for all to employment,
services, community, leisure and cultural activities
through:

Strategic Objective 6: A stronger and safer
community
Policy CS7 – Delivering socially inclusive
communities

251

5O: Local centre/
community facilities

Working with partners and residents to develop a place
that is welcoming to all.

Support will be given to development proposals and
activities that protect, retain or enhance the provision,
quality or accessibility of existing community, education,
leisure and cultural facilities that meet the diverse needs
of all members of the community. Proposals involving
the loss of services and facilities, will not be supported
unless an alternative facility to meet local needs is
available that is both equally accessible and of benefit to
the community or all options for continued use have been
fully explored and none remain that would be financially
viable.
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that: a) are sympathetic and make
a positive contribution towards the unique character of
Rutland’s towns, villages and countryside;
Site Allocations and Policies SPD:

Policy SP5 - Built development in the towns and
villages
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

b) The development must complement the character
of the local area and reinforce the distinctiveness of
the wider setting. In particular, development should
respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive
features or qualities that contribute to the landscape and
streetscape quality of the local area. Design should also
promote permeability and accessibility by making places
connect with each other and ensure ease of movement
between homes, jobs and services.

Objective 8

• Integrating development and transport provision,
ensuring new development is located where it is most
accessible by a range of modes of transport;

• Retaining and upgrading existing infrastructure related
to transport and communications; and
• Ensuring choice and encouraging the use of public
transport, walking and cycling, for as many journeys as
possible.

2.4.5

8

92
93

104, 105, 106,

Social Housing, Health, Social and Community Needs
Objective 11

To support new and existing community infrastructure. To
ensure that relevant community and other infrastructure
needs such as facilities for leisure, new or enhanced open
space provision, green infrastructure, health, education,
affordable housing, transport, water infrastructure and
the arts as arising from new development is delivered
through on and off site contributions. To contribute to
improving the health and well-being of residents.
SP6: Community Services and Facilities

Proposals for new community facilities will be supported,
and should wherever feasible:

120

130

L3

4.3.1

B1
B2

Facilities and services

4.4.1

A memorable
character

5.7

B3
M3
P1
P2
P3

Well defined streets
and spaces

U1
U3
R1
R2
R3

Cycle and car parking

8.2.11

8.3.11

8.3.13

Figure 4.8b

e. Prioritise and promote access by walking, cycling and
public transport.
DE1

Development proposals should seek to:

d. Retain and incorporate important on-site features,
such as trees and hedgerows and incorporate, where
possible, nature conservation and biodiversity
enhancement into the development;

e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping; and
Residential development on sites of 400 or more
dwellings must contribute towards innovative design,
to encourage sustainable living and working across the
District. This should be delivered through exemplary
design, construction and community facilities within all
strategic developments.

79

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Strategic Objectives
Objective 8

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 9: Sustainable Transport

To develop integrated and sustainable forms of
transport including better public transport, walking
and cycling facilities.
Policy CS4 - The location of development

New development will be prioritised in favour of the
allocation and release of previously developed land
within or adjoining the planned limits of development
where it can support sustainable patterns of
development and provides access to services by foot,
public transport and cycling.
CS18 – Sustainable transport and accessibility

252

5P: Cycle infrastructure

The Council will work with partners to improve
accessibility and develop the transport network within
and beyond Rutland and accommodate the impacts of
new development by focusing on:
a) supporting new development in the towns and
local service centres in line with the locational
strategy in Policy CS4 which are accessible by range
of sustainable forms of transport and minimise the
distance people need to travel to shops, services and
employment opportunities;
b) supporting development proposals that include a
range of appropriate mitigating transport measures
aimed improved transport choice and encourage
travel to work and school safely by public transport,
cycling and walking, including travel plans;
c) providing safe and well-designed transport
infrastructure;

2.2.5

To retain and improve accessibility for all to employment,
services, community, leisure and cultural activities through:

2.3.6

• Integrating development and transport provision, ensuring
new development is located where it is most accessible by a
range of modes of transport;
• Retaining and upgrading existing infrastructure related to
transport and communications; and
• Ensuring choice and encouraging the use of public
transport, walking and cycling, for as many journeys as
possible.
Objective 15

To minimise pollution which affects health and wellbeing.
SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively minimise:

a. the effects of climate change and include measures to
take account of future changes in the climate;

b. the need to travel, and wherever possible be located
where services and facilities can be accessed more easily
through walking, cycling or public transport.

3.5.4
4.2.2
85

92
92b
104

106

112

EN4: Pollution Control

Development should seek to minimise pollution and where
possible contribute to the protection and improvement of
the quality of air, land and water.

In achieving this: Development should be designed from the
outset to improve air, land and water quality and promote
environmental benefits.
DE1

All major development (as defined in the Glossary) must
demonstrate compliance with:

130 f

4.2.3
B1

M1
M2
M3

P1

H1
H3

Natural Connections

Walking, Cycling and
Public Transport

Facilities and Services

Healthy Streets

4.3.2
4.2.4
Table 4.1
4.4.2
5.2.4
5.9.2
6.1.4
6.3.27

Cycle and car parking

Figure 6.14, 6.15
6.4
7.3.19
7.4.1
8.2
11.8.6

h. Manual for Streets guidance and relevant Lincolnshire
County Council guidance.

80

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

CS18 – Sustainable transport and accessibility

h) providing adequate levels of car parking in line with
Council’s published car parking standards;

Promoting Good Design. 5.2 Larger housing
developments will be assessed against “Building for Life”
criteria which is a national standard for well-designed
homes and neighbourhoods in terms the environment
and community, character, streets, parking and
pedestrianisation and design and construction
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP7 – Non-residential development in the
countryside. In both cases the type and scale of the
proposed use must be appropriate to its location; in
particular the use should not generate significant traffic
movements in unsustainable locations and should not
conflict with neighbouring uses. Any associated external
storage, parking and other associated paraphernalia
must not appear visually intrusive in the landscape.

5Q: Car parking

Sustainable transport and accessibility. 7.20 The
Government’s policy on car parking standards requires
local authorities to set standards for their area, taking
account of local circumstances. As such, the government
requirement to express “maximum” parking standards
for new residential development has been removed. The
County Council has reviewed its standards, identifying
the appropriate local circumstances. These are set out
in Appendix 2.
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

253

l) Access and Parking. The development should make
provision for safe access by vehicles, pedestrians,
wheelchair users and cyclists as well as provide good
links to and from public transport routes. Developers will
be expected to retain existing footpaths, cycle routes and
bridleways or to make provision for their reinstatement,
and to make provision for new routes to link with
existing networks. Adequate vehicle parking facilities
must be provided to serve the needs of the proposed
development. Development proposals should make
provision for vehicle and cycle parking in accordance
with the parking standards set out in Appendix 2,
including parking for people with disabilities. There
should where practicable be convenient external access
for mobility scooters to the rear gardens of residential
properties to facilitate parking and storage, if suitable
provision has not been made at the front or side of the
dwelling. In exceptional circumstances, particularly in the
town centres of Oakham and Uppingham, the application
of these standards may be varied in order to reflect
the accessibility of the site by non-car modes or other
identified local requirement.

2036 vision

South Kesteven will provide a high quality of life, consisting
of sustainable urban and rural communities where people
want to live and work and are able to do so in quality and
enhanced environments. The District will be a safe place to
live with strong communities.
DE1

b. Ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of
neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss
of privacy and loss of light and have regard to features that
minimise crime and the fear of crime;
Development proposals should seek to:

e. Provide well designed hard and soft landscaping;

All major development (as defined in the Glossary) must
demonstrate compliance with:

h. Manual for Streets guidance and relevant Lincolnshire
County Council guidance;

104e;
110c
130f;

107d

B2;

M1;

M3

5.9.2
Well defined streets
and spaces

Cycle and car parking

5.9.3

8.2.14

8.3

L1

j. For new residential proposals, development should
perform positively against Building for Life 12.

Policy SP26 - Rutland Water Recreation Areas

81

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

CS11 – Affordable Housing

CS19 – Promoting good design

b) reduce the opportunity for crime and the fear of crime
and support inclusive communities, particularly in terms
of access and functionality;
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Affordable housing

6.16 The Council will ensure that an appropriate mix
of affordable homes is provided, in size, type and
occupation cost, to meet the needs of the local
community.

6.17 ‘Delivering Affordable Housing’ (CLG, 2006)
emphasises that councils should ensure that affordable
homes from all sectors are of a sufficiently high standard
and well integrated. The Council is mindful that affordable
housing is much less of a “buyer’s market” than market
housing and, particularly where there is no grant
funding, it may need to ensure that affordable housing
is of an adequate standard and promotes sustainable
communities.

254

5R: Affordable housing

Where affordable homes are part of a Homes and
Communities Agency (HCA) programme, they will
be expected to meet the design standards of that
programme.

The Council envisages that groups of affordable homes
in mixed tenure developments would not normally exceed
15 homes and that these groups would not be in close
proximity to each other. Where space permits, a minimum
separation of 100 metres between larger clusters of up to
15 homes will be acceptable.
Policy SP9 - Affordable housing
Affordable housing must:

a)be of a combination of sizes and affordable tenure
which meets the proven local housing need and good
practice, including the number of bedrooms, property
type and floor space;

2036 vision

This will be achieved by:

Working with partners and residents to develop a place
that is welcoming to all.

B2

SD1

Development proposals shall consider how they can
proactively encourage, as appropriate:

i. strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing a
supply of housing which meets the needs of present and
future generations.
H2: Affordable Housing Contributions

All affordable housing will be expected to:

a. include a mix of socially rented/affordable rent/
intermediate rent and intermediate market housing
appropriate to the current evidence of local need and
local incomes as advised by the Council;
b. be well integrated with the open market housing
through layout, siting, design and style;

U2
61
63
130

U3
H1
H2

Homes for Everyone

4.3.1

H3
L1
L2
L3

c. be of an appropriate size and/or property type to meet
the need identified by the current evidence of local
housing need for affordability the area.
DE1 c

c) be broadly equivalent in standard and siting to typical
open market properties of the same floorspace/number
of bedrooms/general type, unless it conforms to the
Homes and Communities Agency’s design standards;
d) where part of a development which includes open
market housing, be well integrated with the open market
housing through layout, siting, design and style. In
order to promote sustainable communities, the size
and location of groups of affordable homes should be
discussed and agreed with the Council.

82

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

6A: Build Quality

All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in
terms of scale, height, density, layout, appearance,
materials, and its relationship to adjoining buildings and
landscape features, and shall not cause unacceptable
effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking,
shading, noise, light pollution or other adverse impact
on local character and amenities. New developments of
10 or more dwellings will be expected to meet a “good”
or “very good” rating (14 or more positive answers out
of 20) against Building for Life criteria unless it can be
demonstrated that this is not feasible or viable on a
particular site.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
e) Detailed design and materials

The detailing and materials of a building must be of
high quality, respect and contribute to enhancing the
local vernacular in respect of building traditions and
appropriate to its context. New development should
employ sustainable materials, building techniques and
technology where appropriate.

DE1 a
DE1

Residential development on sites of 400 or more dwellings
must contribute towards innovative design, to encourage
sustainable living and working across the District.
This should be delivered through exemplary design,
construction and community facilities within all strategic
developments.

126
130

134
135

Para 21, 22, 24, 26, 27,
29, 30, 31, 32

L2

H1

5.13

H3

R2

255
83

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Core Strategy DPD:

Strategic Objective 12: Built environment and local
townscape

Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and local
distinctiveness
To ensure that design of new development is of the
highest quality to provide attractive and safe places
to live, work and visit and reflects the local character,
identity and distinctiveness of the towns and villages.
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design

All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place,
being appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms
of scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials,
and its relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape
features, and shall not cause unacceptable effects by
reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise,
light pollution or other adverse impact on local character
and amenities.
All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that: a)are sympathetic and make
a positive contribution towards the unique character of
Rutland’s towns, villages and countryside;

256

Policy CS20 - Energy efficiency and low carbon
energy generation. Renewable, low carbon and decentralised energy will be encouraged in all development.
The design, layout, and orientation of buildings should
aim to minimise energy consumption and promote
energy efficiency and use of alternative energy sources.
6B: Architecture

Policy CS22 - The historic and cultural environment
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

Proposals will be assessed to ensure they effectively
address the following matters:

a)Siting and layout. The siting and layout must reflect the
characteristics of the site in terms of its appearance and
function.

b) Relationship to surroundings and to other development
. The development must complement the character
of the local area and reinforce the distinctiveness of
the wider setting. In particular, development should
respond to surrounding buildings and the distinctive
features or qualities that contribute to the landscape and
streetscape quality of the local area. Design should also
promote permeability and accessibility by making places
connect with each other and ensure ease of movement
between homes, jobs and services.

Para 21, 22, 24, 26, 27,
29, 30, 31, 32
DE1

a. Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should
reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact
on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape /
townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals
should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing,
height and material, given the context of the area.
Planning permission for new residential development
above a threshold of 10 or more dwellings will be granted
subject to a target of at least 10% of new dwellings being
developed as ‘Accessible and Adaptable’ in line with the
optional standards set out in Part M4(2) of the Building
Regulations.

126
130

133
135

C1
C2

L1
L2

A Memorable
Character

L3

H1
H2
H3

d) Density, scale, form and massing. The density, scale,
form, massing and height of a development must be
appropriate to the local context of the site and to the
surrounding landscape and/or streetscape character.
f) Detailed design and materials. The detailing and
materials of a building must be of high quality, respect
and contribute to enhancing the local vernacular in
respect of building traditions and appropriate to its
context. New development should employ sustainable
materials, building techniques and technology where
appropriate
Policy SP20 - The historic environment

Policy SP21 - Important open space and frontages

84

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

6C: Materials

257
6D: Roofs

6E: Residential Amenity

85

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)
Core Strategy DPD:
Strategic Objective 12: Built environment and local
townscape
Strategic Objective 13: High quality design and local
distinctiveness
To ensure that design of new development is of the highest
quality to provide attractive and safe places to live, work
and visit and reflects the local character, identity and
distinctiveness of the towns and villages
Policy CS1 – Sustainable development principles
New development in Rutland will be expected to:f) minimise
the use of resources and meet high environmental
standards in terms of design and construction with
particular regard to energy and water efficiency, use of
sustainable materials and minimisation of waste; (see
Policies CS19 and 20).
Policy CS19 – Promoting good design
All new development will be expected to contribute
positively to local distinctiveness and sense of place, being
appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms of
scale, height, density, layout, appearance, materials, and its
relationship to adjoining buildings and landscape features,
and shall not cause unacceptable effects by reason of
visual intrusion, overlooking, shading, noise, light pollution
or other adverse impact on local character and amenities.
All new developments will be expected to meet high
standards of design that: a)are sympathetic and make
a positive contribution towards the unique character of
Rutland’s towns, villages and countryside;
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity
f)Detailed design and materials. The detailing and materials
of a building must be of high quality, respect and contribute
to enhancing the local vernacular in respect of building
traditions and appropriate to its context. New development
should employ sustainable materials, building techniques
and technology where appropriate.
Policy SP20 - The historic environment
a)Conservation areas. Development in conservation areas
will only be acceptable where the scale, form, siting and
design of the development and the materials proposed
would preserve or enhance the character or appearance
of the area.
See materials and architecture above
Core Strategy DPD:
Policy CS7 – Delivering socially inclusive communities
Support will be given to development proposals and
activities that protect, retain or enhance the provision,
quality or accessibility of existing community, education,
leisure and cultural facilities that meet the diverse needs of
all members of the community. Development should take
account of the needs and requirements of all people in the
community, including people with disabilities or special
needs, elderly people, and young people. Appropriate
measures or adaptations should be included where
necessary.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP15 – Design and amenity. Proposals will be
assessed to ensure they effectively address the following
matters: c) Amenity. The development should protect
the amenity of the wider environment, neighbouring
uses and occupiers of the proposed development
in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy, loss of light,
pollution (including contaminated land, light pollution or
emissions), odour, noise and other forms of disturbance.
i) Landscaping. The development will only be acceptable
if it provides for adequate landscaping, which preserves
visual amenity and is designed as an integral part of the
layout. Where development would abut or be within open
countryside and be exposed to view, landscaping will
be required to help integrate it into the surroundings.
k) Outdoor playing space and amenity open space.
The development will only be acceptable if it makes
adequate provision for open space which: i)is integrated
and well located in relation to the proposed and existing
development; ii)has step free access, making the site
accessible for those with disabilities and pushchair users;
iii)provides pathways to and through the open space
Policy SP17 - Outdoor lighting
Policy SP20 - The historic environment

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

NPPF (2021)

National Design
Guide (2019)

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

Making the Most of
What’s There

2.3.5

2036 vision

Balancing the development needs of the District with
the protection and enhancement of the natural and built
environment;
Addressing and mitigating any negative effects of
development on the built and natural environment.
Strategic Objectives

Para 21, 22, 27, 29, 30,
31, 32

Objective 5

To facilitate and sustain a network of sustainable
communities which offer a sense of place.

C1

DE1

a. Make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should
reinforce local identity and not have an adverse impact
on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape /
townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals
should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height
and material, given the context of the area.

C2
130

L1
L2
L3

A Memorable
Character

5.11

5.13

B3

EN6: The Historic Environment

The Council will seek to protect and enhance heritage
assets and their settings in keeping with the policies in the
National Planning Policy Framework. Development that
is likely to cause harm to the significance of a heritage
asset or its setting will only be granted permission where
the public benefits of the proposal outweigh the potential
harm. Proposals which would conserve or enhance the
significance of the asset shall be considered favourably.
Substantial harm or total loss will be resisted.

M2
R2

Proposals will be expected to take Conservation Area
Appraisals into account, where these have been adopted
by the Council.

See materials and architecture above

See materials and
architecture above

See materials and
architecture above

DE1

b. Ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of
neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution,
loss of privacy and loss of light and have regard to
features that minimise crime and the fear of crime; and
c. Provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to
the type and amount of development proposed.

130
185

H1

See materials and
architecture above

Homes for Everyone

H2
H3

See materials and
architecture above

5.9.2
Back of Pavement,
Front of Home

AECOM

ANNEX Policy and guidance documents that back up the Design SPD chapters

Design SPD Sections

6F: Servicing (bins)

RCC Core Strategy DPD (2011)
and Site Allocations and
Policies DPD (2014)

See car parking above

SKDC Local Plan (2020)

See car parking above

NPPF (2021)

130a

DE1

See also residential build quality, architecture,
materials, roofs and residential amenity above
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

6G: Extensions

258
6H: Scaling and massing
of infill development

7. Design for large
scale employment and
commercial
7A: Follow the Process
7B: Responding to the
Climate Emergency
7C: Frontages
7D: Landscape
Screening
7E: Parking and
servicing
7F: Architecture

86

Policy SP15 – Design and amenity

The development should protect the amenity of the wider
environment, neighbouring uses and occupiers of the
proposed development in terms of overlooking, loss of
privacy, loss of light, pollution (including contaminated
land, light pollution or emissions), odour, noise and other
forms of disturbance.

Core Strategy DPD:
The Location of Development
2.19 Residential infilling is defined as an individual
development of up to 2 dwellings within a gap in an
otherwise built-up frontage to an existing road, provided
that it is not sufficiently large to accommodate up to 2
dwellings on similar curtilages to those adjoining; or the
redevelopment or sub-division of an existing residential
curtilage; or the conversion or redevelopment of a nonresidential building where this would not result in a loss of
local employment.
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:
Policy SP5 - Built development in the towns and villages
Residential development through the sub-division of plots
or backland/tandem development will be subject to the
following key requirements:
a) amenity will be safeguarded through adequate
separation and design of dwellings;
b) no material disturbance will arise from vehicular
movements, and;
c) an adequate, safe and convenient access will be
provided.

All policies relate to non-residential also…
so most of above applies.
Core Strategy DPD:

CS17 - Town Centres and Retailing
Site Allocations and Policies DPD:

Policy SP12 - Town centre area, primary and
secondary shopping frontages

a. Make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area.
Proposals should reinforce local identity and not have
an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement
pattern or the landscape / townscape character of the
surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate
scale, density, massing, height and material, given the
context of the area;

National Design
Guide (2019)

M3
H3

C1
C2

Building for a Healthy
Life
(July 2020)

Manual for Streets
(2007)

5.10.2
Back of Pavement,
Front of Home

5.10.3

Figure 5.10, 6.21
6.8

Making the Most of
What’s There

L1
130

b. Ensure there is no adverse impact on the amenity of
neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss
of privacy and loss of light and have regard to features
that minimise crime and the fear of crime;

L2
L3
H1
H2
H3

c. Provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to
the type and amount of development proposed.

A Memorable
Character

Back of Pavement,
Front of Home

R2

SP3: Infill Development

In all settlements defined in Policy SP2, infill development,
which is in accordance with all other relevant Local Plan
policies, will be supported provided that:

Para 14

a. it is within a substantially built up frontage or redevelopment opportunity (previously development land);
b. it is within the main built up part of the settlement;

c. it does not cause harm or unacceptable impact upon the
occupiers amenity of adjacent properties;
d. it does not extend the pattern of development beyond
the existing built form; and it is in keeping with the
character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of
adjacent properties.

C1
130
185

C2
L1
L2
L3
B1

The Council is preparing a Design SPD to assist with the
submission of applications against the above criteria. This
Policy is to be read in conjunction with the Design SPD,
and any development proposals will be expected to have
regard to the Design SPD.

Making the Most of
What’s There
A Memorable
Character
Well defined Streets
and Spaces
Back of Pavement,
Front of Home

All policies relate to non-residential also…so most of
above applies.

5.2.4

E2, Strategic employment sites

E3 Employment allocations will be supported where
proposals:
• Do not conflict with neighbouring land uses;

• Scale does not harm the character and/or amenities of
the area; and

• Do not impact unacceptably on the local and/or strategic
highway network.

3.1.2

8.2.11
Guidance doesn’t
differentiate between
residential and
commercial – see
above as relevant

Guidance doesn’t
differentiate between
residential and
commercial – see
above as relevant

N/A

Guidance doesn’t
differentiate between
residential and
commercial – see
above as relevant

SB1

e. Non-domestic buildings: will be expected to reach ‘Good’
BREEAM status as a minimum.

AECOM

259
aecom.com

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Design Guidelines for Rutland and
South Kesteven
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Consultation Statement
Final Draft
01.11.21

261

1 Introduction

1.1

This Consultation Statement aims to summarise the progress of The Design
Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven since the consultation between 29
January and 12 March 2021.

1.2

This Statement will identify the key issues raised through the consultation and
communicate the changes proposed to the Design Guidelines document.

1.3

The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (South Kesteven 2018 and
Rutland 2020) and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012 Regulations 12 and 13 set out requirements for
Consultation Statements and Adoption Statements. In accordance with this
guidance, this Consultation Statement will include the below and an Adoption
Statement will be published alongside the adopted SPD.
•

A list of the persons consulted;

•

A summary of representation;

•

A comment on how representations have been considered and the actions
taken.

1.4 The consultation undertaken for this Design Guide pre-dates changes to the
NPPF made in July 2021.
1.5 However, other new NPPF paragraphs such as 131 on street trees are clearly
reflected in the Design Guide.

2) Draft Design Guidelines Consultation Process 29th
January – 12th March 2021
2.1

Prior to the consultation period, a stakeholder workshop was undertaken in
January 2019, an officer workshop was undertaken in June 2019 and South
Kesteven District Council (SKDC) and Rutland County Council (RCC)
Member workshops were undertaken in September 2019.

2.2

The draft Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven were approved
for consultation at Cabinet in November 2020.

262

2.3

The consultation period ran from 29 January to 12 March 2021. A full copy of
the Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven (consultation draft
December 2020) is appended to this statement. A total of 88 representations
were received in Rutland and in South Kesteven, 63 were received, making a
total of 151 responses for consideration by the Council.

2.4

A list of consultees who made representations to the consultation document
can be found in Appendix A.

2.5

The consultation was carried out under the Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 Regulations 12 and 13. The details of
the consultation including where to view the document and how to respond
were published on both the South Kesteven District Council website and the
Rutland County Council website.

2.6

All statutory consultees (including Parish Councils) and any individuals and
businesses whose details were held on the Planning Policy Database
received either a letter or an email notifying them of the consultation and
where to view the document. Following the introduction of GDPR legislation,
the Planning Policy Database had been updated to include only those the
Council had a duty to consult, and those who had ‘opted in’ or expressed a
wish to be notified of future Local Plan documents.

2.7

Copies of the consultation documents were made available on the Councils’
websites, however due to COVID-19 restrictions and temporary changes in
legislation, hard copies of the documents were not required to be placed in
public areas. The legislation was introduced in recognition of the challenge
that some local authorities may face as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Changes to the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012, under the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020, to remove the need
for local authorities to make hard copy documents available for public
inspection for a temporary period from 16 July 2020 until 31 December 2021
were made.

2.8

The objectives of the consultation were identified as follows:
•
•
•

To fulfil the legislative requirement to demonstrate public participation
To raise awareness about the document and its wide-reaching agenda
To encourage residents to get involved in the process of determining
planning policy

263

•

•
•
•
•

2.9

The stakeholders were identified as follows:
•
•
•
•

2.10

To gather and record feedback on the first draft of the Design
Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven with a view to making
improvements to the document.
To enable respondents to suggest appropriate amendments and to
incorporate these where feasible and appropriate.
To communicate links with the Council’s Corporate Plan and priorities
To use the opportunity to communicate the wider benefits good design
brings to communities, health and the environment as a whole.
To measure the degree of support or otherwise for the proposals

Members of the public
Statutory consultees including The Highways Authority, Natural
England and the Environment Agency
Parish, town, district and county councillors across the district
Individuals/ organisations who have participated in previous planning
policy consultations and are currently on their database

To accommodate current restrictions imposed because of the COVID-19
pandemic, methodologies that reduced or negated the need for face-to-face
contact were used in preference to those that required a greater degree of
human interaction. Different methods were also used for different types of
stakeholder. The table below identifies the method(s) used for each of the
stakeholder types for South Kesteven.

Stakeholders

Method(s)

Details

Members of the public general

Members of the public were
made aware of the
consultation through the
following channels:

Potential respondents
referred to the webpage to
participate in the
consultation. Alternatively, if
they preferred (or had no
internet access), members of
the Planning Policy team
were able to take their details
and send them a printed
copy of the survey.
Consultation Officer
prepared a press release
promoting the consultation.
The release included the link
to the webpage and a QR
code to access the survey.

Press release – distributed
to the local press
Promoted on SKDC’s Social
Media Channels

Available on SKDC’s website
www.southkesteven.gov.uk/designguide

264

Social Media Officer
promoted the consultation on
social media channels by
posting on Facebook and
tweeting on Twitter. Posts
included a link to the survey.
A webpage dedicated to the
Design Guidelines document
contained additional
information including FAQ’s,
a video, a copy of the
document, along with a link
to the survey
County/district and
parish councillors

All parishes contacted.
Clerks asked to request
members of the parish
council complete the survey
on-line
District Councillors informed
of the consultation via the
weekly members email

Statutory consultees and
those
individuals/organisations
on Planning Policy’s
database

2.11

Planning Policy team
contacted parish councils by
email on 29.01.21

Councillors informed of
consultation in weekly
members email w/c 2
February 2021
Statutory consultees and
others emailed with a link to
the survey by members of
the Planning Policy team on
29.01.21

The questionnaire was designed to be as user friendly as possible and was
designed to also be easy and simple to complete on a smart phone via the
website or the Quick Response (QR) code below:

265

2.12

In South Kesteven, the consultation was promoted in the local media and on
the Council’s social media channels and website during the consultation period.
Articles promoting the consultation were on the websites of both the Stamford
Mercury and Grantham Nub News on 2 February 2021. The Facebook posts
reached 2,101 people and 24 clicked on the link. There were 773 impressions
on Twitter and 10 clicks on the link. The page was viewed on the SKDC website
660 times. Stakeholders including parish councils and statutory consultees
were contacted at the start of the consultation.

2.13

In Rutland a user-friendly, separate questionnaire was set up.
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-buildingcontrol/planning/planning-policy/consultation-on-the-design-guidelines-forrutland-and-south-kesteven/

2.14

Hardcopy versions of the survey were made available upon request (Appendix
C).

3 Quantitative Results
3.1

The questionnaire had both quantitative and qualitative questions. The
quantitative results have been summarised below. The qualitative results are
those that include text and written feedback and they have been summarised
in section 4, along with any proposed changes to the document arising from
the comments.

3.2

In summary, respondents were supportive of the document and the results
illustrate this.

3.3

It was considered important to get an overall measure of the priorities of those
responding to the survey. Presenting a list of eight items, respondents were
asked to identify the three factors they thought were the most important when
considering the design of new housing developments. Their responses are
illustrated below:

266

Factors respondents thought were the most important when considering
the design of new housing developments
Places that function well and are designed to reflect
practical considerations (e.g. bins and parking)

21

Encouraging people to live healthy, sociable and active
lifestyles.

20

Ensuring new development blends into the wider
landscape and has a green character

19

Minimising the impact on climate change

18

Providing a range of houses for different people’s needs,
budgets and circumstances

15

Respecting the built character and materials of the local
area. Architecture to be of a high quality.

13

Responding to local issues and listening to local people

12

Making places accessible, easy to move around and well
connected to their surroundings

4
0

5

267

10

15

20

25

3.4

In both Rutland and South Kesteven, several factors were considered
important, with scores relatively close together. There was a slightly higher
priority in Rutland for built character, local materials and high quality
architecture whereas this scored lower in South Kesteven. Places that
function well and were practical (bins and parking) was a higher priority in
South Kesteven than it was in Rutland. Issues such as Climate change,
healthy lifestyles and blending into the landscape scored highly within both
South Kesteven and Rutland. Making places accessible, connected, and
easy to move around were low on the list for both authorities.

3.5

It may be prudent to view these results with an element of caution. Most of the
factors are separated by a relatively small number of votes. Whilst this is
probably because the number of respondents to the survey overall is quite
low, it does make it difficult to draw reliable conclusions from these results.

3.5

With regards to the remaining quantitative questions, the results are set out
below – the written elements to some of these questions are covered in the
next section on the qualitative results:

•

Q3 - Three quarters of respondents thought that the guidelines were easy to
understand (RCC - 78% SKDC 75%);

•

Q4 – Just over half of respondents (56%) thought the guidance was easy to
use in South Kesteven, in Rutland it was 72%;

•

Q5 - The same number of respondents in South Kesteven thought the layout
and format of the document would help when applying for planning permission
(56%), in Rutland this was 48%. This question didn’t apply to many
respondents and a number selected ‘don’t know’, leaving just 16% in both
authorities stating that the layout and format wouldn’t help them;

•

Q6 – 61% (SKDC) and 62% (RCC) of respondents thought the layout and
format of the document would help them if they were asked to consider or

268

assess a scheme. Just over a fifth (16% in both authorities) thought that it
would not with the remainder choosing either “don’t know” or “does not apply”;
•

Q7 - When asked if the guidance reflected any priorities the respondents (or
the organisation they represent) may have – just under half (48%) agreed.
Around a quarter of respondents (24%) disagreed. In Rutland this was 41%
and 21% respectively;

•

Q8 – When asked for their opinion on the level of detail within the document,
three quarters (74%) in South Kesteven thought that the content was pitched
at the right level of detail. In Rutland this was lower at 57%, with 25% stating
that it was too detailed and 18% considering it to be not detailed enough;

•

In section three of the survey, respondents were asked for their opinion on
each of the chapters in the Design Guidelines document. The first three
chapters of the Design Guidelines provided respondents with more detail
on and examples of the information and diagrams that are expected at the
different stages of the design process, with chapters four to seven focusing on
specific design solutions.

•

Q10 - When asked if the first chapter of the document clearly set out the steps
that should be taken by someone applying for planning permission, most
respondents thought that it did. 85% agreed in South Kesteven and 84% in
Rutland. Only one respondent disagreed in South Kesteven and only two in
Rutland, with the remainder choosing to answer “don’t’ know” or “doesn’t
apply”;

•

Q11 - Two thirds of respondents (66%) thought that the overview of South
Kesteven and Rutland’s special character provided in chapter two was
accurate and helpful (same in both authorities);

•

Q12 - 70% agreed that the type of information and diagrams required at the
various stages of the design process were set out clearly in chapter three, in
Rutland this was 73%;

•

Q13 – When asked if the document provided enough information on the
national design guidance documents that must be followed. Most respondents
thought that it did (72% in South Kesteven and 68% in Rutland);

•

Q14 –Respondents were asked if the key issues for major residential
schemes are covered in chapter 5. In South Kesteven, 80% thought that the
key issues were covered, in Rutland it was lower at 56%, with 29% stating
that they weren’t all covered.

•

Q15 and Q16 – Looking at the more detailed elements of good design that are
relevant to South Kesteven and Rutland and the guidance on householder
extensions - 72% thought chapter six identified the more detailed elements of
good design relevant to the districts, with 79% agreeing that clear guidance
on household extensions is included. In Rutland this was lower at 64% and
67% respectively.

269

•

Q17 – With the key design considerations that are most relevant to
commercial development, just over half of respondents thought this chapter
addressed these considerations (56% in South Kesteven and 57% in
Rutland). 20% of respondents in South Kesteven and 16% in Rutland thought
that this chapter didn’t set out the key design considerations.

•

Q18 – Looking at the proportion of respondents that were residents,
Councillors or representing an organisation, most respondents which
completed the online questionnaire were residents. It should be noted that
many responses were received in writing, and these largely comprised of
professional organisations (17 responses in South Kesteven and 12
responses in Rutland). The results below highlight the online survey
responses only:

Rutland

South Kesteven

Responses received from...
An individual or organisation that has
applied to SKDC for planning permission in
the last six months; or is expecting to apply…

1

Representing an organisation ( please use
the space below to tell us which one)

8

A developer or agent

1

A county, district, town or parish councillor

2

A resident of South Kesteven

18
0

5

270

10

15

20

•

The postal code information revealed a good spread of respondents from a wide range of
postal code areas within the two authorities.

4) Qualitative Results
4.1

Appendix B provides a log of the changes made to the document. A
summary of these written responses and proposed amendments is detailed
below.

Summary of the key comments

Summary of proposed amendment in
response

Relationship and alignment with local
plan policies was requested to be made
clearer, with parent policies clearly shown
in each section

Some references added in the text, however, it was felt
that the Annex was comprehensive and addressed this.

Compliance with LP Regs 2012 and
remit as SPD
concern about the document going beyond
what an SPD should be (an amplification
of Local Plan policies)

Amendments made to wording in the introduction and
also elements of the guidance that went beyond the
local plan and/or were too prescriptive. Where any very
precise guidance is given, wording such as ‘advisory’
has been used to make clear that it is not compulsory.

Viability – reference to viability was
requested - in terms of the requirements of
the guidance placing extra financial
pressures on developers

Amendments made to wording in the introduction and
also elements of the guidance that went beyond the
local plan and/or were too prescriptive. Where any very
precise guidance is given, wording such as ‘advisory’
has been used to make clear that it is not compulsory.
With the amendments above and looking at Local Plan
policy and national policy on design, it was not felt that
the Design Guide placed any further significant financial
pressures on developers.

Ease of understanding, jargon and
length of document – more clarity on
where to look for certain types of
development requested, less jargon or
jargon explained and a shorter length of
document

‘how to use this guide’ section added and jargon
explained at source (rather than a glossary) – the
document is already concise, although section 3 on
understanding context has been slimmed down;

271

Biodiversity and ecology and
Biodiversity Net gain received a lot of
comments from a range of individuals and
organisations, with some very detailed
suggestions for wording and references

The document has been enhanced with extra points
and references.

Climate Change and the importance of
this and desire to do more

Enhanced with more references to Local Plan policies
(e.g. electric car charging points) and forthcoming
national guidance and legislation.

Healthy Lifestyles – several
improvements suggested to this section
including adding reference to fast fibre
broadband, working from home/third
places, legacy/stewardship and updating
‘Lifetime Homes’ to the new ‘Accessible
and Adaptable dwellings’;

These elements were added to this section

Better examples requested for pictures
and more representative images for the
landscape character areas – some
diagrams were also commented on as
needing to be more representative

Many new photographs added and some diagrams
amended.

More mention of involvement of
community at pre-application stage

Links to the Statements of Community Involvement
have been added – and these cover this topic;

A new vision example was requested to
replace the St George’s Barracks vision

This has been swapped with a vision that doesn’t relate
to any particular site.

National design agenda - Requests to
mention the new National Model Design
Code and revised NPPF.

This has been added to the National Design Guidance
section;

Neighbourhood Plans received requests
to be made more prominent.

Wording strengthened to be in line with NPPF and
further references to NP’s added;

MMC - Requests to mention Modern
Methods of Construction (MMC) as an
emerging construction method

References added to relevant sections (e.g. under
climate section due to lower carbon footprint);

Open Space provision - Concern about
the open space provision only referring to
national standards

References to Local Plan policies added that provide
more specific guidance

272

SuDS - Requests to improve the
sustainable urban drainage systems
(SuDS) section and make more flexible

Photo examples improved along with some text – less
prescriptive in terms not demanding all sites to be
designed around SuDS, where a more urban character
vision exists;

Car Parking - Concerns about car parking
and garage guidance being overly
prescriptive and not evidenced or linked to
Local Plan policies.

Some dimensions have been removed and more
general guidance provided. Dimension that remain
have been referenced as being ‘advisory’. Facts remain
stated along with the needs that residents have, such
as needing to get out of the car on both sides and get a
wheelie bin past a parked car on a driveway.

Affordable Housing - Comments made
about affordable housing - the term pepper
potting was questioned. Diagram was
considered to not represent typical
dispersal around a site. The issue of
quarter houses came up in terms of the
guide being too prescriptive in advising
against them.

Peperpotting term now changed to be in line with the
Local Plan terminology (‘well integrated’)
Diagram amended accordingly.
Quarter houses wording softened to state a preference
for terraces or semis yet keeping the opportunity for
quarter houses if they are well designed.

Build Quality - Comments on build quality
included ensuring that both contemporary
and traditional architectural approaches
were covered and of high quality;

The wording was amended to include contemporary
buildings and materials.

Smaller sites and infill - Many comments
made about lack of guidance for smaller
sites and infill development.

Section enhanced to include more detailed guidance on
this subject and to expand upon existing Local Plan
policies;

Design Review panels – comments were
made about the need for design review
panels.

Text added to mention Design Midlands Design Review
panel in addition to the SKDC Design PAD.

Monitoring success - Comments were
made about the need to monitor the
effectiveness of the guide and achieve and
define success.

Further information was given about the use of Building
for a Healthy Life as a tool for negotiating, assessing
and monitoring design quality of residential schemes of
10 dwellings or more, undertaken by the Design Officer.

Design resources - Comments were
raised about the resources needed to
achieve higher design quality and to
implement the guide in practice

It was stated that a Design Officer was in place to help
achieve this

273

Rutland County Council Withdrawn
Local Plan (September 2021)

The withdrawal of the RCC Local Plan required
amendments to all references made to the withdrawn
Local Plan. These have been replaced with references
to the existing Core Strategy Development Plan
Document (DPD) and Site Allocations and Policies
DPD.

274

Appendix A - List of consultees who made representations
First Name

Surname

Organisation

South Kesteven District Council
Mark

Schofield

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust
Bourne Town Council/Bourne Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Steering Group
Stamford Town Council

Patricia
Jane

Stuart-Mogg
Bateman

Luke
Wendy
Nicola

Bamforth
Bannerman
Stevens

Philip

Cupit

Nigel
Mrs. A.

Eaton
Smith

Richard

Asher

Richard

Peace

Kate
Lucas

Shinkins-Hoppe
Fidler

Gavin

Rowe

Susie

Norris

Gordon

Smith

Mrs Marie

Jackson

Anne
Bernard
Cara
Gordon
Emilie
Jim
Lydia
Malcolm
Mark
Nicola
Phil
Richard
Sandra
Stephen
Steve
Stewart
Sue

Dew
Champness
Chambers
Smith
Carr
Walker
Voyais
Hall
Schofield
Farr
Hughes
Wright
Close
Holland
Beard
Patience
Grant

Greater Lincolnshire Nature Partnership
The British Horse Society

Barrowby Parish Council

Deeping St James Parish Council

Persimmon Homes
Thurlby PC
Marrons Planning
Deepings Neighbourhood Plan Group
Historic England
Savills
Barkston and Syston PC
Lincs Wildlife Trust
Environment Agency
Lincolnshire County Council
Witham IDB
Natural England
Thurlby Neighbourhood Planning Group
Sport England
Anglian Water
Colsterworth Parish Council

Rutland County Council
David

Amies

Ryhall Parish Council

275

Alan
Tim
Julie
Jennifer
Nicola Farr
Pam
Les
Janet
Kenneth
John
Peter
Roger
David
will
Liz
SARAH
T
Sarah
Trevor
Jean
Ramsay
emma
David
David
Louise
John
Rebecca
Anne Dicks
Lawrence
Nick
Edwina
Ian
Anne
Chris
Tony
John
Jon
Ken
Helen
Malcolm
Richard
Steve
Stewart Patience

MacDonald
Collins
Park
Hughes

Paul Testa Architecture

Environment Agency
Allen
Allen
Taylor
Siddle
Meara
Leppard
Oakes
Roome
Hargreaves
AYLING
Crowson
Clark
Bean
Mitchell
Ross
vaughan
Hodson
Roome
Bunce
Fowler
Harper

Strategic HR Support Ltd
Positive Homes
Chair, Wing Parish Council
Uppingham Town Council

KETTON PARISH COUNCIL

Traditional British lamb
Planning Policy Officer East-Northamptonshire Council

Ball
Bryant
King
Razzell
Dew
Bramley
Godwin
Dejardin
Bradburn
Siddle
Duckering
Touchin
Littlejohns
Beard

Persimmon Homes
Severn Trent
FCD Architecture
Montagu Evans
Wing Parish Council
Langham Parish Council
CPRE
Barrowden Parish Council
Sport England
Environment Agency

276

Appendix B – Log of proposed changes

Section
Several

Original text

Contents
1.1

Both local authorities are committed to
ensuring that development responds
positively to the special natural and built
qualities of our area, setting them up to
stand the test of time as great places to
live and enjoy in the same way our
existing places have.

1.1

The guide outlines the Councils’ high
design expectations and the obligatory
steps to be undertaken in the design and
planning process. As an SPD, these
guidelines will be a material
consideration when determining
planning applications.
[New paragraph added]

1.1

[New text]

1.2

The key aims of this Design SPD are to:
-

-

New
section
1.3

Establish the requirements for a
high level of design and build
quality in all development proposals
in Rutland and South Kesteven;
Set out the design steps and
considerations that planning
applicants need to undertake; and

New text
[New and replacement photos added,
including more local examples. Various
diagrams improved.]
[Added more detailed contents list to aid
navigation]
Both local authorities are committed to
ensuring that development - which we
define as any new construction that
requires planning permission - responds
positively to the special natural and built
qualities of our area, setting them up to
stand the test of time as great places to
live and enjoy in the same way our
existing places have.
The guide outlines the Councils’ high
design expectations and the steps to be
undertaken in the design and planning
process. As an SPD, these guidelines will
be a material consideration when
determining planning applications.
Checklists and key questions boxes have
been provided as a way to highlight, list
and summarise key information in a more
useable and concise format. They are not
intended to be policies or requirements.
Stakeholder and Councillor workshops
informed its drafting and changes have
been made following the extensive
feedback received as part of a public
consultation exercise.
The key aims of this Design SPD are to:
-

-

Establish the expectations for a high
level of design and build quality in all
development proposals in Rutland
and South Kesteven;
Set out the design steps and
considerations that planning
applicants are expected to undertake;
and

Similar changes elsewhere, replacing
‘must’ and ‘need’ with ‘should’. ‘expect to’
or similar in 1.4, 5G, 5K, 6H, 7C.
1.3 How to use this guide

[New section added]

277

This document has two main parts. Part 1
is about the design process and stresses
the importance of responding to context.
Part 2 has a focus on design outcomes.
All types of development are expected to
follow Part 1 and, as appropriate, chapter
4 in Part 2. Beyond these, particular parts
of the guidance will be relevant for
different scales and types of
development. More specifically:
Extensions
Chapter 6 – Detailed Design with
particular focus on 6G Extensions
Single Dwellings
Chapter 5 – Relevant sections include: 5B
Climate emergency, 5G Sustainable
drainage systems, 5K Strong front
boundary treatments.
Chapter 6 – Detailed Design
Smaller developments (approximately 2
to 10 dwellings)
Chapter 5 – most sections as relevant
Chapter 6 – Detailed Design
Larger developments (approximately 10
or more dwellings)
Chapter 5 – most sections as relevant
Chapter 6 – Detailed Design
Commercial Development
Chapter 7
1.4 (was
1.3)

A number of neighbourhood plans have
been, or are being, prepared in Rutland
and South Kesteven. New development
in those areas should also consider the
planning policies set out in those
neighbourhood plans which are ‘made’
(i.e. adopted) as they are also used by
the local planning authorities to
determine planning applications.

278

A number of neighbourhood plans have
been, or are being, prepared in Rutland
and South Kesteven. New development in
those areas should be determined in
accordance with the planning policies set
out in those neighbourhood plans which
are ‘made’ (i.e. adopted), unless material
considerations indicate otherwise, as they
are also used by the local planning
authorities to determine planning
applications. Neighbourood plans often
contain character assessments that
describe what makes area distinct.
Neighbourhood Plans;

1.5 (was
1.4)

1.6 (was
1.5)

and subsequent planning and
environmental legislation and guidance as
it becomes available
In order to ensure that design quality and
the contents of this guide are consistently
applied to proposals for new
development, the local authorities will
use this guide to assess the design quality
of new development.

[New text]

The aspirations, concerns and insights of
the local community are an important
input into the design process. Planning
applications should demonstrate how
the proposed design has been
influenced by them.

1.6 (was
1.5)

For residential developments of 10 or
more dwellings, Building for a Healthy Life
will also be used as a tool for discussions,
assessment and monitoring of design
quality.
The NPPF and National Model Design
Code encourage much more extensive
public engagement and involvement of
neighbourhood plan groups, Town and
Parish councils in design. Planning
applications should demonstrate how the
proposed design has been influenced by
them.
The Councils’ respective Statements of
Community Involvement should be
followed as they set out how the
community, businesses and others with
an interest in development can engage
with the planning system.
[And]
Refer to the Statements of Community
Involvement for Rutland and South
Kesteven for expectations on
engagement.

1.6 (was
1.5)

Online: good for reaching those who
may not come to an event, but people
need to be aware that the exercise is
taking place;

1.6 (was
1.5)

279

[Also: GLNP and Anglian Water added to
stakeholder list]
Online: good for reaching those who may
not come to an event, but people need to
be aware that the exercise is taking place,
and can be supplemented by a dedicated
website providing information on the
proposal;
In addition to internal arrangements such
as Design PAD at South Kesteven,
significant developments (defined by the
Council) will undergo an independent
Design Review, ideally as early as possible

in the design process, when it is felt that
such a review is required.
The Council and the Applicant will be
equally involved in the selection of a
review panel. The cost associated with the
Design Review will be covered, in full, by
the Applicant.
Significant developments will be
determined on a case by case basis,
depending on the context of each
individual site.
Distinctive settlements such as Stamford,
Oakham and Uppingham and numerous
characterful villages [amended];

2.2

Wildflower-rich limestone grassland, and
limestone becks and larger watercourses;
Hedgerows and hedgerow trees providing
important habitats and character
[amended];
Rutland Water;
A range of natural environments and
wildlife habitats, which can be identified
for a location by undertaking a thorough
site and contextual analysis.
[Second photo for each character area to
show landscape, with new text:]

2.3

The photographs below figure 2 provide
snapshots of the built and natural
condition of each area. These are just to
provide a flavour of local character and a
not necessarily fully representative.
Chapter 3
3.1

[Has been shortened]
Reviewed the Neighbourhood Plan,
historic mapping and other existing
documents?

Reviewed the Neighbourhood Plan,
historic mapping ,
environmental/biological records and
other existing documents?

Ecology and biodiversity;
Ecology and biodiversity, including
biodiversity opportunity mapping;
History and heritage assets, such as
listed buildings and conservation areas;
Existing underlying utilities and
infrastructure, including easements.

280

History and heritage assets, such as listed
buildings and conservation areas, and
their settings;

3.3

3.3

Directly responded to the site analysis,
including its surroundings, topography,
geology, watercourses and relationship
to open spaces, nearby settlements, and
routes?
St George’s Barracks vision
[New text under Design Development]

4

The suite of national guidance that must
be followed comprises:

4.2

[New paragraph]

4.3

Both Rutland and South Kesteven Local
Plans expect new residential
development to perform strongly
against the BHL criteria.

4.3

4.4

5

Applying the Manual for Streets (MfS) is
mandatory for residential developments
of at least ten homes.
[New box]

This chapter concentrates on the
strategic scale - things beyond the
design or alteration of a single building.

281

Existing underground and aboveground
utilities and infrastructure, including
easements.
Directly responded to the site analysis,
including its surroundings, topography,
geology, biodiversity, watercourses and
relationship to open spaces, nearby
settlements, and routes?
Anonymised example vision
It could also include a series of simple
themed strategies, such as a biodiversity
strategy, landscape and SuDS strategy,
tree strategy, movement strategy, key
spaces strategy, play strategy – focussing
in on these important elements
individually ensures that they are
comprehensively addressed and
considered strategically in order to guide
the detailed design work.
Development should demonstrate
compliance with Manual for Streets,
perform positively against Building for a
Healthy Life and the National Design
Guide
National Model Design Code
More detail on good design practice under
the National Design Guide’s
characteristics is provided in the National
Model Design Code. Part 2: Guidance
Notes is the most useful place to
understand the Government’s detailed
expectations on design outcomes.
Both Rutland and South Kesteven Local
Plans expect new residential development
to perform positively against the BHL
criteria and performance is monitored.
[Also clarifies that BHL is relevant to
developments of 10 dwellings or more]
Schemes of at least ten homes should
demonstrate compliance with Manual for
Streets.
Garden villages
Schemes in the Local Plans referred to as
Garden Villages or to be developed in
accordance with Garden Village principles
should follow guidance set out by the
TCPA and Homes England.
This chapter concentrates on the strategic
scale - things beyond the design or
alteration of a single building although

5A

We must be able to see how a thorough
site and contextual analysis has
informed the proposed design, leading
to a scheme that is more characterful.

5B

5B

5B

Promoting biodiversity and green
infrastructure through a landscape-first
approach;
[New bullet]

5B
5B

[New paragraph]

5B
5C

5C

5C

bat/bird/swift boxes

Physical exercise including active travel,
walkable neighbourhoods, circuits of
routes, quality cycle infrastructure, easy
to navigate, safe and attractive streets,
walking and cycling routes, and well
designed, high quality and accessible
play areas within walkable distance of
people’s homes; and
Lifetime Homes that are adaptable and
accessible over time.

282

being particularly relevant to major
schemes of 10 dwellings or more.
The design process outlined in Part 1 of
this document must be followed on all
major applications. Local Plan policies
require development to demonstrate how
carbon dioxide emissions have been
minimised. This must be evidenced as part
of planning applications.
The Future Homes Standard means that,
from 2025, new build homes will no
longer be permitted to have fossil fuelled
space heating and hot water generation.
Promoting biodiversity and green
infrastructure through a landscape-first
and nature-based approach;
Orienting buildings to maximise beneficial
solar gain, with, for example, one of the
main glazed elevations within 30° due
south, whilst avoiding overheating;
Using modern methods of construction
Water efficiency
Water efficiency, including the re-use and
responsible use of water, also needs to be
promoted. This also reduces impact on
the sewerage systems, resulting in further
energy savings through reduced
treatment of water at the start and
treatment of sewerage end.
Link added to the Natural England and
RSPB Climate Change Adaptation Manual
integral bat/bird/swift
boxes/tiles/facias/boxes, bee bricks
also: 3 hyperlinks added re swifts and
bats, and Elsea Park Community Trust
Physical exercise including active travel,
walkable neighbourhoods, circuits of
routes, quality cycle infrastructure, easy
to navigate, safe and attractive streets,
walking and cycling routes, good public
transport services, and well designed, high
quality and accessible play areas within
walkable distance of people’s homes; and
Designing places for all, including older
people and the mobility impaired and
building Lifetime Homes that are
adaptable and accessible over time, in
accordance with Local Plan policies that
set minimum levels.

5C

5C

See the Fields in Trust Guidance for
Outdoor Sport and Play for further
advice about designing playing fields and
more.
See Sport England’s Active Design Guide
and the NHS Healthy New Towns
guidance for more advice on
encouraging physical exercise and
healthy lifestyles.
[New bullet point added]

5D

[New reference added]

5D

The landscape design of a scheme is a
key strategic consideration and should
be considered at the very start of the
design process.

5D

Development sites should achieve a
biodiversity net gain.

5D

See the Biodiversity Net Gain good
practice principles for development
produced by the Chartered Institute of
Ecology and Environmental
Management and partners.
A development with a strong and
attractive landscape and movement
structure that interconnects key
destinations, spaces and places has
many benefits. For example, helping to
make a layout easier to find your way
around, making walking and cycling
more attractive options and creating a
much more characterful development.

5C

5E

283

See Policy OS1: Open Space in the South
Kesteven Local Plan and Policy EN14:
Provision of new open space in the
emerging Rutland Local Plan.
See Sport England’s Active Design Guide
and the NHS Healthy New Towns
guidance for more advice on encouraging
physical exercise and healthy lifestyles, as
well as Building for a Healthy Life
Supporting flexible working practices,
particularly homeworking, through
provision of fast fibre broadband, shared
workspaces and easy access to
community amenities
Refer to guidance in the South Kesteven
Local Plan, emerging Rutland Local Plan
and by Natural England.
There are multiple benefits to
incorporating landscape features into
proposals, and as such, landscape design
should be considered at the very start of
the design process. This ensures that
sufficient space is given to landscape and
drainage within a layout - before streets
and buildings get added - and that parks,
ecological corridors and other ‘green
infrastructure’ is positioned in the
optimum locations within the site, rather
than areas left over. In addition, the
impact of lighting on landscape and
biodiversity should be carefully
considered in any scheme.
Development sites should achieve a
biodiversity net gain in accordance with
environmental law and be fully
measurable an evidenced.
See the Biodiversity Net Gain good
practice principles for development , the
Environment Bill and Defra’s biodiversity
metric 3.0 calculation tool.
A development with a strong and
attractive landscape and movement
structure that interconnects key
destinations, spaces and places has many
benefits. For example, helping to make a
layout easier to find your way around,
making walking and cycling more
attractive options and creating a much
more characterful development.
Protecting and extending Public Rights of

5F

5G

Street trees have many benefits: they
improve air quality, provide shade,
support nature and biodiversity net gain,
cool the air, slow surface water run-off
rates, provide character, reduce traffic
speeds and define street hierarchy.

Way and statutory bridleways should also
be given consideration at the design stage
of any new development.
Street trees have many benefits: they
improve air quality, provide shade,
support nature and biodiversity net gain,
cool the air, slow surface water run-off
rates, provide character, reduce traffic
speeds and define street hierarchy.

Existing mature trees can be preserved
and/or new large species planted and
given sufficient space to flourish and
become key features.
It is essential that street trees are
planted within appropriate tree pits that
will allow them to flourish and become
healthy tree specimens.

Existing mature trees can be preserved
and/or new large species planted and
given sufficient space to flourish and
become key features.
It is essential that street trees are planted
within appropriate tree pits that will allow
them to flourish and become healthy tree
specimens.

The right species of tree should be
selected for the particular location, set
of circumstances and desired landscape
character.

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF says that
“planning policies and decisions should
ensure that new streets are tree-lined”
and encourages applicants and local
planning authorities to “work with
highways officers and tree officers to
ensure that the right trees are planted in
the right places, and solutions are found
that are compatible with highways
standards and the needs of different
users.”
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) cover
a range of approaches to managing
surface water to reduce flood risk whilst
improving water quality, amenity and
biodiversity. They reduce the amount of
surface water that reaches the sewer
system (as outfall) and the rate at which it
reaches a watercourse. Common features
of SuDS include soakaways, filter strips
and swales, permeable surfaces and
ponds.

Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS)
cover a range of approaches to
managing surface water to reduce flood
risk whilst improving water quality and
amenity. They reduce the amount of
surface water that reaches the sewer
system and the rate at which it reaches a
watercourse.
The best approach is to collect and reuse water but, if this is not possible,
infiltration and attenuation/controlled
release should be used unless it can be
proved that it will not work for locallyspecific reasons.
SuDS do not have to be complicated; the
best solutions are often the simplest. It
should be integrated with green
infrastructure and corridors, and
planned in from the earliest stage to

284

The best approach is to collect and re-use
water but, if this is not possible for all
water, infiltration and
attenuation/controlled release should be
used as well unless it can be proved that it
will not work for locally-specific reasons.
In general, the aim should be to infiltrate
water into the ground, thus mimicking
what nature does. So, priority should be

make sure that enough space is made
available in the right places. The whole
site should be designed around a
sustainable drainage scheme, with
drainage features positioned at the
lowest point in the site and with
inventive ways to get the surface water
into the ground. Sometimes these will
include multi-use open spaces that also
have a drainage and flood storage
function. This is part of the landscapeled approach to major development that
is required.
The best approach for any site will be
locally specific, influenced by the
different soil and landscape types. It will
be designed with management in mind,
understanding that it will change over
time and need managing flexibly.

given to: infiltration into the ground first;
then to a surface water body; then to a
surface water sewer, highway drain or
another drainage system; or finally, to a
combined sewer.
SuDS do not have to be complicated; the
best solutions are often the simplest. It
should be integrated with green and blue
infrastructure and planned in from the
earliest stage to make sure that enough
space is made available in the right places.
Sustainable drainage should be fully
integrated into the design. Sometimes
these will include multi-use open spaces
that also have a drainage and flood
storage function. This is part of the
landscape-led approach to major
development that is required.
The best approach for any site will be
locally specific, influenced by the different
soil and landscape types. It will be
designed with management in mind,
understanding that it will change over
time and need managing flexibly.

5G

[New reference added]

5H

Key elements of a Main Street/Avenue
could include:
•
•
•

•
•
•

•
•

Street trees;
Wider pavements;
Strong front boundary treatments
such as railings and walls
supplemented by hedges;
Strong building lines;
Absence of frontage parking;
Strong built frontages that
positively address and enclose the
street;
Rhythm and continuity of facades;
and
Well-proportioned in terms of
height to width ratios.

285

Multi-functional SuDs design
incorporating locally occurring and
regionally sourced native marginal and
aquatic planting is a space-efficient way to
deliver biodiversity net gain, if managed
appropriately.
See Design and Construction Guidance
for foul and surface water sewers
produced by Water UK.
Key elements of a Main Street/Avenue
could include:
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Street trees;
Wider pavements including roadside
swales;
Segregated cycle routes;
Strong front boundary treatments
such as railings and walls
supplemented by hedges;
Strong building lines;
Absence of frontage parking;
Strong built frontages that positively
address and enclose the street;
Rhythm and continuity of facades;
and

•

Figs 32
and 33

Point no.2 - Green verge with tall trees.
The latter are optional but would be
positive additions.
Section showing indicative dimensions
for Edge Lanes. The lane width may vary
to discourage speeding or provide space
for parking.

5I

Generally, layouts should be permeable,
with the number of dead ends being
minimised and with good connections
into the wider street and path network.
Connected layouts encourage walking
and cycling and the use of public
transport. Layouts with poor
connections encourage people to use
their car for even short journeys, adding
to local air pollution and congestion.
Some cul-de-sacs and mews streets may
be appropriate in a wider connected
layout.
Developments should knit in to the
wider neighbourhood and single access
points to large sites should be avoided.

Well-proportioned in terms of height
to width ratios.

Point no.2 - Green verge with tall trees.
Section showing indicative dimensions for
Edge Lanes. The lane width may vary to
discourage speeding or provide space for
parking. Edge lanes can also be shared
surfaces (no separate footway) and not
include street trees.
Generally, layouts should be permeable,
with the number of dead ends being
minimised and with good connections into
the wider street and path network.
Driveways and minor access roads should
be dispersed frequently throughout the
site and have direct access off existing and
new streets in order to create active
frontage and reduce speeds.
Connected layouts encourage walking and
cycling and the use of public transport.
Layouts with poor connections encourage
people to use their car for even short
journeys, adding to local air pollution and
congestion.
Home Zones (or play streets) can be
successfully designed in to the quieter
streets within connected layouts and are
encouraged. These are designed primarily
to meet the needs of pedestrians, cyclists,
children and residents.
Some cul-de-sacs and mews streets may
be appropriate in a wider connected
layout. Cross-roads are acceptable in
appropriate locations (as shown in Figure
34); however turning heads (as shown in
Figure 35) take up space and make routes
for refuse vehicles more difficult.
Connected streets make more efficient
use of space and reduce reversing of
refuse vehicles, and are easier for delivery
services and bus routes to access.
Developments should knit in to the wider
neighbourhood and single access points to
large sites should be avoided.

286

Fig 34

A connected layout, with some cul-desacs, balances sustainability and security
aims in a walkable neighbourhood.

Fig 35

A layout dominated by cul-de-sacs
encourages reliance on the car for even
local journeys.

5J

[Moved link from 5I to 5J]

5J

As a general rule, buildings should have
public fronts and private backs. Back
gardens should back onto other back
gardens, bring community safety and
privacy benefits.
This also applies around the edges of
sites. Buildings should look outwards,
not turn their back on their surrounds.
Hedgerows or other planting in front of
homes can soften open rural interfaces.
Properties on all corners should have
active facades on both sides, not blank
gable ends.

5L

Residential layouts can often be very
highways-dominated and also include
long stretches of uninterrupted highway
lacking in character. Special places /
events should be created along longer
streets in order to reduce speeds, add
character to the street, serve as
navigational points and also respond to
surrounding features.

287

A connected layout, with some cul-desacs, balances sustainability and security
aims in a walkable neighbourhood. This
layout encourages lower vehicular speeds
as there are more access points on to the
main roads around the edge of the site.
A layout dominated by cul-de-sacs
encourages reliance on the car for even
local journeys. This layout generates
higher vehicular speeds because there are
fewer access points leading to the main
roads around the edge of the site.
Secured by Design is an initiative that
offers advice on designing out crime.
In line with national guidance, buildings
should have public fronts and private
backs. By positioning public fronts on to
streets and public spaces - in terms of the
main entrances and main windows - this
provides opportunities for natural
surveillance and to design out crime from
these spaces. Back gardens should face
other back gardens, bringing community
safety and privacy benefits.
This also applies around the edges of
sites, where sensitive rural interfaces
often exist. Buildings should look
outwards, not turn their back on their
surrounds. Hedgerows or other planting
in front of homes can soften open rural
interfaces and existing hedgerows have
more protection if within the public realm
rather than rear gardens where they are
more under threat.
Properties on all corners should have
active facades on both sides, not blank
gable ends, and front doors and house
numbers on all properties should be
clearly visible from the street.
Residential layouts can often be very
highways-dominated and also include long
stretches of uninterrupted highway
lacking in character. Special places /
events should be created along longer
streets in order to prioritise the safety and
needs of pedestrians and cycles, calm
traffic and reduce speeds, add character
to the street, serve as navigational points
and also respond to surrounding features.

Street design should respond to the
surroundings, such as an adjacent park,
a footpath route crossing the street, a
school or local centre, a landmark
building, a group of buildings, a junction.
In order to address these issues special
places should be created within the
street network and could include for
example:
-

-

Village greens and other open
spaces;
Urban squares;
Change in surface material and
street design to respond to
surroundings;
Wider pavement with trees; or
Trees in the highway.

Street design should respond to the
surroundings, such as an adjacent park, a
footpath route crossing the street, a
school or local centre, a landmark
building, a group of buildings, a junction.
In order to address these issues special
places should be created within the street
network and could include for example:
-

-

5M

Emphasis should be given to defining
street character – with street design,
front boundary treatments, building
lines, front garden depths, parking
arrangements, landscaping, house types
and materials all working together to
create streets that have strong
characters of their own.

5N

Streets and layouts should relate to the
character of their location – in the rural
villages and towns, streets should aim to
replicate the urban form and character
of streets found in the area and/or best
practice in streetscape design.
In many towns and villages in Rutland
and South Kesteven, streets are curved
with properties following these curves
and leading the eye around the corner.
Visual stops that terminate views along
the street are also a characteristic and
help to break up long stretches of street.
Long straight streets are generally not a
characteristic of the area and are
commonly only found within the larger
settlements.
The height to width ratio of streets is
also a key characteristic, helping to
provide a sense of continuity and

Village greens and other open spaces;
Urban squares;
Change in surface material and street
design to respond to surroundings
and calm traffic;
Wider pavement with trees; or
Trees in the highway.

Emphasis should be given to defining
street character – with street design, front
boundary treatments, building lines, front
garden depths, parking arrangements,
landscaping, house types and materials all
working together to create streets that
have strong characters of their own.
Careful consideration should be given to
the design of pavements, avoiding the
provision of unsightly and impractical
maintenance strips of paving.
Streets and layouts should relate to the
character of their location – in the rural
villages and towns, streets and layouts
should aim to replicate the urban form,
density and character of streets found in
the area and/or best practice in
streetscape design.
In many towns and villages in Rutland and
South Kesteven, streets are curved with
properties following these curves and
leading the eye around the corner. Visual
stops that terminate views along the
street are also a characteristic and help to
break up long stretches of street. Long
straight streets are generally not a
characteristic of the area and are
commonly only found within the larger
settlements.
The height to width ratio of streets is also
a key characteristic, helping to provide a

288

5O

enclosure along the street. Streets that
are too wide and buildings that don’t
sufficiently enclose the space in front of
them generally lead to less attractive
streetscapes.

sense of continuity and enclosure along
the street. Streets that are too wide and
buildings that don’t sufficiently enclose
the space in front of them generally lead
to less attractive streetscapes.

Different character areas can be
designed into larger developments to
add variety instead of monotony.

Proposals should be of an appropriate
scale, density, massing and height, taking
into account the local character and
context.
Different character areas can be designed
into larger developments to add variety
instead of monotony.
A sense of community is an essential
element of any new settlement. The
design of local centres and community
facilities should:

A sense of community is an essential
element of any new settlement. Local
centres and community facilities should
be designed to:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Encourage social interaction;
Not be car orientated with parking
areas dominating;
Designed as vibrant places;
High quality public realm and
landscaping;
A mix of uses – to include elements
such as cafés that encourage people
to stay and for people to socialise;
Be located to be walkable for as
many people as possible; and
To be co-located with other
facilities such as schools,
recreational areas.

•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•

5P
5Q

5Q

•

Convenient cycle storage in homes.

These spaces should ideally be in
addition to any garage provision (as
garages are rarely used for parking).

•

•

Encourage social interaction;
Not be car-orientated with parking
areas dominating;
Be vibrant places;
Be exemplary in terms of design with
high quality public realm and
landscaping;
Include a mix of uses – to include
elements such as residential uses and
cafés that encourage people to stay,
for socialising and for natural
surveillance;
Cater for growth in the share
economy - such as car share schemes;
tool and garden equipment swaps;
work hubs for hot desking; and
remote working facilities - which
require high speed internet;
Be located to be walkable for as many
people as possible; and
Be co-located with other facilities
such as schools, recreational areas.
Convenient cycle storage in homes or
within their curtilages.

These spaces should ideally be in addition
to any garage provision (as garages are
rarely used for parking as highlighted in
Manual for Streets (2007) paragraph
8.3.39), although garages with space for
general storage (and bicycles if no other
cycle storage) and doors wide enough to
accommodate a modern car could be
considered as parking provision.

Parking spaces should be provided
on-plot and ideally located behind
the building line, between dwellings

289

•

Parking spaces should be provided
on-plot and ideally located behind
the building line, between dwellings

and/or on drive through units/car
ports. This is to enhance street
character and maintain strong
building lines and front boundary
treatment lines, and avoid parked
cars dominating the street;

5Q

•

5Q

•

5Q

•

Cars parked on plot should be
softened with landscape, planting
and materials as well as a clear
property boundary. Parking spaces
should be as well as, not instead of,
a front garden, and landscaped
space should equal or exceed that
of hardstanding;
Where possible an integral garage
could be combined with a room
above as part of the main building.
Detached garages – if provided should complement the main
building in terms of proportion, roof
and materials;

•

Triple double bays and spaces
between rear gardens should be
avoided.

•

•

•

5Q

Where possible an integral garage
could be combined with a room
above as part of the main building.
Detached garages – if provided should complement the main building
in terms of proportion, roof and
materials. However it should be
noted that Building for a Healthy Life
(2020) advises against ‘over reliance
on integral garages with frontage
driveways’;
Triple double bays should be avoided
as they have been known to cause
neighbour disputes and lack the
required space;
Spaces between rear gardens should
ideally be avoided as they have a
negative impact on street character
and design quality and can easily be
designed out by, for example, placing
detached dwellings on corner plots.

A large or family car is approximately 1.9
metres wide and 2.1 metres wide with
wing mirrors.

A large or family car is approximately 1.9
metres wide and 2.1 metres wide with
wing mirrors.

If a driveway is to be fit for purpose and
serve a dwelling and its wide range of
residents and their needs over time; it is
recommended that the guidance below
is followed:

If a driveway is to be fit for purpose and
serve a dwelling and its wide range of
residents and their needs over time,
residents should be able to get out of the
car comfortably on both sides and open
the doors. It should also be possible to
get a wheelie bin of 0.6 metres past a
parked car.

•
•
•

5Q

and/or on drive through units/car
ports. This is to enhance street
character and maintain strong
building lines and front boundary
treatment lines, and avoid parked
cars dominating the street (as
highlighted in Manual for Streets,
paragraph 8.3.33);
Cars parked on plot should be
softened with landscape, planting
and materials as well as a clear
property boundary. Parking spaces
should be as well as, not instead of, a
front garden;

Single driveway – 2.1 + 0.6 + 0.6 =
3.3m
Double driveway – 0.6 + 2.1 +1.0 +
2.1 + 0.6 = 6.4m
Frontage parking spaces – 0.3 + 2.1
+ 0.3 = 2.7m

Single garages should not be counted as
parking spaces. Double garages may be

290

In line with Lincolnshire County Council
guidance, garages should only be
considered as parking provision when

counted as a parking space if they meet
the minimum dimensions below.
Garages should follow the below
minimum distances (internal
dimensions).
•

•

Single garage – 3.3m (W) x 6.0m (L)
x 2.4m (H) (but not counted as a
parking space)
Double garage – 5.8m (W) x 6.0m
(L) x 2.4m (H) (counted as a single
parking space)

Garage length should be a minimum of
6m but ideally 6.5m in order to provide
storage for equipment.
Garages should be well positioned to
ensure that they do not dominate the
street scene in a negative way. Integral
garages need to be sensitively designed
and located so as not to dominate street
character.
5Q

5Q

5R

•

There should be properties located
at the entrance and also within the
courtyard itself, with habitable
rooms at ground floor overlooking
the access and parking areas;

[Image caption] Widths of frontage
parking, double and single driveway and
spaces.
Affordable housing is an important
component of all major schemes and
needs to be designed with care to
maximise community cohesion.
In market housing-led schemes,
dwellings should be pepper-potted
around the neighbourhood, with groups
of no more than 10 affordable
properties. There will also be larger
affordable housing only development, to
which the rest of this document will
apply.
For one bedroom units, flats and quarter
houses are often less easy to integrate
with open market housing in terms of
layout and siting and are commonly a
different design and style, making them
stand out as affordable units. They

291

they are of a size that will accommodate
general storage (such as lawn mowers,
hedge trimmers, ladders, bicycles etc) and
have garage doors that are wide enough
to accommodate the modern car. Building
for a Healthy Life advises against ‘Relying
on garages being used for everyday car
parking’.
With regards to garage dimensions, the
advice within Manual for Streets
paragraph 8.3.41 should be taken into
account and this is also repeated in the
guidance by Rutland County Council
(paragraph 1.5 – see link on previous
page).
Garages should be well positioned to
ensure that they do not dominate the
street scene in a negative way. Integral
garages need to be sensitively designed
and located so as not to dominate street
character.
•

There should be properties located at
the entrance and also within the
courtyard itself, with habitable rooms
at ground floor overlooking the
access and parking areas;

Advisory widths of frontage parking,
double and single driveway and spaces.
Affordable housing is an important
component of all major schemes and
needs to be designed with care.
In market housing-led schemes, dwellings
should be well integrated around the
neighbourhood. Affordable dwellings
should be sensitively located with the aim
of achieving sustainable communities that
are intermixed, with affordable units
being spread out and not being easily
identifiable by means of design quality
(including materials) style (including
house types and architectural details) or
location in terms of not placing affordable
units in blatantly inferior locations.
The content of this design guide is also
relevant to affordable housing only
schemes (as well as units within market

often have either no, or poor amenity
space and this is usually not private.

schemes) and should be taken into
account.

As an alternative, one bedroom terraced
or semi-detached units allow for private
amenity space and can be better
integrated with market housing in terms
of layout, siting, design and style.
Specialist housing should be located
appropriately to ensure easy access to
community and social facilities, health
care facilities and public transport.

Where one bedroom dwellings are
provided as affordable housing within the
development, there is a preference for
these to be provided as terraced or semidetached units which are well integrated
with market housing in terms of layout,
siting, design and style and also provide
for private amenity space.
If one bedroom units are provided as flats
and quarter houses, it is important that
these are well designed and every effort is
made to integrate these well with open
market housing.”
Specialist housing should be located
appropriately to ensure easy access to
community and social facilities, health
care facilities and public transport.

6A

6A

Self and custom build units should be
provided in accordance with local plan
policies and should fit in to the site
masterplan and its design aspirations.
It is important that build quality, materials
and architectural detailing make a positive
contribution to local distinctiveness,
vernacular and character.

Build quality must be maximised.
Recommendations for traditionally
detailed residential development
include:

There are certain low quality materials
and architectural details of new
residential developments that have an
adverse impact on the street scene or
character . The list below makes
recommendations for higher quality
solutions that are more in line with the
aspirations of the Local Plan policies.
Where contemporary architectural
solutions are proposed (see Section 6B
also), high standards of design and build
quality will also be expected. Quality
materials and architectural detailing are
expected. A good build quality helps
developments to make a positive
contribution to local distinctiveness,
character and the street scene and
townscape character in accordance with
Local Plan policy.

[New text]

292

6B

6B

6C

6C

There is much traditional architecture
within Rutland and South Kesteven, as
evidenced by the fact that there are so
many conservation areas in both
districts. However, it is important that
the strong local vernacular does not just
mean that new design merely mimics
the traditional architectural style –
contemporary interpretations of local
building forms, styles and details will be
encouraged which focus the creative use
of locally distinctive and sustainable
materials, and an emphasis on build
quality.
Traditional architecture, in general
terms, works well with a vertical
emphasis.
[New paragraphs]

Carefully consider the use of materials
for roofs, walls, windows and boundaries
and ensure they are appropriate for the
site’s context. Different combinations of
materials create a certain character and
identity for buildings, and which help
ground a place in its locality – for

293

For sites of 400 dwellings or more,
exemplary design and construction should
be delivered in accordance with Local Plan
policies.
There is much traditional architecture
within Rutland and South Kesteven, as
evidenced by the fact that there are so
many conservation areas in both districts.
However, it is important that both
contemporary and traditional approaches
are considered when responding to the
strong local vernacular – with the focus
being on quality and local character
whichever approach is taken.
Contemporary interpretations of local
building forms, styles and details can
creatively use locally distinctive and
sustainable materials.
Traditional architecture, in general terms,
works well with a vertical emphasis,
including alignment of windows.
The choice of materials for both
traditional and contemporary
architectural approaches is expected to
reinforce local identity and make a
positive contribution to local
distinctiveness, vernacular and character.
Nearby examples of low quality design
and materials that do not fit with the
positive and predominant examples of
local character that typify the area should
not be replicated or used as an excuse for
more low quality design and materials.
Traditional materials can be used very
effectively in contemporary architecture.
Innovative and new materials with good
environmental performance are
supported, although such materials
should still be high quality and enhance
local character.
Also: render added to list of traditionally
used materials.
Carefully consider the use of materials for
roofs, walls, windows and boundaries and
ensure they are appropriate for the site’s
context. Different combinations of
materials create a certain character and
identity for buildings, and which help
ground a place in its locality – for

example, there is an emphasis on the
use of limestone in parts of both Rutland
and South Kesteven.

6D

It is expected that most roofs will have a
pitch of at least 40 degrees.
Existing types of thatch should be
retained. Long straw is the usual
material for this part of the country but
some examples of other types do exist.

6E
6E

6F
6G

Residential amenity is determined by
factors such as privacy, outlook and
natural light.
This means that planning permission is
not required.

6G
6G

[New bullet]

6G

Appearance of extensions – As with all
development, the extension will be
expected to respect its wider
surroundings in terms of its scale,
position, design and building materials.

6H

[Section extended]

294

example, there is an emphasis on the use
of limestone in parts of both Rutland and
South Kesteven. The character areas
introduced in section 2.3 each have their
own traditional building materials.
Roofs typical of the local vernacular
generally have a pitch of at least 40
degrees and new development is
expected to do so too in order to
reinforce local identity and make a
positive contribution to local
distinctiveness and character.
Clarified in illustrations that back to back
privacy distances are window to window.
Residential amenity is determined by
factors such as space, privacy, outlook,
outdoor space and natural light.
Title changed to “Refuse management”
This means that planning permission is
not required, but design is still a
consideration. In some areas, further
restrictions to what changes can be made
are set out in Article 4 Directions.
Hyperlink to Permitted Development
Rights updated
Extensions need to respond to the climate
emergency (see section 5B above)
Appearance of extensions – As with all
development, the extension will be
expected to respect its wider
surroundings in terms of its scale,
position, design and building materials.
Innovative solutions are possible but must
still complement the original dwelling and
be of high quality.
Infill development should complement
the street scene into which it will be
inserted and will become a part of for
generations to come. It does not need to
mimic existing styles but it’s scale,
massing and layout should be in keeping.
These also should be considered in
relation to topography, views, vistas and
landmarks.
The character of new streets, even if only
serving a small number of dwellings, is
particularly important. New streets and
driveways should be in keeping with the
positive elements of the existing
settlement’s character. For example,
standard highways solutions used in a

rural village may create a suburban
character that is out of keeping with local
street character.
The design of parking will need careful
consideration, following the guidance in
5Q, whilst also ensuring that the
development can accommodate the
parking needs of residents and their
visitors and not overflow on to existing
surrounding streets. Similarly, bin
collection arrangements and locations will
need careful thought and be sensitive to
the existing settlement.
Development in rear gardens should not
impact negatively on the amenity of
adjacent properties and should be in
keeping with the character of the area,
including not eroding the character of
surrounding streets, landscape features
like existing trees and hedges or the urban
form of the settlement.
New building lines should be reasonably
consistent along a street with existing
buildings. Some places in Rutland and
South Kesteven have linear or regular
meandering arrangements of buildings
whist others have random and irregular
patterns.
The density of a scheme should reflect its
context in terms of whether it is at the
centre or edge of a town or village, or in a
smaller settlement in the rural area. The
optimum density will respond to
surrounding densities whilst making
efficient use of land, meaning that new
development will usually be more likely to
be higher than neighbouring areas.
Scale, massing and layout also need to be
considered in relation totopography,
views, vistas, landmarks and should be
sensitive to the setting of adjacent
properties. Building lines, landscape
character (for example trees and hedges)
and boundary treatments are also
important components of local character
that infill development needs to be
sensitive to.

295

The design of infill development needs
particular care and attention due to the
often sensitive and characterful nature of
the locations within which it is set. Infill
development has the potential to impact
heavily on existing settlements and their
residents. Part 1 of this guide becomes
important to follow thoroughly, studying
the local character and context
comprehensively, responding sensitively
to it and knitting new development into
this context convincingly.
Infill development should be within the
main built up part of the settlement and
not extend the pattern of development
beyond the existing built form.

7

[New title for chapter]

7

For non-residential development such as
offices, industrial, retail, cinema
multiplexes or warehouses,
understanding the context of the site
and attention to detail and build quality
are just as important as with residential
applications, particularly because they
tend to be large structures or ‘big
boxes’.

7B

[New sentence]

7D

Preserving and enhancing existing
wildlife habitats

7E

[New sentences]

7F

With regards to amenity and impact on
neighbours, section 6E can be used as a
guide.
7. Design for large scale employment and
commercial
For large-scale, non-residential
development such as offices, industrial,
retail, cinema multiplexes or warehouses,
understanding the context of the site and
attention to detail and build quality are
just as important as with residential
applications, particularly because they
tend to be large structures or ‘big boxes’
and often on greenfield sites. These
developments, as opposed to town centre
commercial development, are the focus of
this chapter.
Sustainable drainage systems should be
incorporated (see 5G above).
Achieving biodiversity net gain;
Preserving and enhancing existing wildlife
habitats, and providing new ones;
Charging points for electric cars should be
provided.
Trees in parking areas will need high
quality underground provision for roots to
grow in order for them to survive and
flourish.
The use of out-of-hours night time lighting
should be minimised, which also benefits
wildlife such as bats.

The use of out-of-hours night time
lighting should be minimised.

296

Annex

[Column 2 updated to reflect changed
status of Rutland Local Plan]

297

Appendix C – The survey form in hardcopy format

298

299

300

301

302

303

304

305

306

307

308

309

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 3
Appendix 3: Amendments and updates made to Design Guide SPD since the version seen at
9th November Cabinet and the version proposed to be taken to 25th November Full Council
Original

Change made
Logo’s added to front cover

Commentary / implications
No change to meaning or
interpretation

Contents page more detailed

No change to meaning or
interpretation

Section 2.3 moved so that it immediately follows section 2.2

No change to meaning or
interpretation

311

Paragraph added to 2.3 as below:
The photographs below figure 2 provide snapshots of the built and natural condition
of each area. These are just to provide a flavour of local character and are not
necessarily fully representative.

No commentary about the
photographs was given in the previous
version. The new text provides
clarification about the photographs.
No change in meaning or
interpretation, just clarification where
it previously didn’t exist.

Landscape character areas map improved to be clearer to read

It’s the same map.
No change to meaning or
interpretation

Some landscape photos added to the built example photos – so two
photos for each character area instead of 1 (figure numbers removed
and so figure numbers change throughout the document).

Extra photos added showing
landscape. Enrichment of information

given, but no change to meaning or
interpretation.
Section 3.3
Vision example changed to a more generic one:

Prince William of Gloucester Barracks vision:
New example:
Redevelopment of Prince William of Gloucester Barracks
(PWGB) seeks to deliver a sustainable and viable new
community comprising 3500-4000 new homes and
employment space centered around parks, woodlands and a
community hub. It will be a distinctive scheme building on
Garden Village principles and reflect the site’s military
history. It will be well connected to Grantham town centre
and Spitalgate Heath through new cycling and walking
routes and woodland corridors, while also integrating with
the surrounding countryside and existing communities.

312

The masterplan will promote physical health and mental
well being, supporting a diverse community and lifetime
neighbourhoods focused around high quality modern
homes, local facilities and schools. A focus on natural
landscapes will help to deliver an overall biodversity net
gain. Innovation will be embedded through the design,
delivery models and construction processes. Smart
technology will be used to support sustainable low carbon
lifestyles and underpin a strong community.

The vision changed to be more
generic, rather than focusing on a
specific site for which the vision may
change slightly over time.

DESIGN VISION
The site will house a compact neighbourhood in a parkland setting. The
neighbourhood will expand holistically from the existing service housing with
redevelopment focussing on the brownfield land. This will increase permeability to
the parkland to the north. Some interventions will be made to upgrade the site
frontage and create an outward-facing development with well-defined public spaces
and private plots.
Community facilities and services that were previously on site will be retained in some
form and disused buildings could be re-purposed to house these in amongst a highquality housing offer.
The architecture will be clearly of its time and yet distinctively local by making the
best of the latest building technology to minimise resource use and making a positive
addition to local character. The area will have a very legible plan with direct,
convenient walking routes to the local centre which will be formed around an
attractive public realm, together acting as a focus for the identity of this
neighbourhood which forms a part of the wider former village suburb.
The site will be integrated closely with the wider area by walking routes, across the
common (which itself will be retained as a landscape corridor for wildlife) and via the
canal tow-path to the north. A new railway halt will be provided alongside an electric
bus service that will link residents with the schools and centres of the surrounding
towns.

This is just an example and not specific
advice, the accompanying text sets
out the advice about producing a
vision and this remains unchanged.
Changing the example doesn’t change
the meaning or interpretation of the
advice in the text. There are
comparable elements within the old
and new example visions. The text
states that visions should be locally
specific, therefore this is the
overriding factor.

Section 3.3 under Design development section – some extra text
added to end of last paragraph:
It could also include a series of simple themed
strategies, such as a biodiversity strategy, landscape
and SuDS strategy, tree strategy, movement strategy,
key spaces strategy, play strategy – focussing in on
these important elements individually ensures that
they are comprehensively addressed and considered
strategically in order to guide the detailed design work.

This section was already talking about
a ‘broad structure of layout’ and
‘structural elements’ and on a series
of themes. The new text simply
provides some examples of themed
plans/strategies.
The word ‘could’ is used and therefore
non-compulsory.
No change to meaning or
interpretation.

Section 4 cover photo changed

313

4.4. Building for a Healthy Life
Building for a Healthy Life (BHL) is the new (2020) name for
Building for Life, the government-endorsed industry
standard for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods. The
new name reflects the crucial role that the built
environment has in promoting wellbeing.
The BHL toolkit, which is relevant to developments of 10
dwellings or more, sets out 12 questions to help guide
discussions on planning applications and to help local
planning authorities to assess the quality of proposed (and
completed) developments, but can also provide useful

No change to meaning or
interpretation.

Section 4.4 – end of section text cut off and now in:

4.4. Building for a Healthy Life
Building for a Healthy Life (BHL) is the new (2020) name for
Building for Life, the government-endorsed industry standard
for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods. The new
name reflects the crucial role that the built environment has in
promoting wellbeing.
The BHL toolkit, which is relevant to developments of 10
dwellings or more, sets out 12 questions to help guide
discussions on planning applications and to help local
planning authorities to assess the quality of proposed (and
completed) developments, but can also provide useful
prompts and questions for planning applicants to consider
during the different stages of the design process.
Both Rutland and South Kesteven Local Plans expect new
residential development to perform positively against the BHL
criteria and performance is monitored.

The end of the paragraph just
completes the sentence. It states
national policy. The reference to Local
Plans is a statement of fact and does
not change meaning or interpretation.

5F – quote of NPPF lengthened to include:
Paragraph 131 of the NPPF encourages applicants and local
planning authorities to “work with highways officers and
tree officers to ensure that the right trees are planted in the
right places, and solutions are found that are compatible
with highways standards and the needs of different users.”

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF says that “planning policies and
decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined”
and encourages applicants and local planning authorities to
“work with highways officers and tree officers to ensure that
the right trees are planted in the right places, and solutions
are found that are compatible with highways standards and
the needs of different users.

5G – some photo examples switched with better ones

Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) cover a range of
approaches to managing surface water to reduce flood risk
whilst improving water quality and amenity.

314

The best approach is to collect and re-use water but, if this is
not possible, infiltration and attenuation/controlled release
should be used as well unless it can be proved that it will not
work for locally-specific reasons.
In general, the aim should be to discharge surface run-off as
high up the hierarchy of sustainable drainage options as
reasonably practicable, with priority given to: infiltration
into the ground first; then to a surface water body; then to a
surface water sewer, highway drain or another drainage
system; or finally, to a combined sewer.
It should be integrated with green infrastructure and
corridors and planned in from the earliest stage to make
sure that enough space is made available in the right places.

This simply lengthens the quote of
paragraph 131 of the NPPF. It is
quoting national policy and therefore
no change in meaning or
interpretation.

No change to meaning or
interpretation.

5G
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) cover a range of approaches to managing
surface water to reduce flood risk whilst improving water quality, amenity and
biodiversity
The best approach is to collect and re-use water but, if this is not possible for all
water, infiltration and attenuation/controlled release should be used as well unless it
can be proved that it will not work for locally-specific reasons.

The text amends simply add emphasis
to previously covered advice and
make statements clearer.
No change to meaning or
interpretation.

In general, the aim should be to infiltrate water into the ground, thus mimicking
what nature does. So, priority should be given to: infiltration into the ground first;
then to a surface water body; then to a surface water sewer, highway drain or
another drainage system; or finally, to a combined sewer.
It should be integrated with green and blue infrastructure and planned in from the
earliest stage to make sure that enough space is made available in the right places.

5H – diagram amended to not have shared pavement and cycleways
and to have shared carriageways/cycleways instead

The diagram is labelled as being
‘indicative’. Although this is a change
in where cycle lanes are located, the

Main Street serves as a navigational point within the site
and also a characterful feature.
Key elements of a Main Street/Avenue could include:
• Street trees;
• Wider pavements including roadside swales;
• Segregated cycle routes;

New text:
Main Street serves as a navigational point within the site and
also a characterful feature.
Key elements of a Main Street/Avenue could include:
• Street trees;
• Wider pavements including roadside swales;
• Carriageway with segregated cycle lanes;

emphasis of this section is about the
street hierarchy and the qualities that
a main street has.
The actual section that covers cycle
infrastructure design is at 5P and this
subject is therefore covered more
comprehensively there. Reference is
made to detailed national guidance
LTN 1/20 at 5P also and therefore the
amended diagram at 5H is not the
only part of the document that states
where cycle lanes could be located.

315

The change was made to bring the
diagram at 5H more in line with new
national guidance LTN 1/20
referenced in 5P.
No change to meaning or
interpretation.
Diagram illustrating the same point.
5J – diagram improved
No change to meaning or
interpretation.

Paving materials should be permeable and complementary
to the building design;

5K – pictures replaced and improved

No change to meaning or
interpretation.

5Q – on plot section – 5th para

This list of bullet points are ‘principles
to consider’.

Paving materials could be permeable and complementary to the building design;

Therefore the use of ‘should’ fell
under the precursor of ‘consider’
making it not compulsory – changing
to ‘could’ just makes it clearer that it is
a ‘principle to consider’
No change to meaning or
interpretation.

6B - diagram removed
6F Diagram replaced with photo
6G – diagrams replaced with new ones
6H – diagram replaced with new ones

No change to meaning or
interpretation.
6B – the diagram was explaining the
text but was poorly drawn – the text
remains the key advice.

316

6F – diagram and photo showing the
same thing
6G – diagrams in a different style but
illustrating similar things – the text
remains the key advice with the
diagrams being examples.
6H – the diagram replaced a similar
previous one but in different style.
The new label is similar to text in the
guide and not new.

ANNEX – whole RCC column changed to be in line with older
adopted policies rather than the withdrawn LP

Change to all policy references for
Rutland – referring to older adopted
Core Strategy and Development Plan

Documents instead of the withdrawn
Local Plan.
The policy references are different,
although the essence of the table is
the same in that these back up the
guidance in the SPD.
No change to meaning or
interpretation.

Some general typos and broken links throughout document

No change to meaning or
interpretation.

317

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 4

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)
SKDC – Design Guidelines for
Rutland and South Kesteven
(Supplementary Planning
Document)

Service Area:
Planning Policy
Development and Growth

Lead officer:
Richard Shaw
Assessors:
Emma Whittaker
Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

1
319

Date of Meeting
26/10/21

1.

Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

The Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven aim to improve the
design quality of new development. The key aims of this Design SPD are to:
•

Establish the expectations for a high level of design and build quality in all
development proposals in Rutland and South Kesteven;

•

Set out the design steps and considerations that planning applicants are
expected to undertake; and

•

Provide applicants with a clear understanding of good quality design at
any scale or type of development, from a new community to an individual
home extension.

The Design Guidelines can also be used by those assessing and commenting on
development proposals.

Is this a new or existing policy?
2.

New

Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive, or
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or
negative impact on any of
the equality groups?
Please state which for each
group

Please describe why the
impact is positive or
negative.
If you consider this policy
etc is not relevant to a
specific characteristic
please explain why

Age
Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

2
320

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include

a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible. For example, section
5C on page 30 includes guidance
on encouraging positive social
contact through design, such as
open spaces designed for all
ages, community facilities and
meeting places. It also includes
guidance on creating walkable
neighbourhoods and places that
are easy to navigate in addition to
designing places for all, including
older people and the mobility
impaired and also buildings that
are adaptable and accessible.

Negative (increased utilisation of
digital technology)

Disability

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

3
321

The shift towards the use of more
digital technology may impact
upon those less familiar or
confident with this or who do not
have access to it. This has been
amplified by the COVID 19
pandemic. Paper copies of the
document and the survey were
made available upon request and
an electronic version in Microsoft
Word was made available on
request as an alternative to the
online SurveyMonkey form.

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s

Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes areas
such as wider pavements, safer
streets, easy to navigate
environments and designing
places for all including the
mobility impaired, along with
homes that are accessible and
adaptable.

Race

Negative (increased utilisation of
digital technology)

The shift towards the use of more
digital technology may impact
upon those less familiar or
confident with this or who do not
have access to it. This has been
amplified by the COVID 19
pandemic. Paper copies of the
document and the survey were
made available upon request and
an electronic version in Microsoft
Word was made available on
request as an alternative to the
online SurveyMonkey form.

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

It is recognised that there may be
challenges in engaging people
whose first language is not
English. To address this, the
Local Plan consultation database
has attempted to include the
contact details for a range of
different organisations
representing different ethnicities
who will be notified of any
consultations (this database was
used for the Design Guidelines
consultation).

4
322

The Council is also committed to
making reasonable adjustments
to support equality of access
therefore, relevant documents
can be translated into other
languages if required on request.
The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging positive social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens,
and activities.
Negative (increased utilisation of
digital technology)

5
323

The shift towards the use of more
digital technology may impact
upon those less familiar or
confident with this or who do not
have access to it. This has been
amplified by the COVID 19
pandemic. Paper copies of the
document and the survey were
made available upon request and
an electronic version in Microsoft
Word was made available on
request as an alternative to the
online SurveyMonkey form.

Gender
Reassignment

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Religion or
Belief

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

6
324

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.

The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Sex

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Sexual
Orientation

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

7
325

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst

also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Pregnancy and
Maternity

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality

8
326

community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Marriage and
Civil
Partnership

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Carers

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

9
327

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination

of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Other Groups
(e.g. those from
deprived (IMD*)
communities;
those from rural
communities,
those with an
offending past)

Positive (the document
encourages a design process to
be followed and promotes
inclusivity for all)

*(IMD = Indices
of multiple
deprivation)

The document encourages a set
design process to be followed
and part of this process involves
advising applicants to engage
with the local community before
any detailed design proposals are
drawn up. The document gives
examples of best practice in
engagement (section 1.6) whilst
also referring to the Council’s
Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI). The
recommendations in section 1.6
of the Design Guidelines include
a range of consultation measures
and these include a combination
of face to face events and also
online methods, with the hope of
being more accessible,
welcoming and engaging for a
greater range of people.
The guidance itself within the
document also aims to make new
developments more inclusive and
accessible, for example section
5C on page 30 includes
encouraging
positive
social
contact and designing places that
are welcoming to all with quality
community facilities, gardens and
activities.

Negative (increased utilisation of
digital technology)

10
328

The shift towards the use of more
digital technology may impact
upon those less familiar or

confident with this or who do not
have access to it. This has been
amplified by the Covid 19
pandemic. Paper copies of the
document and the survey were
made available upon request and
an electronic version in Microsoft
Word was made available on
request as an alternative to the
online SurveyMonkey form.

General
comments

The Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven have been
drafted with equalities considerations as a corporate priority and they
make reference to the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement. The section on engagement applies to the public
generally and is not intended to focus on any specific group. For planmaking the Council has committed to maintaining a mix of online and
offline consultation methods (where appropriate in consideration to
COVID 19 guidance) and to make reasonable adjustments for
equalities requests in line with the general equality duty. In all cases
and considering that planning issues can vary significantly depending
on individual proposals, the general equality duty applies irrespective
of the Statement of Community Involvement.
The design guidance within the document includes sections that touch
upon equalities issues and section 1.6 on page 30 highlights a
number of these issues, such as encouraging positive social contact
for all, walkable communities, physical activity for all, easy to navigate
environments, designing places for all (including older people, mobility
impaired, adaptable and accessible homes).

3.

What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant
consultation who took part and key findings)
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) under paragraph 16 states that Plans should:
“c) be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between planmakers and communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure
providers and operators and statutory consultees”
The document is based on setting out consultation methods in accordance with
Local Planning Regulations, Neighbourhood Planning Regulations and The Town
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure). These regulations
provide the requirements for when it should happen and how it should take place.
The regulations also set out defined stages of plan production, and lists
individuals who need to be consulted known as ‘specific consultation bodies’.
Furthermore, the Council has discretion to identify a number of other bodies

11
329

representing certain interests known as ‘general consultation bodies’ and SKDC
has therefore looked to broaden the scope as much as possible across the
district.
The Design Guidelines have been prepared in accordance with the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2021, the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the Councils’ Statements of
Community Involvement.
Stakeholder and Councillor workshops informed its drafting and changes have
been made following the extensive feedback received as part of a public
consultation exercise.
A 6 week public consultation on the draft Design Guidelines was undertaken
between the 29th January and the 12th March 2021. The Design Guidelines
consultation document was made available to view and access from the Council
website. A general notification of the consultation was sent out via email and letter
to those on our consultation database, including town / parish councils, statutory
bodies, and Ward Cllrs.
Attempt was made to make the consultation as accessible as possible, and this
included a QR code and smartphone friendly survey format, in addition to forms
accessible online.
Copies of the consultation documents were made available on the Councils’
websites, however due to COVID-19 restrictions and temporary changes in
legislation, hard copies of the documents were not required to be placed in public
areas. The legislation was introduced in recognition of the challenge that some
local authorities may face as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Changes to the
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, under
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Coronavirus)
(Amendment) Regulations 2020, to remove the need for local authorities to make
hard copy documents available for public inspection for a temporary period from
16 July 2020 until 31 December 2021 were made.
Hardcopies of the survey and the Design Guide were made available on request.

More detailed information on the consultation process and results can be found in
the Consultation Statement.
The Design Guidelines document has been refined, taking into account the
comments made during the consultation.
The technical content of the document references and is consistent with National
design guidance that also covers equalities issues, for example: The National
Design Guide, Manual for Streets, Building for a Healthy Life – particularly with
regards to designing places that are welcoming, easy to navigate around,
accessible to all and that are safe for all.

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this
be addressed?
12
330

The Council is also committed to involving a wide range of other individuals
including members of the public, local community voluntary groups, and hard to
reach groups. SKDC is constantly monitoring its contact database and looking for
ways in which to effectively improve consultations to have more effective
communications with the Local Authority

4.

Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made):
Please check one of the options.
a)

No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all
opportunities to promote equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off
b)

Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality
analysis or to better promote equality.

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1
and b.2
c)

Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1
d

Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1

In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative
equality impacts?

b.2

Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale
behind that decision.

13
331

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality
analysis
c.1

Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to
reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):
(Name and title)
Date completed:
Signed (Neutral Assessor):
(Name and title)
Date signed off:

Richard Shaw
Principal Design Officer
26/10/21
Carol Drury
Senior Community Development Officer
27/10/21

14
332

